
Meeting of:  Council
Date: Wednesday, 27th February, 2019
Time: 6.00 pm.
Venue: Council Chamber - Rochdale Town Hall

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.   

2.  BUDGET 2019/20 - 2021/22 - LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2003 
REQUIREMENTS 

3 - 35

For Council to be made aware of the Local Government Act 2003 
Requirements while considering the Budget 2019/20 - 2021/22.

3.  BUDGET REPORT 2019/20 36 - 246

For Council to consider and approve the budget report 2019/2020.

4.  APPOINTMENT OF ACTING CHIEF FINANCE/S151 OFFICER 247 - 248

That Council consider and approve the appointment of Acting Chief 
Finance/S151 Officer.

5.  GAMBLING LICENSING POLICY STATEMENT 2019-2022 249 - 295

For Council to consider the Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 
2019-2022, in order to meet its statutory obligations to adopt and 
publish a Gambling Licensing Policy, in accordance with Section 349 
of the Gambling Act.

6.  RECRUITMENT OF INDEPENDENT MEMBERS TO THE AUDIT 
AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

296 - 298

That Council consider the recruitment of Independent Members to the 
Audit and Governance Committee.

Public Document Pack



Council Members
Councillor Ali Ahmed Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed
Councillor Shakil Ahmed Councillor Daalat Ali
Councillor Sultan Ali Councillor David Bamford
Councillor Jacqueline Beswick Councillor Cecile Biant
Councillor John Blundell Councillor Malcolm Boriss
Councillor Allen Brett Councillor Lynne Brosnan
Councillor Phil Burke Councillor Wendy Cocks
Councillor Patricia Mary Dale Councillor Irene Davidson
Councillor Ashley Dearnley Councillor Ray Dutton
Councillor Neil Emmott Councillor Susan Emmott
Councillor Janet Emsley Councillor Richard Farnell
Councillor James Gartside Councillor John Hartley
Councillor Kieran Heakin Councillor Michael Holly
Councillor Jean Hornby Councillor Jane Howard
Councillor Aftab Hussain Councillor Peter Joinson
Councillor Andy Kelly Councillor Peter Malcolm
Councillor Donna Martin E Councillor Alan McCarthy
Councillor Daniel Meredith Councillor Amna Mir
Councillor Kathleen Nickson Councillor Kallum Nolan
Councillor Shaun O'Neill Councillor Liam O'Rourke
Councillor Rina Paolucci Councillor Faisal Rana
Councillor Aasim Rashid Councillor Linda Robinson
Councillor Sara Rowbotham Councillor Peter Rush
Councillor Billy Sheerin Councillor Angela Smith
Councillor Susan Smith Councillor Ann Stott JP
Councillor Patricia Sullivan Councillor John Taylor
Councillor Carol Wardle Councillor Shah Wazir
Councillor June West Councillor Donna Williams
Councillor Peter Williams Councillor Peter Winkler
Councillor Sameena Zaheer Councillor Mohammed Zaman

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Alison James

01706 924793
Elaine.Newsome@Rochdale.Gov.UK



Report to Council

Date of Meeting 27th February 2019
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance  

Report Author Victoria Bradshaw  
Public Document

Budget 2019/20 - 2021/22 - Local Government Act 2003 
Requirements

Executive Summary

1. It is a legal requirement under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003   
for this report to be presented to Council for consideration immediately prior to 
setting the Budget and Council Tax. The recommendations aim to ensure that 
Council is aware of the opinion of the Chief Finance Officer regarding the 
robustness of the budget as proposed and the adequacy of general balances 
and reserves. This report will outline the robustness of the budget, the key 
risks and the level of reserves to support the Council’s financial resilience.

Recommendation

2.

2.1

2.2

It is recommended that:

The content of the report be considered prior to the approval of the Revenue 
and Capital Budgets and Members endorse the approach to General balances 
included in the report.

Council approves that the General Fund Balances for 2019/20 be set at £17m.

Reason for Recommendation

3. In order to comply with the Local Government Act 2003 the Chief Finance 
Officer is required to provide Council with an opinion as to the robustness of 
the Budget being presented to Council and to ensure the adequacy of general 
balances and reserves. The Chief Finance Officer reports formally on the 
following issues :-

a) An opinion as to the robustness of the estimates made and the tax 
setting calculations.

b) The adequacy of the proposed financial reserves.

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



c) Consideration of the overall affordability of the capital programme when 
determining the prudential indicators.

d) The production of longer-term revenue and capital plans.

The Council is required to take account of this report when determining its 
budget.

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

4.2.1

4.2.2

Alternatives Considered

The conclusions of the report are that the proposed budget is robust and 
that the proposed level of general balances and reserves are adequate. An 
option to reduce the level of balance/reserves is not recommended given the 
risk assessment outlined in this report.

Robustness of Estimates

Estimate Procedures and Processes
In giving a positive opinion on the robustness of the estimate process 
reliance is placed on the Council’s overall arrangements for financial 
management detailed in Appendix 1.  These include the rolling Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, the Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy, the 
process for financial forecasts and developing medium term revenue and 
capital plans, the approach to financial risks and arrangements for in year 
monitoring of budgets.  Account is also taken of the assessment of the 
External Auditors as part of the annual audit opinion.  I can confirm that in 
my view the Council has robust procedures in place.

Determination of the level of resources available
Revenue resources for 2019/20 are based on the Council’s final finance 
settlement announced in January 2019. The 2019/20 settlement is the final 
year of a four year settlement which was announced by the Chancellor’s 
Autumn Statement in early December 2015.  The settlement continues to 
reduce the resources available to Local Government, due to Central 
Government’s National Policy regarding the deficit reduction. 

The position for 2020/21 onwards remains uncertain in relation to Central 
Government resources. The Medium Term Financial Strategy has assumed 
that the level of reduction in RSG experienced during the current spending 
review period will continue in future years. This is built into the assumptions 
around the future level of Business Rates Top-up grant. The Medium Term 
Financial Strategy has assumed that there will be no further detriment in 
funding, other than the projected reduction in RSG, as a result of the move 
to 75% business rates retention until further information is made available.

The Final Settlement confirms that Revenue Support Grant will reduce by 
£6.5m, from £23.4m in 2018/19 to £16.9m in 2019/20. This reduction is 
reflected in the amount of resources available to the Council under the 100% 

Page 4



4.2.3

Business Rates Retention Pilot. Central Government are yet to  announce 
the final settlement for 2019/20, however the Final Settlement announced is 
in line with the four year settlement and is therefore not expected to change.

The capital budget is a three year programme.  Government capital 
allocations are only given on an annual basis and the resources for 2020/21 
to 2021/22 have been prudently based on the 2019/20 forecast. Forecasts 
of capital receipts have been re-assessed to take account of the economic 
climate. The capital receipts for 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 which have 
been assumed in the programme are £3.3m, nil and nil respectively. This 
does not commit all the capital receipts forecast to be received over this 
period due to the uncertainty around the realisation of these receipts. 

Revenue and Capital budget plans are subject to an ongoing review to 
ensure that forecasts of resources remain robust and can support planned 
levels of expenditure. 

The Council plans to increase Council Tax in 2019/20 by 3.99% being 
2.99% for General Purposes and 1% for the Adult Social Care Precept. For 
planning purpose the forecasts assume:

 an increase of 1.99% in 2020/21 being 1.99% for General 
Purposes. 

 in 2020/21 and  2021/22 of an increase of 1.99% for the General 
Purposes

 the referendum principle to increase funding for Adult Social Care 
by the Precept spanned the period 2017/18 to 2019/20 and there 
is no indication as to whether the precept will continue beyond 
2019/20. Therefore no proposed increase in the Adult Social Care 
Precept has been assumed for 2020/21 and 2021/22.

This is in line with the Medium Term Financial Strategy and excludes 
precepts from the Greater Manchester Mayoral precepts for Police and 
General Purposes including Fire Services.

Affordability of Spending Plans and the implications for Council Tax 
Increases

There are a number of factors that need to be taken into account in 
considering the affordability of the Council’s spending plans:

a) The level of Council Tax increase should be acceptable locally and 
nationally. There has been a move in Central Governments financial 
strategy away from rewarding local authorities who have frozen 
council tax in the past, to encouraging the increasing of council tax to 

Page 5



raise resources locally by introducing an amendment to the 
referendum levels. The Spending Review 2016 announced that local 
authorities responsible for social care would be offered Council Tax 
flexibility to set an additional precept, giving them the power to raise 
new funding to be spent exclusively on the Adult Social Care by a 
maximum of 6% over three years 2017/18 to 2019/20. Furthermore, 
the Final Settlement 2019/20 has provided additional amendments to 
allow Council’s to increase council tax by a further 1% to 2.99% in 
2019/20 and for the Police precept to increase to a maximum of £24. 

b) The level of Council Tax for 2020/21 and 2021/22 will need to be 
reviewed in line with Government guidance on a referendum before 
any final decision is made as part of the 2020/21 and 2021/22 budget 
setting process. If the Government were minded to increase the 
referendum limit to 2.99% in 2020/21 this would generate a further 
£0.9m for the Council.

c) The Council has significant financial pressures in future years from 
the continued reduction in Government funding and increases in both 
costs of and demand for services. 

d) It is important that the level of savings is achievable and that the 
proposals put forward will deliver savings to support the Council’s 
spending plans.  The 2019/20 funding gap has been managed 
through budget realignment, review of Corporate Budgets etc., saving 
proposals from Council General Services, assumed reduction in the 
contribution to the Integrated Health & Social Care Pooled Fund, and 
use of one off resources. The Council’s performance management 
arrangements incorporate a set of indicators developed to report on 
service spend against budget and delivery of savings, and a report on 
the delivery of savings is presented to Cabinet through the monitoring 
process. The Integrated Health and Social Care Pooled Fund is 
monitored by the Integrated Commissioning Board through the joint 
monitoring processes to ensure the risks to both the Council and 
CCG are managed.  

e) To manage financial risk and ensure budgets are robust at service 
level all directors have received early notification of their proposed 
budget allocation.  The notification sets out the level of base budget, 
based on their 2018/19 revised budget plus allocations for inflation in 
line with budget policy, growth and reductions for saving proposals. 
Directors have been asked to review the budget provision and 
formally sign off the budgets for 2019/20 and provisionally for 2020/21 
in respect of its adequacy in relation to services provided. All 
Directors have signed off their budgets. It is noted that the sign off 
forms are at a point in time and are subject to decisions by Council 
that may impact on a services spending power together with caveats 
around technical accounting entries which will not impact upon 
service spending power. 

f) The affordability of the budget has to take account of financial risks 
and the actions that can be taken to mitigate that risk.  There are a 

Page 6



4.3

4.3.1

number of risks in the 2019/20 to 2021/21 budgets which are set out 
below.

Key Budget Risks

No budget is without risks particularly given that it is a forecast of spending 
for a period which ends over 12 months after its approval.  Throughout the 
budget process financial risks are identified and actions developed to 
manage those risks.  In year, budget monitoring is underpinned by an 
analysis of risk.  When setting the budget, the total level of risks and 
potential financial exposure are assessed and taken into account when 
setting a prudent level of balances.  Appendix 2 sets out the risk 
assessment for the 2019/20 budget.  

The key risks are:

Health and Social Care Integration/ Better Care Fund

The Better Care Fund is supporting the integration of health and social care 
by bring together the Clinical Commissioning Group and Local Authority 
Budgets into a pooled arrangement. This was the first stage “to drive closer 
integration and improve outcomes for patients and service users and 
carers”.  From the 1st April 2018 the budgets for Adult Care, Children’s 
Services and Public Health were brought together with those budgets from 
the CCG to form a formal Pooled Fund. There are risks to the Council 
around the Pooled Fund resources and the achievement of a balanced 
position. To achieve a balanced Pooled Fund a number of savings are 
assumed from the integration of these services. The Devolution Agenda 
around Health and Social Care in Greater Manchester is new and as we 
develop and implement Locality Plans with Partners the expectation is that 
these will result in financial stability.   

A significant proportion of the savings proposals relate to the benefits to be 
delivered from the efficiencies from contract /commission renegotiations and 
integration of working between health and social care organisations. Delays 
in delivery and slippage in the development of new ways of delivery and any 
overspends within these areas of Service would negatively impact on the 
Budget position for the Council. The pooled budget brings together 
resources from a range of organisations including the Clinical 
Commissioning Group, the Local Authority, Better Care Funds and GM level 
resources to invest in transformation of service delivery, (known as 
Transformation Funding). The Pooled Budget currently has a deficit position 
of £11.176m in 2019/20. There are a number of proposals being considered 
to reduce the deficit position. However, a shortfall in the delivery of these 
proposals to be generated by the Pool Budget would be shared by the CCG 
and Rochdale Council based on the agreed risk sharing basis. 

Business Rates 

Page 7



4.3.2 Impact of the Valuation Appeals

There has been uncertainty as to projecting business rates for future years 
as appeals against the valuations are treated as part of the normal volatility 
of the rating list and will therefore impact on local authority budgets. Most 
disputes between businesses and the Valuation Office (VOA) are dealt with 
through a check, challenge and appeal process resulting in, changes 
appearing on the billing list making the forecast of business rates income 
more volatile.

There is a risk to the Council that the number of appeals upheld will impact 
on the Business Rates generated by the Council and under 100% retention 
this risk will be borne by the Council, impacting on future years levels of 
resources. There are also a number of national litigations in progress which 
could impact on future years’ Business Rates if judged in favour of 
businesses.

Business Rates Retention 100% Pilot 

The move to 100% Business Rates Retention as part of a pilot including 
Greater Manchester has allowed the Council to benefit from growth in 
Business Rates. However, there will be an increased risk to the Council of 
non-collection of Business Rates, and if businesses rateable values 
decrease the income payable to the Council from Business Rates is 
reduced. The implementation of 100% Business Rates Retention is 
projected to provide additional resources to the Council that would have 
been retained by Central Government to fund activity previously funded by 
Grants. As part of the pilot the Local Authority has forgone Revenue Support 
Grant and the Public Health Grant. Authorities, Business Rates Top-up grant 
has been adjusted to ensure these changes are cost neutral. 
The Government has confirmed that the Greater Manchester 100% business 
rates retention pilot will continue in 2019/20. However from 2020/21 it is 
proposed that councils will retain 75% of their business rates income, 
incorporating Revenue Support Grant, Public Health Grant and other grants, 
with suitable transitional arrangements. There is no information on the 
consequences of this change. The Medium Term Financial Strategy has 
therefore assumed that there will be no detriment in funding as a result of 
the move to 75% business rates retention until further information is made 
available.

Business Rates Projections

The Business Rates resources included in the budget are based on current 
levels of properties, known trends in relation to empty properties and 
changes both up and down during the year for property rateable values. 
There is a risk to the Council as any changes to the rateable value of a 
business property affects the income collected for current and future years. 

Other factors contributing to the risks are :

 Business Rate growth assumed in Central Government’s estimates 

Page 8



4.3.3

4.3.4

may not materialise.
 The actual levels of Business Rates income collected throughout the 

year may have significant variations and will have a direct impact on 
the Council’s resources. 

 There may be significant volatility in the amount of resources 
available from one year to the next due to the uncertainty around 
collection and appeals.

Local Government Needs Formula Review

The Government has recognised the need to provide future certainty beyond 
the existing 4-year funding deal, and to meet its manifesto commitment to 
give councils more control of the taxes they raise locally. Central to this is 
increasing the proportion of locally collected Business Rates that councils 
will retain. 

It is the Government’s intention for the following grants to be funded through 
retained Business Rates: Revenue Support Grant, Public Health Grant, 
Rural Services Delivery Grant (nil for Rochdale), and the GLA Transport 
Grant (nil for Rochdale). 

The Government will implement this increase in business rates retention in 
2020/21. Allowing local authorities to keep Business Rates to the value of 
these grants would represent Business Rates Retention across the local 
government system of at least 75% (based on the value of these grants in 
2019/20). 

Central to the future funding of local government is the review of the needs 
formula seeking to establish a fair funding review of relative needs and 
resources. This review will calculate new baseline funding levels based on 
an up-to-date assessment of the relative needs and resources of local 
authorities. Business Rates will be redistributed according to the outcome of 
the new assessment, alongside the resetting of business rates baselines, 
subject to suitable transitional measures.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy has assumed that the level of 
reduction in RSG experienced during the current spending review period will 
continue in future years. This is built into the assumptions around the future 
level of Business Rates Top-up grant. The Medium Term Financial Strategy 
has assumed that there will be no further detriment in funding, other than the 
projected reduction in RSG, as a result of the move to 75% business rates 
retention until further information is made available.

Long Term Economic Plan 

Central Government’s commitment to the long term economic plan which 
set out the objective of returning public finances to a sustainable level, 
impacts on the level of future funding available for Local Authorities. The 
Final settlement for 2019/20 is in line with the 4 year provisional settlements 
up to 2019/20. Future central government resources and powers to raise 
funds locally are uncertain from 2020/21.  There is a level of risk to the 

Page 9



4.3.5

4.3.6

Council if future funding levels reduce further, or if additional responsibilities 
for services are transferred to the Council with no extra funding for the 
Council. There are a number of significant changes for the Council over the 
medium term, including :

 the review of how local authority needs is arrived to determine 
government resources, 

 the  Green Paper, to be released in early 2019, for the long term 
funding of Adult Social Care 

 the continued devolution of functions to the Greater Manchester 
Mayor and the impact for local services.

 The continued integration of services as part of the GM Combined 
Authority

The pace of change requires a prudent approach to risk to ensure the 
Council remains financially resilient. This is particularly highlighted by the 
recent collapse of a large provider of services to the public sector. The 
Council will be monitoring closely large contracts which could pose a 
potential financial risk should the contractor cease trading.

GM Waste Disposal Authority

The levy for 2019/20 to 2020/21 included in the budget is based on 
continuing with the current levels of recycling across the Borough as 
projected in Feb 2018 and includes £18m efficiencies to be generated by 
GMCA. Negotiations for the procurement of the new waste disposal contract 
should be concluded by mid-February 2019 and the commencement of that 
contract will be from June 1st 2019. Any delays in the delivery of the 
savings or reduced financial performance from recycling will be met by 
GMCA reserves.

Treasury Management 

Treasury Management income and the costs of borrowing places a level of 
risk and uncertainty on the overall budget that supports cash flow activities.  
Additional work has been undertaken during budget setting to review the 
assumptions contained within treasury management forecasts.  These will 
however be subject to changes within the wider money markets and the 
commercial climate that influences the rates available to the council for 
borrowing and investment. Uncertainties around the nature and timing of 
Brexit will continue to contribute to the possibility of sharp changes in market 
sentiment and increased volatility. The Credit Ratings of the banks Rochdale 
Council invests in are reviewed on a weekly basis with our External 
Consultants. There is an inherent risk around Treasury Management activity, 
the mitigation against this is covered in the Treasury Management Strategy.

Pension Guarantees 

Page 10



4.3.7

4.3.8

4.3.9

4.3.10

4.3.11

The Council guarantees the pension contributions to the Greater 
Manchester Pension Fund for a number of organisations where services 
have been transferred from the Council to an external party. The Council 
works very closely with these organisations to ensure the risk to the Council 
of having to pay these pension contributions is minimised.

Litigation Claims

As Local Authorities funding is cut and service provision is therefore reduced 
there is an increased risk to the Council of Litigation. 

Invest to Save Schemes 

Cabinet are recommending to Council to approve the 2019/20 Capital 
Programme which includes a number of invest to save schemes. The nature 
of these schemes is for the Council to make an initial investment in a project 
and then to either receive a future revenue income stream or to reduce 
current expenditure for the Council enabling the repayment of the initial 
investment. If this future revenue income stream or reduced expenditure 
does not materialise there is a risk to the revenue budget achieving a 
balanced position.

Welfare Reform 

Central Government previously announced that they are simplifying and 
reforming the Welfare System to make sure that working is more beneficial 
than claiming benefits. As Central Government introduces the changes to 
the Welfare System in particular the roll out of Universal Credit there is a 
financial risk to the Council of increased demand for services. The impact to 
the Council of these changes is difficult to estimate and therefore as each 
initiative is implemented there is a risk to balances if services overspend due 
to increased demand. Deprivation is becoming more widespread across our 
borough with an increased proportion of the population living in the most 
deprived 10% of the country1. This increasing level of deprivation affects 
delivery for a number of services, including housing, benefits, adult skills, 
children’s and adult social care.

Demand for Services

The Council’s Place Plan highlights that residents are living longer but 
compared to the rest of England and Wales we live shorter and less healthy 
lives. In some parts of our borough there is a 10 year2 difference in life 
expectancy when comparing our most deprived areas to our more affluent. A 
key pressure on services is the increasing demands for adult social care and 
health services for the most vulnerable and deprived residents. 
Improvements in delivery of these services are a priority for the integration of 
social care and health services through the Pooled Fund. It is, however, 
unclear whether resources allocated to our Council will be sufficient to cover 

1 Place Plan (for the Borough) 2016-21
2 Place Plan (for the Borough) 2016-21

Page 11



4.3.12

4.3.13

4.4

additional burdens and pressures in future years.

Children's Services are facing financial pressures, primarily due to an 
increase in both staffing requirements and external placements, arising from 
increased numbers of Cared for Children.  This is consistent with a national 
trend.  Due to the increased demand for placements nationally the market is 
volatile and prices are continually increasing.

Pay & prices inflation 

The budget includes provision for inflation on salaries, non-staff budgets and 
income. There is a risk to the council if inflation is higher than budgeted for 
in any area of expenditure. The Budget includes assumptions that pay will 
increase by 2% in 2019/20 and 1% in both 2020/21 and 2021/22. There is a 
risk should the final pay settlement be higher.

The financial position for 2020/21 and 2021/22 is currently an estimated 
budget deficit of £3.344m for Council General Services and Aligned 
Services. This is assuming that the current level of funding is available. This 
budget gap will form the provisional savings programme requirement to set a 
balanced budget for these two years.

Advice on the level of general balances

General balances are held as a contingency against risks not provided for in 
the Council’s financial plans or other reserves and provisions. The level of 
balances, reserves and provisions are assessed annually to ensure they are 
adequate and take account of known financial risks.  This is achieved by 
considering the ‘potential exposure’ from the risk.  Account is also taken of 
the likelihood of this exposure happening.  An amount is also included for 
specific contingencies and emergencies.  This is not a precise science and 
local circumstances, the strength of financial reporting arrangements and 
the Council’s track record in financial management will also be a key 
influence on the actual potential of any risk materialising.

Appendix 2 sets out the Council’s general financial risks in 2019/20 with a 
‘potential exposure’ liability where appropriate.  The net value of the 
potential exposure is £17m.
Based on the risk assessment, the Council’s general balances are sufficient 
to meet potential risks but there is no spare capacity in the required level of 
balances.  If all the potential risks were to materialise it would have a 
significant impact on the level of general balances available during 2019/20 
and later years. Should any of these risks materialise Council will be kept 
informed of the implications.

Advice on the level of earmarked reserves

An analysis of earmarked reserves held by the Council is provided in 
Appendix 3.  As part of the work undertaken to address the budget gap a 

Page 12



4.5

review of provisions, reserves, grants and balances has been undertaken 
during the course of the budget setting process. All remaining reserves are 
currently either appropriate for the purpose they were set up for and at the 
level required or processes are in place to monitor levels and action plans 
are in place to address any specific issues. We will continue to review and 
challenge reserves as part of the on-going budget process. Some of the key 
reserves are referred to below:

 Equalisation Reserve - This reserve has been established to assist 
the Authority in managing its budget requirement for future years and 
smoothing the impact of savings requirement through the 
identification of one off funds that become available.  The level of the 
reserve is reviewed as part of the budget process with contributions 
increased or decreased as necessary. 

 Insurance Reserve - this is required to cover potential liabilities 
arising from self-insurance of certain fire and motor vehicle claims 
and the self-funding of general corporate risks.  The level of the 
reserve is reviewed as part of the budget process with contributions 
increased or decreased as necessary. 

 Schools Reserves – school balances are monitored on a regular 
basis.  The current local funding formula provides for balances above 
agreed limits to be clawed back and redistributed to all schools.

Prudential Code 

The Prudential Code requires the Chief Finance Officer to ensure that all 
matters required by the Code are taken into account in determining the 
budget and are reported to Budget Council. In summary the objectives of 
the code are to:

 Demonstrate the affordability of capital expenditure plans. 
 Ensure prudent external borrowing levels.
 Verify that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance 

with good professional practice.
 Underpin the accountability and transparency of an authority’s capital 

investment planning processes.
 Support effective option appraisal, asset management planning and 

capital strategies.  

These objectives are to be demonstrated by the following indicators which 
are set out in the code: 

 Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream.
 Impact of Capital Investment Decisions on Council Tax 
 Levels of Capital Expenditure.
 Level of Capital Financing Requirement.
 Limits on Gross External Debt. 
 Limits on Interest Rate exposures. 
 Limits on Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate Borrowing. 
 Limits on investments for a year and beyond. 

Page 13



4.6

The indicators and limits calculated under the Code are detailed in the 
Treasury Management borrowing and investment strategies for 2019/20, will 
be considered by Cabinet on 12th February 2019.  The Code gives no 
suggestions as to their appropriate level; these have to be set by the 
authority itself based on individual circumstances.  
The conclusions of the borrowing and investment strategies and the 
indicators set as part of that strategy are that capital expenditure plans are 
resourced and levels of borrowing are prudent in relation to the Council’s 
income and assets.  Treasury management practice is audited annually and 
has received a level one audit opinion since 2006/07.  This provides 
assurance that the principles of the code and best professional practice are 
being applied in relation to operational processes and procedures for 
borrowing and investment.  

Conclusion

Based on the assessment included in this report I have concluded that the 
budgets as proposed and the associated systems and processes are sound 
and the level of general balances/ reserves are adequate.  

Based on the Cabinet’s recommended budget it is my view that the 
estimates proposed and the tax setting calculations are robust, that 
reserves are adequate and the provisional capital programme is affordable.  
All budget amendments submitted will need to be reviewed to ensure they 
do not alter this view

Costs and Budget Summary

5. See the main body of the report.

Risk and Policy Implications

See the main body of the report.6.

Consultation

7. Not appropriate. It is the statutory responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer 
to advise Council on the adequacy of reserves and robustness of the budget.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8.

For Further Information Contact: Victoria Bradshaw  , Tel: 01706 925409, 
Victoria.Bradshaw@Rochdale.Gov.UK

APPENDIX 1

Page 14



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
ROBUSTNESS OF THE ESTIMATES MADE FOR

THE PURPOSES OF THE BUDGET

1. Introduction

Part 2 of the Local Government Act 2003 introduces a requirement for the 
Chief Finance Officer to report upon the robustness of the estimates made for 
the purposes of the budget and tax setting calculations and the adequacy of 
the proposed financial reserves.

2. Budget Strategy

The Council’s overall framework for its medium term budget is contained in 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  The strategy is subject to six monthly 
review and update.  The strategy provides for a Council wide involvement in 
supporting an integrated approach to the preparation of soundly based capital 
and revenue plans and associated strategies for managing risk and internal 
control.   

Collectively the strategy ensures effective finance management and 
governance.

3. Budget & Tax Setting Process

The annual budget preparation and tax setting process involves the 
development of robust medium term revenue forecasts and capital plans in 
the context of the budget strategy and in the light of judgements made 
regarding the need to restrict the increase in Council Tax levels.

Budget guidelines and a timetable to govern the process were prepared in 
consultation with services prior to approval by Cabinet in June 2018. They 
address issues such as service levels and improvement, pay and price 
inflation, fees and charges, external funding and consultation.

During the budget process consultation has taken place with stakeholders and 
the public, the outcome of which were reported to Cabinet on 30th October 
2018.  Issues relating to the budget and tax setting have been subject to 
scrutiny at meetings of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
during the year.

The Council Tax Base and Business Rates Base for 2019/20 were approved 
by Council on 12th December 2018.

 After taking account of feedback during the budget process, Cabinet on 12th   
February 2019 may approve the Budget and Council Tax for consideration by 
full Council on 28th February 2018.  

4. Capital Programme

Page 15



Affordability of capital expenditure plans is important in determining the overall 
robustness of the budget and adequacy of reserves to deal with potential 
variations. Wider Leadership Team, Strategic Asset Management (SAM) 
Group, and Operational Asset Management (OAM) Group oversee the 
preparation of the draft capital budget including prioritisation of capital 
schemes.  The revenue costs of the capital programme are also considered 
and provided for in the revenue budget. Cabinet on 12th February 2019 may 
recommend an overall Capital Budget. 

5. In-year Financial Monitoring Process

A report providing an update on the corporate financial position is submitted to 
the Leadership Team and Cabinet each cycle.  The Chief Finance Officer 
meets with the Portfolio Holder for Finance and the Opposition Portfolio 
Holder. Cabinet reports are subsequently considered by the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  Budget pressures and savings measures 
are kept under review and Directors projecting an over spend can be asked to 
report to the next meeting on how their budgets will be brought back in line.  
In year monitoring has identified both actual and potential budget problems 
and appropriate corrective action has been considered.  Financial 
performance indicators report on spend against budget and achievement of 
approved savings.

6. Financial Risks in the Budget

The formal identification, evaluation and management of key operational and 
financial risks are considered as a separate issue in this report. 

7. Reserves

The determination of an appropriate level of reserves and a systematic 
approach to keep this under review and linked to monitoring arrangements is 
considered as a separate issue in this report.

8. Role of Chief Finance Officer

The Chief Finance Officer has statutory responsibilities for financial 
management issues and exercises these through the Council’s management 
structure and by maintaining sound and effective arrangements for internal 
audit and risk management.

9. Integrated Health & Social Care – Integrated Commissioning Board

From 2018/19 the authority has moved to a formal integrated commissioning 
approach with the Clinical Commissioning Group to deliver integrated health 
and social care through a Pooled Fund. The pooled budget brings together 
resources from a range of organisations including the Clinical Commissioning 
Group, the Local Authority, Better Care Funds and GM level resources to 
invest in transformation of service delivery, (known as Transformation 
Funding). 

Page 16



As part of the integration the Council has continued to progress its joint Senior 
Manager arrangements with Heywood Middleton and Rochdale Clinical 
Commissioning Group (HMRCCG) to administrate and manage the pooled 
budget created to deliver health and care integration in Rochdale. Jointly 
funded posts are in place and the proposal for one accountable officer was 
approved in 2018/19.  The Section 151 officer has delegated responsibility for 
the management of the pooled budget to the Chief Finance officer of the 
Clinical Commissioning Group to operate as one resource for the delivery of 
health and care. The pooled fund will be administered through the Integrated 
Commissioning Board which is a joint committee of Rochdale Council and 
HMRCCG. Financial reporting and monitoring of the delivery of the 
Transformation Fund benefits, Locality Plan and Pooled Fund savings 
proposals will be provided to the Integrated Commissioning Board (ICB). The 
ICB brings together the joint commissioning activities of the Council and the 
Clinical Commissioning Group. The aim is to oversee the delivery of health 
and social care services and control the pooled fund of the Council and local 
health bodies, whilst seeking value for money and efficiencies from integration 
and joint working within the restrictions of current legislation.

10. External Audit Annual Audit Opinion 

External Audit undertakes an annual assessment of the Council and delivers 
an audit opinion within the annual audit letter to the Audit and Governance 
Committee.  The annual audit letter will be presented to a future meeting of 
the Audit and Governance Committee. 

Page 17



Risk Assessment for Level of General Fund Balance      -  APPENDIX 2
    
Key Risks Details Total Comments / Risk Reductions

Potential 
Exposure

 
Le

ve
l o

f 
R

is
k   £'m  £'m

1

H
ig

h

Health and 
Social Care 
Integration. 
Achievement 
of Benefits.

Health & 
Social Care 
Integration – 
The Pooled 
Fund

Health and Social Care 
Integration is bringing 
together the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and 
Local Authorities to deliver 
clinical and financial 
stability.   
The formal Pooled Fund is 
in operation and will bring 
together resources from the 
Local Authority and Clinical 
Commissioning Group

11.2 The formal Pooled Budget is in operation and brings 
together the pooled resources for CCG, Adults, 
Children’s, Public Health, Better Care Fund and the 
Transformation Fund. The Pooled Fund has a budget 
deficit between the expenditure required to deliver 
Services and the income contributed to the Pooled Fund 
by the LA and the CCG. The ICB is considering a 
number of proposals which are to be delivered through 
the efficiencies of integration. There is a risk that delivery 
of the planned proposals may not arise leaving a deficit 
position with the Council and the CCG. The Section 75 
agreement may have to be evoked, with the Council 
picking up a share of the deficit.

6.5

2

H
ig

h

Local 
Government 
Collection 
Rates

Local Authorities receive 
the majority of their funding 
from Business Rates and 
Council Tax. The amount 
the Council receives from 
these sources of funding is 
based on the taxbase. 

148.4 The Council has a risk of non-Collection of Business 
Rates Income for 99% of the estimated total business 
rates and 100% for Council Tax Income. Non- collection 
of the assumed level of Business Rates / council Tax 
maybe due to people not paying, businesses leaving the 
borough or the assumptions contained with the estimates 
for growth in the taxbases not materialising.

1.5

P
age 18



3

H
ig

h

Funding of 
Local 
Authorities

Local Authority Funding is 
reducing year on year due 
to Central Government's 
Economic Plan. The 
Chancellor during the 
current parliament will make 
a number of statements 
where the level of resources 
available to Local 
Authorities may reduce.  

16.9 The MTFS for 2019/20 to 2023/24 includes the level of 
funding available to the Council from the finance 
settlement.  There is a risk to the Council that the 
provisional funding announced will reduce further if the 
current economic forecasts for the Country worsen 
putting the Chancellors Economic Plan in jeopardy 
(Exceptional Circumstance). This will impact on the level 
of balances for 2019/20 and therefore will be considered 
as part of future budget setting process.

1.0

4

M
ed

iu
m

Pension Fund 
Guarantee

The Council guarantees to 
the Greater Manchester 
Pension Fund the pension 
contributions of a number of 
organisations where 
previous employees of the 
Council have tuped over. 
There is a risk to the 
Council if these 
organisations default on 
their contributions. 

12.0 The Council currently guarantees 31 organisations 1.5

5

M
ed

iu
m

Litigation 
Claims

As the Council reduces the 
level of funding available for 
the future provision of 
services there is an 
increased risk of litigation. 

12.0 The Council mitigates against the risk of mitigation 
through robust risk assessment procedures and 
insurance 

1.5

6

M
ed

iu
m

Invest to Save 
Schemes - 
Capital

The Council is looking to 
approve a Capital 
Programme where a 
number of schemes are 
invest to save. The 
Schemes are forecast to 
generate future revenue 

35.9 The risk to the Council is that the income from these 
invest to save schemes does not materialise in line with 
the Business Plans

2.0

P
age 19



income for the Council 
which will be used to repay 
interest and borrowing and 
to subsidise future Council 
Services.

7

M
ed

iu
m

Welfare 
Reform - 
Administration 
of Universal 
Credit and 
implications

Central Government 
previously announced that 
they are simplifying and 
reforming the Welfare 
System over the next few 
years to make sure that 
working is more beneficial 
than claiming benefits.

2.0 The impact to the Council of these changes is difficult to 
estimate and therefore as each initiative is implemented 
there is a risk to the Balances if services overspend.

0.5

8

M
ed

iu
m

Demand for 
services

In times of austerity 
demand for Local Authority 
Services increase, this may 
impact on the cost of 
providing these services. 
The Budget for 2019/20 to 
2021/22 does include a 
small provision for Budget 
Pressures however this 
may not be enough to cover 
the pressures in the future. 

2.5 The risk to the Council is that services cannot manage 
any unforeseen increase demand for services

1.5

9

M
ed

iu
m

Prices 
Inflation 
Provision 

The budget does not 
include a provision for price 
increases except for 
contracts

32.4 Services have agreed to manage any inflationary 
increases in prices within their service budgets. There is 
a risk that services will not be able to fulfil this 
commitment

1.0

P
age 20



Saving 
Proposals 

The savings programme 
includes a number of saving 
proposals where 
implementation maybe 
delayed or the proposal 
may not be achieved

1.5 The risks to the Council of not achieving the savings 
proposals is managed through budget management, 
Political monitoring and performance indicators

0.210

M
ed

iu
m

Total 274.8 Net Potential Exposure 17.2

P
age 21



APPENDIX 3

REVIEW OF EARMARKED RESERVES 

Earmarked reserves are amounts set aside to provide for specific areas. The following table lists the various earmarked reserves, the 
purposes for which they are held and provides advice on the appropriate levels.

Purpose of Reserve
Estimated 
Balances   

1st April 2019
£000's

Planned 
(Additions) / 
Withdrawals    

£000's

Estimated 
Balances      

31st March 
2020            

£000's

Equalisation Reserve - This reserve has been established to assist the Authority in managing its budget 
requirement for future years by identifying one off funds that become available to resource invest to save 
initiatives and the implementation of complex savings proposals and the costs of implementing those 
proposals.

(16,646) (11,105) (27,751)

Budget Carry Forward Reserve - This reserve represents balances to be carried forward from one 
financial year to the next. (30,473) 30,473 0

PFI - This reserve is the cumulative amount of unapplied funding received to date which will be utilised to 
finance the councils PFI over the whole life of the project.  There is also an amount set aside to guard 
against uncertainties in future Retail Price Index increases, interest rate fluctuations and back-dated 
contractor claims in relation to the Schools PFI Scheme.

(23,061) (935) (23,996)

Schools Reserve & DSG- In accordance with the Education Reform Act, 1988 Local Management of 
Schools provides for the carry forward of individual school surpluses/deficits. Schools are discouraged 
from going into unmanaged deficits or building up excessive surpluses the level of this reserve is 
determined at school level. These balances must be kept available to schools and cannot be used by the 
Authority for other purposes.

(9,787) 2,950 (6,837)

Other Reserves - This are various reserves set aside for specific purposes, to enable RMBC to meet 
legislative or contractual liabilities. (12,580) (537) (13,117)

P
age 22



Insurance Reserve - This reserve has been established in order to finance costs (e.g. claims and 
premium payments) associated with public Liability. (15,444) 402 (15,042)

VAT Shelter - This reserve has been created to fund future commitments for the Homelessness 
Contract and Funding Strategy. (1,965) 650 (1,315)

Transformation Reserve – This reserve has been set up to assist the Council in identifying and 
developing innovative proposals to reduce Council expenditure and/or increase potential income streams 
by investing in any proposal where one off funding is required on an invest to save basis.

(5,000) 0 (5,000)

Total (114,956) 21,898 (93,058)

* The estimated balances on the Schools Reserve cannot be used by the Authority for other purposes. 

P
age 23



SERVICE DIRECTOR SIGN OFF               APPENDIX 4
ADULT CARE
BUDGET POSITION 2019/20

SUMMARY OF 2018/19 BUDGET CHANGES

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Budget position agreed at Budget Fixing Council 28th February 2018 (238) 3,459 3,221
Funds allocated (to)/from Contingency 135 0 135
Allocation of Budget Pressures funding 0 0 0
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority 9,441 2 9,443
Removal of one year only budgets that are not included in future years budgets. (5,397) 0 (5,397)

3,941 3,461 7,402

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENT IN SETTING 2019/20 BUDGET

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Reflecting revised budget position as at 26/10/2018 3,941 3,461 7,402
Reflects the increase in the cost of living - e.g. salary inflation, contract inflation etc. 1,232 0 1,232
Budgets determined by a range of factors some of which are outside of the Services control - e.g. Depreciation, Business 
Rate Charges, Insurance (239) (50) (289)

Budget Pressures identified by services 1,062 0 1,062
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority (9,011) 0 (9,011)
The movement in Superannuation contributions 47 0 47
(Increase) or decrease in Grants received by the Authority 3,386 0 3,386
Identified where more resource is needed to support demand within a Service 500 0 500
Changes to the contribution to/(from) the Pooled Budget 11,385 0 11,385
Savings from previous years budget setting process 0 0 0
Saving Proposals agreed as part of 17/18 programme 0 0 0
2019/20 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation 0 0 0
See table below for further details 146 0 146
See table below for further details 0 0 0
See table below for further details 0 0 0

12,449 3,411 15,860

BUDGET SETTING MOVEMENT DETAILS

CATEGORY REF DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Terms & Conditions (Withheld Incremental Progression) 17/18 process 146 146
0

TOTAL 146 0 146
0
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0

SIGNED BY NAME SIGNATURE DATE

Director Andrea Fallon

Budget Pressures

CATEGORY

Base budget 2018/19
Contingency
Budget pressure allocation
Switches
Reversal of one year only funding
REVISED BUDGET AT 26/10/2018

CATEGORY

Budget setting starting position
Inflation

Centrally Allocated Charges

TOTAL 2019/20 BUDGET

Switches
Superannuation
Grant changes
Growth
Pooled Budget Adjustment
Savings identified prior to 2017/18 budget setting process
Saving Proposals agreed as part of 2017/18 programme
2019/20 saving proposals not requiring service consultation
A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 2018/19
B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 2018/19 programme
C) 2019/20 saving proposals subject to consultation - approved December 2018

A) Reversal of One Year Only 
Decisions 2018/19

B) Saving Proposals agreed as 
part of 2018/19 programme

C) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
subject to consultation - 

approved December 2018

This budget may be subject to change as a result of Members decisions.
The Uncontrollable budgets may be subject to change, however this will not impact on the ability to deliver services.
I confirm that the figures presented reflect a robust budget which would support operational activity in my service in 2019/20 and that the provisional budget for 2020/21 represents the service requirements for that year, subject to any changes as 
part of the 2019/20 budget setting process (see Appendix1). 

22/01/2019

P
age 24



CHILDRENS SERVICES
BUDGET POSITION 2019/20

SUMMARY OF 2018/19 BUDGET CHANGES

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Budget position agreed at Budget Fixing Council 28th February 2018 1,017 18,974 19,991
Funds allocated (to)/from Contingency 880 880
Allocation of Budget Pressures funding 0
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority 3,250 5 3,255
Removal of one year only budgets that are not included in future years budgets. (1,299) (1,299)

3,848 18,979 22,827

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENT IN SETTING 2019/20 BUDGET

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Reflecting revised budget position as at 26/10/2018 3,848 18,979 22,827
Reflects the increase in the cost of living - e.g. salary inflation, contract inflation etc. 707 31 738
Budgets determined by a range of factors some of which are outside of the Services control - e.g. Depreciation, Business 
Rate Charges, Insurance (486) 522 36

Budget Pressures identified by services 2,937 0 2,937
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority (280) (9) (289)
The movement in Superannuation contributions 75 0 75
(Increase) or decrease in Grants received by the Authority 0 0 0
Identified where more resource is needed to support demand within a Service 0 0 0
Changes to the contribution to/(from) the Pooled Budget (3,339) 0 (3,339)
Savings from previous years budget setting process 0 0 0
Saving Proposals agreed as part of 17/18 programme 0 0 0
2019/20 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation 0 0 0
See table below for further details 257 0 257
See table below for further details (210) 0 (210)
See table below for further details 0 0 0

3,509 19,523 23,032

BUDGET SETTING MOVEMENT DETAILS

CATEGORY REF DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

CS-2018-19-004 School HR 20 20
CS-2018-19-005 Troubled Families 65 65

Terms & Conditions (Withheld Incremental Progression) 17/18 process 262 262
Marketing and Recruitment Fostering Campagin (40) (40)
Budget Pressures Pd6 (50) (50)
TOTAL 257 0 257

CS-2018-19-004 School HR (20) (20)
CS-2018-19-005 Troubled Families (65) (65)
CS-2018-19-006 Shared EDT (25) (25)
CS-2018-19-008 Pre Birth Pilot (100) (100)

TOTAL (210) 0 (210)
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0

SIGNED BY NAME SIGNATURE DATE

Director Gail Hopper

Budget Pressures

CATEGORY

Base budget 2018/19
Contingency
Budget pressure allocation
Switches
Reversal of one year only funding
REVISED BUDGET AT 26/10/2018

CATEGORY

Budget setting starting position
Inflation

Centrally Allocated Charges

TOTAL 2019/20 BUDGET

Switches
Superannuation
Grant changes
Growth
Pooled Budget Adjustment
Savings identified prior to 2017/18 budget setting process
Saving Proposals agreed as part of 17/18 programme
2019/20 saving proposals not requiring service consultation
A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 2018/19
B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 2018/19 programme
C) 2019/20 saving proposals subject to consultation - approved December 2018

A) Reversal of One Year Only 
Decisions 2018/19

B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 
2018/19 programme

C) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
subject to consultation - approved 

December 2018

This budget may be subject to change as a result of Members decisions.
The Uncontrollable budgets may be subject to change, however this will not impact on the ability to deliver services.
I confirm that the figures presented reflect a robust budget which would support operational activity in my service in 2019/20 and that the provisional budget for 2020/21 represents the service requirements for that year, subject to any changes as 
part of the 2019/20 budget setting process (see Appendix1). 

28/01/2019

P
age 25



ECONOMY
BUDGET POSITION 2019/20

SUMMARY OF 2018/19 BUDGET CHANGES

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Budget position agreed at Budget Fixing Council 28th February 2018 22,522 703 23,225
Funds allocated (to)/from Contingency 435 435
Allocation of Budget Pressures funding 0
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority (319) (50) (369)
Removal of one year only budgets that are not included in future years budgets. (473) (473)

22,165 653 22,818

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENT IN SETTING 2019/20 BUDGET

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Reflecting revised budget position as at 26/10/2018 22,165 653 22,818
Reflects the increase in the cost of living - e.g. salary inflation, contract inflation etc. 389 0 389
Budgets determined by a range of factors some of which are outside of the Services control - e.g. Depreciation, 
Business Rate Charges, Insurance 47 17 64

Budget Pressures identified by services (173) 0 (173)
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority 71 1 72
The movement in Superannuation contributions 13 0 13
(Increase) or decrease in Grants received by the Authority 0 0 0
Identified where more resource is needed to support demand within a Service 0 0 0
Changes to the contribution to/(from) the Pooled Budget 0 0 0
Savings from previous years budget setting process 0 0 0
Saving Proposals agreed as part of 17/18 programme 0 0 0
2019/20 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation (148) 0 (148)
See table below for further details (6,872) 0 (6,872)
See table below for further details (275) 0 (275)
See table below for further details 0 0 0

15,217 671 15,888

BUDGET SETTING MOVEMENT DETAILS

CATEGORY REF DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Transformation Fund Spatial Framework (100) (100)
Terms & Conditions (Withheld Incremental Progression) 17/18 process 15 15
Switch between GMWDA and TfGM levies in 2018/19 (6,837) (6,837)

EC-2018-19-017 Property Investment Strategy 50 50
TOTAL (6,872) 0 (6,872)

EC-2018-19-017 Property Investment Strategy (50) (50)
EC-2018-19-018 Commercial Investments (225) (225)

TOTAL (275) 0 (275)
0

0

TOTAL 0 0 0

SIGNED BY NAME SIGNATURE DATE

Director John Searle

Budget Pressures

CATEGORY

Base budget 2018/19
Contingency
Budget pressure allocation
Switches
Reversal of one year only funding
REVISED BUDGET AT 26/10/2018

CATEGORY

Budget setting starting position
Inflation

Centrally Allocated Charges

TOTAL 2019/20 BUDGET

Switches
Superannuation
Grant changes
Growth
Pooled Budget Adjustment
Savings identified prior to 2017/18 budget setting process
Saving Proposals agreed as part of 17/18 programme
2019/20 saving proposals not requiring service consultation
A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 2018/19
B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 2018/19 programme
C) 2019/20 saving proposals subject to consultation - approved December 2018

A) Reversal of One Year Only 
Decisions 2018/19

B) Saving Proposals agreed as 
part of 2018/19 programme

C) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
subject to consultation - approved 

December 2018

This budget may be subject to change as a result of the saving proposals consultation and Members decisions.
The Uncontrollable budgets may be subject to change, however this will not impact on the ability to deliver services.
I confirm that the figures presented reflect a robust budget which would support operational activity in my service in 2019/20 and that the provisional budget for 2020/21 represents the service requirements for that year, subject to any changes as 
part of the 2019/20 budget setting process (see Appendix1). 

28/01/2019

P
age 26



NEIGHBOURHOODS
BUDGET POSITION 2019/20

SUMMARY OF 2018/19 BUDGET CHANGES

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Budget position agreed at Budget Fixing Council 28th February 2018 41,150 910 42,060
Funds allocated (to)/from Contingency 881 881
Allocation of Budget Pressures funding 0
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority 3,244 583 3,827
Removal of one year only budgets that are not included in future years budgets. (2,599) (2,599)

42,676 1,493 44,169

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENT IN SETTING 2019/20 BUDGET

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Reflecting revised budget position as at 26/10/2018 42,676 1,493 44,169
Reflects the increase in the cost of living - e.g. salary inflation, contract inflation etc. 1,284 0 1,284
Budgets determined by a range of factors some of which are outside of the Services control - e.g. Depreciation, Business 
Rate Charges, Insurance (553) 349 (204)

Budget Pressures identified by services 956 0 956
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority 144 0 144
The movement in Superannuation contributions 54 0 54
(Increase) or decrease in Grants received by the Authority 101 0 101
Identified where more resource is needed to support demand within a Service 294 0 294
Changes to the contribution to/(from) the Pooled Budget 0 0 0
Savings from previous years budget setting process (204) 0 (204)
Saving Proposals agreed as part of 17/18 programme 0 0 0
2019/20 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation (611) 0 (611)
See table below for further details 6,558 0 6,558
See table below for further details (26) 0 (26)
See table below for further details (135) 0 (135)

50,538 1,842 52,380

BUDGET SETTING MOVEMENT DETAILS

CATEGORY REF DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Transformation Fund EYES Year 2 (88) (88)
Members Priority Investment in neighbourhoods 18/19 (350) (350)
Terms & Conditions (Withheld Incremental Progression) 17/18 process 206 206
Switch between GMWDA and TfGM levies in 2018/19 6,837 6,837
Feel Good Festival (90) (90)

NH-2018-19-009 Senior Mangement reduction - Head of FM 43 43
0 0

TOTAL 6,558 0 6,558
NH-2018-19-018 Community Centres cap on level of grant per centre (26) (26)

0
TOTAL (26) 0 (26)

NH-2019-20-024 Review of the budget for the provision of Social and Welfare advice and legal services (35) (35)
NH-2019-20-022 Review of grant funded community centres (100) (100)

0
TOTAL (135) 0 (135)

SIGNED BY NAME SIGNATURE DATE

Director Mark Widdup

Budget Pressures

CATEGORY

Base budget 2018/19
Contingency
Budget pressure allocation
Switches
Reversal of one year only funding
REVISED BUDGET AT 26/10/2018

CATEGORY

Budget setting starting position
Inflation

Centrally Allocated Charges

TOTAL 2019/20 BUDGET

Switches
Superannuation
Grant changes
Growth
Pooled Budget Adjustment
Savings identified prior to 2017/18 budget setting process
Saving Proposals agreed as part of 17/18 programme
2019/20 saving proposals not requiring service consultation
A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 2018/19
B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 2018/19 programme
C) 2019/20 saving proposals subject to consultation - approved December 2018

A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 
2018/19

B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 
2018/19 programme

C) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
subject to consultation - approved December 

2018

This budget may be subject to change as a result of the saving proposals consultation and Members decisions.
The Uncontrollable budgets may be subject to change, however this will not impact on the ability to deliver services.
I confirm that the figures presented reflect a robust budget which would support operational activity in my service in 2019/20 and that the provisional budget for 2020/21 represents the service requirements for that year, subject to any changes as 
part of the 2019/20 budget setting process (see Appendix1). 

29/01/2019

P
age 27



RESOURCES
BUDGET POSITION 2019/20

SUMMARY OF 2018/19 BUDGET CHANGES

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Budget position agreed at Budget Fixing Council 28th February 2018 9,934 (3,835) 6,099
Funds allocated (to)/from Contingency 322 322
Allocation of Budget Pressures funding 0
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority 414 69 483
Removal of one year only budgets that are not included in future years budgets. (503) (503)

10,167 (3,766) 6,401

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENT IN SETTING 2019/20 BUDGET

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Reflecting revised budget position as at 26/10/2018 10,167 (3,766) 6,401
Reflects the increase in the cost of living - e.g. salary inflation, contract inflation etc. 268 0 268
Budgets determined by a range of factors some of which are outside of the Services control - e.g. Depreciation, Business 
Rate Charges, Insurance (3) (147) (150)

Budget Pressures identified by services 120 0 120
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority 23 0 23
The movement in Superannuation contributions 32 0 32
(Increase) or decrease in Grants received by the Authority 0 0 0
Identified where more resource is needed to support demand within a Service 0 0 0
Changes to the contribution to/(from) the Pooled Budget 0 0 0
Savings from previous years budget setting process (13) 0 (13)
Saving Proposals agreed as part of 17/18 programme 0 0 0
2019/20 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation (250) 0 (250)
See table below for further details 30 0 30
See table below for further details 0 0 0
See table below for further details 0 0 0

10,374 (3,913) 6,461

BUDGET SETTING MOVEMENT DETAILS

CATEGORY REF DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Transformation Funding Legal Debt recovery officer (8) (8)
Transformation Funding G9 Post Integrated Commissioning/Locality Plan (19) (19)
AGMA License budget 4 year allocation 4 of 4 (3) (3)
Transformation Fund Savings Grade 9 Post (49) (49)
Terms & Conditions (Withheld Incremental Progression) 17/18 process 109 109
TOTAL 30 0 30

0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0

SIGNED BY NAME SIGNATURE DATE

Director Neil Thornton

Budget Pressures

CATEGORY

Base budget 2018/19
Contingency
Budget pressure allocation
Switches
Reversal of one year only funding
REVISED BUDGET AT 26/10/2018

CATEGORY

Budget setting starting position
Inflation

Centrally Allocated Charges

TOTAL 2019/20 BUDGET

Switches
Superannuation
Grant changes
Growth
Pooled Budget Adjustment
Savings identified prior to 2017/18 budget setting process
Saving Proposals agreed as part of 17/18 programme
2019/20 saving proposals not requiring service consultation
A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 2018/19
B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 2018/19 programme
C) 2019/20 saving proposals subject to consultation

A) Reversal of One Year Only 
Decisions 2018/19

B) Saving Proposals agreed as part 
of 2018/19 programme

C) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
subject to consultation

This budget may be subject to change as a result of the saving proposals consultation and Members decisions.
The Uncontrollable budgets may be subject to change, however this will not impact on the ability to deliver services.
I confirm that the figures presented reflect a robust budget which would support operational activity in my service in 2019/20 and that the provisional budget for 2020/21 represents the service requirements for that year, subject to any changes as 
part of the 2019/20 budget setting process (see Appendix1). 

06/02/2019

P
age 28



PUBLIC HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BUDGET POSITION 2019/20

SUMMARY OF 2018/19 BUDGET CHANGES

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Budget position agreed at Budget Fixing Council 28th February 2018 6,887 2,252 9,139
Funds allocated (to)/from Contingency 23 23
Allocation of Budget Pressures funding 0
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority (208) (609) (817)
Removal of one year only budgets that are not included in future years budgets. (395) (395)

6,307 1,643 7,950

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENT IN SETTING 2019/20 BUDGET

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Reflecting revised budget position as at 26/10/2018 6,307 1,643 7,950
Reflects the increase in the cost of living - e.g. salary inflation, contract inflation etc. 72 0 72
Budgets determined by a range of factors some of which are outside of the Services control - e.g. Depreciation, Business 
Rate Charges, Insurance 3 242 245

Budget Pressures identified by services 0 0 0
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority 44 0 44
The movement in Superannuation contributions 0 0 0
(Increase) or decrease in Grants received by the Authority 0 0 0
Identified where more resource is needed to support demand within a Service 0 0 0
Changes to the contribution to/(from) the Pooled Budget (67) 0 (67)
Savings from previous years budget setting process 0 0 0
Saving Proposals agreed as part of 17/18 programme 0 0 0
2019/20 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation 0 0 0
See table below for further details 5 0 5
See table below for further details 0 0 0
See table below for further details 0 0 0

6,364 1,885 8,249

BUDGET SETTING MOVEMENT DETAILS

CATEGORY REF DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Terms & Conditions (Withheld Incremental Progression) 17/18 process 15 15
Transformation Funding Public Health Senior Planning & Programme Manager (10) (10)
TOTAL 5 0 5

0
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0

SIGNED BY NAME SIGNATURE DATE

Director Andrea Fallon

Budget Pressures

CATEGORY

Base budget 2018/19
Contingency
Budget pressure allocation
Switches
Reversal of one year only virements
REVISED BUDGET AT 26/10/2018

CATEGORY

Budget setting starting position
Inflation

Centrally Allocated Charges

TOTAL 2019/20 BUDGET

Switches
Superannuation
Grant changes
Growth
Pooled Budget Adjustment
Savings identified prior to 2017/18 budget setting process
Saving Proposals agreed as part of 17/18 programme
2019/20 saving proposals not requiring service consultation
A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 2018/19
B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 2018/19 programme
C) 2019/20 saving proposals subject to consultation - approved December 2018

A) Reversal of One Year Only 
Decisions 2018/19

B) Saving Proposals agreed as 
part of 2018/19 programme

C) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
subject to consultation - 

approved December 2018

This budget may be subject to change as a result of Members decisions.
The Uncontrollable budgets may be subject to change, however this will not impact on the ability to deliver services.
I confirm that the figures presented reflect a robust budget which would support operational activity in my service in 2019/20 and that the provisional budget for 2020/21 represents the service requirements for that year, subject to any changes as 
part of the 2019/20 budget setting process (see Appendix1). 

22/01/2019

P
age 29



ADULT CARE
BUDGET POSITION 2020/21

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENT IN SETTING 2020/21 BUDGET

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Reflecting budget position as at end of 2019/20 12,449 3,411 15,860
Reflects the increase in the cost of living - e.g. salary inflation, contract inflation etc. 1,148 0 1,148
Budgets determined by a range of factors some of which are outside of the Services control - 
e.g. Depreciation, Business Rate Charges, Insurance 2 (93) (91)

Budget Pressures identified by services 1,081 0 1,081
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net 
position of the Authority (2,811) 0 (2,811)

The movement in Superannuation contributions 81 0 81
(Increase) or decreases in Grants received by the Authority (1,108) 0 (1,108)
Identified where more resource is needed to support demand within a Service 500 0 500
Changes to the contribution to/(from) the Pooled Budget 169 0 169
Savings from previous years budget setting process 0 0 0
2020/21 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation 0 0 0
See table below for further details 0 0 0
See table below for further details 0 0 0
See table below for further details (168) 0 (168)
See table below for further details 0 0 0

11,343 3,318 14,661

BUDGET SETTING MOVEMENT DETAILS

CATEGORY REF DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0
Incremental Progression Saving 2020/21 (168) (168)

0
0
0
0

TOTAL (168) 0 (168)
0
0
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0

SIGNED BY NAME SIGNATURE DATE

Director Andrea Fallon 22/01/2019

2020/21 saving proposals not requiring service consultation
A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 2019/20
B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 2019/20 programme
C) 2019/20 saving proposals outside of process
D) 2019/20 saving proposals requiring consultation - approved December 2018
TOTAL 2020/21 BUDGET

A) Reversal of One Year Only 
Decisions 2019/20

B) Saving Proposals agreed as 
part of 2019/20 programme

C) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
outside of process

D) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
requiring consultation - approved 

December 2018

This budget may be subject to change as a result of Members decisions.
The Uncontrollable budgets may be subject to change, however this will not impact on the ability to deliver services.
I confirm that the figures presented reflect a robust budget which would support operational activity in my service in 2019/20 and that the provisional budget for 2020/21 represents the service requirements for that 
year, subject to any changes as part of the 2019/20 budget setting process (see Appendix1). 

Savings identified prior to 2017/18 budget setting process

CATEGORY

Budget setting starting position
Inflation

Centrally Allocated Charges

Budget Pressures

Switches

Superannuation
Grant changes
Growth
Pooled Budget Adjustment

P
age 30



CHILDRENS SERVICES
BUDGET POSITION 2020/21

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENT IN SETTING 2020/21 BUDGET

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Reflecting budget position as at end of 2019/20 3,509 19,523 23,032
Reflects the increase in the cost of living - e.g. salary inflation, contract inflation etc. 446 29 475
Budgets determined by a range of factors some of which are outside of the Services control - e.g. Depreciation, Business 
Rate Charges, Insurance 10 (307) (297)

Budget Pressures identified by services 86 0 86
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority (545) 0 (545)
The movement in Superannuation contributions 176 0 176
(Increase) or decreases in Grants received by the Authority 0 0 0
Identified where more resource is needed to support demand within a Service 0 0 0
Changes to the contribution to/(from) the Pooled Budget 335 0 335
Savings from previous years budget setting process 0 0 0
2020/21 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation 0 0 0
See table below for further details (126) 0 (126)
See table below for further details 0 0 0
See table below for further details (299) 0 (299)
See table below for further details 0 0 0

3,592 19,245 22,837

BUDGET SETTING MOVEMENT DETAILS

CATEGORY REF DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

CS-2018-19-004 School HR 20 20
CS-2018-19-005 Troubled Families 65 65

Youth Parliament (211) (211)
0
0

TOTAL (126) 0 (126)
0
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0
Incremental Progression Saving 2020/21 (299) (299)

0
0

TOTAL (299) 0 (299)
0
0
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0

SIGNED BY NAME SIGNATURE DATE

Director Gail Hopper

Savings identified prior to 2017/18 budget setting process

CATEGORY

Budget setting starting position
Inflation

Centrally Allocated Charges

Budget Pressures
Switches
Superannuation
Grant changes
Growth
Pooled Budget Adjustment

28/01/2019

2020/21 saving proposals not requiring service consultation
A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 2019/20
B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 2019/20 programme
C) 2019/20 saving proposals outside of process
D) 2019/20 saving proposals requiring consultation - approved December 2018
TOTAL 2020/21 BUDGET

A) Reversal of One Year Only 
Decisions 2019/20

B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 
2019/20 programme

C) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
outside of process

D) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
requiring consultation - approved 

December 2018

This budget may be subject to change as a result of Members decisions.
The Uncontrollable budgets may be subject to change, however this will not impact on the ability to deliver services.
I confirm that the figures presented reflect a robust budget which would support operational activity in my service in 2019/20 and that the provisional budget for 2020/21 represents the service requirements for that year, subject to any changes as 
part of the 2019/20 budget setting process (see Appendix1). 

P
age 31



ECONOMY
BUDGET POSITION 2020/21

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENT IN SETTING 2020/21 BUDGET

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Reflecting budget position as at end of 2019/20 15,217 671 15,888
Reflects the increase in the cost of living - e.g. salary inflation, contract inflation etc. 18 0 18
Budgets determined by a range of factors some of which are outside of the Services control - 
e.g. Depreciation, Business Rate Charges, Insurance 10 (24) (14)

Budget Pressures identified by services 1 0 1
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of 
the Authority 47 1 48

The movement in Superannuation contributions 26 0 26
(Increase) or decreases in Grants received by the Authority 0 0 0
Identified where more resource is needed to support demand within a Service 0 0 0
Changes to the contribution to/(from) the Pooled Budget 0 0 0
Savings from previous years budget setting process 0 0 0
2020/21 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation 0 0 0
See table below for further details 200 0 200
See table below for further details (350) 0 (350)
See table below for further details (40) 0 (40)
See table below for further details 0 0 0

15,129 648 15,777

BUDGET SETTING MOVEMENT DETAILS

CATEGORY REF DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

EC-2019-20-001 Employment Links 150 150
EC-2019-20-003 Planning Fees 50 50

0
0

TOTAL 200 0 200
EC-2019-20-001 Employment Links (50) (50)
EC-2019-20-003 Planning Fees (50) (50)
EC-2019-20-004 Review of Commercial Assets (100) (100)
EC-2019-20-005 Commercial Investment Fund phase 3 (150) (150)

0
TOTAL (350) 0 (350)
Incremental Progression Saving 2020/21 (40) (40)

0
TOTAL (40) 0 (40)

0
0
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0

SIGNED BY NAME SIGNATURE DATE

Director John Searle

Savings identified prior to 2017/18 budget setting process

CATEGORY

Budget setting starting position
Inflation

Centrally Allocated Charges

Budget Pressures

Switches

Superannuation
Grant changes
Growth
Pooled Budget Adjustment

28/01/2019

2020/21 saving proposals not requiring service consultation
A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 2019/20
B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 2019/20 programme
C) 2019/20 saving proposals outside of process
D) 2019/20 saving proposals requiring consultation - approved December 2018
TOTAL 2020/21 BUDGET

A) Reversal of One Year Only 
Decisions 2019/20

B) Saving Proposals agreed as 
part of 2019/20 programme

C) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
outside of process

D) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
requiring consultation - approved 

December 2018

This budget may be subject to change as a result of Members decisions.
The Uncontrollable budgets may be subject to change, however this will not impact on the ability to deliver services.
I confirm that the figures presented reflect a robust budget which would support operational activity in my service in 2019/20 and that the provisional budget for 2020/21 represents the service requirements for that year, 
subject to any changes as part of the 2019/20 budget setting process (see Appendix1). 

P
age 32



NEIGHBOURHOODS
BUDGET POSITION 2020/21

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENT IN SETTING 2020/21 BUDGET

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Reflecting budget position as at end of 2019/20 50,538 1,842 52,380
Reflects the increase in the cost of living - e.g. salary inflation, contract inflation 
etc.

750 0 750
Budgets determined by a range of factors some of which are outside of the 
Services control - e.g. Depreciation, Business Rate Charges, Insurance 42 (600) (558)

Budget Pressures identified by services 349 0 349
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect 
the net position of the Authority 72 (1) 71

The movement in Superannuation contributions 210 0 210
(Increase) or decreases in Grants received by the Authority (354) 0 (354)
Identified where more resource is needed to support demand within a Service 280 0 280
Changes to the contribution to/(from) the Pooled Budget 0 0 0
Savings from previous years budget setting process 0 0 0
2020/21 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation 0 0 0
See table below for further details (173) 0 (173)
See table below for further details (38) 0 (38)
See table below for further details (315) 0 (315)
See table below for further details (94) 0 (94)

51,267 1,241 52,508

BUDGET SETTING MOVEMENT DETAILS

CATEGORY REF DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Feel Good Festival 19/20 (80) (80)
Town Hall Security (14) (14)
CCTV Contract 19/20 (79) (79)

0
0
0
0

TOTAL (173) 0 (173)
NH-2019-20-025 Move from VMWARE to hyperV (10) (10)
NH-2019-20-025 Senior Systems and Network Engineer (28) (28)

0
0

TOTAL (38) 0 (38)
Incremental Progression Saving 2020/21 (315) (315)

0
0
0
0

TOTAL (315) 0 (315)
NH-2019-022 Review of grant funded Community Centres (94) (94)

0
0
0
0

TOTAL (94) 0 (94)

SIGNED BY NAME SIGNATURE DATE

Director Mark Widdup

Savings identified prior to 2017/18 budget setting process

CATEGORY

Budget setting starting position
Inflation

Centrally Allocated Charges

Budget Pressures

Switches

Superannuation
Grant changes
Growth
Pooled Budget Adjustment

29/01/2019

2020/21 saving proposals not requiring service consultation
A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 2019/20
B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 2019/20 programme
C) 2019/20 saving proposals outside of process
D) 2019/20 saving proposals requiring consultation - approved December 2018
TOTAL 2020/21 BUDGET

A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 
2019/20

B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 
2019/20 programme

C) 2019/19 Saving Proposals
outside of process

D) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
requiring consultation - approved December 

2018

This budget may be subject to change as a result of Members decisions.
The Uncontrollable budgets may be subject to change, however this will not impact on the ability to deliver services.
I confirm that the figures presented reflect a robust budget which would support operational activity in my service in 2019/20 and that the provisional budget for 2020/21 represents the service requirements 
for that year, subject to any changes as part of the 2019/20 budget setting process (see Appendix1). 

P
age 33



RESOURCES
BUDGET POSITION 2020/21

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENT IN SETTING 2020/21 BUDGET

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Reflecting budget position as at end of 2019/20 10,374 (3,913) 6,461
Reflects the increase in the cost of living - e.g. salary inflation, contract inflation etc. 101 0 101
Budgets determined by a range of factors some of which are outside of the Services control - e.g. Depreciation, Business 
Rate Charges, Insurance 0 (120) (120)

Budget Pressures identified by services 0 0 0
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the net position of the Authority 48 1 49
The movement in Superannuation contributions 75 0 75
(Increase) or decreases in Grants received by the Authority 0 0 0
Identified where more resource is needed to support demand within a Service 0 0 0
Changes to the contribution to/(from) the Pooled Budget 0 0 0
Savings from previous years budget setting process 0 0 0
2020/21 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation 0 0 0
See table below for further details (51) 0 (51)
See table below for further details 0 0 0
See table below for further details (121) 0 (121)
See table below for further details 0 0 0

10,426 (4,032) 6,394

BUDGET SETTING MOVEMENT DETAILS

CATEGORY REF DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

AGMA License budget 4 year allocation year 4 of 4 (2) (2)
Transformation Fund Savings Grade 9 Post (49) (49)

0
0
0
0

TOTAL (51) 0 (51)
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0
Incremental Progression Saving 2020/21 (121) (121)

0
0

TOTAL (121) 0 (121)
0
0
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0

SIGNED BY NAME SIGNATURE DATE

Director Neil Thornton

Savings identified prior to 2017/18 budget setting process

CATEGORY

Budget setting starting position
Inflation

Centrally Allocated Charges

Budget Pressures
Switches
Superannuation
Grant changes
Growth
Pooled Budget Adjustment

06/02/2019

2020/21 saving proposals not requiring service consultation
A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 2019/20
B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 2019/20 programme
C) 2019/20 saving proposals outside of process
D) 2019/20 saving proposals requiring consultation
TOTAL 2020/21 BUDGET

A) Reversal of One Year Only 
Decisions 2019/20

B) 2019/20 Saving Proposals agreed 
as part of 2019/20 programme

C) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
outside of process

D) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
requiring consultation

This budget may be subject to change as a result of Members decisions.
The Uncontrollable budgets may be subject to change, however this will not impact on the ability to deliver services.
I confirm that the figures presented reflect a robust budget which would support operational activity in my service in 2019/20 and that the provisional budget for 2020/21 represents the service requirements for that year, subject to any changes as 
part of the 2019/20 budget setting process (see Appendix1). 

P
age 34



PUBLIC HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BUDGET POSITION 2020/21

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENT IN SETTING 2020/21 BUDGET

DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

Reflecting budget position as at end of 2019/20 6,364 1,885 8,249

Reflects the increase in the cost of living - e.g. salary inflation, contract inflation etc. 49 0 49

Budgets determined by a range of factors some of which are outside of the 
Services control - e.g. Depreciation, Business Rate Charges, Insurance 3 (59) (56)

Budget Pressures identified by services 0 0 0
Movement either within, or between Services, but which ultimately do not affect the 
net position of the Authority (18) 0 (18)

The movement in Superannuation contributions 6 0 6
(Increase) or decreases in Grants received by the Authority 0 0 0
Identified where more resource is needed to support demand within a Service 0 0 0
Changes to the contribution to/(from) the Pooled Budget 11 0 11
Savings from previous years budget setting process 0 0 0
2020/21 Saving proposals not requiring service consultation 0 0 0
See table below for further details 0 0 0
See table below for further details 0 0 0
See table below for further details (309) 0 (309)
See table below for further details 0 0 0

6,106 1,826 7,932

BUDGET SETTING MOVEMENT DETAILS

CATEGORY REF DESCRIPTION Controllable
£000

Uncontrollable
£000

Total
£000

0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0
0
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0
Incremental Progression Saving 2020/21 (9) (9)
Reduction in Management Fee for Link4Life (300) (300)

0
TOTAL (309) 0 (309)

0
0
0
0
0

TOTAL 0 0 0

SIGNED BY NAME SIGNATURE DATE

Director Andrea Fallon

C) 2019/20 saving proposals outside of process

30/01/2019

Savings identified prior to 2017/18 budget setting process

CATEGORY

Budget setting starting position

Inflation

Centrally Allocated Charges

Budget Pressures

Switches

Superannuation
Grant changes
Growth
Pooled Budget Adjustment

2020/21 saving proposals not requiring service consultation
A) Reversal of One Year Only Decisions 2019/20
B) Saving Proposals agreed as part of 2019/20 programme

D) 2019/20 saving proposals requiring consultation - approved December 2018
TOTAL 2020/21 BUDGET

The £300k reduction in L4L management fee are part of the wider discussions in relation to contract review and therefore will be reversed or amended to reflect the outcome of the process. 

A) Reversal of One Year Only 
Decisions 2019/20

B) Saving Proposals agreed as 
part of 2019/20 programme

C) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
outside of process

D) 2019/20 Saving Proposals
requiring consultation - approved 

December 2018

This budget may be subject to change as a result of Members decisions.
The Uncontrollable budgets may be subject to change, however this will not impact on the ability to deliver services.
I confirm that the figures presented reflect a robust budget which would support operational activity in my service in 2019/20 and that the provisional budget for 2020/21 represents the service requirements 
for that year, subject to any changes as part of the 2019/20 budget setting process (see Appendix1). 

P
age 35



Report to Council

Date of Meeting 27th February 2019
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Report Author Victoria Bradshaw
Public/Private Document Public

Budget Report 2019/20

Executive Summary

1.1 The report presents for consideration and approval the recommendations of 
Cabinet arising from the meeting held on 12th February 2019 in respect of the 
Revenue Budget, Capital Budget, Council Tax 2019/20, Pay Policy, Capital 
Investment and Disposal Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy.

Recommendation

2.1

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

That Council approve the recommendations of cabinet as follows:

The revenue estimates for 2019/20 as submitted in the Budget Report attached to this 
report be approved.

The level of Council Tax increase at 3.99% be approved.

To accept the Council Tax Flexibility Offer and set a separate precept of 1% for Adult 
Social Care pressures be approved.

It be noted that, at its meeting on 12th December, Council calculated the amount of 
55,176 as its Council Tax base for the year 2019/20 in accordance with Section 31B of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (“the Act”), as amended by the Localism Act 
2011.

The following amounts now be calculated by the Council for the year 2019/20 in 
accordance with Sections 30 to 36 of the Act:-

£674,062,618.00 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act.

£586,766,327.00    being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(3) of the Act.

£87,296,291.00      being the amount by which the aggregate under Section 

Page 36

Agenda Item 3



(6)

(7)

31A(2) exceeds the aggregate under Section 31A(3), 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31A(4) 
of the Act, as its council tax requirement for the year.

£1,582.14 being the amount calculated under Section 31A(4), divided 
by the Council Tax Base (55,176), in accordance with 
Section 31B of the Act, as the relevant basic amount of its 
Council Tax for the year, including 1% for Adult Social Care. 
The relevant basic amount being £112.20 for Adult Social 
Care and £1,469.94 for Other Council Expenditure.

 A
£ 

 B
£ 

 C
£ 

 D
£ 

 E
£ 

 F
£ 

 G
£ 

 H
£ 

Included in the 
Valuation Bands  
for Adult Social 
Care 74.80 87.27 99.73 112.20 137.13 162.07 187.00 224.40
Included in the 
Valuation Bands 
for other Council 
expenditure 979.96 1,143.29 1,306.61 1,469.94 1,796.59 2,123.25 2,449.90 2,939.88
Total 1,054.76 1,230.56 1,406.34 1,582.14 1,933.72 2,285.32 2,636.90 3,164.28

Valuation Bands

Being the amounts given by multiplying the amount calculated in accordance with 
Section 31B by the number which, in the proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is 
applicable to dwellings listed in a particular band divided by the number which in that 
proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in Valuation Band D, calculated by the 
Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act, as the amount to be taken into 
account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in different Valuation 
Bands.

It be noted that for the year 2019/20 the major precepting Authorities have stated the 
following amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in accordance with Section 40 of 
the Act, for each of the categories of dwellings shown below:-

1. Having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at paragraphs 3(e) and 
4 above, the Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Act, hereby sets 
the aggregate amounts shown in the table below as the amounts of Council Tax for 
the year 2019/20 for each part of its area and for each of the categories of dwellings.

Page 37



(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

(17)

(18)

(6) No discount be given in relation to the early payment of Council Tax bills for taxpayers 
paying the full 2019/20 amount.

(7)
(8) The decision regarding any changes to the final allocations for the Dedicated Schools 

Grant be delegated to the Director of Children’s Services and the Chief Finance Officer in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and the Cabinet Member 
for Finance.

Note the potential call on reserves of £3.5m, as detailed in the Budget report.

Consider and note the progress of the Integration of Health and Social Care services as 
set out in the Budget Report. In particular, the operation of the Pooled Fund budget from 
2019/20 for local authority and CCG services and the risks to the Council should the 
savings proposals not be achieved.

Approve the contribution to the Integrated Health & Social Care Pooled Fund budget of 
£87.159m, as detailed at Appendix 1.

The Capital Programme as detailed in the Budget report be approved.

(9) New spending proposal requiring additional revenue and capital resources should only 
be considered during the financial year, in extreme circumstances as determined by the 
Budget and Policy Framework. The proposals would need to be reported to the next 
available Council meeting in accordance with the Budget & Policy Framework.

Pay Policy Statement – Budget Council are requested to approve the Pay Policy outlined 
in the Budget Report to comply with the requirements of Section 6 of the Localism Act 
2011.

Treasury Management Strategy Statement – Budget Council are requested to approve 
the Treasury Management Strategy outlined at Appendix 6 of the Budget report.

Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy – Budget Council are requested to approve 
the Strategy outlined at Appendix 7 of the Budget report.

Medium Term Financial Strategy – Budget Council are requested to approve the 
Strategy outlined at Appendix 8 of the Budget report.

Reason for Recommendation

3.1 The Council Tax Resolution is approved each year by Budget Council and 
calculates the level of Council Tax in accordance with Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011). The savings 
proposals recommended by Cabinet are incorporated into the calculation of 

Page 38



3.2

the Council Tax requirement.

The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer in relation to the 
Revenue and Capital Budget and Council Tax at their meeting held on 12th 
February 2019.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1

4.2

This report draws together the Revenue Budget, Capital Programme and 
Council Tax 2019/20 report together with the Pay Policy, Treasury 
Management Strategy, Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2023/24 considered by Cabinet 
on the 12th February 2019. 

The details are attached in the Budget Report 2019/20.

Alternatives Considered

The Council is legally obliged to set a balanced revenue budget. The budget 
setting process is complex and must be undertaken in a planned way. Whilst 
budgets are prepared in accordance with the approved guidelines a number 
of alternative options relating to savings proposals and budget pressures are 
considered as part of the overall budget setting process.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1

5.2

5.3

Revenue Budget

The financial implications of the Revenue Budget are included in the main 
body of the report.

Capital Budget

The financial implications of the Capital Budget are included in the main body 
of the report.

Throughout the report reference is made to the Chief Finance Officer (CFO); 
the CFO is a statutory appointment pursuant to Section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

Risk and Policy Implications

6.1

6.1.1

Risk Implications

The separate report on the agenda ‘The Local Government Act 2003’ 
considers the overall budget risk.

Page 39



6.2

6.2.1

6.2.2

6.2.3

6.2.4

6.2.5

6.2.6

6.2.7

Legal Implications

The Council Tax in England and Wales is provided for and governed by the 
provisions of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  Within this Act, the 
Council is designated as a “Billing Authority”, responsible for the billing, 
collection and enforcement of Council Tax.  The Council is under a duty to 
calculate the budget in accordance with Section 32 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 and must make three calculations namely: an estimate of 
the Council’s gross revenue expenditure; an estimate of anticipated income; 
and a calculation of the difference between the two. The amount of the budget 
requirement must be sufficient to meet the Council’s budget commitments and 
ensure a balanced budget. The amount of the budget requirement must leave 
the Council with adequate financial reserves. The level of budget requirement 
must not be unreasonable having regard to the Council’s fiduciary duty to its 
Council Tax payers and non-domestic rate payers.  

Failure to make a lawful Council Tax by 11th March, in the financial year 
preceding that for which it is set, could have serious financial results for the 
Council and make the Council vulnerable to an Order from the Courts 
requiring it to make a Council Tax.

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 places a general duty on local 
authorities to make arrangements for ‘the proper administration of their 
financial affairs'.  Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires Chief 
Financial Officers to report to their authorities about the robustness of 
estimates and the adequacy of reserves when determining their precepts, and 
authorities are required to take the Chief Financial Officer’s report into account 
when setting the Council Tax.

Information must be published and included in the Council Tax demand 
notice. The Secretary of State has made regulations, which require charging 
authorities to issue demand notices in a form and with contents prescribed by 
these regulations.

There is also a duty under Section 65 of the 1992 Act to consult persons or 
bodies appearing to be representative of persons subject to non-domestic 
rates in each area about proposals for expenditure (including capital 
expenditure) for each financial year.

Following the House of Commons’ approval of the Local Government Finance 
Report and council tax referendum principles for 2016-17 in early 2016, the 
Secretary of State will issue a Notice under Section 52ZY of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. This will require Section 151 officers to 
provide information demonstrating that an amount equivalent to the additional 
council tax has been allocated to adult social care.

The Equality Act 2010 includes a public sector equality duty which requires 
Councils when exercising functions to have due regard to the need to 
eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimization and other conduct 
prohibited under the Act and to advance equality of opportunity and foster 

Page 40



good relations between those who share a “protected characteristic and those 
who do not share that protected characteristic”.  When a Budget proposal has 
implications for people covered by the Equality Act 2010, the Council must 
take into account of the Equality Duty and any particular impact on the 
protected group. An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for the Budget 2019/20 
to 2021/22 is provided at Appendix A.

Consultation

7.1

7.2

Consultation on savings proposals was undertaken with the, stakeholder 
groups, staff and service users as appropriate. Consultation ended on 10th 
September 2018. The outcome of consultation was reported to Cabinet on 
30th October 2018.

Consultation on the Capital Programme was undertaken during the Autumn 
resulting in the changes outlined at in the main body of the budget report.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

For Further Information Contact: Victoria Bradshaw, Tel: 01706 925409, 
Victoria.Bradshaw@Rochdale.Gov.UK

Page 41



Appendix A

Equality Impact Assessment

 What are you assessing?  Please tick the appropriate box below.

Function Strategy Policy Project Other, please specify below



Service:

Finance

Section: 

Corporate Finance

Responsible Officer:

Victoria Bradshaw

Name of function/strategy/ policy/ project assessed:

Budget Report  2019/20 

Date of Assessment:

31st January 2019

Officers Involved:

Victoria Bradshaw, Sajjad Miah, and Directors of Service

1.What is the purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project assessed?

(Briefly describe the aims, objectives and purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project)

The purpose of the Revenue Budget, Capital Budget and Council Tax 2019/20 to 2021/22 is to :-

 Provide information on the latest position on the 2018/19 revenue budget
 Provide details on the Local Government Finance Settlement for 2019/20
 To approve the Rochdale BC’s  Revenue expenditure for 2019/20
 To approve the 2019/20 Council Tax for the Council

Page 42



 Note the precepts to be made on the Council for the Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner and 
Mayoral General (including Fire Services).

The Council’s Corporate Plan sets out the strategic direction and priorities of the Council. The Council’s 
budget proposals are shaped by them.

2. Who are the key stakeholders?

The residents of the Borough

Those who pay Council Tax

Businesses

Employees of the Council

Members of the public that use Council Services

Partner Organisations

Voluntary Sector

Greater Manchester Combined Authority

3. What is the scope of this equality impact assessment? That is, what is included in this 
assessment.  

There are potential impacts as a result of any changes to:

 Council Tax
 Discretionary fees and charges
 Local Council Tax Support Scheme
 The revenue budget itself and in particular any service saving proposals incorporated.

This Equality Impact Assessment only covers the impact of changes due to Council Tax and is an 
overarching Equality Impact Assessment. The Discretionary fees and charges, Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme and the revenue budget itself and in particular any service saving proposals 
incorporated are considered as part of the approval processes for these areas.  Below are the links to the 
reports on these areas which include a copy of the specific Equality Impact Assessments:

 Discretionary fees and charges
Cabinet 29 January

 Savings proposals incorporated
Council 12th December

Page 43

http://r1p-mgv-www01/documents/g4838/Public%20reports%20pack%2028th-Jan-2019%2018.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
http://r1p-mgv-www01/documents/g4820/Public%20reports%20pack%2012th-Dec-2018%2018.00%20Council.pdf?T=10


 Local Council Tax Support Scheme
Local council tax support scheme

4.Which needs is this function/strategy/ policy/ project designed to meet?

This is designed to meet the overall budget setting for the Council for 2018/19. Once agreed, it is the high 
level framework that authorises services to incur costs and generate income through the activities they carry 
out.

5.Has a needs analysis been undertaken?

Within the overall budget setting process a number of assumptions are made around demographics and pay 
& prices.

6.Who is affected by this function/strategy/ policy/ project?

All those who pay council tax.

7.Who has been involved in the review or development of this function/strategy/ policy/ project and 
who has been consulted?  State your consultation/involvement methodology.

Directors, Leadership Team and Members have been involved in the development of this policy.

Consultation on savings proposals was undertaken with the, stakeholder groups, staff and service users as 
appropriate. Consultation ended on 10th September 2018. The outcome of consultation was reported to 
Cabinet on 30th October 2018.

Consultation on the Capital Programme was undertaken during the Autumn resulting in the changes outlined 
at 5.5.1 of this report.

The Budget Reports have also been included on the Council’s website and members of the public are able 
to attend Committee meetings to make their comments known.

8.What data have you considered for this assessment and have any gaps in the data been identified.  
What action will be taken to close any data gaps?

Data used for this is the Census Data 2011 which was published in July 2012 and represents the most up-
to-date snapshot of the Borough’s population.

9.Are there any other documents or strategies which are linked to this assessment? If so, please 
include hyperlinks to these documents below, where available.

The documents which are linked to this Equality Impact Assessment are the Discretionary Fees and 
Charges Reports, the Local Council Tax Support Scheme and the Medium Term Finance Strategy are 

Page 44

http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/g3936/Public%20reports%20pack%2021st-Nov-2016%2018.15%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10


below:

 Discretionary fees and charges
Cabinet 29 January

 Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
Local council tax support scheme

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 
Cabinet 25 September

10. What impact will this function/strategy/policy/project have on all the protected groups?  This 
includes both positive and potentially negative impacts.

Race Equality 

The proposed percentage increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 will apply to all Council Tax payers. 

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their Council Tax and an Equality Impact Assessment was carried 
out in relation to the scheme.

Disabled People

The proposed percentage increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 will apply to all Council Tax payers. 

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their Council Tax and an Equality Impact Assessment was carried 
out in relation to the scheme. 

Carers

The proposed percentage increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 will apply to all Council Tax payers. 

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their Council Tax and an Equality Impact Assessment was carried 
out in relation to the scheme.

Gender

The proposed percentage increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 will apply to all Council Tax payers. 

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their Council Tax and an Equality Impact Assessment was carried 
out in relation to the scheme. 

Page 45

http://r1p-mgv-www01/documents/g4838/Public%20reports%20pack%2028th-Jan-2019%2018.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/g3936/Public%20reports%20pack%2021st-Nov-2016%2018.15%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
http://r1p-mgv-www01/documents/g4792/Public%20reports%20pack%2025th-Sep-2018%2018.15%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10


Age

The proposed percentage increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 will apply to all Council Tax payers. 

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their Council Tax and an Equality Impact Assessment was carried 
out in relation to the scheme.

Armed Forces and Ex-Armed Forces Personnel

The proposed percentage increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 will apply to all Council Tax payers. 

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their Council Tax and an Equality Impact Assessment was carried 
out in relation to the scheme. 

Sexual Orientation

The proposed percentage increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 will apply to all Council Tax payers. 

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their Council Tax and an Equality Impact Assessment was carried 
out in relation to the scheme.

Gender Reassignment

The proposed percentage increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 will apply to all Council Tax payers. 

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their Council Tax and an Equality Impact Assessment was carried 
out in relation to the scheme.

Religion or Belief

The proposed percentage increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 will apply to all Council Tax payers. 

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their Council Tax and an Equality Impact Assessment was carried 
out in relation to the scheme.

Pregnant Women or Those on Maternity Leave

The proposed percentage increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 will apply to all Council Tax payers. 

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their Council Tax and an Equality Impact Assessment was carried 
out in relation to the scheme.

Marriage or Civil Partnership

The proposed percentage increase in Council Tax for 2019/20 will apply to all Council Tax payers. 

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their Council Tax and an Equality Impact Assessment was carried 

Page 46



out in relation to the scheme.

11. What are your main conclusions from this analysis?

There are no equality issues arising from this analysis.

12. What are your recommendations?

To consider incorporating the impact on changes to council tax within the equality impact assessment on the 
Local Council Tax Support Scheme.

13. What actions are you going to take to address the findings of this assessment?  Please attach an 
action plan including details of designated officers responsible for completing these actions.

To consider incorporating the impact on changes to Council Tax within the equality impact assessment on 
the Local Council Tax Support Scheme.

To develop further consultation with key stakeholders

Signed (Completing Officer):___________________ Date:_____________

Signed (Head of Service): ____________________ Date:_____________

Page 47



1

Rochdale BC

Budget Report 2019/20

Including:
Revenue Budget 2019/20 – 2021/22 
Capital Programme 2019/20 – 2021/22
Council Tax 2019/20
Pay Policy
Treasury Management Strategy
Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy
Medium Term Financial Strategy

Page 48



2

Contents 

1 Introduction 3

2
 
Part 1 : What we need to spend and how this will be 
funded

 General Fund Revenue Account
 Changes in Estimated Funding
 Locally Generated Sources of Income
 Central Government 
 Schools Funding 
 Budget Gap
 Integration of Health and Social Care 
 2020/21 – 2021/22 Provisional Estimates 
 Capital Programme

3
5
5
6
9

10
12
15
16

3. Part 2 : Council Tax, Business Rates and the accounting 
arrangements for this contained in the Collection Fund

 Collection Fund 2019/20
 Recommended Council Tax
 Business Rates

19

19
20
20

Appendices Appendix 1: General Fund Summary Estimates 2019/20 – 
2021/22

Appendix 2: Budget Assumptions 2019/20 – 2021/22

Appendix 3: Capital Programme 2019/20 – 2021/22

Appendix 4: Statement of Directorate Revenue 
Requirements 

Appendix 5: Pay Policy Statement  

Appendix 6: Treasury Management Strategy

Appendix 7: Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy

Appendix 8: Medium Term Financial Strategy

22

23

24

33

40

Attached

Attached

Attached

Page 49



3

1

1.1

1.2

2

2.1

2.1.1

2.1.2

Introduction

This report contains :
 Revenue Budget 2019/20 - 2021/22
 Capital Programme 2019/20 – 2021/22
 Pay Policy Statement
 Treasury Management Strategy
 Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy
 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 – 2023/24

which are being recommended to Budget Council for approval by Cabinet.

This report is presented in two parts, as there is a requirement for all billing 
authorities to keep a separate Collection Fund Account to the main General Fund 
Budget.  Part 1 deals with the budget requirements of Rochdale BC whilst Part 2 
concentrates on Collection Fund issues.

What we need to spend and how this will be funded

Part1: District Requirements - The General Fund Revenue Account

The General Fund Revenue Account

The proposed budgets for 2019/20 to 2021/22 are set out at summary level at 
Appendix 1. The net funding requirement for 2019/20 is £216.223m, as set out in 
Table 1.

Table 1: Net Funding Requirement

2019/20
£'000

Council Tax 87,296

Business Rates Retained 61,206

Business Rates Top-up Grant 35,597

General Grants 25,819

Collection Fund Surplus 6,305

Net Funding Requirement 216,223

The assumptions on which Directorate budgets are based are set out in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy which is being reported to Cabinet elsewhere on 
the agenda. The individual Directorate budget plans are provided at Appendix 2.

Page 50



4

2.1.3

2.1.4

2.1.5

The budget is based on the latest projected outturn for 2018/19, which is currently 
forecasting an overspend of £3.029m.  The Council’s general balances will be 
£17m at 31st March 2020 and will support the risks within the proposed budget. 
Any increase / decrease against the proposed budget for 2018/19 will be allocated 
to / from the Equalisation Reserve.

Further information on budget risks is provided as a separate agenda item as part 
of the Local Government Act 2003 report requirements.  Members should consider 
the views of the Chief Finance Officer set out within this report with regard to the 
robustness of the budget and the adequacy of balances and reserves when 
determining the budget requirement.

The calculation of 2019/20 Council Tax (for District purposes) for Band D 
properties based on the proposed expenditure level of £216.223m is shown in 
Table 2.

Table 2: Proposed Budget and Council Tax for District Purposes

2018/19 2019/20

Budget
Proposed 

Budget
£'000 £'000 £'000 %

1 BUDGET REQUIREMENT 203,672 216,223 12,551 6.16%

2 Business Rates Top-up Grant 42,277 35,597 -6,680 -15.80%
3 General Grants 19,725 25,819 6,094 30.89%
4 Business Rates Retained 58,014 61,206 3,192 5.50%

5 Net Requirements 83,656 93,601 9,945 11.89%

6 Adjustments re balance on Collection Fund as at 
31st March

-2,203 -6,305

7 Amount to be precepted on the Collection Fund 81,453 87,296 5,843 7.17%

£ £

8 Council Tax for District Purposes 1,521.43 1,582.14 60.71 3.99%

9 Tax Base 2019/20 - 55,176
Tax Base 2018/19 - 53,537

Variation

Page 51



5

2.2

2.2.1

2.3

2.3.1

Changes in Estimated Resources

Table 3 provides an analysis of the changes in Estimated Resources compared to 
the position report to Cabinet 28th January 2019.

Table 3: Changes in Estimated Resources

Budget 2019/20 
@ January 

Cabinet 

Budget 
2019/20 @ 
February 
Cabinet 

Increase/   
(Decrease) in 

Resources
Explanation

£m £m £m

Government Grants
Business Rates Top-up Grant 35.597 35.597 0.000
New Homes Bonus 1.884 1.884 0.000
Improved Better Care Fund 10.809 10.809 0.000
Business Rates Section 31 Grants 7.132 9.697 2.565 Reviewed in line with NNDR1 return
Additional Social Care Funding 3.002 3.002 0.000 One-off. Announced in Autumn Budget 2018
Other Section 31 Grants 0.427 0.427 0.000

58.851 61.416 2.565
Locally Generated Income
Council Tax 87.296 87.296 0.000 Assuming 3.99% increase
Business Rates 62.279 61.206 -1.073 Reviewed in line with NNDR1 return

149.575 148.502 -1.073

Total Resources 208.426 209.918 1.492

Locally Generated Sources of Income – Business Rates

Business Rates Charges

In the Autumn Budget 2018 the Government announced that:
 Business Rates bills for small retail premises including shops, cafes and 

restaurants with rateable values of less than £51k are to be cut by one third for the 
next 2 years.

 100% Business Rates relief for all public lavatories will be introduced.
 The £1,500 Business Rates discount for office space occupied by local newspapers 

will continue in 2019/20.

Local authorities will be fully compensated for the loss of income as a result of 
these business rates measures, via additional Section 31 grant.

Council on 12th December 2018 approved a draft Business Rate baseline figure of 
£62.4m for 2019/20; the Council’s share of estimated Business Rates income, 
including Renewable Energy schemes, was £62.3m. Following submission of the 
2019/20 estimated Business Rates return to Government (NNDR1) this figure has 
been revised to £61.2m. The main difference is due to impact of the reduction in 
Business Rates bills for small businesses announced in the Autumn Budget. The 
Council will be fully compensated for this loss of income by way of additional 
Section 31 grant from the Government.

Page 52



6

2.3.2

2.4

2.4.1

100% Business Rates Retention Pilot

The Government has confirmed that the Greater Manchester 100% Business Rates 
Retention pilot will continue in 2019/20. 

From 2020/21 it is proposed that councils will retain 75% of their Business Rates 
income, incorporating Revenue Support Grant, Public Health Grant and other 
grants, with suitable transitional arrangements. It is unclear whether the current 
100% retention pilots will continue beyond 2019/20. There is currently no 
information on the impact for individual authorities of this change. Further 
information will be provided when available, however previously Central 
Government has assured Pilot Authorities that these will be “without financial 
detriment” to those Local Authorities in the pilot. 

Locally Generated Sources of Income – Council Tax

Council Tax General Purposes

The Settlement confirmed that the Council Tax referendum limit will be increased 
by 1% for General Purposes in line with inflation, meaning that the limit will be 
3.0% for 2019/20. This is the amount a Local Authority can increase Council Tax 
by before a ballot with the Council Tax Payers of Rochdale must be undertaken. 

It is proposed that Council Tax for General purposes is increased by 2.99% in line 
with the referendum limit.
 
Adult Social Care Precept

In 2017/18 councils with responsibility for Adult Social Care were given the 
flexibility to charge a precept on their Council Tax to fund Adult Social Care 
Services of 6% over 3 years. The Council charged an Adult Social Care Precept of 
3% on Council Tax in 2017/18 and 2% in 2018/19. This means that the Council 
can increase the Adult Social Care Precept by 1% in 2019/20, in order to maintain 
a 6% precept across the 3 years.

Council Tax Base 

The Council Tax base for 2019/20 of 55,176 was approved by Council on 12th 
December 2018. The Council Tax base represents the number of Band D 
equivalent properties from which we collect Council Tax. 

Central Government Grants

Local Government Finance Settlement

The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement was published on 13th 
December 2018. The Final Local Government Finance Settlement was published 
on 30th January 2019, and confirmed that there were no changes to the provisional 
settlement figures for Rochdale. 

Page 53



7

2.4.2

Business Rates Top-up Grant

Some local authorities collect and retain a lot more business rates than other 
authorities therefore the business rates retention scheme includes a system of top-
ups and tariffs. Whether a local authority is a tariff or a top-up authority is 
determined by comparing the amount of funding required by an authority via the 
business rates retention system (its baseline funding level) and the amount it can 
raise in business rates locally (its business rate baseline). 

If an authority’s business rates baseline is less than its baseline funding level, it 
receives a top-up grant from the government. If an authority’s business rates 
baseline is greater than its baseline funding level it pays a tariff to the government.

The tariff and top-up amounts were set in 2013/14 and in previous years have been 
increased in line with the business rates multiplier. 

The Council will continue as part of the Greater Manchester pilot to retain 100% of 
business rates in 2019/20. In return Greater Manchester has forgone Revenue 
Support Grant (RSG) and the Public Health Grant in lieu of the retained business 
rates. Authorities’ tariffs and top-ups have been adjusted to ensure these changes 
are “without detriment” to the resources that would have been available to 
individual authorities under the current local government finance regime. 

Local Government Funding Reforms 2020/21

2019/20 is the final year of the Government’s 4-year funding settlement. There are 
multiple reforms to the system of Government funding for local authorities 
scheduled for 2020/21. Two further consultations were launched on 13th December 
on Business Rates Retention Reform and the new approach to distributing funding 
through the Review of Relative Needs and Resources.  The consultations are open 
until the 21st February 2019.

The Government intends to introduce transitional arrangements that will determine 
the basis on which authorities reach their new funding allocations. It is intended 
that the transitional arrangements will unwind over time so that each authority 
reaches its new funding allocations as soon as practicable.

The transitional arrangements will take into account the wider factors taking place 
in 2020/21, including the business rates baseline reset, changes in the business 
rates retention system, and the Spending Review 2019.

At this stage the impact of these reforms on individual authorities is unknown.  We 
will continue to assess the likely financial implications for the Council, as and when 
the Government issues further consultations on proposed funding reforms these 
will be reported to Cabinet. 

The Government intends to implement an increase in business rates retention in 
2020/21, allowing local authorities to keep 75% business rates raised locally. The 
following grants to be funded through retained business rates: Revenue Support 
Grant, Public Health Grant, Rural Services Delivery Grant (nil for Rochdale), and 

Page 54



8

2.4.3

2.4.4

2.4.5

2.4.6

the GLA Transport Grant (nil for Rochdale). 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy assumes that the changes to the method of 
recognising need and resources will have no detriment to future budgets but this 
position will be monitored closely over the next 12 months.

Improved Better Care Fund

The Better Care Fund brings together elements of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and Local Authority budgets into a pooled arrangement. This is to 
encompass integrated commissioning which will support the transformation and 
integration of health and social care services. 

The national Improved Better Care Fund allocation of £1.5bn in 2019/20 assumed 
that councils will increase Council Tax for the Adult Social Care precept. The 
allocation methodology uses the 2013 social care relative needs formula and 
allocates funding against resources available. Rochdale’s allocation is £9.240m in 
2019/20. 

In the March 2017 Budget the Government announced an additional £2bn to help 
local authorities provide high quality social care to more people and to ease the 
pressure on the NHS. Rochdale’s allocation is £1.568m for 2019/20.

Additional Funding for Social Care

An additional £240m was previously announced for Adult Care winter pressures in 
2018/19, and a further £240m for 2019/20 was announced in the Autumn Budget 
2018. Rochdale’s allocation for 2019/20 is £1.1m. This funding is ring-fenced and 
has been contributed to the Pooled Fund.

A further £410m was announced for 2019/20 for Adults and Children’s Social Care. 
Rochdale’s allocation is £1.9m. This grant is not ring-fenced and will be used to 
contribute towards the Children’s Services Pressures for 2019/20 in relation to our 
looked after children.

New Homes Bonus

The proposed changes to the New Homes Bonus (NHB) with regards to amending 
the baseline will not be taken forward in 2019/20. Therefore, there are no changes 
to the current NHB scheme. 

Pay

The Budget has been updated to reflect the current negotiations in relation to the 
suggested pay rise of 2% for 2019/20, 1% in 2020/21, and 1% in 2021/22. The 
budget also reflects the Council’s commitment to pay, based on the Local Living 
Wage Rates for employees. The National Living Wage to increase by 4.9% from 
£7.83 to £8.21 per week from April.  The Rochdale Living Wage for 2019/20 is £9 
per week.

Page 55



9

2.5

2.5.1

2.5.2

2.5.3

2.5.4

2.6 

2.6.1

Schools Funding Settlement   

A summary of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) allocation is provided in Table 
4.

Table 4 Dedicated Schools Grant Allocation

 

 2018-19   
Final 

 2019-20 

 £m  £m  £m  % 

Schools Block 160.297 164.26 3.963 2.50%

High Needs Block 22.232 23.860 1.628 7.30%

Central Schools Services  1.213 1.202 -0.011 -0.90%

Early Years Block 16.697 16.693 -0.004 0.00%

Total DSG 200.439 206.015 5.576 2.80%

 Variation from 
2018-19 

Schools, High Needs and Central Schools Services Block are final allocations with 
the Early Years Block indicative until July 2020. Both Schools and the High Needs 
Block allocations for 2019/20 are based on National Funding Formulae (NFF).  

There is an overall increase in DSG from 2018/19 of £5.576m (2.8%).  However, a 
significant part of this relates to an increase in pupil numbers.  The increase in 
Schools Block of £3.963m is due to an increase in pupils (547) together with the 
Government providing for a 1% increase per pupil for all schools over the 2017/18 
baseline.  As part of the Settlement the Government has recognised the pressures 
faced by LAs on High Needs pupils and has provided an additional £125m 
nationally for both 2018/19 and 2019/20.  The additional funding for Rochdale from 
this in the High Needs Block is £0.540m, with the remainder of the increase due to 
additional pupil numbers (£0.143m) and changes due to the NFF (£0.945m).  

Whilst Schools Block funding is based on the NFF, funding to schools can still be 
based on a local formula for 2019/20.  Members have previously agreed that the 
local formula move towards to the NFF over a three year period.  Under protections 
and caps all schools will have an increase in their per pupil funding over 2018/19

Greater Manchester Combined Authority - Levies

Greater Manchester Transport Levy

The 2019/20 Greater Manchester Waste Transport Levy is subject to approval of 
by the GMCA. The Mayoral precept will be used to invest in bus reform, through 
grants to the districts. Rochdale will receive a grant of £0.648m in 2019/20 in order 
to offset the increase in the Transport Levy in respect of bus reform.

Page 56



10

2.6.2

3

3.1

Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Levy

The projected 2019/20 Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Levy for Rochdale is 
£15.871m. This is subject to the approval of the 2019/20 levies by GMCA. 

The Council’s Budget 2019/20 and Provisional Budget for 2020/21 to 
2021/22

Budget Gap 2019/20 to 2021/22

In February 2018 the Council set a three year budget for 2018/19 to 2019/20. This 
budget identified a budget gap of £8.2m in 2019/20 and £17.0m in 2020/21.

During the budget process the Budget for 2019/20 to 2021/22 has been 
continuously updated and reported to previous Cabinet meetings from the position 
reported to Budget Council in February 2018. The estimated budget gap has been 
revised to £1.3m in 2019/20; £10.2m in 2020/21; and £17.7m in 2021/22, based 
on:

 Current assumptions;
 The Autumn Budget 2018;
 The Final Local Government Finance Settlement 2019/20;
 Savings Proposals approved by Council 12th December 2018.

Table 5 summarises the changes in assumptions since Budget Council February 
2018.

Table 5: Movement in Budget Gap since Budget Council February 2018 

Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Overall Position

Budget Gap at Budget Council February 2018 8,158 0 16,950 0 22,059 0

Budget pressures 4,209 0 4,899 0 5,573 0
Corporate savings -1,518 0 -1,518 -953 152 0
Additional resources to the Council -5,948 -1,894 -7,368 0 -8,642 0
Local priorities 14 0 498 0 1,008 0

Revised Budget Gap 4,915 -1,894 13,461 -953 20,150 0

Service Savings Proposals -1,480 -200 -2,162 -100 -2,462 0

Gap after Savings Proposals 3,435 -2,094 11,299 -1,053 17,688 0

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

The latest budget for 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 is continually updated 
throughout the budget process. 

Page 57



11

The major factors influencing the Council’s Budget are:

 The level of resources received by the Council, both locally generated and 
government grants;

 Health and Social Care integration;
 Budget pressures and costs increasing our spend. 

The budget position will continue to be updated in the light of the latest available 
information; any further changes will be verbally reported to Budget Council 27th 
February 2019. 
Council 12th December 2018 approved savings proposals in relation to General 
Council Services and Aligned Services, as detailed in Table 6.

Table 6 Savings Proposals 2019/20 to 2021/22

Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Service Savings Proposals
Proposals not requiring consultation -1,209 -200 -1,497 -100 -1,497 0
Outside the process -136 0 -436 0 -736 0
Service Delivery Proposals -135 0 -229 0 -229 0

-1,480 -200 -2,162 -100 -2,462 0

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Tables 7 and 8 show the movement in the Budget Gap for General Council 
Services and Aligned Services.

Table 7 Movement in Budget Gap since Budget Council - General 
Council Services

Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Council Services

Budget Gap at Budget Council February 2018 3,364 0 5,568 0 6,719 0

Budget pressures 350 0 516 0 677 0
Corporate savings -418 0 -418 -262 42 0
Additional resources to the Council -1,595 0 -1,980 0 -2,325 0
Local priorities 4 0 137 0 277 0

Revised Budget Gap 1,705 0 3,824 -262 5,391 0

Service Savings Proposals -1,480 -200 -1,862 -100 -1,862 0

Gap after Savings Proposals 225 -200 1,962 -362 3,529 0
Contribution from Reserves -25
Ongoing Gap 0 0 1,962 -362 3,529 0

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Page 58



12

3.2

3.3

Table 8 Movement in Budget Gap since Budget Council - Aligned 
Services

Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Aligned Services

Budget Gap at Budget Council February 2018 259 0 428 0 517 0

Budget pressures 27 0 40 0 52 0
Corporate savings -32 0 -32 -20 3 0
Additional resources to the Council -123 0 -152 0 -179 0
Local priorities 0 0 11 0 21 0

Revised Budget Gap 131 0 294 -20 415 0

Service Savings Proposals 0 0 -300 0 -600 0

Gap after Savings Proposals 131 0 -6 -20 -185 0
Contribution from Reserves -131
Ongoing Gap 0 0 -6 -20 -185 0

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

General Council Services/Aligned Services

The updated 2019/20 Budget Gap for General Council Services and Aligned 
Services after Savings Proposals is £0.156m. It is proposed that this will be funded 
by a one off allocation from the Equalisation Reserve in 2019/20, in order to 
achieve a balanced budget.

Integration of Health & Social Care

From 2018/19 the Local Authority is required to operate a formal pooled budget 
arrangement for health and social care, as part of the GM Health & Social Care 
Transformation Funding Programme. The pooling of resources across the locality 
will provide more opportunities to explore value for money, economies of scale, 
reduce duplication and streamline processes. A key driver is to have a one system 
approach, improving the quality of care provided to the individual.

The pooled budget brings together resources from a range of organisations 
including the Clinical Commissioning Group, the Local Authority, Better Care 
Funds and GM level resources to invest in transformation of service delivery, 
(known as Transformation Funding). 

The Council has continued to progress its joint Senior Manager arrangements with 
Heywood Middleton and Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group (HMRCCG) to 
administrate and manage the pooled budget created to deliver health and care 
integration in Rochdale. Posts are in place funded from the Pool. There is one post 

Page 59



13

of Chief Executive of the Council and Accountable officer for the CCG. The Section 
151 officer has delegated responsibility for the management of the pooled budget 
to the Chief Finance officer of the Clinical Commissioning Group to operate as one 
resource for the delivery of health and care. The pooled fund will be administered 
through the Integrated Commissioning Board which is a joint committee of 
Rochdale Council and to which members of the governing body of the HMRCCG 
are co-opted.

Integration of commissioning has progressed with health and social care 
commissioners working as one directorate to plan, organise and procure health, 
social care and public health services and support for all ages. Corporate services 
from the council and HMRCCG are being reviewed and merged where this would 
add value and improve the service.  This has already taken place in finance with 
Human Resources, and other support services are being considered. The Greater 
Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership (GMHSCP) Transformation Fund 
has awarded to Rochdale/ HMRCCG the sum of £25.2m to support the move from 
the previous model of health and care to one more focussed on prevention and out 
of hospital support. The money will be managed through the pooled fund. 

The delivery of health and care will begin to be contracted from the Local Care 
Organisation during April 2019. Health and care services will be provided through 
this partnership and over the last twelve months service delivery of integrated 
health and care teams, urgent care support care home support and intermediate 
tier services have been expanded to provide a better offer to patients and people in 
Rochdale. The Family Services model has progressed focussing on Children, 
young people and their families and has enhanced its support for mental wellbeing 
and early help for children across the whole system. The Family Services Model is 
proposed to move forward into an alliance partnership during the next twelve 
months.

The Pooled Budget currently has a deficit position of £11.176m in 2019/20 as 
detailed in Table 9. There are a number of proposals being considered to reduce 
the deficit position.

It there is a shortfall in the delivery of the savings to be generated by the 
Transformation Fund this would generate a deficit on the pooled fund, and could be 
shared by the CCG and Rochdale Council based on the agreed risk sharing basis.

Page 60



14

Table 9: Pooled Fund Budget

2019/20 2020/21
£'000 £'000

Budget Gap at the start of 2018/19 29,960 44,378
Changes in budget assumptions / 
additional resources CCG -3,519 -12,367
Ongoing savings achieved in 
2018/19 -6,356 -6,356
Ongoing savings achieved in 
2018/19 via Transformation -5,124 -5,593
Cashable Benefits from 
Transformation 0 -4,248
Unidentified Savings Target -350 -350
One-off Resources -85 0
Changes in budget assumptions / 
additional resources - RBC -3,350 -2,282
Budget Gap for Pooled Fund 11,176 13,182

Total Pooled Fund

Financial reporting and monitoring of the delivery of the Transformation Fund 
benefits, Locality Plan and Pooled Fund savings proposals will be provided to the 
Integrated Commissioning Board (ICB). The ICB brings together the joint 
commissioning activities of the Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group. The 
aim is to oversee the delivery of health and social care services and control the 
pooled fund of the Council and local health bodies, whilst seeking value for money 
and efficiencies from integration and joint working.

There is a risk that the proposals being considered will not meet the reduction in 
expenditure required to enable a balanced pooled budget to be achieved. Any 
deficit on the Pooled Fund and/or under-achievement of the savings proposals will 
require the Council and the CCG to identify resources to mitigate this position in 
2019/20. The Council has the Equalisation Reserve which was created to smooth 
the implementation of savings proposals and therefore could be used for this 
purpose during 2019/20 and future years.

The gap on the Pooled Budget before savings is £11.2m. The Council’s share of 
this potential risk is £3.3m, which would need to be met from the Equalisation 
Reserve.

Cabinet will receive an update of the progress being achieved by the ICB in 
delivering the benefits/savings required to balance the pooled fund resource during 
2019/20 and future years.

Page 61



15

3.4 2020/21 – 2021/22 Provisional Estimates

The provisional estimates for 2020/21 to 2021/22 set out the resources the Council 
will receive based on the most up to date available information. 

The Local Government Act Report identifies that the estimates for 2019/20, 
2020/21 and 2021/22 have a high degree of risk due to uncertainties regarding the 
collection of income from both Council Tax and Business Rates, the integration of 
health and social care, and the multiple reforms to local government funding for 
2020/21.  Within the Health and Social Care pooled fund, a significant proportion of 
the savings proposals relate to the benefits to be delivered from efficiencies 
generated through contract/commission renegotiations and integration of working 
between health and social care organisations. Delays in delivery and slippage in 
the development of new ways of delivery would result in a deficit on the pooled 
fund, resulting in a significant risk for the Council.

There is significant uncertainty around the funding that the Council will receive 
from 2020/21 due to the resetting of business rates baselines, the fair funding 
review and the proposed move to 75% business rates retention. The provisional 
budgets for 2020/21 will be continually reviewed as further information becomes 
available.

There is no current information available for 2020/21 and therefore current 
assumptions have been extrapolated forward.  On this basis, and assuming an 
increase in Council Tax of 3.99% in 2019/20 and 1.99% in 2020/21 and 2021/22, 
this would generate budgeted resources of £216.223m (2019/20), £206.509m 
(2020/21) and £207.775m (2021/22) as illustrated in Table 10. 

Table 10: Provisional Estimate and Council Tax 2020/21 and 2021/22

 

Detail
2019/20 

Proposed 
Budget

2020/21 
Provisional 

Estimate

2021/22 
Provisional 

Estimate
£'000 £'000 £'000 % £'000

1 Budget Requirement 216,223 206,509 -9,714 -4.49% 207,775

Funded By:
2 Top-up Grant 35,597 30,592 -5,005 -14.06% 26,855
3 General Grants 25,819 22,824 -2,995 -11.60% 22,969
4 Business Rates Retained 61,206 63,294 2,088 3.41% 65,660
5 Net Requirements 93,601 89,799 -3,802 4.06% 92,291
6 Less: Collection Fund Adjustments 6,305 0 -6,305 0
7 Precept on Collection Fund 87,296 89,799 2,503 2.87% 92,291

8 Council Tax Band D (District 
Purposes) £1,582.14 £1,613.62 £31.48 1.99% £1,645.73

Variation

Projections of the resource likely to be available to the Council in 2020/21 and 

Page 62



16

3.5

3.5.1

2021/22 result in a short fall in funding compared to the estimated funding required 
to deliver services, as illustrated at Table 11. This reduction results in a budget gap 
for General Council Services of £1.574m in 2020/21 and £3.344m in 2021/22. This 
also assumes the contribution to the Health and Social Care Pooled Fund will be 
reduced by £1.185m in 2019/20, £8.672m in 2020/21 and £14.344m in 2021/22. 

Table 11: Ongoing Requirement 2019/20 to 2021/22

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£'000 £'000 £'000

BUDGET REQUIREMENT 216,223 208,083 211,119
RESOURCES
Council Tax -87,296 -89,799 -92,291 
Business Rates Retained -61,206 -63,294 -65,660 
Collection Fund Surplus -6,305 0 0
General Grants -25,819 -22,824 -22,969 
Business Rates Top-Up Grant -35,597 -30,592 -26,855 
TOTAL RESOURCES -216,223 -206,509 -207,775 

REDUCTION IN BUDGET REQUIREMENTS - 
General Council Services/Aligned Services 0 1,574 3,344

The 2020/21 and 2021/22 final level of the budget requirement will depend on the 
outcome of subsequent Local Government Finance Settlements following the 
outcome of the Fair Funding Review and Spending Review 2019.

Capital Programme 2019/20 to 2021/22
 
The Capital Programme

The Capital Programme for 2019/20 to 2021/22 takes into consideration the 
priorities of the Council and the resources available. The setting of the 2019/20 
capital budget has followed the steps below: 

 Initial budget as provisionally approved at Budget Council on 28th February 2018.
 Review of 2018/19 and 2019/20 schemes – Finance Service has worked with 

Directorates to review 2018/19 and 2019/20 schemes taking into account spend to 
date and previous re-phasing of budget on the schemes.

 Consideration of new schemes.
 Member Review Session with Leader, Deputy Leader and Assistant Finance 

Portfolio Holder.

Table 12 shows the changes to the Capital Programme reported to Cabinet 30th 
October 2018 following consultation.
 

Page 63



17

Table 12 Changes to the Initial Capital Programme

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£'000 £'000 £'000

80,940 54,745 26,365

Neighbourhoods: Boroughwide Allotments 50 58 65 Prudential borrowing

80,990 54,803 26,430

Manchester Airport 3,740 1,860 - Invest to Save
GM Full Fibre Programme - 316 - Invest to Save

84,730 56,979 26,430

Proposed addition in expenditure:

REVISED 2019/20 - 2021/22 CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Source of funding

Total Capital Programme presented to 30th October 2018 Cabinet

Proposed addition in expenditure:

Total Capital Programme presented to 28th January 2019 Cabinet

Manchester Airport Investment
Rochdale Council investment in Manchester Airport initiatives in conjunction with 
the other nine GM authorities. 

The dividend payable to the Council for the investment will not be fully realised in 
the first two years of operation therefore there will be a shortfall of income to cover 
the borrowing costs and repayment of MRP. This will be managed through cash 
flows and contingency. The dividend should be caught up by year 4, 2023/24.

GM Full Fibre Programme
Additional sites have been identified to be part of the programme at an additional 
cost of £316k, resulting in a revised scheme total of £926k.

The result of the above steps is to recommend a proposed Capital Programme 
for 2019/20, and provisional Capital Programmes for 2020/21 and 2021/22, 
detailed in Appendix 3. 

When a scheme is approved and the proposed spend is profiled across 
financial years, the scheme funding will be approved across these financial 
years and will therefore be considered as a priority in future years. Any 
reduction in the funding of these schemes will only be considered where 
contracts have not been entered into.

Schemes totalling £84.730m have been proposed to be included in the 
2019/20 Capital Programme. Table 13 shows the total proposed Capital 
expenditure by service for 2019/20 to 2021/22, and how the expenditure is 
proposed to be funded. 

The Capital budget has been created in line with the Council’s priorities:

 Place Plan – aligning capital investment to support the borough’s economic 
growth potential and continue to regenerate our town centres.

 Corporate Plan – ensuring the borough maintains its high standard of quality 
building and public space.

Page 64



18

 

 Asset Strategy – aiming to hold fewer but more efficient assets, realising 
maximum value from the estate whilst safeguarding its staff, customers and 
other building users.

Table 13 – Summary of Capital programme

 2019/20  2020/21  2021/22
£'000 £'000 £'000

Adult Care 2,440 2,440 2,440
Children's Services 12,508 20,526 7,516
Corporate 5,000 0 0
Economy 39,970 18,714 7,970
Neighbourhoods 21,072 12,763 8,504
Public Health 0 676 0
Resources 3,740 1,860 0
Total requirement 84,730 56,979 26,430

Prudential Borrowing 21,915 17,059 13,352
External Grant and contributions 16,915 24,933 11,923
Invest to Save 35,920 14,462 1,000
Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay 6,680 525 155
Capital Receipts 3,300 0 0
Total funding 84,730 56,979 26,430

Directorate

Funding Source

The Capital schemes listed in Appendix 4 are categorised as follows:

 Annual Allocation - These schemes receive annual allocations either as 
a result of external funding, or because the capital investment is 
essential for the Council to maintain current service delivery or to meet 
statutory responsibilities.

 Scheme started in previous years - These schemes are multi-year 
schemes that commenced prior to 2019/20.

 New Scheme - These are new schemes or schemes requiring additional 
funding for the 2019/20 capital programme.

Borrowing of £21.9m is required to fund expenditure relating to specific 
schemes in 2019/20. The revenue cost of this is approximately £2m per 
annum.

Investment Fund scheme, totalling £5m is a new scheme proposed to allow 
funding of schemes already in the 3 year capital programme to be brought 
forward to 2019/20.  

Page 65



19

4.

4.1

Part 2 – Collection Fund and Calculation of Council Tax and Business
Rates

Collection Fund 2019/20

As a billing authority the Council is required to maintain a separate Collection Fund. 
The only transactions dealt with through the Collection Fund relate to the collection 
of Council Tax income, Business Rates and the payment of precepts. 

The amounts of Council Tax are expressed per Band D property and are shown 
separately for the Council, the Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner precept 
and the Mayoral General precept (including Fire Services).

Under current regulations billing authorities must estimate the annual surplus or 
deficit on the Collection Fund. They must then notify the relevant precepting 
authorities of the amount calculated as their share. It is estimated that the 
Collection Fund will be in a surplus position of £6.702m as at the 31st March 2019. 
The Council’s share of the forecast Collection Fund surplus as at 31st March 2019 
is £6.305m, which has been allocated to the Equalisation Reserve in 2019/20.

Table 14 shows the calculation of the 2019/20 Council Tax for district purposes and 
the amount to be precepted on the Collection Fund in relation to the Greater 
Manchester Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner precept and the Mayoral 
General precept (including Fire Services). A comparison with 2018/19 is provided.

Table 14: Calculation of the Council Tax

Band D Tax Levels 2018/19 2019/20

£ £ £ %

Rochdale BC 1,424.44 1,469.94 45.50 2.99%
Rochdale BC Adult Care 96.99 112.20 15.21 1.00%
Total Rochdale BC 1,521.43 1,582.14 60.71 3.99%
Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner Precept 174.30 198.30 24.00 13.77%
Mayoral General Precept (including Fire Services) 67.95 76.95 9.00 13.25%
TOTAL COUNCIL TAX 1,763.68 1,857.39 93.71 5.31%

Increase 18/19 - 19/20

The Council Tax Base takes into account changes to the number of properties, 
discounts and collection levels. The overall estimated collection rate assumed in 
the calculation has been increased to 97.5% (97.2% in 2018/19) to reflect current 
collection performance. The Council Tax base for 2019/20 of 55,176 was approved 
by Council on 12th December 2018, representing the number of Band D equivalent 
properties that we collect Council Tax from.

The final Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner precept and the Mayoral 
General precept have yet to be approved.  The Mayor has indicated the intention to 
increase the Police and Crime Commissioner precept for 2019/20 by £24 for a 
Band D property, in line with the flexibility granted by the Government in the 
referendum limits relating to Council Tax increases 2019/20. The increase has not 

Page 66



20

4.2

4.3

been approved at the time of writing this report and therefore includes £24 for 
planning purposes subject to approval of the final precept on 15th February 2019.

A proposed increase in the Mayoral General precept (including Fire Services) of 
£9, specifically for bus reform, was reported to GMCA on 25th January 2019. The 
final Mayoral General precept for 2019/20 will be approved by the GMCA on 15th 
February 2019.

Recommended Council Tax

The Council Tax recommended for 2019/20, subject to confirmation of the Mayoral 
precepts is £1,857.39 for Band D properties, an increase of 5.31%. The Council 
Tax for individual bands is shown in Table 15.

Table 15: Recommended Council Tax per Band

Band 2018/19 2019/20
£ £ £ %

Band A 1,175.78 1,238.26 62.48 5.31%
Band B 1,371.75 1,444.63 72.88 5.31%
Band C 1,567.70 1,651.01 83.31 5.31%
Band D 1,763.68 1,857.39 93.71 5.31%
Band E 2,155.60 2,270.15 114.55 5.31%
Band F 2,547.54 2,682.89 135.35 5.31%
Band G 2,939.46 3,095.65 156.19 5.31%
Band H 3,527.36 3,714.78 187.42 5.31%

Increase

Council Tax Levels

Collection of Business Rates

The amount the Council is required to collect in Business Rates in 2019/20 is 
estimated to be £61.299m. The Council is required to pay 1% of the amount of 
business rates it collects from local businesses to the GM Mayor in respect of Fire 
Services. The remaining 99% is retained by the Council under the Greater 
Manchester pilot scheme, as shown in Table 16.

Table 16: Distribution of Business Rates

£m %
Central Government 0.000 0%
GM Fire and Rescue Authority 0.613 1%
Retained 60.686 99%
Total Collection 61.299

2019/20

Since 1st April 2013, the Council has been able to retain 100% of the income 

Page 67



21

relating to eligible Renewable Energy schemes within the borough, rather than it 
being part of the Business Rates Retention Scheme. The Renewable Energy 
scheme income, estimated to be £0.520m, is transferred directly to the Council’s 
General Fund in 2019/20.

The total estimated business rates income for the General Fund in 2019/20 is 
£61.206m (£60.686m retained business rates income, plus £0.520m for the 
renewable energy scheme).

Any growth or loss in Business Rates is managed through the Collection Fund, with 
any surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund being distributed to the precepting 
authorities in the following financial year.

The Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government has been notified of 
the intention to continue the Business Rates Pool for Greater Manchester plus 
Cheshire East and Cheshire West and Chester in 2019/20. The purpose of pooling 
business rates across the individual Authorities is not intended to alter individual 
authorities’ income levels but to retain any levy that might be payable by certain of 
the authorities to Central Government. Any sum gained, after applying the agreed 
allocation to the levy authorities, would be retained by the pool for investment 
within Greater Manchester and the other non-Greater Manchester Authorities 
involved in the pool.

Page 68



22

APPENDIX 1
GENERAL FUND SUMMARY ESTIMATES 2019/20 - 2021/22

SERVICE 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000 £'000

1 Adult Care 15,860 14,661 14,663

2 Childrens Services 23,032 22,837 22,743

3 Economy 15,888 15,777 15,942

4 Neighbourhoods 52,380 52,508 53,462

5 Resources 6,500 6,433 6,731

6 Public Health and Wellbeing 8,249 7,932 7,646

7 TOTAL 121,909 120,148 121,187

8 Finance Control 15,040 16,474 17,409

9 Contingency 4,420 4,959 5,255

10 SERVICES SUB TOTAL 141,369 141,581 143,851

11 Budget Pressures Fund 1,000 2,000 3,000

12 Saving Proposals -136 -136 -136 

13 TOTAL REQUIREMENTS 142,233 143,445 146,715

14 Contribution To/(From) Reserves/Balances 8,518 2,621 2,935

15 Contribution To/ (From) Unusable Reserves -21,687 -20,485 -19,436 

16 Contribution To Integrated Pool Fund 87,159 82,502 80,906

17 NET EXPENDITURE REQUIREMENTS 216,223 208,083 211,120

18 BUDGET REQUIREMENT 216,223 208,083 211,120
RESOURCES
Locally Generated Funding

19 Council Tax -87,296 -89,799 -92,291 

20 Business Rates Retained -61,206 -63,293 -65,661 

21 Collection Fund Surplus -6,305 0 0

22 TOTAL LOCALLY GENERATED FUNDING -154,807 -153,092 -157,952 

Government Grants
23 Revenue Support Grant 0 0 0
24 General Grants -25,819 -22,825 -22,969 
25 Business Rates Top-Up Grant -35,597 -30,592 -26,855 
26 TOTAL GOVERNMENT GRANTS -61,416 -53,417 -49,824 

27 TOTAL RESOURCES -216,223 -206,509 -207,776 

28 UNFUNDED ONGOING REQUIREMENT 0 1,574 3,344
29 One year only Resources 0 0 0
30 UNFUNDED ONGOING REQUIREMENT 0 1,574 3,344

Note 1
INTEGRATION (Council & CCG) 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£'000 £'000 £'000
Provider Budgets

1 Adult Care 44,882 47,523 50,755
2 Childrens Services 38,180 38,444 39,263
3 Public Health and Wellbeing 12,983 12,991 13,018
4 Contribution to Providers from Integrated Pool -96,045 -98,958 -103,036 

5 0 0 0

Page 69



23

Appendix 2
Budget Assumptions 2019/20 to 2021/22

Area of Budget 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Pay 2% Increase 1% Increase 1% Increase

20.5% 21.4% 22.3%
(0.0% Increase) (0.9% Increase) (0.9% Increase)

Prices* 0% 0% 0%
Discretionary Fees & Charges 2% Increase 2% Increase 2% Increase
Underlying Waste Disposal Levy 2.9% Increase 1.5% Increase 1.6% Increase
Underlying PTA Levy 0%   Increase 0%   Increase 0%   Increase

Council Tax
General Increase 2.99% Increase 1.99% Increase 1.99% Increase
Adult Care Precept 1% Increase 0% Increase 0% Increase
Total Council Tax 3.99% Increase 1.99% Increase 1.99% Increase

Business Rates
Business Rates income/Top-up Grant 2.2% Increase 2% Increase 2% Increase

Superannuation Contribution Rate

* Prices – Contractual arrangements and other significant inflation issues will be considered on a 
case by case basis. 

Page 70



24

Appendix 3

STATEMENT OF SERVICE CAPITAL PROGRAMME REQUIREMENTS

SERVICE
2019/20 

Estimate 
£000

2020/21 
Estimate 

£000

2021/22 
Estimate 

£000

1 Adult Care 2,440 2,440 2,440

2 Children's Services 12,508 20,526 7,516

3 Economy 39,970 18,714 7,970

4 Neighbourhoods 21,072 12,763 8,504

5 Resources 3,740 1,860 0

6 Public Health and Wellbeing 0 676 0

7 Corporate 5,000 0 0

8 TOTAL 84,730 56,979 26,430

Page 71



25

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 TO 2021/22

Directorate Scheme Name Category 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Adult Care Disabled Facilities Grant Annual Allocation 2,440 2,440 2,440 - - - - - - 2,440 2,440 2,440 - - - - - -
Children's Services Devolved Formula Capital Annual Allocation 483 483 483 - - - - - - 483 483 483 - - - - - -
Children's Services New Place Planning Annual Allocation 9,987 18,005 5,200 - - - - - - 9,987 18,005 5,200 - - - - - -
Children's Services Schools Capital Condition Programme Annual Allocation 1,833 1,833 1,833 - - - - - - 1,833 1,833 1,833 - - - - - -
Children's Services Special Provision Fund Approved Allocation 205 205 - - - - - - - 205 205 -
Corporate Investment Fund New Scheme 5,000 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 5,000 - -
Economy Asset Development Fund Scheme started in previous years 1,000 - - - - - 1,000 - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Property Growth Fund - Direct Development Scheme started in previous years 20,000 - - - - - - - - - - - 20,000 - - - - -
Economy Property Growth Fund - Investments out of borough Scheme started in previous years 10,000 10,000 - - - - - - - - - - 10,000 10,000 - - - -
Economy Rochdale & Littleborough Flood Relief Scheme Scheme started in previous years 1,600 1,600 1,600 1,600 1,600 1,600 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Hopwood Old Hall refurbishment New Scheme 25 25 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 25 25 -
Economy Heywood South/Junction19 Approved Allocation 1,500 - - - - - 1,500 - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Northern Gateway Feasibility & Study Scheme started in previous years 300 - - 300 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy East Lancashire Railway Scheme started in previous years 150 50 - 150 50 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Rail Strategy, and Park & Ride Scheme started in previous years 200 200 - 200 200 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Springfield Park Masterplan/Feasibility New Scheme 50 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 50 - -
Economy Pennines Holl Lake Feasibilty New Scheme 50 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 50 - -
Economy Milkstone Rd Masterplan & improvements New Scheme 250 250 - 250 250 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Station Gateway Feasibility & delivery Scheme started in previous years 50 250 250 - 250 250 - - - - - - - - - 50 - -
Economy Town Hall Square/River Reopen Phase II Scheme started in previous years 1,580 - - 1,580 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Rochdale Town Hall Restoration Provisionally Approved - 3,024 - - 3,024 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Drake Street - Phases II & III Scheme started in previous years - 250 150 - 250 150 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Town Centre East  Whole Life Costs Scheme started in previous years - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Rochdale Town Centre (3 year strategy) Scheme started in previous years 300 300 - 300 300 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Rochdale Riverside Fees & Costs Scheme started in previous years 200 - - 200 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Metrolink Feasibility New Scheme 50 50 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 50 50 -
Economy Middleton Masterplan New Scheme 25 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 25 - -
Economy Heywood Town Centre Masterplanning New Scheme 25 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 25 - -
Economy Town Centre Residential Strategy New Scheme 500 1,000 1,000 500 1,000 1,000 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 Scheme started in previous years 50 500 2,000 - 500 2,000 - - - - - - - - - 50 - -
Economy Town Centre Capital Programme Scheme started in previous years 1,060 970 2,970 1,060 970 2,970 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Economy Town Centre Purchases - Rochdale & Middleton New Scheme 1,005 245 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,005 245 -
Neighbourhoods Coroners' accommodation New Scheme 1,100 - - 1,100 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Replacement Parks/Street Machinery Annual Allocation 120 120 120 120 120 120 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Rights Of Way Annual Allocation 80 80 80 - - - - - - - - - 80 80 80
Neighbourhoods Upgrade Play Equipment Annual Allocation 75 75 75 - - - - - - - - - 75 75 75
Neighbourhoods Vehicle Replacement Programme Annual Allocation 1,150 877 877 1,150 877 877 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Waste Bin Replacement Programme Annual Allocation 358 360 360 358 360 360 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Vehicle Replacement Programme Addition to existing scheme 180 - - - - - - - - - - - 180 - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Dippy exhibition equipment New Scheme 25 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 25 - -
Neighbourhoods Highways Flooding Infrastructure Scheme started in previous years 800 - - - - 800 - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Local Transport Plan Annual Allocation 1,967 1,967 1,967 - - - - - - 1,967 1,967 1,967 - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Car Parking Machines Scheme started in previous years 120 - - 120 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Highways Investment Scheme started in previous years 5,000 1,000 - 5,000 1,000 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Town Centre Signage New Scheme 50 50 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 50 50 -
Neighbourhoods Bowlee Free School New Scheme 846 522 - 846 522 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Housing Standards Fund Annual Allocation 800 800 800 800 800 800 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Compulsory Purchase Order Programme Scheme started in previous years 800 1,200 - 800 1,200 - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhood Regeneration Scheme, including 
Bowlee Park Development Scheme started in previous years 70 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 70 - -

Neighbourhoods Delivering High Value Housing New Scheme 2,000 1,000 1,000 - - - - - - - - - 2,000 1,000 1,000 - - -
Neighbourhoods ICT Infrastructure Refresh Programme Annual Allocation 260 260 260 260 260 260 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods ICT Programmes (Staff) Annual Allocation 500 500 500 500 500 500 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods IT Data Centres Scheme started in previous years 50 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 50 - -
Neighbourhoods Customer Transformation Programme New Scheme 856 468 150 856 468 150 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Windows 10 New Scheme 1,143 - - 1,143 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods GM Full Fibre Programme New Scheme - 926 - - - - - - - - - - - 926 - - - -

Neighbourhoods Asset Management Group 
Annual allocation, and additional to 
Existing Scheme 2,000 2,000 1,750 2,000 2,000 1,750 - - - - - - - - - - - -

Neighbourhoods Burglary Reduction Scheme Annual Allocation 100 100 100 100 100 100 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods CCTV Upgrade - Middleton & Heywood New Scheme 172 - - 172 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Townships Capital Programme Annual Allocation 400 400 400 400 400 400 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Neighbourhoods Boroughwide Allotments New Scheme 50 58 65 50 58 65
Public Health Link4Life equipment Approved Allocation - 676 - - - - - - - - - - - 676 - - - -
Resources Manchester Airport Investment New Scheme 3,740 1,860 - 3,740 1,860 -
TOTAL 84,730 56,979 26,430 21,915 17,059 13,352 3,300 - - 16,915 24,933 11,923 35,920 14,462 1,000 6,680 525 155

Revenue Contribution to 
Capital Outlay

£000

Prudential Borrowing
£000

Capital Receipts
£000

Government Grants and 
External Contributions 

£000

Invest to Save
£000

Total Requirement
£000

P
age 72



26

No SERVICE SCHEME NAME SUMMARY AND KEY OBJECTIVES
 Budget
2019/20

£'000 

 Budget
2020/21

£'000 

 Budget 
2021/22

£'000 

1 Adult Care Disabled Facilities Grant
The legislative framework governing DFGs is provided by the 'Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 
1996'. Since 1990, local authorities have been under a statutory duty to provide grant aid to disabled people for a 
range of adaptations in their homes.

2,440 2,440 2,440

2,440 2,440 2,440

No SERVICE SCHEME NAME SUMMARY AND KEY OBJECTIVES
 Budget
2019/20

£'000 

 Budget
2020/21

£'000 

 Budget 
2021/22

£'000 

1
Children's 
Services

Devolved Formula Capital
Schools will develop and commission individual schemes to improve condition and suitability within their 
buildings with guidance and approval from the Council.

483 483 483

2
Children's 
Services

New Place Planning
Provision of additional school places to meet statutory duty through a programme of works combining internal 
remodelling, new build or demountable classroom units.

9,987 18,005 5,200

3
Children's 
Services

Schools Capital Condition Programme
Development of a programme of works to resolve major condition and improvement issues in school buildings in 
line with the Local Authority's Asset Management Strategy and Local Policy Statement.

1,833 1,833 1,833

4
Children's 
Services

Special Provision Fund
The special provision fund is to support local authorities to make capital investments in provision for pupils with 
special educational needs and disabilities. To be invested in new places and improvements to facilities for pupils 
with education, health and care (EHC) plans in mainstream and special schools, nurseries, colleges and other 

205 205 -

12,508 20,526 7,516

No SERVICE SCHEME NAME SUMMARY AND KEY OBJECTIVES
 Budget
2019/20

£'000 

 Budget
2020/21

£'000 

 Budget 
2021/22

£'000 

1 Corporate Investment Fund
To allow funding of capital schemes already in 3 year programme that are being brought forward into the 19/20 
programme. Approval for spend to be delegated to be given to the Chief Finance Officer and the Leader.

5,000 - -

5,000 - -

ADULT CARE

CHILDREN'S SERVICES

CORPORATE

P
age 73



27

No SERVICE SCHEME NAME SUMMARY AND KEY OBJECTIVES
 Budget
2019/20

£'000 

 Budget
2020/21

£'000 

 Budget 
2021/22

£'000 

1 Economy Asset Development Fund To create jobs and build the local economy by buying properties/developing properties. 1,000 - -

2 Economy Property Growth Fund - Direct Development

The priority of this scheme is to generate income through property growth including direct development projects, 
commercial property investments and potentially solar investments. The fund will allow flexibility to consider 
investments which exceed a 5% return with an average yield of 6.5% targeted which will deliver net savings of 
1.5% to the Council. The scheme will also secure Business Rates income and creates new job opportunities for local 
residents. The schemes will clearly and visually demonstrate the investment being made into the borough by RBC; 
improving public perception and the built environment.

20,000 - -

3 Economy
Property Growth Fund - Investments out of 

borough

Extension of the existing Commercial Investment Fund (CIF) project, which seeks to acquire properties for a 
commercial, financial return, and to generate revenue savings of 1.5% on the capital invested.

To date, all the CIFacquisitions have been within the borough boundaries, although there was no specific 
prohibition on out-of-borough purchases. In Phase 3 it is proposed to widen the geographical parameters to 
acquire properties out-of-borough.

10,000 10,000 -

4 Economy Rochdale & Littleborough Flood Relief Scheme

The River Roch catchment is the main river network in Rochdale Borough and is vulnerable to extensive flood risks 
affecting communities, businesses, town centres and infrastructure including power, rail and roads. The 
Environment Agency have identified the River Roch catchment as one of their regional priorities for their capital 
investment programme and propose a series of flood storage areas and improved defences to reduce the risk of 
serious flooding for over 1000 homes and businesses.

1,600 1,600 1,600

5 Economy Hopwood Old Hall refurbishment

The Council has commissioned a scheme of urgent repairs to stabilise and weatherproof this Grade 1 listed 
building using match funding from Historic England. The proposal seeks to capitalise on this investment by having a 
resource to  work with stakeholders, funders and potential interested parties to progress feasibility options to 
secure a sustainable and viable re-use and restoration of this nationally significant heritage asset.  

25 25 -

6 Economy Heywood South/Junction19

South Heywood Area Wide Improvement Programme proposals for a new link road and network improvement 
from the M62 junction 19 through Heywood to Pilsworth, which will create the opportunity for delivering 
investment in housing and employment growth. £3m budget is match funding re a bid to the National Productivity 
Investment Fund.

1,500 - -

7 Economy Northern Gateway Feasibility & Study Budget required for feasibility work to develop the Northern Gateway proposals further. 300 - -

8 Economy East Lancashire Railway

Project is to support ELR extension into Castleton to connect direct rail access to mainline giving accessibility to 
visitors from across northern England together with investment at Heywood station.  The ELR mainline project will 
be a landmark heritage attraction for the Borough with significant physical and economic benefits for regeneration 
of Castleton District centre.

150 50 -

P
age 74



28

No SERVICE SCHEME NAME SUMMARY AND KEY OBJECTIVES
 Budget
2019/20

£'000 

 Budget
2020/21

£'000 

 Budget 
2021/22

£'000 

9 Economy Rail Strategy, and Park & Ride
The proposal is for funding to undertake feasibility work or direct development to provide additional park and ride 
facilities at mainline railway station and Metrolink stations.  Schemes would include Rochdale railway station, 
Castleton and Smithy Bridge stations where land is available  Option for Metrolink park and ride at Newhey. 

200 200 -

10 Economy Springfield Park Masterplan/Feasibility

Springfield Park is made up of a formal park, with additional areas of informal open space, sporting infrastructure 
and a golf course. There are a number of buildings within the park serving park and community uses. A feasibility 
study and masterplanning exercise is needed to assess and develop options for its sustainable future management 
and facilitate appropriate enabling investment in its facilities. This will involve a review of its functions and the 
identification of locations where new development will enable improvements of the park infrastructure and 
services. 

50 - -

11 Economy Pennines Hollingworth Lake Feasibility

Initial feasibility work - Hollingworth Lake has a key role to play as a major leisure and visitor attraction for the 
Borough. A high level masterplanning project is required to identify opportunities to strengthen visitor attractions, 
improve traffic management in the area, provide improvements to car parking, landscaping, public realm, 
pedestrian and cycle links and opportunities for development of Council assets around the lake

50 - -

12 Economy Milkstone Rd Masterplan & improvements

To produce a masterplan and associated work programme of physical improvements to make the Milkstone and 
Deeplish Local Centre a more attractive retail and living environment and to secure additional private investment 
in the more effective use of buildings (including upper floors)and spaces to provide increased residential and 
mixed uses The project will deliver improved street scene, building frontages, pedestrian and traffic signage and 
management and public realm.

250 250 -

13 Economy Station Gateway Feasibility & delivery

To undertake physical improvements within and around Rochdale railway station to encourage further public and 
private sector investment in the wider station area. Proposals will enhance the appearance of this gateway 
entrance to the Borough to include masterplanning, land assembly, new station entrance and passenger facilities, 
park and ride, public realm, pedestrian and cycling facilities and traffic management.  

50 250 250

14 Economy Town Hall Square/River Reopen Phase II
The completion of the high quality public realm around the Town Hall to enhance the setting with a possible focus 
on Rochdale's cooperative heritage.

1,580 - -

15 Economy Rochdale Town Hall Restoration
Creating a successful, well-loved public realm, befitting of the Town Hall and wider conservation area helping to 
attract a greater number of visitors and residents to the town centre.

- 3,024 -

P
age 75



29

No SERVICE SCHEME NAME SUMMARY AND KEY OBJECTIVES
 Budget
2019/20

£'000 

 Budget
2020/21

£'000 

 Budget 
2021/22

£'000 

16 Economy Drake Street - Phases II & III
This project aims to work with businesses and property owners to restructure the mix of uses, improve 
infrastructure and connectivity, increase footfall and promote independent retail and increased town centre living 
in the area.

- 250 150

17 Economy Town Centre East  Whole Life Costs Construction of the Rochdale Riverside scheme is due to start in 2017 and be complete Summer 2020 - - -

18 Economy Rochdale Town Centre (3 year strategy)

Funding will support the delivery of interventions identified in the strategy including physical projects (property 
improvements & public realm works), economic initiatives to complement the current business rates reduction 
scheme, the development of strategies and interventions for upper Yorkshire Street and Water Street, and 
promoting development opportunities.

300 300 -

19 Economy Rochdale Riverside Fees & Costs
Funding is required to secure further specialist financial, commercial & legal, and to ensure the construction phase 
is managed and monitored.

200 - -

20 Economy Metrolink Feasibility

Scheme identification work by Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) is ongoing to establish the feasibility of 
providing a Metrolink line extension between  the Manchester to Bury line and Middleton Town Centre. This 
project is assessing  options identifying a preferred route and preparing a Strategic Outline Business Case (SOBC) 
seeking funding for the preferred option. 

This funding bid will be used to carry out study work to identify any wider local economic and environmental 
benefits to further strengthen the SOBC submission and in time the Full Business Case (FBC). 

50 50 -

21 Economy Middleton Masterplan

Middleton Town Centre has a key role to play for the township and the overall success of the Borough. A high level 
masterplanning project is required to identify opportunities to strengthen its core functions for retailing, 
employment and public services whilst diversifying its potential for town centre living, high quality public realm 
and improved connectivity within the town centre and via the proposed Metrolink extension. This will support 
investment and development proposals involving new development and the reuse and refurbishment of existing 
buildings and sites. 

25 - -

22 Economy Heywood Town Centre Masterplanning

Heywood Town Centre has a key role to play for the township and the overall success of the Borough. A high level 
masterplanning project is required to identify opportunities to strengthen its core functions for retailing, 
employment and public services whilst diversifying its potential for town centre living, high quality public realm 
and improved connectivity within the town centre and beyond e.g with Heywood Station. This will support 
investment and development proposals involving new development and the reuse and refurbishment of existing 
buildings and sites. 

25 - -

23 Economy Town Centre Residential Strategy

Following nomination of Rochdale Town Centre in GM Mayor's Town Centres Challenge, the Council, supported by 
GMCA will adopt a Residential Strategy for Rochdale town centre.  The strategy seeks to create the market 
conditions to deliver around 2,000 residential units within the Town Centre.  The programme budget would be 
used to bring forward a viable Phase 1 package of sites through a mixture of land assembly, site remediation, pre 
planning work, up front infrastructure cost and used to lever match fund investment by the GMCA or private sector.    

500 1,000 1,000

24 Economy Rochdale Riverside Phase 2
The project will fund a package of enabling works needed to plug the viability gap for the development of 
Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 site

50 500 2,000

25 Economy Town Centre Capital Programme The scheme will support the ongoing development of the Town Centres 1,060 970 2,970

26 Economy Town Centre Purchases - Rochdale & Middleton The scheme will allow strategic purchases and allow properties to be brought under the control of the Council 1,005 245 -

39,970 18,714 7,970ECONOMY

P
age 76



30

No SERVICE SCHEME NAME SUMMARY AND KEY OBJECTIVES
 Budget
2019/20

£'000 

 Budget
2020/21

£'000 

 Budget 
2021/22

£'000 

1 Neighbourhoods Coroners' accommodation

To provide new accommodation for the Coroners Hosted Service currently based at the Phoenix Centre Heywood.  
There is a statutory duty to provide the Coroner with suitable premises under the Coroners and Justice Act 2009.  
The current building is not fit for purpose primarily due to the lack of a large court space for jury inquests.  
Previously these were held at Magistrates and County Courts that are now closed.  The service is hosted on behalf 
of Rochdale, Oldham and Bury so the cost is shared on a percentage split based on population size.

1,100 - -

2 Neighbourhoods Replacement Parks/Street Machinery
The programme is a rolling replacement scheme for replacement of the Council's 550 plus pieces of machinery. The 
programme aims to replace assets when they have exceeded the most cost-effective period of operation.

120 120 120

3 Neighbourhoods Rights Of Way
The programme is a rolling scheme for carrying out the statutory function of maintaining the Council's Rights of 
Way network. 

80 80 80

4 Neighbourhoods Upgrade Play Equipment
To maintain within legislative requirements and guidelines the current level of Fixed Play provision across the 
borough.

75 75 75

5 Neighbourhoods Vehicle Replacement Programme
To replace existing vehicles at the end of their optimum asset life.  Remove vehicles from the programme due to 
changes in requirements and add new requirements into acquisition and replacement schedule.
Partially Invest to save scheme relating to decision to purchase fleet vehicles rather than hire.  

1,330 877 877

6 Neighbourhoods Waste Bin Replacement Programme

Scheme is to replace wheelie bins which are no longer fit for purpose, and increased demand for new bins as they 
were first introduced in 1991 and have an estimated  life of 10 years.  The scheme may also increase recycling rates 
which in turn would reduces the cost of waste disposal.

358 360 360

7 Neighbourhoods Dippy exhibition equipment

In 2020,  the Council and Link 4 Life are bringing the Natural History Museum’s famous Diplodocus, known as 
‘Dippy’, to Rochdale as part of ‘Dippy on Tour’. Initial funding has been secured from a number of sources and 
sponsorship is sought to cover all costs relating to the full programme.  In the event that all costs are not secured,  a 
provision is requested to cover the capital costs of lighting, barriers and display panels for the Dippy exhibit at 
Number 1 Riverside.

25 - -

8 Neighbourhoods Highways Flooding Infrastructure
Replacement of 185 gullies per year at various high risk locations within the Borough; infrastructure works to deal 
with flooding on carriageways (10 sites); infrastructure works to deal with high risk flooding

800 - -

9 Neighbourhoods Local Transport Plan
To continue the aspirations of the Rochdale Highways Capital Programme and be more effective in identifying and 
responding to the Local Transport Plan shared priorities of Safety, Air Quality, Congestion and Accessibility. 

1,967 1,967 1,967

10 Neighbourhoods Car Parking Machines Replacement programme for parking machines - upgrade to accept card & pay by phone 120 - -

11 Neighbourhoods Highways Investment
Investment of £12m on Rochdale’s Highways Infrastructure.  £10m of which will be spent on roads, the remaining 
£2m for footpaths.

5,000 1,000 -

12 Neighbourhoods Town Centre Signage

Due to the on-going redevelopment in Rochdale Town Centre some of the existing directional signage is outdated 
and incorrect. This scheme would review the existing signage around the Town Centre and replace or remove any 
signage that is inaccurate. The current incorrect signage is misleading and confusing visitors and deliveries to the 
Town Centre. 

50 50 -

13 Neighbourhoods Bowlee Free School

Funding of the proposed Free School is provided via a fixed budget based on pupil numbers, 12% of the budget is 
allocated to external works; this does not include highway accessibility. It is the responsibility of the Local 
Authority to provide a site with sufficient accessibility. In addition to direct vehicular access from Heywood Old 
Road, cycle / pedestrian routes from the adjacent Langley estate directly to the Free School site are required to 
support this development at the planning application stage. 

846 522 -

14 Neighbourhoods Housing Standards Fund

Scheme proposes to improve private sector dwellings & environments. Interventions include
-emergency repairs to owner-occupied properties
-works in default to private rented properties
-corrective works to houses in multiple occupation
-tenancy/rent bonds for residents desperate to access decent accommodation unable to access social housing

800 800 800

P
age 77



31

No SERVICE SCHEME NAME SUMMARY AND KEY OBJECTIVES
 Budget
2019/20

£'000 

 Budget
2020/21

£'000 

 Budget 
2021/22

£'000 

15 Neighbourhoods Compulsory Purchase Orders

Acquisition of private land and buildings where current owner fails to bring asset into use either blighting the area 
or preventing further economic/physical development. Compulsory Purchase Order powers will be used but an 
offer must first be made to purchase the asset through negotiation. Budget is required to fund the purchase price 
or compensation, staffing costs, legal and valuation fees (external and internal). Subsequent disposal of some 
assets will offset some of the costs.  

800 1,200 -

16 Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhood Regeneration Scheme, 

including Bowlee Park Development
Funding for Project Manager, Professional fees and site investigations to develop and manage the Bowlee Park 
masterplan. 

             70 - -

17 Neighbourhoods Delivering High Value Housing

The programme aims to deliver over 1,000 new higher value homes in the borough over a ten year period, through 
proactive site assembly and promotion of development opportunities, using council and privately owned land. The 
aim is to facilitate the development of more higher value housing in order to attract and retain economically active 
households. This will generate Council Tax, section 106 and New Homes Bonus revenue to support local services, 
as well as attracting more disposal income to the borough, retaining local spend and boosting place-based 
regeneration. 

2,000 1,000 1,000

18 Neighbourhoods ICT Infrastructure Refresh Programme

To refresh, on a rolling programme the ICT estate. To remove the need for individual Services & directorates to 
hold funds related to ICT equipment. Preventing purchasing of non-strategic & inappropriate ICT.  To control and 
make the spend on ICT equipment the most efficient and cost effective by maintaining a relatively small annual 
amount as opposed to large investments every 7/8 years

260 260 260

19 Neighbourhoods ICT Programmes (Staff)
To deliver the Council's ICT projects utilising existing ICT staff, to reduce the Capital required each year. The 
programmes deliver a variety of objectives for each business area and are assessed against business cases to check 
that they are in line with corporate objectives

500 500 500

20 Neighbourhoods IT Data Centres 

The Data Centres in No 1 Riverside and Zen were commissioned in 2012/13 and therefore equipment is starting to 
go end of life (warranty expires) in 2018/19. It is necessary for the Council to have appropriate ICT infrastructure 
which maintains the data for the Council and other organisations who utilise the current Data Centre. It is 
envisaged that the investment will future proof the Council and its partners for a further five years.

50 - -

21 Neighbourhoods Customer Transformation Programme

It has been agreed to progress the Council’s “Customer Transformation Programme” as a delivery mechanism 
bringing together all customer related transformation including redesign of systems under one programme of 
work, realising financial and non financial benefits. A phased approach is being proposed. Phase1 - detail analysis 
over 6 months, identify options & develop a detail business case with precise costs and benefits. Phase 2 - 
implementation phase funded via capital

856 468 150

22 Neighbourhoods Windows 10

Microsoft have announced that Windows 7 will not be supported with effect from 14th  January 2020. so Windows 
10 will need to be deployed across all of the Council. Whilst the recently signed Microsoft Enterprise Agreement 
licence provides the Council with the ability to use Windows 10, a number of devices (i.e. laptops and desktops) 
are not compatible with the technical requirements. These devices will either need replacing or will require an 
upgrade.

1,143 - -

23 Neighbourhoods GM Full Fibre Programme

GMCA has successfully secured £23.8m capital Local Full Fibre Network Challenge funding.  The funding will 
connect full fibre to over 1,500 GM Public sector sites, including Local Authority sites, GM Fire and Rescue, Health 
and Social Care partnerships (CCGs) sites across the region. The Council’s indicative capital contribution is £610k; 
this facilitates a project in Rochdale with a total value of £4.1m. The capital contribution is proposed to be funded 
from the equalisation reserve, this will be repaid over the lifetime of the scheme from reduced revenue spend 
within the IT budgets.

- 926 -

P
age 78



32

No SERVICE SCHEME NAME SUMMARY AND KEY OBJECTIVES
 Budget
2019/20

£'000 

 Budget
2020/21

£'000 

 Budget 
2021/22

£'000 

24 Neighbourhoods Asset Management Group 

To adequately maintain the property portfolio and ensure that the Council comply to any statutory, and Health & 
Safety regulations. The scheme also aims to reduce the maintenance backlog and improve the reduced property 
holding to accommodation standards. The budget for 2019/20 and 2020/21 includes £250k to offset the pressure 
caused by the commitment to works at Council owned community centres over the next 2 years.

2,000 2,000 1,750

25 Neighbourhoods Burglary Reduction Scheme
Implement alleygating schemes and gating orders on alleys to reduce the number of burglaries and improve 
neighbourhood safety.

100 100 100

26 Neighbourhoods CCTV Upgrade - Middleton & Heywood

The cameras at Heywood and Middleton town centres are old analogue types, and no longer fit for purpose.  The 
video images are transmitted to the CCTV Centre over BT fibre lines, so when an additional camera installation is 
required on the grounds of community safety, the cost will be prohibitive. By contrast the radio transmission CCTV 
schemes installed at Rochdale, Smallbridge, Milnrow and Littleborough do not incur transmission costs and are 
higher resolution cameras.    

172 - -

27 Neighbourhoods Townships Capital Programme An annual allocation of Capital Funds allocated on a pro rata basis and agreed by each of the 4 Township 
Committees 400 400 400

28 Neighbourhoods Boroughwide Allotments

The Borough of Rochdale currently has 524 allotment plots.  The Government’s Thorpe Report recommended that 
Councils provide 15 allotment plots per 1,000 households. At 94,263 households Rochdale BC should have 1,414 
plots.
Environmental Management (EM) propose to meet demand by creating new allotment sites, which would increase 
provision by 100 new plots every year for the next five years.   This would increase the number of plots to over 
1,000. 50 58 65

21,072 12,763 8,504

No SERVICE SCHEME NAME SUMMARY AND KEY OBJECTIVES
 Budget
2019/20

£'000 

 Budget
2020/21

£'000 

 Budget 
2021/22

£'000 

1 Public Health Link4Life equipment
On-going update and replacement of leisure centre equipment across the borough. Funding to cover the 
prudential borrowing is paid from Link4Life to RBC via the contract fee.  This saving is built into contract / 
efficiencies with Link4Life.

- 676 -

- 676 -

No SERVICE SCHEME NAME SUMMARY AND KEY OBJECTIVES
 Budget
2019/20

£'000 

 Budget
2020/21

£'000 

 Budget 
2021/22

£'000 

1 Resources Manchester Airport Investment Rochdale Council investment in Manchester Airport initiatives in conjunction with the other nine GM authorities. 3,740 1,860 -

3,740 1,860 -RESOURCES

PUBLIC HEALTH

NEIGHBOURHOODS

P
age 79



33

Appendix 4
STATEMENT OF SERVICE REVENUE RQUIREMENTS

SERVICE
2019/20 

Estimate 
£000

2020/21 
Estimate 

£000

2021/22 
Estimate 

£000

1 Adult Care 60,742 62,184 65,418

2 Children's Services 61,212 61,281 62,006

3 Economy 15,888 15,777 15,942

4 Neighbourhoods 52,380 52,508 53,462

5 Resources 6,500 6,433 6,731

6 Public Health and Wellbeing 21,232 20,923 20,664

7 TOTAL 217,954 219,106 224,223

Page 80



34

Revenue Budgets for 2018/19 to 2020/21

Page 81



35
Page 82



36

Budgets for 2019/20 - 2021/22

AREA OF SERVICE:

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£'000 £'000 £'000

Controllable Budget  15,217  15,127  15,294
Uncontrollable Budget  671  650  648
Total Service Budget  15,888  15,777  15,942

Budget 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
1 Gross Controllable Expenditure  22,383  22,425  22,500
2 Less Expenditure linked to Grant Income - 253 - 253 - 253
3=1+2 Net Controllable Expenditure  22,130  22,172  22,247

What does the Gross Expenditure budget fund?
Staffing  3,679  3,704  3,806
Indirect Staffing Costs  55  56  56
Premises costs  1,065  1,075  1,088
Transport  33  33  33
Supplies and Services  1,901  1,908  1,868
Third Party Payments  15,556  15,555  15,555
Transfer Payments  -  -  -
Reserves  -  -  -
Capital Financing  109  109  109
Internally Commissioned - 15 - 15 - 15

4 Total  22,383  22,425  22,500

Earned Income from Fees & Charges
Fees and Charges/Earned Income - 6,913 - 7,045 - 6,953

5 Total - 6,913 - 7,045 - 6,953

6=3+5 Net Controllable Budget  15,217  15,127  15,294

1 Gross Uncontrollable Expenditure  581  557  551

What areas of expenditure does this cover
Staffing  -  -  -
Indirect Staffing Costs  -  -  -
Premises costs  17  18  19
Transport  -  -  -
Supplies and Services  -  -  -
Third Party Payments  -  -  -
Transfer Payments  -  -  -
Internal Charges (net)  395  370  366
Depreciation  169  169  166
Reserves  -  -  -
Capital Financing  -  -  -
Internally Commissioned  -  -  -
Total Gross Uncontrollable Expenditure  581  557  551

Uncontrollable Income
2 Gross Uncontrollable Income (Trading Income)  90  93  97

3 Net Uncontrollable Budget  671  650  648

ECONOMY

Controllable by Service 

Uncontrollable by Service 

Page 83



37

Budgets for 2019/20 - 2021/22

AREA OF SERVICE:

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£'000 £'000 £'000

Controllable Budget  50,538  51,265  52,998
Uncontrollable Budget  1,842  1,243  464
Total Service Budget  52,380  52,508  53,462

Budget 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
1 Gross Controllable Expenditure  77,436  78,353  80,275
2 Less Expenditure linked to Grant Income - 2,445 - 2,445 - 2,445
3=1+2 Net Controllable Expenditure  74,991  75,908  77,830

What does the Gross Expenditure budget fund?
Staffing  30,012  30,282  31,197
Indirect Staffing Costs  424  425  427
Premises costs  5,878  6,092  6,303
Transport  3,416  3,525  3,584
Supplies and Services  17,195  17,613  17,968
Third Party Payments  21,889  21,899  22,279
Transfer Payments  -  -  -
Reserves  1  1  1
Capital Financing  7  7  7
Internally Commissioned - 1,386 - 1,491 - 1,491

4 Total  77,436  78,353  80,275

Earned Income from Fees & Charges
Fees and Charges/Earned Income - 24,453 - 24,643 - 24,832

5 Total - 24,453 - 24,643 - 24,832

6=3+5 Net Controllable Budget  50,538  51,265  52,998

1 Gross Uncontrollable Expenditure - 421 - 669 - 957

What areas of expenditure does this cover
Staffing  -  -  -
Indirect Staffing Costs  -  -  -
Premises costs  246  244  244
Transport  647  541  541
Supplies and Services  -  -  -
Third Party Payments  -  -  -
Transfer Payments  -  -  -
Internal Charges (net) - 10,678 - 9,773 - 9,282
Depreciation  9,364  8,319  7,540
Reserves  -  -  -
Capital Financing  -  -  -
Internally Commissioned  -  -  -
Total Gross Uncontrollable Expenditure - 421 - 669 - 957

Uncontrollable Income
2 Gross Uncontrollable Income (Trading Income)  2,263  1,912  1,421

3 Net Uncontrollable Budget  1,842  1,243  464

NEIGHBOURHOODS

Controllable by Service 

Uncontrollable by Service 

Page 84



38

Budgets for 2019/20 - 2021/22

AREA OF SERVICE:

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£'000 £'000 £'000

Controllable Budget  10,399  10,452  10,759
Uncontrollable Budget - 3,899 - 4,019 - 4,028
Total Service Budget  6,500  6,433  6,731

Budget 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
1 Gross Controllable Expenditure  83,899  83,966  84,283
2 Less Expenditure linked to Grant Income - 70,897 - 70,897 - 70,897
3=1+2 Net Controllable Expenditure  13,002  13,069  13,386

What does the Gross Expenditure budget fund?
Staffing  10,832  10,889  11,200
Indirect Staffing Costs  1,201  1,211  1,221
Premises costs  15  16  16
Transport  39  40  40
Supplies and Services  2,426  2,425  2,421
Third Party Payments  1,187  1,186  1,186
Transfer Payments  68,344  68,344  68,344
Reserves  -  -  -
Capital Financing  105  105  105
Internally Commissioned - 250 - 250 - 250

4 Total  83,899  83,966  84,283

Earned Income from Fees & Charges
Fees and Charges/Earned Income - 2,603 - 2,617 - 2,627

5 Total - 2,603 - 2,617 - 2,627

6=3+5 Net Controllable Budget  10,399  10,452  10,759

1 Gross Uncontrollable Expenditure - 5,189 - 4,991 - 5,050

What areas of expenditure does this cover
Staffing  -  -  -
Indirect Staffing Costs  -  -  -
Premises costs  2  2  2
Transport  1  1  1
Supplies and Services  -  -  -
Third Party Payments  -  -  -
Transfer Payments  -  -  -
Internal Charges (net) - 5,204 - 5,006 - 5,056
Depreciation  12  12  3
Reserves  -  -  -
Capital Financing  -  -  -
Internally Commissioned  -  -  -
Total Gross Uncontrollable Expenditure - 5,189 - 4,991 - 5,050

Uncontrollable Income
2 Gross Uncontrollable Income (Trading Income)  1,290  972  1,022

3 Net Uncontrollable Budget - 3,899 - 4,019 - 4,028

RESOURCES

Controllable by Service 

Uncontrollable by Service 

Page 85



39

Budgets for 2019/20 - 2021/22

AREA OF SERVICE:

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£'000 £'000 £'000

Controllable Budget  6,364  6,106  5,849
Uncontrollable Budget  1,885  1,826  1,797
Total Service Budget  8,249  7,932  7,646

Budget 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
1 Gross Controllable Expenditure  21,721  21,471  21,241
2 Less Expenditure linked to Grant Income - 12,983 - 12,991 - 13,018
3=1+2 Net Controllable Expenditure  8,738  8,480  8,223

What does the Gross Expenditure budget fund?
Staffing  1,130  1,138  1,164
Indirect Staffing Costs  24  24  25
Premises costs  232  233  235
Transport  3  3  3
Supplies and Services  2,976  2,977  2,977
Third Party Payments  14,076  13,816  13,557
Transfer Payments  -  -  -
Reserves  -  -  -
Capital Financing  -  -  -
Internally Commissioned  3,280  3,280  3,280

4 Total  21,721  21,471  21,241

Earned Income from Fees & Charges
Fees and Charges/Earned Income - 2,374 - 2,374 - 2,374

5 Total - 2,374 - 2,374 - 2,374

6=3+5 Net Controllable Budget  6,364  6,106  5,849

1 Gross Uncontrollable Expenditure  1,885  1,826  1,797

What areas of expenditure does this cover
Staffing  -  -  -
Indirect Staffing Costs  -  -  -
Premises costs  -  -  -
Transport  -  -  -
Supplies and Services  -  -  -
Third Party Payments  -  -  -
Transfer Payments  -  -  -
Internal Charges (net)  274  275  275
Depreciation  1,611  1,551  1,522
Reserves  -  -  -
Capital Financing  -  -  -
Internally Commissioned  -  -  -
Total Gross Uncontrollable Expenditure  1,885  1,826  1,797

Uncontrollable Income
2 Gross Uncontrollable Income (Trading Income)  -  -  -

3 Net Uncontrollable Budget  1,885  1,826  1,797

PUBLIC HEALTH & WELLBEING

Controllable by Service 

Uncontrollable by Service 

Page 86



40

Appendix 5

ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2019/20

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The purpose of the Pay Policy Statement is to ensure transparency and 
accountability with regard to the Council’s approach to setting pay. 

1.2 The Pay Policy Statement has been approved by Council and is publicised on 
the Council’s website in accordance with the requirements of the Localism Act 
2011. 

1.3 The Pay Policy Statement identifies:

 The method by which salaries and severance payments are 
determined.

 The remuneration of the Council’s most senior managers i.e. posts of 
Chief Executive, Directors and Assistant Directors, in accordance with 
the requirements of the Localism Act 2011.

 The committee responsible for ensuring that the Pay Policy Statement 
is applied consistently, including that which has delegated powers in 
relation to senior manager employment;

 The detail and level of remuneration for the lowest level of 
post/employee.

 The ratio of pay of the top earner and that of the median earner

1.4 It should be noted that the Pay Policy Statement does not include information 
relating to the pay of Teachers or Support Staff in schools who are outside the 
scope of the Localism Act. It should also be noted that staff transferred to the 
Council under TUPE retain their previous terms, conditions and policies. 

2. OPERATION

2.1 Method by which payments are determined

2.1.1 The Council uses the National Joint Council (NJC) pay spinal column points 
(SCP1 -SCP43) for grading and basic salary level determination for the 
majority of staff. This is supplemented by the nationally agreed Soulbury and 
Youth & Community grading and salary levels. It should be noted that a new 
NJC Pay Spine was effective from 1st April 2019.

2.1.2 The Council applies the provision of the Joint Negotiating Council (JNC) Chief 
Executives and the JNC Chief Officers to posts within the scope of the 
provisions of the Localism Act. All other paid allowances are also subject to 
negotiation/consultation with either National or Local trade 
union/representative bodies or are provided for in the Council`s Scheme of 
Delegation.

2.1.3 It should be noted that the National Joint Council (NJC) pay spinal column 
points will be revised with effect from the date of any updated Agreement 
following a National Pay Bargaining process. Should there be any implications 
for the Council’s existing grading structure as a consequence of the 

Page 87



41

Agreement any necessary revisions will be made and any significant issues 
will be reported as appropriate.

2.1.4 In determining grades and remuneration for senior management posts which 
fall outside of the scope of the National Pay Bargaining Machinery i.e. on 
locally agreed grades i.e. above SCP 43 and below Chief Officers the Council 
through powers provided for under the Scheme of Delegation takes into 
account the need to ensure value for money and competitiveness. The 
Council has a robust arrangement for undertaking the ongoing evaluations for 
the grades of posts at this level.

2.1.5 New appointments will normally be made at the minimum point of the relevant 
grade, although appointment panels have discretion to vary where necessary 
to secure the best candidate. All promotion, re-grading, transfers and 
secondments are in accordance with Council policy.

2.1.6 To aid recruitment and retention of employees in the public sector across 
Greater Manchester a protocol is being drawn up to enable recognition of 
service between Local Authorities and other public sector organisations, 
including Health partners. The Council is supportive of this approach.

2.1.7 The Council has a Market Supplements Policy which covers all posts, and 
where evidence exists of recruitment and retention issues, allows the Council 
to make any additional payments to reflect the market rate. This is reviewed 
regularly to ensure compliance with relevant legislation.

2.1.8 Members of Cabinet on 30th January 2018 approved a delegation to officers to 
increase the Rochdale Local Living Wage (RLLW) annually in line with the 
Rowntree Foundation rate until such time as this was matched by the 
Council’s lowest spinal column points on the NJC pay spine. The Rowntree 
rate for 2019 at £9.00 per hour is in line with SCP1 therefore no additional 
supplement is required from 1st April 2019.  From this date, the minimum 
amount paid to Rochdale Borough Council employees currently is SCP3 at 
£9.36 per hour.  With effect from the 1st April 2019 all New Starters will 
commence on SCP 1 which is £9.00 per hour.  

2.1.9 All temporary appointments, acting up arrangements, secondments and 
substitution/honorarium payments are approved in accordance with the 
Council’s policies and procedures.

2.1.10 Incremental progression is biennial.  Incremental progression for eligible 
employees was applied on 1st April 2019, with the next progression in 2021, 
then 2023 and so on.  In addition to the above and by exception incremental 
progression is not applied in instances where formal conduct/capability 
procedures are applied. 

2.1.11 Graduated mandatory unpaid leave applies to all employees.

This leave is taken either on a fixed (between Christmas & New Year) basis or 
flexible basis dependent on operational requirements. The amount of unpaid 
leave is dependent on grade or equivalent salary as follows:

Page 88



42

2.2 Pensions and Voluntary Early Retirement and Redundancy 

2.2.1 Pension contributions for all employees who have exercised their statutory 
right to become members of the Local Government Pension Scheme are 
applied in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations. Certain employees have access to other pension schemes, for 
example the Teachers’ pension scheme and the NHS pension scheme. 

2.2.2 The policy of the Council is to provide a consistent approach to all of its 
employees who leave the Council’s employment under the terms of its 
applicable schemes. The Council is able to consider early retirement in the 
interests of efficiency or redundancy and the Council`s Special Scheme for 
Early Retirement/Voluntary Redundancy provides for access to accrued 
pension benefits for members aged 55 years and over and a redundancy 
payment, but does not provide any enhancements to pension (or other 
additional payments) on the basis of seniority.

2.2.3 The policy of the Council regarding the calculation of redundancy payments 
for all of its employees is to use the statutory redundancy calculator based on 
completed years of service (up to a maximum of 20 years) and to apply the 
current contractual weekly pay of the employee in order to calculate the 
payment to which he/she is entitled. 

2.2.4 The Council will review the proposed changes to legislation regarding 
pensions and public sector exit payments once the regulations have been 
issued. 

2.3 Senior Management Pay

2.3.1 The Localism Act refers to posts of Chief Executive, Chief Officer and Deputy 
Chief Officer (i.e. those which report to a “Chief Officer”). 

2.3.2 Whilst the Council does not employ any post within the designation of Chief 
Officer or Deputy Chief Officer it is considered for the purpose of this 
legislation that the definition relates to posts of Chief Executive, Directors and 
Assistant Directors. The structure and the annual salary levels for the above 
mentioned posts along with a description of the roles and responsibilities; is 
detailed on the Council`s website.

Grade Equivalent Salary Number of Days Unpaid 
Leave

Grade 1 / 2 £17,364 - £18,426 2 days

Grade 3 - 6 £18,795 - £27,905 3 days

Grade 7 - 9 £28,785 - £40,760 4 days

Grade 10 and above £41,675 + 5 days

Page 89



43

Designation Grade/Salary Number of Posts

Chief Executive (see note below) £133,990 to £139,350 1

Note:
The Chief Executive is appointed as the Electoral Registration Officer and 
Returning Officer and the appropriate payments are made. The Chief 
Executive receives fee payments pursuant to his/her appointment as 
Returning Officer at elections. The fees paid in respect of elections vary 
according to the size of the electorate and number of postal voters and are 
calculated in accordance with the allowance set by the Authority. Fee 
payments for National and European elections are set by Central Government 
and are, in effect, not paid by the Authority, as the fees are reclaimed.

Fees paid for Local Election 2017/18 were:- NIL

Designation Grade/Salary Number of Posts

Directors Point 1    £100,104  5
Point 2 £106,259
Point 3 £110,297
Point 4 £116,430
Point 5 £122,553
Point 6 £128,686

The current position regarding Assistant Directors substantive pay grade is as 
follows:

Designation Grade/Salary Number of Posts

Assistant Director Level 2 £82,168 to £92,926 2

Assistant Director Level 1 £67,280 to £78,040 9

Consultant in Public Health £67,913 to £84,083 1 

Note:
In addition, the Director of Public Health is also part of the Greater Manchester 
Director of Public Health on call rota arrangements for which the payment is 
2% of salary. 

2.3.3 The Council applies Market Supplements to Senior Management Posts, in 
accordance with the Policy, where evidence exists of recruitment and 
retention issues.

2.3.4 Under delegated authority (approved by the Employment and Equalities 
Committee meeting of 18th August 2015) the Chief Executive, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Resources, agrees the arrangements for the 
payment of Responsibility Allowances for officers undertaking specific 
Statutory Officer duties.

2.3.5 The pay scales, detailed above, for Directors and Assistant Directors include 
Nationally agreed pay awards and are adjusted in line with any future pay 

Page 90



44

awards.

2.4 Responsibility for the application of employment procedures for Senior 
Management posts

2.4.1 Responsibility for governance in relation to these issues lies with the Chief 
Officer Employment Committee which is a non-executive committee of the 
Council. The Council is acting in accordance with Guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State in relation to employment decisions for Senior Management 
posts with salaries in excess of £100,000 per annum. 

2.5 Pay Ratio

2.5.1 The following information is provided to assist with understanding the ratio 
calculation;

 The Chief Executive Salary level used for comparative purposes is 
£139,350 i.e. the maximum of the grade.

 The lowest paid Council job i.e. Cleaner has a maximum salary level of 
£18,065 (The Council employs Apprentices who are not considered within 
the definition of ‘lowest paid employees’)

 The Mean (average) pay is £27,473
 The Mode (most frequently occurring) level of salary is £19,171
 The Median (middle) of the salary range is £23,836

2.5.2 The ratio of pay of the top earner i.e. Chief Executive and that of the median 
earner is 1 to 5.85 and is within the 1:20 ratio recommended by the Hutton 
Review. In other words for every £1 earned by the median earner the Chief 
Executive earns £5.85. The calculation indicates that the Authority’s median 
level of earnings as a proportion of the Chief Executive earnings is 17.11%, 
just higher than a sixth.

3 PAY RELATED PROCEDURES

3.1 A number of procedures are in operation that impact upon and determine the 
remuneration of Council employees and should be referred to in conjunction 
with this policy. These are:-

Market Factor Supplements (MFS) Procedure
Incremental Progression Procedure
Mandatory Non-Payment of Increments in Conduct/Capability cases
Graduated Mandatory Unpaid Leave
Honorariums & Substitution Pay
Car Mileage Allowances
Premium Payments
Expenses, Travel & Subsistence Allowances
First Aid Allowance
Grading Procedure (including Job Evaluation)
Pay Protection

4 MONITORING

4.1 The Workforce & OD Service will be responsible for monitoring and 
administering the Pay Policy.

Page 91



45

5 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY CONSIDERATIONS

5.1 Directors, Assistant Directors and managers are responsible for ensuring that 
they operate the policy and its associated procedures in line with the Council’s 
Equality & Diversity Policy to provide equality of opportunity for all employees.

5.2 The Council is committed to ensuring that no-one is discriminated against, 
disadvantaged or given preference, through membership of any particular 
group, particularly based on age; disability; gender reassignment;  race, 
religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation; marriage and civil partnership and 
pregnancy and maternity. This policy will be applied equally to all employees 
irrespective of their background or membership of a particular group.

5.3 In addition, in line with the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) 
Act 1992 (TULCRA) Part 3, the Council is committed to ensure that 
employees are not disadvantaged or discriminated against by virtue of their 
trade union membership in the application of this policy.

5.4 The Council will regularly review this policy’s impact on any equality and 
diversity issues, and will identify any inequalities by monitoring and will take 
appropriate action where necessary.

6 GENDER PAY GAP

6.1 The Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 
2017 were effective from 31st March 2017. As part of the existing Public 
Sector Equality Duty these imposed a specific duty of Gender Pay Gap 
reporting requirements on Public Authorities.

6.2 As a public authority Rochdale Borough Council is required to publish gender 
pay gap information relating to our employees who are employed by us on the 
relevant snapshot date.

6.3 Each local authority must publish information to demonstrate compliance with 
the period 12 months beginning with the snapshot date of 31st March repeated 
at yearly intervals thereafter on the same snapshot date within that relevant 
year.

6.4 We are required to publish:-

(a) The difference in the mean pay of full-pay male and female employees 
expressed as a percentage.

(b) The difference in the median pay of full-pay male and female 
employees expressed as a percentage.

(c) The proportions number of male and female full-pay relevant 
employees employed in the lower, lower middle, upper middle and 
upper quartile pay bands.

(d) Differences in bonus pay*
(e) The information on our website to be accessible to all employees and 

the public for at least 3 years from the date of publication and to upload 
on the dedicated government website.

*this is not applicable to us as bonus was removed as part of the Pay & 
Grading Review process in 2010.

Page 92



46

6.5 This information can be found on the Council’s website.  

Page 93



 Treasury Management 
Strategy 2019/20 
(includes Minimum 
Revenue Provision)
 

Page 94



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 1

Document Control
Document Title: Treasury Management Strategy 2019-20 
(includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
Summary

Publication Date 1/4/19

Related Legislation / Applicable 
Section of Legislation

Local Government Act 2003, Local Authorities (Capital Financing & 
Accounting – England) Regulations 2003 and the Localism Act 
2011.

Related Policies, Strategies, 
Guideline Documents

CIPFA Prudential Code and CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice

Replaces Annual – replaces 1/4/18 version

Joint Strategy (Yes/No) No

Name of Partner(s) if joint n/a

Strategy Owner (Name/Position) Victoria Bradshaw – Chief Finance Officer

Strategy Author (Name/Position) Paul McHugh – Snr Accountant – Tax & Treasury

Applies to

Review of Strategy

Last Review Date Nov / Dec 2018

Review undertaken by Paul McHugh & Victoria Bradshaw

Next Review Date Nov / Dec 2019

Document Approvals
The document is reviewed by the Chief Finance Officer and submitted for approval at February Cabinet and 
the Budget Council.

Page 95



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 2

1. Introduction 

1.1 : Background

CIPFA defines Treasury Management as:
The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.”

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised during 
the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management operation is to ensure that this 
cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed. Surplus monies are 
invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite 
(security is paramount), providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Council’s capital 
plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer 
term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending obligations. This 
management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term 
cash flow surpluses. On occasion, any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet the Council’s 
risk or cost objectives.

1.2 : Legislative Framework and Guidance

The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations requires the Council to ‘have regard to’ the 
CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice ( s e e  k e y  
p r i n c i p l e s  i n  a p p e n d i x  1 )  to set Prudential and Treasury Indicators for the next three years to 
ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable.

The Act therefore requires the Council to set out its treasury strategy for borrowing and to prepare an 
Annual Investment Strategy which sets out the Council’s policies for managing its investments and for 
giving priority to the security and liquidity of those investments. This is contained within the Treasury 
Management Investment Strategy. This strategy also draws on the MHCLG’s guidance on Investments which 
along with its guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision and CIPFA’s codes forms the framework for the 
Prudential System.

CIPFA’s Codes and the MHCLG Guidance were both reviewed in 2017/18. The objective of the review was to 
respond to the expansion of local authority investment activity and the purchase of non-financial investments, 
particularly property. From 2019/20 local authorities are required to produce a Capital Strategy which is 
intended to provide the following:

 An overview of capital expenditure (priorities and ambition) and how capital financing / treasury 
contribute to the provision of services

 An assessment of risks and rewards and how associated risk will be managed 
 Demonstrating  such activity is proportional and consideration of the implications for long term financial 

sustainability 
This detail will be included in our Capital Strategy with this document focusing on traditional financial treasury 
investments.

Page 96



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 3

2. Strategic Outcomes 

The main objectives of the Treasury Management Strategy are:

 To effectively manage and control the risks associated with treasury management activities 
giving regard to the Code, and all relevant legislation, criteria and limits set within this 
report.

 To ensure that sufficient cash is available to enable the Council to discharge its financial 
obligations when they become due.

 To undertake all borrowing at or below budgeted rates on the basis of best value, and also 
seek opportunities to reduce the cost of servicing existing debt.

 To minimise the cost of any temporary borrowing (which is required for day to day cash 
flow reasons).

 To invest prudently having regard to the security and liquidity of Investments and the 
predictability of returns.

 To aim to achieve the optimum return on investments commensurate with proper levels of 
security and liquidity.

3. Strategy

3.1 Borrowing Strategy

3.1.1 : Borrowing / Capital Financing Requirement 

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are a key driver of treasury management activity. Future capital 
expenditure plans are outlined in a separate report to Cabinet on 12th February.  Capital expenditure can be 
funded by external grants and contributions, capital receipts and reserves and by revenue 
contributions. The gap between planned capital spend and existing resources results in a funding 
requirement which will need to be met by borrowing. A summary of the estimated potential long term 
borrowing requirements to fund new capital expenditure included in future budgets is shown in Table 1.

Table 1 : Borrowing Requirement 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£000 £000 £000 £000

Current Approved Capital Programme 21,651 21,915 17,059 13,352
Invest to Save Schemes 21,263 32,180 11,676 1,000
New Treasury & Salix Loans 18,087 576 - -
Potential New Borrowing - Previous Years / Rephasing 156,878 - - -

217,879 54,671 28,735 14,352
  
The 2018/19 requirement includes re-phasing from previous years’ mainstream programmes and capital 
expenditure incurred in previous years which, at present, we have not borrowed externally for (£156.9m). 
The Council has used its balance sheet strength to internally fund this expenditure from its accumulated 
reserves and balances.

As these reserves and balances are utilised for the purpose for which they were originally intended, the 
Council will need to borrow from external sources. Invest to Save and Treasury schemes ( loans to 
th i rd part ies) have been included, as they will increase the Council’s overall borrowing requirement. 
However, as the schemes are self- funded via income streams or future reductions in revenue 
expenditure, our overall (net) borrowing costs will not increase.

Page 97



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 4

The Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is the historic outstanding capital expenditure 
which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a measure 
of the Council’s underlying borrowing need.

Any capital expenditure which has not immediately been funded will increase the CFR. This  wi l l  not  
increase indef in i te ly  as the Council charges its revenue account with a prudent amount each year 
to adequately cover its debt repayment obligations and charge this capital expenditure through to its 
revenue account over the useful life of the assets purchased. This is known as Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) – see section 3.5 for further details. The projected movement in the CFR (which can be 
viewed as the Council’s underlying borrowing need) is shown in Table 2.

Table 2 : Capital Financing Requirement Current Estimate Estimate Estimate
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000
Opening CFR
General Fund 391,756 460,852 499,309 509,847

Capital Spend - Borrowing (Includes Re-Phasing) 82,743 54,671 28,735 14,352

PFI Additions / Capital Receipts - - - -

MRP (Including Current PFI) (12,705) (15,223) (17,153) (18,422)

GM Debt Repayment (942) (991) (1,044) (1,098)

Closing CFR
General Fund 460,852 499,309 509,847 504,679

PFI Finance Leases
Opening 102,486 99,185 95,813 92,137
Additions - - - -
Repayments (3,302) (3,371) (3,676) (3,935)
Closing 99,185 95,813 92,137 88,201

Underlying Borrowing Requirement 361,668 403,496 417,710 416,478

The CFR includes the Council’s Private Finance Initiative (PFI) long term liabilities. Such schemes include 
a borrowing facility which is the responsibility of the contractor. The Council is not required to borrow 
separately to finance these schemes. Therefore PFI schemes are deducted from the overall CFR to 
produce the Council’s own underlying borrowing requirement. The Council’s borrowing position and CFR 
are shown after the application of any capital receipts in lieu of shorter term borrowing.

3.1.2  : Current Portfolio Position

The Council’s estimated treasury portfolio position at 31st March 2019 with forward projections is 
summarised in Table 3. 

Page 98



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 5

Table 3 : Debt Portfolio New General
Balance  Borrowing Repayments Balance Balance Balance Balance

Debt Type at 1/4/18 to 31/3/19 to 31/3/19 at 31/3/19 at 31/3/20 at 31/3/21 at 31/3/22
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Fixed Rate Debt
PWLB 19,973 30,150 (1,314) 48,809 99,133 123,120 131,999
Short Term / Salix 276 219 (92) 403 299 213 134
Market - Fixed Rate 56,000 - (10,000) 46,000 86,000 61,000 56,000
Total Fixed Rate Debt 76,249 30,369 (11,406) 95,212 185,432 184,333 188,133

Variable Rate Debt
PWLB - Variable Rate - - - - - - -
Market - Variable Rate 74,000 - 74,000 34,000 59,000 64,000
Total Variable Rate Debt 74,000 - - 74,000 34,000 59,000 64,000

TOTAL RBC Debt 150,249 30,369 (11,406) 169,212 219,432 243,333 252,133

Net MRP Write Down (Cumulative) (7,290) (14,690) (23,333) (32,268)

Total RBC Debt After MRP Adj 161,923 204,742 220,000 219,866

Estimated Externaliastion of Internal Borrowing 49,100 11,100 -

Final Estimated RBC Debt 161,923 253,842 280,200 280,066

Historically, most of the Council’s previous borrowing was sourced via the Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB). As part of the Council’s Housing Stock Transfer in 2012, most of this debt was 
repaid by DCLG as part of the overall settlement. This significantly altered the balance of our 
portfolio. The majority of our current balance is with commercial banks in the form of long term (40 
years plus) LOBO market loans (£89m) or long term fixed rate market loans (£31m) with £48.8m 
PWLB debt and £0.4m energy efficiency loans (Salix).

The Council also has obligations to repay its share of the debt inherited after the dissolution of the Greater 
Manchester Council.

Table 4 shows our total gross debt and net debt after deducting our estimated level of short term 
investments.

Table  4 : Net Borrowing Requirement Current Estimate Estimate Estimate
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000

Borrowing Requirement BR = CFR less PFI 361,668 403,496 417,710 416,478

Initial RBC Debt 169,212 268,532 303,533 312,333
Balance on GM Debt 3,133 2,141 1,097
Total Gross Debt 172,345 270,673 304,630 312,333

Gross Under/(Over) borrowing (BR less Gross Debt) 189,322 132,823 113,081 104,145

Less Short Term Investments (40,000) (40,000) (40,000) (40,000)

Net Borrowing Requirement (NBR) 132,345 230,673 264,630 272,333

Net Underborrowing (BR less NBR) 229,322 172,823 153,081 144,145

Page 99



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 6

The Prudential Code states that authorities should ensure that, over the medium-term, net borrowing 
should only be for a capital purpose. This means that net external borrowing should not, except in the 
short-term, exceed the capital financing requirement for the previous year plus the additional CFR for 
the current and next two years. This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years, but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes.

Table 4 shows that the Council does not envisage any problem in meeting this prudential indicator during 
the period covered by this report (the highlighted line). An overall under borrowed position will be 
maintained. This position will be monitored with reference to our balance sheet review and expected 
movements in interest rates.

The CFR/Gross Debt position is summarised in the chart shown below.  This demonstrates the Council’s 
under-borrowed position estimated over the next five years. The graph shows the liability benchmark for the 
Council over the term of the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  The liability benchmark is the level of debt 
the Council expects to hold given current projections for capital expenditure up to financial year 2023/24, 
and the expected utilisation of reserves and balances that underpin our existing under-borrowed position. 
The gap between this and the CFR represents the Council’s expected under-borrowed position. Although 
the Council expects to increase its external debt in future years, this will remain below its CFR and 
therefore the Council will remain in an under-borrowed position. A careful balance will need to be struck 
between the savings that accrue from deferring this borrowing, the risk of future interest rate rises and the 
risk of capital loss if funds are borrowed in advance of absolute need.

3.1.3  : Treasury Indicators – Limits to Borrowing Activity

The Operational Boundary represents a maximum limit on the anticipated level of external borrowing. Its 
value is calculated with reference to:

 Current outstanding debt (including internal borrowing).
 Estimates of the authority’s capital investment plans.
 The potential requirement to refinance and/or restructure loans.
 Possible third party loans.
 An allowance for temporary borrowing arising from normal day to day cashflow fluctuations.

 -

 50,000

 100,000

 150,000

 200,000

 250,000

 300,000

 350,000

 400,000

 450,000

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Liability Benchmark Rochdale Borough Council

Actual Debt

CFR/Borrowing Requirement

Liability Benchmark

Page 100



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 7

Estimates for 2018/19 to 2021/22 are shown in Table 5.

Table 5 : OPERATIONAL BOUNDARY Current Estimate Estimate Estimate
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000
Opening Debt - RBC 150,249 366,014 416,234 440,135

New Borrowing Net of Repayments and MRP 208,475 35,529 568 (23,467)

Closing Debt - RBC 358,725 401,544 416,802 416,667

Temporary Cash Flow Fluctuations / Other Factors 26,555 28,696 29,459 29,452

Total - Excluding Other Long Term Liabilities 385,280 430,240 446,261 446,120

Other Long Term Liabilities 
Greater Manchester Council Debt 4,074 3,133 2,141 1,097
Existing PFI Schemes 102,486 99,185 95,813 92,137

106,560 102,317 97,954 93,233

Total Including Long Term Liabilities 491,840 532,557 544,215 539,353

The Code states that occasional and temporary breaches of the Operational Boundary, whilst not 
ideal, are acceptable if it is prudent to do so. It is recommended that delegated authority be given to the 
Chief Finance Officer to approve a breach where it would be advantageous to the Council. This would be 
reported to Cabinet at its next meeting following the event.

The Authorised Limit for external borrowing represents a control on our maximum level of borrowing. 
This represents a legislative limit beyond which external borrowing is prohibited.

The Operational Boundary is the start point for the calculation of the Authorised Limit to which is 
added sufficient headroom to accommodate such issues as unusual cash movements, borrowing in 
advance of need and the early maturity of commercial debt with repayment options (LOBOs). Levels for 
2018/19 to 2021/22 are shown in Table 6.

Table 6 : AUTHORISED LIMIT Current Estimate Estimate Estimate
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000
Operational Boundary 491,840 532,557 544,215 539,353
Borrow in Advance of Need (next year's cap prog) 54,671 28,735 14,352 13,712
LOBO Refinancing 74,000 34,000 59,000 64,000
Additional Headroom - Unusual Cash Movements 24,592 26,628 27,211 26,968

Total 645,103 621,920 644,778 644,033

Under proposals to amend IFRS16 from 2020/21 operating leases may need to be included on our balance 
sheet. This would effectively increase our CFR which would have a knock-on effect on our operational 
boundary and authorised limit. Work is still ongoing on these proposals and the extent to which this may 
change our balance sheet. At this stage the changes are not expected to have a significant effect – any 
changes will be reported once the detailed impact is known

Page 101



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 8

3.1.4  : Interest Rates

The Council has appointed Link Asset Services (LAS) as its Treasury Advisor. Part of that service is to 
assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. Table 7 summarises LAS’s view on future interest 
rates:

Table 7 : Interest Rates Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19 Dec-19 Mar-20 Mar-21 Mar-22
% % % % % % %

Bank of England Base Rate 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.50 2.00

5 Year PWLB Rate 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.60 2.80
10 Year PWLB Rate 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.80 3.00 3.20
25 Year PWLB Rate 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.40 3.60
50 Year PWLB Rate 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.20 3.40

The PWLB rates quoted above are net of HM Treasury’s Certainty Rate which was introduced on 1st 

November 2012. The authority benefits from a 0.2% reduction to the standard rate in return for providing 
information about its future borrowing plans.

The price of borrowing undertaken by the Council is influenced by the prices of sovereign debt, or gilts, 
traded on the gilt market. Movements in the prices of gilts are influenced by a combination of UK and 
global inflation expectations, interest rate forecasts and the effects of supply and demand which is 
dependent upon economic factors and market sentiment. The following factors will all contribute to the 
possibility of sharp changes in investor sentiment and increased volatility: 

 Uncertainties around Brexit
 T he falling pound and UK inflationary concerns
 A  p o s s i b l e  resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis and the changing geo-political 

environment
 The likelihood of increased US protectionism, its general economic and interest rate policy 
 Slowdowns in the growth of the Chinese and other emerging economies

Rates are currently relatively low though they are expected to slowly rise. This position is expected to 
materialise in the short / medium term.

The Council’s borrowing strategy will give consideration to borrowing in the following forms:

The cheapest borrowing will generally be internal borrowing by running down cash balances (from 
reserves and balance sheet strength) and foregoing interest earned from investments at historically low 
rates in a relatively high risk environment. The Council will continue to pursue this policy in 2019/20. 
However, in view of the overall forecast for long term borrowing rates to increase over the next few 
years, consideration will also be given to weighing the short term advantages of internal borrowing against 
potential increased long term costs. This decision will be influenced by the ‘cost of carry’ (the difference 
between current borrowing and investment rates) which will be considered against the backdrop of 
uncertainty and affordability constraints, taking into account the Council’s overall financial position.

The Council would expect to carry out most of its permanent borrowing from the PWLB, as the interest 
rates are generally the cheapest available and can be fixed for the term of the loan to provide greater 
certainty. The option of temporary and  sho r t e r  t e rm  borrowing from other public authorities will 
continue in 2019/20 to match cashflow requirements during the year. Longer term rates will be monitored 

Page 102



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 9

in consultation with our advisors and longer term rates locked in to if a sustained upward movement in 
rates is expected.

Given the overall size of past capital programmes, the relatively long maturity profile of existing debt 
and the current ratio of MRP compared to actual loan repayments, it is envisaged that relatively short / 
medium term equal instalment repayment loans (in which part of the loan principal is paid off each year 
as well as interest) will be taken for future borrowing though this will be balanced by the greater certainty 
offered by longer term maturity loans.

Commercial loans (including those with variable rates and options) will be considered on a comparative 
basis with equivalent PWLB debt and may be selected if they are thought to offer best value and 
conform to the Council’s borrowing strategy. The market for these loans has been relatively stagnant in 
the last twelve months with few options available. The Council will also consider borrowing from the Municipal 
Bonds Agency, UK Pension / Insurance Funds supranational banks, capital market bond investors and other 
institutions approved by the Prudential Regulation Authority.

Further considerations to achieve the objectives are as follows:

 Give due consideration to the impact of new borrowing or debt restructuring on the Council’s 
debt maturity profile and the associated implications for interest rate risk and the Authority’s 
balance sheet.

 Continue to seek out new products that may become available in the debt market that are 
suitable for Local Authority purposes. One option to be explored is the use of bond placements 
to raise funding possibly working alongside other local authorities or the Municipal Bond 
Agency to share costs and attract investors.

 Consider and mitigate the effects of developments in Accounting Standards on the Council’s 
income and expenditure account which may be created by borrowing decisions.

 Increase the use of direct dealing with counterparties in relation to debt where this 
approach reduces brokerage costs and/or secures lower interest charges.

In normal circumstances the main sensitivities of the forecast are likely to be the two scenarios noted 
below. Council officers, in conjunction with the treasury advisors, will continually monitor both the 
prevailing interest rates and the market forecast, adopting the following responses to a change of 
sentiment:

 If it were felt that there would be a significant sharp FALL in long and short term rates, e.g. 
due to a marked increase of risks  around relapse into recession or of risks of deflation, 
then long term borrowings will be postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate 
funding into short term borrowing will be considered.

 If it were felt that there would be a significant sharp RISE in long and short term rates than 
those currently forecast, perhaps arising from a greater than expected increase in world 
economic activity or a sudden increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re- 
appraised with the likely action that fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates 
were still relatively low.

Page 103



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 10

3.1.5 : Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its need, purely in order to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be within approved 
Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for 
money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.

3.1.6 : Debt Rescheduling

As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term fixed interest rates, there 
may be potential opportunities to generate savings by switching from long term debt to short term debt. 
However, these savings will need to be considered in the light of the current treasury position and the size 
of the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred).

The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include:
 the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings;
 helping to fulfil the treasury strategy;
 enhance the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the balance of 

volatility).

Consideration will also be given to identify if there is any residual potential for making savings by 
running down investment balances to repay debt prematurely as short term rates on investments are 
likely to be lower than rates paid on current debt.

The current PWLB spread between the rates applied to new borrowing and repayment of debt, has 
meant that PWLB to PWLB debt restructuring is now much less attractive than in previous years. In 
particular, consideration would have to be given to the large premiums which would be incurred by 
prematurely repaying existing PWLB loans and it is very unlikely that these could be justified on value for 
money grounds if using replacement PWLB refinancing.

Most of our current debt portfolio is in LOBO a n d  f i x e d  r a t e  loans with commercial banks. The 
premium associated with early repayment (to compensate the lender for future interest and embedded 
options) make it unlikely that rescheduling will be a cost effective option, unless the lender provides a 
financial incentive - the Council will keep this under review.

3.1.7 : Debt Related Budgets

Table 8 summarises external interest charges for the treasury function on our managed debt portfolio.

Table 8 Interest Budget Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000

Full Provision
Total Loan Interest Budget 11,331 13,391 14,399 14,751
Less Invest to Save and TreasurySchemes (1,502) (2,890) (3,501) (3,626)
Net Interest Budget 9,829 10,500 10,897 11,124

BSR - Maintain Internal Borrowing (3,920) (2,991) (2,589) (2,589)
Interest Cost with Internal Borrowing 5,909 7,509 8,309 8,536

Additional Cost 0.25% Increase 241 280 312 332

Page 104



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 11

The Council makes full provision for the cost of externalising its current internally borrowed position. 
However, it is unlikely that this will occur fully in the period covered by this report. A balance sheet review 
(BSR) has been undertaken looking at relative movements in reserves, expected capital expenditure and 
borrowing to determine the rate at which this is likely to occur. The table above shows estimates of the 
potential savings to the revenue interest budget as a consequence of maintaining our internally borrowed 
position (to some extent) into the future. These savings will support revenue balances in the future – the 
estimated level has been taken into account by the Chief Finance Officer when balancing our overall 
budget.

The table also shows the risk to the revenue interest budget (at full provision) of an increase of 0.25% in the 
interest rate used to set our overall capital financing budget. The possible rise in rates will be regularly 
monitored and appropriate action taken to mitigate this risk.

3.1.8 : Loans to Third Parties

Reductions to Central Government funding have placed local authority budgets under unprecedented 
pressure in recent years with Councils considering innovative strategies towards improving service 
provision for their communities. 

This can include the making of loans to third parties for capital expenditure purposes. This will often be to 
support economic development either in a wider context (loans to facilitate development of Manchester 
Airport) or more locally (Economic Development Fund). Loans may also be made to enable housing 
development or to enhance social well-being within the borough. 

Significant loans will be the subject of separate approval processes and may require separate external 
borrowing by the Council.

The Council has placed and upper limit of £60 million on the loans it makes to third parties.

3.2 Investment Strategy

3.2.1 : Creditworthiness Policy

The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-
financial investments.  This report deals solely with financial investments, (as managed by the treasury 
management team).  Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are 
covered in the Capital Strategy, (a separate report).

The Council’s investment priorities will be security of capital first, liquidity second and then return.

The day to day cash requirements needed to fund general revenue and capital expenditure will continue 
to be managed on a proactive basis by the treasury function. Cashflow forecasting produced by the 
Council will be used to ensure that investments are placed for the most relevant period. This is to 
ensure sufficient liquid resources are available to meet its financial obligations, whilst achieving the 
optimum return on investments commensurate with proper and emphasised levels of security and liquidity. 
The risk appetite of the Council is low in order to give priority to the security of its investments.
The global banking crisis, the current economic climate and the financial difficulties faced by UK and 
international banks have placed security of investments at the forefront of Treasury Management 
Investment Policy.

Page 105



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 12

The Council will continue to ensure that:
 It maintains a policy covering the categories of investments it will invest in, criteria for 

choosing investment counterparties with adequate security and monitoring their security.

 It has sufficient liquidity in its investments. For this purpose it will set out procedures for 
determining the maximum periods for which funds may prudently be committed. These 
procedures also apply to the Council’s prudential indicators covering the maximum 
principal sums invested.

The Chief Finance Officer will maintain a counterparty list in compliance with specified criteria and will 
revise the criteria and submit them to Council for approval as part of the strategy.

Table 9 shows the minimum long and short term ratings that the Council will adhere to in making its 
investments.

Table 9 : Credit Ratings

Long 
Term

Short 
Term

Long 
Term

Short 
Term

UK Banks and Building Socities A- and F1 A3 and P2

Other International Banks AA- and F1 Aa3 and P1

Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility N/A N/A N/A N/A

Other Local , Police & Fire  Authorities N/A N/A N/A N/A

LOWER OF
Institution Type Fitch Rating OR Moody’s Rating 

(Minimum) (Minimum)

The ratings are provided by two of the leading credit agencies – Fitch and Moody’s. They provide 
independent objective assessments of the credit worthiness of institutions and countries, which help 
investors t o  a p p r a i s e  t h e  l e v e l  o f  r i s k  a s s o c i a t e d  w i t h  a certain financial institution. The 
prime credit worthiness rating is Fitch’s long term rating which is between AAA for the prime institutions 
down to D for those in default. There is a range of 21 ratings. The minimum limits set out allow only 
investments with higher rated institutions as detailed above. The short term ratings of both agencies, F1 
(Fitch) and P1/P2 (Moody’s), indicate that the institution is regarded as of Prime quality having a 
superior or strong ability to meet its financial commitments.

The Council also uses the creditworthiness service provided by L AS. This service has been 
progressively enhanced over recent years and now uses a sophisticated modelling approach with credit 
ratings from all three  rating agencies – Fitch, Moody’s and Standard  & Poors - forming the core 
element.   However, it does not rely solely on the current credit ratings of counterparties but also uses 
the following as overlays:

 Credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies
 Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings
 Sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries

This modelling approach combines all of this information via a weighted scoring system which is then 
combined with an overlay of CDS spreads. The end product of this process is a series of colour coded 
bands which indicate each counterparty’s relative creditworthiness and the possible length of any Council 

Page 106



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 13

investment:
 Yellow – 5 years – applies to UK Government Gilts , deposits with the UK Debt 

Management Office , other local authorities / public bodies (note this includes Greater 
Manchester authorities such as GMCA, GMWDA, TFGM etc) and Multilateral Development 
Banks

 Purple – 2 years
 Blue - 1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks)
 Orange - 1 year (other banks)
 Red - 6 months
 Green – 100 days (formerly 3 months)
 No colour – generally not to be used

All credit ratings will be monitored weekly. The Council is alerted to changes to ratings of all three 
agencies through its use of the L AS creditworthiness service. We are also told which counterparties 
have moved to negative/positive watch and which may be closest to a possible downgrade.

When downgrade results in the counterparty / investment no longer meeting the Council’s minimum 
criteria, current investments will be recovered at the earliest opportunity and further use of the counterparty 
will be withdrawn.

In practice, the Council will use a combination of its own creditworthiness ratings and L i n k ’ s  scoring 
system / advice to establish an on-going counterparty list. On occasion, fine tuning by an individual 
credit rating agency can lead to a counterparty temporarily being reduced below the Council’s Credit 
Criteria (on one factor) yet maintaining a high overall score using Link’s system (or vice versa) . In this 
instance an overall view will be taken on the merit of the counterparty and its continued use. Such rare 
instances will be reported as part of the next possible Financial Update Report.

Several global industry wide changes and will continue to impact on credit ratings and financial markets 
during 2019/20. These include:

 Bank Stress Testing and Regulatory oversight (ring-fencing etc) and ratio requirements
 European   Union   directives   on   Bank   Recovery   and   Deposit Guarantee Schemes
 Bail-In legislation which ensures that large investors, including local authorities, will  need 

to rescue failing banks instead of taxpayers in future
 Brexit and resultant banking sector changes

All of the above may lead to increased volatility in ratings. However, the timing and full extent of these 
changes is not yet clear. If the changes have significant impacts, requiring a re-assessment of the 
ratings listed in table 9, it is recommended that delegated approval be given to the Chief Finance Officer 
to temporarily suspend the Council’s own creditworthiness criteria in favour of a revised the modelling 
approach agreed with our financial advisors.

3.2.2 : Money Market Funds

Money Market Funds (MMF) and UK Gilt Funds with high credit ratings will continue to be used for 
short-term cash investments where they provide an opportunity of reasonable returns combined with 
exceptional liquidity. MMFs invest in a portfolio of short term, high quality debt instruments, helping the 

Page 107



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 14

Council to spread its risk exposure. MMFs are managed and rated by the credit agencies within very 
specific guidelines.

For the purposes of investing in MMFs and UK Gilt Funds, the definition of ‘high credit rating’ will cover 
those funds that are rated as triple-A (AAA) by the main credit rating agencies which can be established 
from information supplied by LAS and SunGard (a specialist investment p l a t f o r m  used to place 
funds).

The introduction of EU directives and changes to regulations relating to Net Stable Funding and Liquidity 
Coverage Ratios will came into force in January 2019 with the intention of placing more stringent criteria on 
funds to make them more resilient and stable in the event of  a market crisis and less vulnerable in case of 
‘runs’ on the fund.

Structurally, funds will be split into three broad categories:
 Constant Net Asset Value (CNAV) 
 Low Volatility Net Asset Value (LVNAV)
 Variable Net Asset Value (VNAV)

The Council will look to utilise all three types of fund if they are deemed to be appropriate and match our 
security / risk appetite criteria. We will continue to benchmark funds to manage risk as conditions in this 
market change.

The Council has elected to opt up to professional status to comply with the Markets in Financial Instruments 
Directive II to continue dealing with MMFs, brokers and individual financial institutions where appropriate. 
This will be reviewed on an annual basis.

3.2.3 : UK Building Societies

UK Building Societies are now included within our main credit rating criteria. As an additional safeguard 
investments will only be made with a building society which has assets in excess of £1,000m.

3.2.4 : Investment Limits

The monetary limits for institutions on the Council’s counterparty lists are shown in table 10. In certain 
special circumstances, authority is delegated to the Chief Finance Officer to exceed our normal day to 
day limits. This might include the risk of the removal or capping of our borrowing powers by Central 
Government or the threat of imminent significant increases to PWLB interest rates. This would ensure that 
the Council can still place money with the relatively few counterparties of highest creditworthiness in case 
of the requirement to borrow in advance of absolute need to achieve value for money for the Council. Any 
instance of the Special Circumstances Limits being actioned will be reported retrospectively to Cabinet.

Page 108



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 15

Table 10 : Investment Limits Fitch Rating Moody's

Institution (Long Term) (Long Term)

Banks and Building Societies AA- and above Aa3 and above £12,000,000 £15,000,000

Banks and Building Societies A-, A and A+ A3 to A1 £8,000,000 £12,000,000

Council's Banker - Barclays n/a n/a £15,000,000 £20,000,000

Bank Group Overall Limit £16,000,000 £25,000,000

Money Market Fund AAA AAA £12,000,000 £15,000,000

Treasury Bills n/a n/a £30,000,000 £50,000,000

Debt Management Office n/a n/a No Limit No Limit

Fire/Local (inc GM bodies)/Police Authority n/a n/a £10,000,000 £15,000,000

OR Normal 
Investment Limit

Special 
Circumstances  

Limit

The Council currently has its day to day banking operations with Barclays. As part of our banking package 
it is possible to place money in a linked interest bearing instant access account automatically via 
electronic transfer. In view of the reasonable interest rate offered on this account (compared to other 
on call options), Barclays relatively strong rating and ease of administration it is proposed to mainta in  
the limit on this account to £15 million (providing the bank continues to meet the minimum level 
required).

3.2.5 : Certificates of Deposit, Covered Bonds / Repos and Treasury Bills

In December 2013, the Council opened a custodial account with Kings & Shaxson (a firm of London 
brokers). This gives us access to a range of high quality institutions (which normally do not deal directly 
with local authorities) via Certificates of Deposit (short-dated marketable securities). This will enable us 
to expand our counterparty list whilst ensuring capital is secure. Similar trades can be sourced via 
other brokers. The Council will continue to apply the same credit rating criteria and limits to these 
investments as laid out in tables 9 and 10.

Covered bonds are financial instruments secured by assets such as mortgage loans. All issuers are 
required to hold sufficient assets to cover the claims of all covered bondholders (and carry a 
preferential claim).The Council will only deal with bonds that are issued by banks / financial institutions 
that  meet our credit  criteria or AAA  rated institutions.

A repurchase agreement (Repo) involves the sale and repurchase of securities (usually government 
bonds) traded simultaneously. The securities will be repurchased by the seller at an agreed date from the 
buyer / lender for an agreed higher price which represents interest to the lender. The seller is using 
their securities as collateral to borrow cash at a specified rate over time.

Treasury Bills are short-dated marketable securities issued by the UK Government – as such their 
counterparty risk is low.

3.2.6 : Property Funds

Property Funds are pooled investment vehicles which invest in all types of commercial and industrial 
property. They enable investors to indirectly access the property market offering diversification in sector 

Page 109



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 16

exposure. Returns are generated via regular income generation (rents) and capital appreciation. Generally, 
they are suited to investors with a long term time horizon, typically at least five years.

Generally Funds operate using an Offer Price for purchasing and a Bid Price for selling Units. The former 
will exceed the latter (usually with an 8-10% spread). Using an 8% spread, if the Council were to purchase  
£1m Units in the Fund (at the Offer Price) the sale or fair value at that time would be £0.92m (at the Bid 
Price). If, as expected, increases to property prices means that both prices will grow so that eventually the 
Bid Price exceeds the Offer Price originally paid, generating capital growth. In the meantime Units in the 
Fund will generate a regular dividend via property rentals.

A typical Fund, such as the CCLA Local Authority Property Fund, would expect to generate a dividend 
return of around 4.5 to 5% annually with the generally expected prospect of capital growth on top of this.

Investing in such a Fund is not without a degree of risk. The Fund will be subject to price volatility due to 
over-riding market conditions or the quality of its acquisitions and tenants. Performance of the property 
market is cyclical. Although the last 5 years have seen average growth of 11% (the CCLA Fund), there was 
a 1.5% loss in Unit Value in 2016/17 and much more severe losses in the aftermath of the financial crisis 
(49% loss between 2008 and 2009). Negative returns will almost certainly occur again in the future and a 
view must be taken on where we currently are in that overall cycle. Timing will be critical – recent property 
growth appears to be slowing down and the possibility of a chaotic Brexit with a downturn in growth and 
general economic well-being will exacerbate this. Funds are less liquid than traditional treasury investments 
– there may be a long lead in time to secure release.

Recent changes to IRFS9, create potential for future losses to have to be written directly to revenue (rather 
than being placed in a reserve) – though this is currently subject to a five year statutory over-ride.

Overall, past experience and expected levels of revenue return / capital growth indicate that, over the long 
term, prudent investment in property assets will generally yield a positive return with an acceptable level of 
risk. The Council continues to demonstrate a relatively strong balance sheet position, enabling it to place 
investments for that period of time.

On this basis, and subject to appropriate due diligence, it is planned to include investment with Pooled 
Property Funds (by definition over one year’s duration) up to an initial £10 million in our 2019/20 Investment 
Strategy. This will enable the Chief Finance Officer to undertake an assessment of our options as well as 
the post-Brexit economic situation and its effects on property prices.

3.2.7 : Investments of More Than 365 Days

The Code requires the Council to set a limit on Investments which are made for more than 365 days. These 
limits are set with regard to the Council’s overall liquidity requirements. With investment rates at low levels, 
continuing market risk and a potential desire to unlock investments to balance our internal borrowing 
position, in normal circumstances, the Council is unlikely to undertake money market investments beyond 
one year’s duration. However, if borrowing was undertaken before absolute cashflow need (to avoid the risk 
of sharp interest rate increases) this would need to be considered.

A limit of £60 million has been set - our policy will be kept under review.

Page 110



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 17

3.2.8 : Use of Financial Derivatives

The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, futures and options) 
where it is confident it has the powers to enter into such transactions. They will only be used for the 
prudent management of its financial affairs and never for speculative purposes. Additional risks 
presented, such as credit exposure to derivative counterparties, will be taken into account when 
determining the level of risk involved. Embedded derivatives will not be subject to this policy, although 
the risks they present will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk management strategy.

3.2.9 : IFRS9
The Council will use an Expected Credit Loss Model as set out in International Financial Reporting Standard 
(IFRS) 9 to measure the credit risk of its treasury investments and loans made to third paties.

3.2.10 : Investment Budgets and Targets

Table 11 summarises the investment income budget for the treasury function – investment returns are 
likely to remain low during 2019/20 but to be on a gently rising trend over the next few years:

Table 11 : Investment Income 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£000 £000 £000 £000

Investment Income 204 308 462 550

Investments will be made with reference to our core balances and cashflow / liquidity requirements, 
prevalent relatively low interest rates ( though  expec ted  to  t rack  l im i ted  Base  ra te  inc reases)  
and a continuation of our policy to fund capital expenditure via internal balances whenever possible. 

Greater returns will generally be obtainable by investing for longer periods – the value of this will be 
assessed against expected cashflow and expected interest rate movements (if they’re expected to fall 
consideration will be given to locking available cash away for longer periods, but if they are expected to rise 
significantly investments will be more short term).

The treasury function will continue to benchmark its investment performance for the year against the 
seven day LIBID (London Interbank Bid) plus two basis points – ie to outperform seven day cash rates. 
This is the most commonly used performance indicator by local authorities for the measurement of 
investment returns.

3.3 Policy on the Use of External Service Providers

The Council uses Link Asset Services – LAS (formerly Capita) as its external treasury management 
advisors.

The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with the Council 
at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon our external service providers.

However, there is recognition that there is value in employing external providers of treasury management 
services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that the 
terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and 
documented, and subjected to regular review.

Page 111



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 18

3.4 : Other Prudential Indicators

The Code contains prudential indicators which assess the overall affordability of our capital expenditure 
plans, providing an indication of their impact on the Council’s overall finances (see Table 12). 

The ratio of financing costs to revenue streams identifies the cost of borrowing (net of investment 
income) as a percentage of the net revenue streams of the Council.

The incremental impact of capital investment decisions on band D council tax identifies the additional 
revenue costs of the Council’s proposed capital programme (note that the Code no longer requires the 
publication of this indicator – it has been included to provide an indication of the additional costs of our capital 
plans).

Both indicators are based on the current budget, but will invariably include some estimates, such as the 
level of government support, which are not published over a three year period.

Table 12 : Affordability Indicators 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Financing Costs / Revenue Streams 8.67% 9.37% 10.24% 10.61%

Incremental Impact - Band D Council Tax £14.85 £15.68 £11.36 £9.30

It is important that local authorities manage the risks associated with having too large a proportion of 
debt maturing and requiring refinancing at a time of unfavourable interest rates. The Code, therefore, 
requires authorities to set upper and lower limits on the amount of principal amounts outstanding which 
will mature in different time periods as a percentage of total projected borrowing. Following discussion 
with CAS, the limits set out in Table 14 are recommended for approval for the years 2019/20 to 2021/22.

Table 13 Maturity Limits Upper Limit % Lower Limit %

Under 12 months 60 0
12 months to 2 years 60 0
2 years to 5 years 60 0
5 years to 10 years 70 0
10 years and over 100 25

3.5 : Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)

a: Explanation of MRP and Background

The MHCLG’s Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) Regulations of 2008 require local 
authorities to make a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) – to charge our accumulated Capital Financing 
Requirement to Revenue over a period of time and to ensure for prudent repayment of debt on capital 
loans. Charges for depreciation of assets, though appearing as a cost of services, are removed from the 
charge to revenue and replaced with MRP when calculating the Net General Fund Balance. Revised 
guidance was issued in February 2018. The Council is happy that its policy complies with this new guidance.

b: MRP Policies for 2019/20
For Capital expenditure incurred prior to 1st April 2008 the Council, will set aside 2% of its 
outstanding CFR on a straight line method – no amendments will be made for Adjustment A. This 
approach has been agreed by our external auditors as prudent and enables that balance to be written out in 

Page 112



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 19

equal instalments over the next 50 years.

c: Prudential Borrowing – Short and Long Life Assets
It is proposed to continue to use the Asset Life Method for the following reasons:

 The proposed method represents a continuation of the existing policy with regards to the 
calculation of MRP

 It is prudent and fair – matching charge to the period that assets offer benefit
 The method will have no financial impact on existing Council Budgets.
 The method also includes the ability to take advantage of the MRP holiday (see paragraph i) 

which may be financially beneficial to the Council.

d: Example Asset Lives
5 Years – ICT Resources 
7 Years – Vehicles
10 Years – Other Equipment –such as wheelie bins 
40 Years – Buildings and Highways work
50 Years – Investment / Commercial Property

e: Annuity & Equal Instalments
For specific projects (generally those with a commercial or Invest to Save element), MRP will be 
separately considered on a case by case basis. This review will take account of cash flows relating to 
the scheme and the finance taken to fund it. An annuity basis works in the same way as a mortgage with 
the MRP (equivalent to principal) increasing over the length of the project (at the same time interest 
payments will reduce to provide an equal repayment over the project’s life).
f: Loans to Third Parties
Provision will be reviewed in the context of the existence of a long term debtor which may extend the period 
over which prudent provision is made or negate the need for provision – a case by case approach will be 
adopted.
g: Ministerial Direction
For expenditure in relation to capital expenditure funded by borrowing in relation to expenditure which is 
capital by virtue of a Ministerial Direction or which is capital expenditure which does not create a 
council asset, MRP will generally be provided over a 20 year period starting in the year after which the 
expenditure was incurred.

h: PFI
In accordance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice, repayments of PFI finance leases will be recorded as MRP.

i: Charging and Deferral
The MRP charge will usually commence in the year following the occurrence of the capital expenditure. 

The exception to this is an asset that takes more than one year to become operational – see below.

The Council will continue the policy that delegates authority to the Chief Finance Officer and the Cabinet 
Member for Resources to defer the charging of MRP (or holiday) in accordance with the Prudential Code 
and current accounting regulations in the following circumstances:

• There is a separately identifiable project with quantified borrowing costs.

Page 113



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 20

• The period from the projects inception to it becoming operational is significantly in excess of 
12 months.

• A business case has been produced incorporating the deferred MRP and capitalised 
interest which demonstrates that the project is prudent and affordable over its whole life.

• The borrowing and MRP amounts are material, in excess of £250,000 annually.
• The deferred MRP and accumulated interest will be charged to the appropriate revenue 

account on a prudent basis, once the project is operational.

j: Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP)
The Council can elect to make provision for additional voluntary amounts to be set aside for schemes 
funded by borrowing. This would usually occur in special circumstances in relation to invest to save 
schemes or loans to third parties. Again, this will be reviewed on a case by case basis.

The revised 2018 guidance allows for reclamation of any over-provision in the future if needed or 
circumstances change. The estimated level of VRP to 31/3/19 is £0.653m.

3.6 : Conclusions

The borrowing strategy for 2019/20 is broadly similar to the strategy agreed for 2018/19, which has 
been successful in relation to the objectives of minimising exposure to risk, reducing revenue costs and 
maintaining the security of the Council’s debt.

Our investment strategy will continue to place emphasis on the security of capital rather than return to 
reflect current market conditions. The Council will continue to be vigilant in monitoring investment 
criteria to reduce unnecessary exposure to risk.

4. Process for Monitoring Compliance and Effectiveness of the Strategy 

Fortnightly meetings – Chief Finance Officer and Treasury Team
Review by external Treasury Advisors
Internal and External Audit checks
Half yearly and annual report included in financial update monitoring reports to Cabinet

5.  Strategy Governance 

5.1 : Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation

(i) Full Council
 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and activities
 approval of annual strategy.
 approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury 

management policy statement and treasury management practices
 budget consideration and approval
 approval of the division of responsibilities

(ii) Cabinet
 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on recommendations
 approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 

Page 114



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 21

appointment.

(iii) Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee
 reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making recommendations to the 

Cabinet.

5.2 : The Treasury Management Role of the Chief Finance Officer

The Chief Finance Officer
 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing the same 

regularly, and monitoring compliance
 submitting regular treasury management policy reports
 submitting budgets and budget variations
 receiving and reviewing management information reports
 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function
 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective division 

of responsibilities within the treasury management function
 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit
 recommending the appointment of external service providers
 preparation of a Capital Strategy which is prudent, sustainable and affordable
 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all investments and is in accordance with the risk 

appetite of the authority 

6.      Strategy Review Date

The Strategy is usually reviewed on an annual basis in November / December for inclusion and approval by 
Cabinet (February) and Council as part of the Council’s budget setting process. 

7. Appendices 

APPENDIX  A

CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice

CIPFA recommends that all public service organisations adopt, as part of their standing orders, financial 
regulations, or other formal policy documents appropriate to their circumstances, the following four 
clauses.
1. The Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury management:

 a treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and approach to risk 
management of its treasury management activities

 suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in which the Council 
will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and 
control those activities.

The content of the policy statement and TMPs will follow the recommendations contained in 
Sections 6 and 7 of the Code, subject only to amendment where necessary to reflect the 

Page 115



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 22

particular circumstances of this organisation. Such amendments will not result in the organisation 
materially deviating from the Code’s key principles.

2. The Council will receive reports on its treasury management policies, practices and activities, 
including, as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a mid-year review 
and an annual report after its close.

3. The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring of its treasury 
management policies and practices to Cabinet and for the execution and administration of treasury 
management decisions to the section 151 Officer who will act in accordance with the Council’s 
policy statement and TMPs and, if he/she is a CCAB member, CIPFA’s Standard of Professional 
Practice on Treasury Management.

4. The Council nominates the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be responsible for 
ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies.

The Treasury Management Policy Statement (TMPs)

This organisation defines its treasury management activities as:

1. The management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market 
and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; 
and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.

2. This organisation regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to be the 
prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be measured. 
Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will focus on their risk 
implications for the organisation, and any financial instruments entered into to manage these 
risks.

3. This organisation acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support towards 
the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore committed to the 
principles of achieving value for money in treasury management, and to employing suitable 
comprehensive performance measurement techniques, within the context of effective risk 
management.

Page 116



Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20 (includes Minimum Revenue Provision)
 

rochdale.gov.uk 23

 

Rochdale Borough Council

Number One Riverside

Smith Street

Rochdale OL16 1YH

  rochdale.gov.uk

  01706 647474

  council@rochdale.gov.uk
Page 117



Capital Investment & 
Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

Page 118



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 1

Document Control
Document Title: Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

Summary

Publication Date January 2019

Related Legislation / Applicable 
Section of Legislation

CIPFA Prudential Code (2017) issued under Part 1 of the Local 
Government Act 2003

CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice (2017) issued under 
Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003

MHCLG Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments (3rd 
Edition) issued under section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 
2003

MHCLG Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision issued 
under section 21(1A) of the Local Government Act 2003

Related Policies, Strategies, 
Guideline Documents

Corporate Plan
Place Plan
Townships Plan
Asset Strategy
Medium Term Financial Strategy
Treasury Management Strategy

Replaces Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy 2018 to 2021

Joint Strategy (Yes/No) No

Name of Partner(s) if joint N/a

Strategy Owner (Name/Position) Victoria Bradshaw, Chief Finance Officer

Strategy Author (Name/Position) Michelle Ashworth, Head of Commercial, Economy & Resources 
Finance

Applies to

Review of Strategy

Last Review Date January 2019

Review undertaken by Michelle Ashworth

Next Review Date January 2020

Page 119



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 2

Document Approvals
This document requires the following approvals.

Name Title Date of Issue Version Number

Victoria Bradshaw Chief Finance Officer 22nd January 2019 v1.1

Page 120



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 3

Contents Page

Section Title Page
1 Introduction 3

2 The Purpose of the Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy 3

3 Strategic Outcomes 3

4 Capital Expenditure 3

5 Investments and Liabilities 3

6 Treasury Management 3

7 Skills and Knowledge 3

8 Process for Monitoring Compliance and Effectiveness of the 
Strategy Document

3

9 Strategy Governance 3

10 Strategy Review Date 3

11 Supporting Documents 3

12 Appendices 3

Page 121



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 4

1. Introduction 

The Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy forms a key part the Council’s asset management and property 
investment strategies.  It summarises the framework for all aspects of the Council’s capital programme, 
including planning, prioritisation, management and funding, and links our Council’s vision and priorities with 
forecasted capital resources and capital expenditure budgets.  Linking into the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, this ensures that all revenue implications have been recognised and provided for in the Council’s 
revenue budgetary forecasts.

The Strategy covers:

 Capital Expenditure - including asset management planning and governance
 Investments and Liabilities - including approach, due diligence, risk appetite and performance
 Treasury Management – covering governance, planning and risks/sensitivities with respect to capital 

investments
 Skills and Knowledge – detailing the skills, knowledge and training available to the Council in 

making investment decisions

Page 122



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 5

2. The Purpose of the Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy 

The Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy is a high level overview of how the Council’s capital 
expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services.  The 
Strategy provides an overview of how risks are managed, and what the implications are for future financial 
sustainability.  The purpose of the Strategy is to set out how the Council takes capital expenditure and 
investment decisions in line with service objectives and properly takes account of stewardship, value for 
money, prudence, sustainability and affordability.

The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations requires the Council to ‘have regard to’ the 
CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.  The Act therefore requires the Council to 
‘have in place a capital strategy that sets out the long-term context in which capital expenditure and 
investment decisions are made and gives due consideration to both risk and reward and impact on the 
achievement of priority outcomes’, which ‘should form a part of the authority’s integrated revenue, capital 
and balance sheet planning’.       

3. Strategic Outcomes

The main objectives of the Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy are:

 To provide an overview of the Council’s plans for capital investments/disposals, and asset 
management planning

 To set out the governance process for approval and monitoring of capital expenditure, and any 
related long-term liabilities

 To show how the Council’s planned capital expenditure will be funded within the context of relevant 
funding limits, how any external debt will be repaid, and what the associated costs are

 To set out the Council’s approach to commercial activities including due diligence, risk appetite and 
proportionality in respect of the Council’s overall resources

 To summarise the knowledge and skills available to the Council, and whether these are considered 
to be commensurate with its risk appetite.

Page 123



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 6

4. Capital Expenditure

4.1 Governance

4.1.1 Links to Corporate Strategies

The Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy summarises the framework within which the Council’s long 
term investment plans will be delivered.  This framework ensures that all capital investments are consistent 
with the Council’s priorities, that associated risks are considered, financial constraints are recognised, and 
value for money is achieved.  These plans are driven by the Council’s Corporate Plan, Townships Plan, 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Asset Strategy, and influenced by a number of Greater Manchester 
strategies.  Links to the Council’s Corporate Strategies can be found in Section 11.

Corporate Plan / Place Plan

Despite significant financial challenges we are committed to delivering our vision of a Council which
builds success and prosperity with our citizens and partners, while protecting our vulnerable people.
Our organisation continues to transform to better help us to deliver on our vision.

The Council has four key priorities to deliver our vision, which are set out in the Borough’s Place
Plan 2016 - 2021:

 People: We will safeguard and protect our vulnerable people and support people of all ages
to be healthier, confident and resilient, in control and successfully managing their lives. We
will enable communities to thrive and develop.

 Place: We will create safe, resilient, flourishing and high quality places where people
choose to live, work and invest.

 Prosperity: We will encourage business growth and enterprise; increase our skills levels
and create the conditions for the creation of good quality jobs.

 Performance: We will remain focused on managing our resources effectively to help us to achieve our 
ambitions

Each priority will be delivered within the context of the continuing plans for devolution, the Northern
Powerhouse, the Greater Manchester Strategy (Our People, Our Place), the GM Growth & Reform Plan, 
Taking Charge of our Health and Social Care in Greater Manchester, and the Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework.

Capital investment in Rochdale borough-wide assets, including Council and other public sector assets, is 
critical in delivering quality public services that enable people to access services, create a better place to 
live, and work and contribute to the borough’s growth and prosperity.

Townships Plan

The Townships Committees (currently Heywood, Middleton, Pennines and Rochdale) facilitate local
decision making in line with the Corporate Plan. Each Township has a capital budget set each year
as a single amount by Budget Council, which is then divided between the Townships on the basis of
population. The Townships have devolved powers in relation to capital investment including:

 Allocation of Township Capital Budget between schemes and services within the Township.
 Approval of the disposal of Council assets within the Township.

Page 124



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 7

All capital investment priorities at a Township level are set out in the Townships Plan in line with the
Council’s four key priorities and the Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy.

Medium Term Financial Strategy

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is a five year plan which sets out the Council’s
commitment to providing services that meet the needs of people locally and that represent good value
for money within the overall resources available to it.  With other key strategies and plans, it ensures
that the Council is best placed to achieve the objectives in the Borough Plan. The MTFS informs
the Council’s capital investment plans through the following objectives:

 To produce three-year capital programme which support the Council’s key priorities and
statutory duties, including working in partnership with others

 To ensure the Council maximises the generation of capital resources while considering the
key priorities for Rochdale Council to ensure these are all been directed towards wider
corporate benefits

 To be clear on investment outcomes, how they will be achieved and how they will be
measured

 To reduce the impact borrowing costs has on the ongoing revenue budget

Through the Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy, capital investment will be managed in line with
the Medium Term Financial Strategy, the Asset Strategy, the IT Strategy and the Fleet Strategy.

Asset Strategy

The Council’s Asset Strategy sets out the overall direction of travel for property management activity
and provides a clear framework of objectives to support decisions affecting the management of
assets. The overall goal of the Asset Strategy is that the Council should own fewer assets, costing less,that 
support Council Services more effectively and are used to increase prosperity for our communities.  

The Council’s Asset Strategy is further discussed in paragraph 4.3.1.

4.1.2 Pipeline process for capital projects

The strategies referred to above provide the context which drives the Council’s need for a comprehensive 
capital programme to support these key priorities and objectives.  
 
The Capital Programme is reviewed and updated on an annual basis, and is approved by Budget Council 
before 11th March each year.  The programme covers three financial years, and is the end result of a 
process that begins with the provisional programme considered at the previous Budget Council, as follows:

Page 125



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 8

Budget Setting Timeline
Activity Date
Review of Capital Programme approved at previous 
Budget Council – taking into account spend to date 
and previous rephasing of budget 

Mid July

Consideration of new schemes submitted via the 
capital bid process

End July

Consideration of the proposed Capital Programme 
by the Strategic Asset Management Group (SAM)

August

Member Review Session with Leader, Deputy 
Leader and Assistant Finance Portfolio Holder

August/September

Cabinet approval of the Capital Programme for 
consultation

September

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
scrutinisation of the recommendation of Cabinet

October

Townships provision of comments on the proposed 
Capital Programme

October/November

Cabinet review consultation comments and 
recommend a Capital Programme to Budget Council 
for approval 

February

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
scrutinise the recommendation of Cabinet

February

Budget Council approval of Capital Programme February/March

The capital bid process involves completion of a comprehensive application document covering the 
following:

 Full project overview including any alternatives considered and critical success factors
 Project Evaluation including how the proposed project links to Corporate priorities
 Project Expenditure – a full assessment of the capital costs of the project, plus identification of any 

resultant future revenue cost implications.  
 Project Financing detailing the proposed source of both the capital and any ongoing revenue funding
 Review – each capital bid is reviewed by the applicant, their project manager, budget holder and 

Service Director, before being signed off by Finance Service.  Approval must also be sought from the 
relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder before the bid can progress.

Capital schemes applying to the Capital Programme must have realistic timeframes that have been 
calculated in consideration of the relevant risks and dependencies.  This includes where funding approvals 
are still required from external bodies.  When a scheme is approved where the proposed spend is profiled 
across financial years, the scheme funding will be allocated across these financial years and will therefore 
be considered as a priority in future years. Rephasing of the Capital Programme after approval is 
considered and approved by Cabinet.  Any reduction in the funding of these schemes will only be 
considered where contracts have not been entered into.  

After approval of the Capital Programme project managers are responsible for delivering and reporting on 
the progress of their projects.  This includes the reporting of rephasing/accelerated progress of the project 
against the expenditure profile.  Monitoring of the Capital Programme is reported to Cabinet on a bi-monthly 
basis.  The outcomes from the Capital Programme will be utilised in the overall review which forms part of 
the budget setting process outlined above, so that experience of past projects can be utilised and learned 
from in setting future spend.

Page 126



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 9

The process described above represents the framework within which the Council’s long term investment 
plans are delivered to ensure that all capital investments are consistent with the Council’s priorities, 
consider associate risks, recognise financial constraints over the longer term and represent value for 
money.

4.1.3 Basis for estimating future costs

As part of the capital bid process, guidance is provided to support in the calculation of the whole life costs of 
the project, including any relevant taxation, professional fees or procurement costs.  The project costs are 
scrutinised by Finance Services who provide challenge to the proposals, including consideration of the 
following:

Is the scheme Capital 
or Revenue?

Are there any revenue 
costs which could be 
capitalised as part of 

this scheme?

Is this a statutory 
function?

Can this scheme be 
part / fully delivered 
by an outside body 
(e.g. Environment 

Agency)?

Is there any grant 
funding available, or 

contrbutions from 
external 

organisations?

Have all risks 
associated with the 

project been 
considered?

Are there any service 
improvements which 
would reduce future 

annual capital funding 
requirements?

AGMA – is joint 
collaboration/ 
procurement a 

possibility to reduce 
costs in this area?

What do other 
Greater Manchester 
authorities spending 
in this area?  How 

does RBC compare?

Have key deliverables 
been met in previous 

years on annual 
allocations?

Is there any 
implication to future 

grant funding / income 
if this scheme does 

not progress?

Is RBC already 
part/fully committed to 
this scheme?  Is RBC 

contractually 
committed?

What would be the 
impact of reducing the 

amount requested?  

Are there any Health 
and Safety issues to 

consider if the 
scheme doesn’t 

progress?

Have alternatives 
been considered?

Would this scheme 
permanently release 
Revenue savings?

4.2 Long Term Plans

4.2.1 Capital Forecast

The capital programme process outlined above culminates in the overall capital forecast, which is driven by 
the corporate priorities and objectives outlined above and is set out in the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Strategy.  The funding requirement of the capital forecast relating to prudential borrowing is further detailed 
in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy (see section 11).  The overall position can be summarised 
as follows:

Page 127



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 10

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22Directorate
£’000 £’000 £’000

Adult Care 2,440 2,440 2,440
Children’s Services 12,508 20,526 7,516
Corporate 5,000 0 0
Economy 39,970 18,714 7,970
Neighbourhoods 21,072 12,447 8,504
Public Health 0 676 0
Total Requirement 80,990 54,803 26,430
Funding
Prudential Borrowing 21,915 17,059 13,352
External Grant and 
contributions

16,915 24,933 11,923

Invest to Save 32,180 12,286 1,000
Revenue Contribution to 
Capital Outlay

6,680 525 155

Capital Receipts 3,300 0 0
Total funding 80,990 54,803 26,430

A full breakdown of the capital programme is shown at Appendix 1.

4.2.2 Use of Capitalisation Flexibilities

The capital programme as summarised above is funded from a range of sources, which includes receipts 
from the sale of assets (‘capital receipts’).

In December 2017, the Government announced the continuation of the capital receipts flexibility 
programme for a further three years, to give local authorities the continued freedom to use capital receipts 
from the sale of their own assets to help fund the revenue costs of transformation projects and release 
savings.

Local authorities are only able to use capital receipts from the sale of property, plant and equipment 
received in the years in which this flexibility is offered. They may not use their existing stock of capital 
receipts to finance the revenue costs of reform. 

The expenditure for which the flexibility can be applied should be the up-front costs that will generate future 
ongoing savings and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs or to improve the quality of service 
delivery in future years. The ongoing revenue costs of the new processes or arrangements cannot be 
classified as qualifying expenditure.

The Council has not utilised this flexibility to date, and uses its capital receipts to help fund the capital 
programme. The Council has created a Transformation Fund to provide the resources necessary to invest 
in any proposal where one off funding is required on an invest-to-save basis, to generate the savings or 
additional income.

4.3 Asset Management Planning

4.3.1 Overview of the Asset Management Plan

At the end of financial year 2017/18, the Council held tangible fixed assets valued in excess of £800m, 
broken down as follows:

Page 128



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 11

 

Asset Type Asset Category  31st March 2018
£m 

Property, Plant and Equipment                       763.8 
Heritage Assets                         18.3 
Investment Property                         41.2 

Current Assets Held for Sale                           2.6 
Total                       825.9 

Long Term

The borrowing costs associated with the Council’s asset base are detailed in the Treasury Management 
Strategy, and are budgeted at £17.8m in 2018/19. The direct costs of maintaining the asset base are 
estimated to be approximately £7.9m in 2018/19. 

Given the significant value of the Council’s assets, and the ongoing costs of acquiring and maintaining 
those assets, it is vital that they are managed efficiently and effectively.

Asset management can be defined as:

‘…the activity that seeks to align the asset base with the organisation’s corporate goals and objectives.  It 
ensures that the land and buildings asset base of an organisation is optimally structured in the best 
corporate interest of the organisation concerned.’ 1

The strategic management of the Council’s property asset base is governed by the Asset Strategy (2016-
2019), which was approved by Cabinet in 2016 and is reviewed on an annual basis.  

The core aims of the Asset Strategy are:

 To hold fewer but more efficient assets
 To facilitate improving Council and partner services
 To realise maximum value from the estate
 To support economic growth

The objectives of the Asset Strategy are:

 To improve front-line service delivery and to maintain a high profile presence within the community
 To contribute to the borough’s economic growth, and to its social and environmental well-being
 To develop a more efficient property portfolio, increasingly fit for purpose
 To realise asset values through capital receipts and maximising rental income
 To deliver revenue savings and to reduce property owner’s liability from a programme of asset 

rationalisation

To achieve these aims, the Asset Strategy plans a number of activities along the following themes:

1 Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors – Public Sector Asset Management Guidelines 2012.

Page 129



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 12

Theme Workstream Summary of Objectives
Governance To establish and maintain efficient governance methods and key policies 

and procedures to achieve the effective management of the Council’s 
assets

Building a Sustainable 
portfolio

To improve the condition, fitness for purpose and utilisation of each 
property asset

Asset Rationalisation To reduce the number of assets in order to reduce the costs and 
liabilities of property ownership

Portfolio 
Scrutiny

Effective Property Data To continue to improve the available data on each of the Council’s 
property assets in order to support effective decision making

Acquisitions, Investments 
and New Developments

To take advantage of opportunities to provide tangible benefits to the 
borough through investment in property

Assets for Growth and 
Prosperity

To deliver high quality buildings and public space
To achieve the building of more new homes (including those affordable 
to local people)
To encourage businesses to invest and thrive in the borough
To enhance the borough as a tourist destination
To manage income-generating assets to improve yields and financial 
return

Assets Supporting Council 
Services

To make the portfolio increasingly fit for the purposes of service delivery, 
including reducing the portfolio size and costs, using retained assets to 
deliver quality, efficient services

Assets Held for Sale To secure capital receipts, revenue savings and/or other community 
benefits from the disposal of Council land & property, generating 
resources to be reinvested, and creating a portfolio that is affordable and 
fit for purpose

Assets and the 
Environment

To improve the management and maintenance of the Council’s ‘green’ 
assets in order to maintain an acceptable standard of cleanliness and 
enhance the borough’s environment and health and wellbeing
To maintain a portfolio of assets that is suitable in terms of size, quality 
and accessibility to provide recreation opportunities for residents of the 
borough

Assets in the Community To provide land and buildings to facilitate the voluntary sector’s work in 
delivering services to their local community and/or complementing the 
Council’s core objectives

Workstreams

Assets Adding Value To increase income generation
To rationalise the portfolio to improve yields and financial return
To manage the portfolio to secure maintenance of an aesthetic 
environment and to protect asset values 

The Asset Strategy is owned by the Council’s Strategic Asset Management Group (SAM), who provide 
strategic advice and support to the capital programme to ensure that it meets the priorities for Rochdale 
Council and takes into consideration our partners’ priorities and objectives (e.g. the Greater Manchester 
Strategy; the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework).  The SAM will ensure that all funding is fully aligned 
with strategic partners, including the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA), Transport for 
Greater Manchester (TfGM) and others.  

The approved Asset Strategy also aims to identify any of the Council’s property assets which are suitable 
for disposal, i.e. those which do not align with the Council’s vision and investment priorities.  Those 
properties which are not ‘fit for purpose’ for service delivery and are costly to run and/or are under-utilised 
will be disposed of in line with the asset strategy.

Capital receipts from the disposal of assets can only be used to fund capital investment, subject to the 
capital receipts flexibility programme outlined in paragraph 4.2.2. As such capital receipts will be used to 
fund the capital programme reducing the requirement to borrow for capital investment.

Page 130



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 13

5. Investments and Liabilities

5.1 Approach, Due Diligence & Risk Appetite

5.1.1 Investment for Financial Return

The core ambitions of the Council’s Asset Strategy include improving the efficiency of assets, realising 
maximum value from the estate and supporting economic growth.  In recognition of this, and the continuing 
financial limitations due to reductions in public funding as detailed in the Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
the Council has implemented a commercial property investment strategy, designed to achieve rental 
income and revenue savings from acquiring an investment portfolio, whilst contributing to the Council’s 
overall regeneration aims for the borough.  The Council has approved funding via the capital programme in 
order to achieve these aims.  The investments made to date have all been within the borough of Rochdale, 
and as such have contributed to the aim of supporting economic growth within the local area.  The financial 
return generated has been utilised to support the provision of services for the residents of Rochdale, and it 
is planned that this will continue into future financial years. 

5.1.2 Dependence on Commercial Activity 

The Council’s current/planned investments in commercial 
property make a contribution to the overall resources that 
the Council has to provide its services to residents of the 
borough.  In 18/19 the proportion of resource derived from 
this activity represented less than 1% of the Council’s 
overall budgeted resource, and this proportion is not 
planned to increase significantly over the period covered by 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy. The extent to which 
the Council’s budget and council tax calculation is 
dependent on commercial activity is therefore considered to 
be low.

The Council is undertaking an exercise to better align the 
resources it receives to the activities it undertakes, to 
ensure that core/statutory functions are supported by 
resources with the highest level of stability.  This will further 
mitigate the risk presented by investment activities to the 
continuation of vital Council services.  It is expected that 
this exercise will be completed in the next financial year.

5.1.3 Policies and Procedures for Commercial Activity 

The Council’s commercial activity to date has centred around investment in property.  In March 2017 the 
Council approved a Property Growth Fund (‘the Fund’) to facilitate the acquisition of a property portfolio to 
achieve rental income and revenue saving, whilst contributing to the Council’s overall regeneration aims for 
the borough.  

The Fund currently consists of three elements:

Page 131



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 14

Fund Purpose
Property Investment Fund To acquire investment properties to provide a 

return on investment, to reinvest in the delivery of 
Council services, and support regeneration of the 
borough

Direct Development Fund To create property via direct development, 
maximising land value and potential, with a focus 
on underutilised brownfield sites in the borough, 
in order to generate rental/business rates income, 
create job opportunities and attract new 
occupiers/retain current occupiers within the 
borough

Asset Development Fund To enhance revenue income of existing assets 
through new lettings, refurbishments, acquisitions 
and disposals; to enhance the capital value of 
assets, and to invest in site assembly to improve 
the viability of development sites

The power to approve the acquisition of property rests with Cabinet. However, if the Council wishes to 
operate effectively in the property investment market it must be in a position to move quickly to take 
advantage of opportunities as they arise. This agility is essential in order to benefit from the best deals and 
also to persuade vendors and agents that the Council is both willing and able to move forward with 
proposals in which it has expressed an interest. To this end, Cabinet has approved the following delegation 
arrangements for the Property Growth Fund:

(1) The responsibility of administering the Fund, including the acquisition of property, has been 
delegated to a Cabinet Sub-Committee comprising:

• The Leader of the Council;
• The Portfolio Holders for Finance and Housing & Environment;

and requiring a quorum of at least two members of the group to conduct business, all of which is 
undertaken in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Employment Skills and Business and the Leader of 
the Opposition.

(2) Reports on potential acquisitions will be presented as required to the Cabinet Sub-Committee. The 
Sub-Committee will approve the programme of acquisitions and the budget for each project.

Cabinet has also set financial parameters for the performance of the Fund, in that a minimum net return on 
the total cost of investment of 1.5% must be achieved across the Fund as a whole. 

A Property Growth Fund working group, comprising of officers from a number of disciplines across the 
Council, including Property, Legal and Finance Services, has been set up to manage the day to day 
operations of the Fund, including opportunity appraisal and due diligence with regard to proposed 
investments.  The Council considers due diligence to be of paramount importance, and as such each 
proposed investment is subject to the following process:

i. Opportunity Scoring Matrix – a matrix is completed for the proposed acquisition, focussing on the 
following criteria:

Page 132



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 15

 Potential for rental and/or capital growth – property has the potential for both revenue and 
capital growth, which must be taken into account when assessing the strength of the opportunity; 
property values can rise and fall, as can the income generated from that property.  Rent review 
provisions in existing leases and potential future market rental values must be considered.

 Tenancy strength – in order to minimise risks around income stability, the quality of any 
existing tenant must be investigated, including gaining reports on creditworthiness and reviewing 
available financial information including statutory accounts.

 Tenure – the Council will consider whether the property is freehold or leasehold, and in the case 
of the latter, the length of the lease and/or the unexpired term, and the implications for future 
capital value and any ongoing revenue costs

 Occupier lease length – where a property is let to an existing tenant, the unexpired length of 
the lease term must be taken into account to assess the likelihood of future revenue streams 
being interrupted.  The Council will also consider any potential break options built into the 
existing lease, and the marketability of the property in terms of the ability to gain good quality 
tenants at acceptable rental levels.

 Ease/cost of management – terms of leases can vary, from those where the tenant is 
responsible for all the costs of repairing, insuring and maintaining the property, to those where 
such responsibilities lie fully with the landlord. Consideration will be taken of any existing terms 
and the resulting financial implications for the Council.

 Lot size – the scale of the opportunity and other factors such as location, infrastructure etc will 
impact on the value and future marketability of the asset.

The completed matrix provides a score for the opportunity, focussing on security and liquidity, and 
providing an initial indication of financial viability and value for money.

ii. SWOT Analysis – building on the information gained for the Opportunity Scoring Matrix, analysis is 
then completed in terms of the Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats in relation to the 
proposed investment.  In addition to the factors above, this analysis brings in wider considerations 
such as opportunities for regeneration, any economic factors pertaining to a particular sector, or 
potential political/reputational considerations for the Council, and is important in terms of initial 
identification of risk.

iii. Initial Financial Assessment – the steps above form the basis of a decision in terms of whether to 
proceed further with the investment.  In the case of a positive outcome further work will be carried 
out to formulate an initial financial assessment, including production of a discounted cash flow 
covering a maximum period of 50 years (this being the maximum borrowing term set by the Public 
Works Loan Board).   The income and expenditure predicted for the whole life of the asset is 
considered, including any potential financing costs and likely capital expenditure required.  This 
information is measured against the financial parameters of the Fund.  

iv. Due Diligence – positive outcomes in terms of the above processes will (given appropriate 
approvals from the Sub-Committee) result in a non-binding offer being made to the vendor.  The 
Council will then undertake a detailed due diligence process covering all relevant property/ 
financial/legal considerations.  Where applicable a report from the introducing external property 
agent will be requested, and the detailed information gained will be used to produce a 
comprehensive financial appraisal, taking into account a range of possible future scenarios, 

Page 133



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 16

sensitivity analysis, the likely average yield over the life of the asset and a Net Present Value 
calculation.   A second, independent report is usually commissioned from external property advisors 
to scrutinise the information from the introducing agent and provide challenge, in order to gain 
assurance around the overall position, particularly around the valuation of the investment and 
whether this represents value for money for the Council.

v. Report to Sub-Committee – should the outcome of the due diligence prove positive, a final report will 
be produced and presented to the Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee, providing the business 
case for the proposed investment (including all identified risks) and the results of the due diligence.  
Relevant officers will attend the Committee in order to provide further explanation and clarification 
as required.

vi. Scrutiny of Decisions – investment decisions of the Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee are 
available for scrutiny by the Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

5.1.5 Borrowing for Commercial Investment

The funding of commercial investments via borrowing presents additional risks for an authority due to the 
inherent risks involved in the exposure to market forces that such investment presents – i.e. the risk that the 
costs of borrowing will not be met through investment income.  The Council’s Borrowing Strategy is set out 
in the Treasury Management Strategy.  Borrowing decisions are made with respect to the Council’s overall 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), being the historic outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet 
been paid for from either revenue or capital resources.  The Council’s commercial property investments will 
ultimately contribute to an increase in the CFR, but the Council does not currently specifically borrow to 
fund these investments.  The management of the Council’s borrowing is the responsibility of the Treasury 
Management Team in accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy.

5.1.6 Liabilities – Identification and Approval

The robust appraisal, due diligence and decision-making process detailed in paragraph 5.1.3 above will 
serve to identify any risks and potential liabilities resulting from the Council’s non-treasury investment 
activities.  These may include loans, PFI contracts and financial guarantees, including those given in 
respect of subsidiaries or joint ventures.   Any such liabilities will be subject to the same approval processes 
as per paragraph 5.1.3 (including the approval of Members via the Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee), 
will be available for scrutiny via the relevant Scrutiny Committee, and will be monitored via the processes 
described in paragraph 5.2 below.

5.2 Governance Process for Approval and Monitoring

5.2.1 Investment Management & Reporting, and Ongoing Monitoring of Liabilities

The financial implications of the Council’s Property Growth Fund investments forms part of the Council’s 
budget monitoring processes, and is included as part of the Finance Update Report, which is reported to 
Cabinet on a bi-monthly basis and is reviewed by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee.    

In addition to this, ongoing performance monitoring is carried out specifically with respect to the Property 
Growth Fund and is reported to the Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee on a quarterly basis; these 
reports are available for scrutiny by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The monitoring 
reports include the financial performance of individual investments and also consider the cumulative 
performance of the Fund as a whole, both in terms of the current financial year and a 20 year forecast, 

Page 134



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 17

identifying potential future risks.    Any identified liabilities arising from the Council’s Property Growth Fund 
Investments will be incorporated into this monitoring as and when they arise.

5.3 Summary of Material Investments, Guarantees and Liabilities

5.3.1 Register of Investments 

The Council maintains a register of investment properties - being properties held for rental income or for 
capital appreciation - which are reported on as part of the annual statutory accounts.  The table below 
summarises the material, non-treasury property investments held by the Council in January 2019:

Non-Treasury Investment Property >£1m  Revaluation 
Value

£m 

56 Yorkshire St, Rochdale 4.5
Bingo Hall, Smith St, Rochdale 3.6
Point 62, Stakehill, Middleton 10.3
Southgate Industrial Estate, Heywood (est) 2.1
Land at Oldham Road, Rochdale (est) 14.1
Manchester Airport 9.1
Total 43.7

At the end of 2017/18 the fair value of the Council’s investment properties was £41.2m.  This includes 
acquisitions funded from the Property Growth Fund, plus the Council’s historic commercial & industrial 
estate.

The breakdown of the Property Growth Fund portfolio is currently as follows:

Retail
13%

Retail / 
Residential

39%

Industrial
37%

Leisure
11%

Property Growth Fund Investments by Sector

The Council does not currently have any identified liabilities or guarantees in respect of its non-treasury 
investment property activities.

Page 135



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 18

5.3.2 Fair Value Assessment 

It is important that the Council takes steps to monitor the continuing value of its investments, to confirm that 
the underlying assets provide security for those investments, or to enable the Council to take mitigating 
actions to protect the capital invested.  

A fair value assessment of all the Council’s assets (including its property investments) is undertaken 
annually as part of the completion of the statutory accounts.  

The results of the last fair value assessment completed can be found in the Annual Report and Accounts 
2017/18.  The Council is satisfied that its underlying assets provide security for the capital investment 
undertaken.    

6. Treasury Management

The Council produces a Treasury Management Strategy, which is approved on an annual basis by Full 
Council as part of the budget setting process.  There are close links between the Capital Investment & 
Disposal Strategy and the Treasury Management Strategy.  The capital programme determines the 
Council’s need to borrow, to ensure that it can meet its capital spending requirements.  A link to the 
Treasury Management Strategy can be found in section 11.

6.1 Governance

6.1.1 Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary

Limits on the Council’s ability to borrow to fund capital expenditure are defined in the Treasury Management 
Strategy and are summarised below.  

The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit for 2019/20 is £621.9m; this represents a control on our 
maximum level of borrowing, and is a legislative limit beyond which external borrowing is prohibited.

The Council’s Operational Boundary debt forecast for 2019/20 is £532.6m.  This represents a maximum 
limit on the anticipated level of external borrowing.

The Council monitors its performance against these key prudential indicators to ensure that all of its capital 
expenditure, investments and borrowing decisions are prudent and sustainable.

6.1.2 Local Indicators

The Treasury Management Strategy includes a number of indicators which allow assessment of the 
Council’s total risk exposure as a result of its investment decisions, including how investments are funded 
and the levels of return expected to be received.  Indicators specific to the Council’s non-financial 
investments are included at paragraph 6.3.3.

6.1.3 Decision-making and Risk Management

The Treasury Management Strategy sets out the framework within which treasury management decisions 
are made, how risks are managed, and what delegations are in place in order to carry out these functions.  
Borrowing decisions are carried out in line with this framework, and are driven by the Council’s Capital 
Financing Requirement, incorporating the approved capital programme, which includes planned commercial 

Page 136



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 19

property investments.   Opportunity appraisal processes described at paragraph 5.1.3 ensure financing 
costs are fully considered by Members as part of investment decision making.    

6.1.4 Scrutiny – The Council follows the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003 and supporting 
regulations in managing its Treasury Management activities.  The governance and scrutiny arrangements 
with regard to treasury management are set out within the annual Treasury Management Strategy.

6.2 Long Term Planning

6.2.1 Long-Term Projections

The Council’s proposed capital programme over the next three financial years is shown at paragraph 4.2.1.  
The Treasury Management Strategy contains details of the Council’s projected overall CFR and gross debt 
over the same period.  This brings together the historic position in terms of capital expenditure to date and 
projected future spend in terms of the capital programme, and shows how the Council will manage the 
overall debt supporting the expenditure. The CFR/Gross Debt position, including the Council’s liability 
benchmark, is explained in detail in the Treasury Management Strategy.

6.2.2 Repayment of Debt

The Treasury Management Strategy provides details of how the debt shown above is planned to be repaid, 
including the requirement for the Council to make a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) to charge our 
accumulated CFR to revenue over time, and to ensure for prudent repayment of debt on capital loans. 

6.3 Risk Appetite, Key Risks and Sensitivities

6.3.1 Risk Appetite

Although investment in commercial property will always carry some level of risk, the Council is mindful of its 
responsibilities in terms of the security, liquidity and yield of those investments as set out in the Prudential 
Code, and seeks to minimise its exposure to risks that are unwanted and incompatible with the level of 
returns generated.   The Council’s capital and treasury management activities are managed on an ongoing 
basis to ensure that there is sufficient liquidity in the short and medium term to meet costs and support the 
provision of services, as well as meeting long-term solvency and funding requirements.

6.3.2 Key Risks

The Council identifies risks on a case by case basis specific to each investment as part of its opportunity 
appraisal and due diligence processes, however the following risks are considered to be generic to all 
capital investments:

 Financial risks – related to the investment of the Council’s assets, the impact on cash flow, market 
volatility and associated risks 

 Macroeconomic risk – i.e. the growth or decline of the local economy, inflation, interest rates, and 
the impact of fluctuations in the national or global economy

 Credit and counterparty risk – being the risk that a counterparty to a contract will not honour its 
obligations to meet its payments (e.g. a property tenant not paying its rental obligations)

 Operational risk – related to operational failures within the authority, counterparties or partners in 
respect of internal processes, systems or people

Page 137



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 20

 Strategic risk – related to key initiatives undertaken by the Council e.g. significant investments, 
new ventures, commercial interests and other areas of organisational change deemed necessary to 
help the Council achieve its aims

 Reputational risk – that adverse outcomes from the Council’s investments, dealings and interests 
impact adversely on the Council’s reputation 

 Environmental and social risks – i.e. any potential environmental/social impact arising from the 
Council’s investments or strategy

 Governance risk – the risk that the Council’s governance processes are insufficient to ensure the 
desired outcomes of the Council’s strategy.

In addition to the above, specific operational risks that the Council could be exposed to as a result of its 
commercial property investments include:

 Risk of vacancies/voids – leading to a reduction in investment returns and an inability to meet any 
borrowing costs

 Reduction in capital value – leading to a potential loss on valuation
 Property market downturn/negative market trends – the cyclical nature of the property market 

may lead to reduced returns or e.g. a trend towards shorter leases and greater tenant turnover
 Lack of diversification – poor performance of a particular sector may have a disproportionate 

impact on the Council’s investment returns
 Poor liquidity – the impact on the Council’s cash flow from investing resources in long-term 

property assets.

Management of the above risks is an area of significant focus for the Council’s Officers and Members, and 
is an area that will continue to develop over the next financial year.

6.3.3 Quantitative Indicators

The Council has developed the following quantitative indicators to allow Members and/or the general public 
to assess the authority’s total risk exposure as a result of commercial property investment decisions.

The indicators associated with the Council’s Property Growth Fund commercial property investments are 
detailed below.

It should be noted (as stated in paragraph 5.1.5 above) that the Council does not currently borrow 
specifically for its investment property acquisitions, due to its significant underborrowing position.  For the 
purpose of the indicators below a notional borrowing position has been estimated, based on the PWLB 
interest rates published at the date of each investment.

(a) Debt to Net Service Expenditure Ratio

This indicator measures the gross debt associated with Property Growth Fund investments as a percentage 
of net service expenditure (NSE), where NSE is used as a proxy for the size and financial strength of a local 
authority.

Page 138



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 21

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Gross Debt 19,361 35,172 78,515 87,097 85,579
NSE 204,400 202,677 208,425 204,655 205,898
Debt to NSE Ratio 9.47% 17.35% 37.67% 42.56% 41.56% 120%

Limit

The indicator shows that the potential debt level resulting from the expected activities of the Property 
Growth Fund will be less than half of the Council’s annual net spend, if all the proposed investment activity 
is funded from borrowing.  Given the review of risk as part of the appraisal and decision making process, 
and the fact that any borrowing would be supported by an asset, this is considered to be reasonable.

A maximum limit of 120% has been set for this indicator.

(b) Commercial Income to Net Service Expenditure Ratio

This indicator measures the Council’s dependence on the net income from Property Growth Fund to enable 
it to deliver core services.

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Commercial Income 342 618 1,383 1,840 1,752
NSE 204,400 202,677 208,425 204,655 205,898
Commercial Income to 
NSE Ratio

0.17% 0.30% 0.66% 0.90% 0.85% 1.85%

Limit

The indicator shows that the net income generated from Property Growth Fund investments is expected to 
fund less than 1% of the Council’s net service expenditure in the next three years.  This position is 
considered to be reasonable.

A maximum limit of 1.85% has been set for this indicator, however this will be reviewed as part of the work 
the Council is undertaking on aligning income with its core activities, as discussed in paragraph 5.1.2 
above.

(c) Investment Cover Ratio 

This indicator shows the total net income from property investments, compared to the interest expense.

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Investment Cover Ratio 2.9 2.9 2.7 2.6 2.5

This indicator shows that the net income from property investments is expected to be between 2.5 and 2.9 
times higher than the expected interest expense.  The Council considers this to be an acceptable level of 
cover.

Page 139



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 22

(d) Loan to Value Ratio

This indicator measures the amount of debt attributable to the Council’s Property Growth Fund portfolio 
compared to the total asset value.

 

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Loan to Value Ratio 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.03 1.01

This outcome shows that the Council’s expected amount of debt attributable to its Property Growth Fund 
investments is expected to be marginally higher that the value of the assets it has invested in.  This is a 
normal outcome in the period immediately after the purchase of properties, due to the costs of making the 
investment (e.g. stamp duty, legal fees), which will be included in the amount borrowed but will not add to 
the property’s value.  The gradual decrease in the loan to value ratio reflects that property values are 
expected to remain constant, but borrowing will be repaid.  This is considered to be a reasonable position.

(e) Target Income Returns

This indicator shows net revenue income compared to equity, and is a measure of the achievement of the 
Property Growth Fund portfolio.  The net return is shown after taking account of expected borrowing costs.

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Target Income Returns 1.75% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50%

This shows that the Council exceeded the target return in 2017/18. 

(f) Benchmarking of Returns

This indicator is a measure of the gross returns (i.e. before operating or financing costs) from the Property 
Growth Fund portfolio against benchmark returns.  The current Strategy shows the Council’s return 
benchmarked against industry standards.  As the Strategy develops this indicator will include performance 
against the returns of other Councils.  

Actual Benchmark
2017/18

%
Property 

Yields
March 18

%
Retail 8.58% 4.00%
Leisure 8.70% 7.00%
Industrial 6.22% 5.00%

Sector

This indicator shows that the Council’s property investments have outperformed both the industry 
benchmark in all sectors.  The Council also holds treasury-related investments, which are managed under 
the principles of the Treasury Management Strategy, with a focus on security, liquidity and yield (in that 

Page 140



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 23

order) with the primary objective of safeguarding Council resources.  The return achieved on treasury 
investments (0.42% in 2017/18), is indicative of the different aims of the two strategies.

(g) Gross and Net Income

This indicator shows the income received from the investment portfolio at a gross level and net level (i.e. 
less costs) over time.  

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Gross Income 867 1,849 4,155 5,948 6,093
Net Income 342 618 1,383 1,840 1,752

The Council sets a net income target based on 1.5% of its investment cost, and this is built into the budget 
on an ongoing basis, meaning this saving will need to be achieved if current service delivery levels are to 
be maintained by the Council.

(h) Operating Costs

This indicator shows the trend in the operating costs of the Property Growth Fund portfolio over time, as the 
portfolio expands.

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Operating Costs 32 33 144 279 304

The expected operating costs are currently low compared to the anticipated level of investment – this is 
because the majority of the Council’s property investments are currently subject to Full Repairing and 
Insuring (FRI) leases, meaning the costs of maintaining and repairing the properties are largely with the 
tenants.

(i) Vacancy Levels and Tenant Exposures
 
This indicator monitors the vacancy levels (voids) of the Property Growth Fund portfolio to ensure that 
investments are being managed and are as productive as possible.

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2017/18

£'000
2018/19 

£'000
2019/20 

£'000
2020/21 

£'000
2021/22

£'000
Void periods 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

The Council did not experience any voids in its investment properties in 2017/18 and is not expecting any 
void periods in the financial years detailed.  This reflects the quality of covenant strength expected by the 
Council in making a property acquisition.  

Page 141



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 24

7. Skills and Knowledge

7.1 Internal Resources

7.1.1 Skills and Knowledge within the Authority

Financial aspects of the capital programme and treasury management activities are managed by the 
Council’s Finance Service, including professionally qualified accountants with a comprehensive and 
extensive mix of local authority and private sector experience.  The Council’s Section 151 Officer has 
overall responsibility for capital programme and treasury management activities, and is also a professionally 
qualified accountant.

All the Council’s commercial/investment projects are managed by a working group of officers from across 
the Council, including property management, legal professionals and finance support, who are all 
appropriately experienced and qualified in their respective fields. Finance/Legal Services input into this 
working group ensures that investment activities adhere to the core principles of the prudential framework 
and the regulatory regime within which the Council operates. 

7.1.2 Training for Staff and Councillors

Professionally qualified officers follow a Continuous Professional Development (CPD) plan to keep their 
skills and knowledge up to date, and gain understanding of new developments.  Officers regularly attend 
training courses, seminars and conferences provided by CIPFA and other appropriate organisations.  
Training of all Council officers is assessed throughout the year via appraisal processes.  Members 
undertake financial awareness training as part of their induction; Members of the Property Growth Fund 
Sub-Committee are fully briefed on the detail of the investment proposals presented to them including 
business cases/ financial appraisals, and are fully supported by officers throughout the decision-making 
process.  A training package specifically for Members in respect of capital investments is currently under 
development.

7.2 Use of External Advisors

Where in-house expertise is unavailable, external professional advice is utilised, ranging from commercial 
property consultants and legal experts to specific taxation advice.  Independent external advice is routinely 
sought as part of the due diligence required for investment appraisal processes.

8. Process for Monitoring Compliance and Effectiveness 
of the Strategy Document (Mandatory)

Weekly meetings – Property Growth Fund Working Group
Bi-monthly meetings – Property Growth Fund Steering Group
Quarterly Property Growth Fund Performance Reports – Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee
Internal and External Audit checks

9. Strategy Governance (Mandatory)

Consisting of:
 Identify who within Rochdale Borough Council is accountable, responsible, informed or 

consulted with regards to this strategy. The following definitions apply:

Page 142



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 25

Responsible the person(s) responsible for developing and implementing the strategy.
Accountable the person who has ultimate accountability and authority for the strategy.
Ownership the person(s) or group who has overall ownership of the strategy.
Consulted the person(s) or groups to be consulted prior to final strategy implementation or amendment.
Informed the person(s) or groups to be informed after strategy implementation or amendment. 

Responsible Chief Finance Officer

Accountable Chief Finance Officer

Ownership Head of Commercial, Economy & Resources Finance

Consulted Leadership Team

Informed Property Growth Fund Sub-Committee

10. Strategy Review Date

This Strategy will be reviewed in January 2020

11. Supporting Documents

 Corporate Plan:
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-
reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/corporate-plan.aspx 

 Place Plan for the Borough: 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-
reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/place-plan.aspx 

 Townships Plan:
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-
reviews/strategies/place-and-environment/Pages/townships-plan.aspx 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy:
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-
reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/medium-term-financial-strategy.aspx 

 Asset Strategy:
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-
reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/asset-strategy.aspx 

 Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18:
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/budgets-and-spending/annual-
accounts/Pages/default.aspx 

Page 143

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/corporate-plan.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/corporate-plan.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/place-plan.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/place-plan.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/place-and-environment/Pages/townships-plan.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/place-and-environment/Pages/townships-plan.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/medium-term-financial-strategy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/medium-term-financial-strategy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/asset-strategy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/asset-strategy.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/budgets-and-spending/annual-accounts/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/budgets-and-spending/annual-accounts/Pages/default.aspx


Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 26

12. Appendix 1

Page 144



Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy
2019 to 2022

rochdale.gov.uk 27

 

Rochdale Borough Council

Number One Riverside

Smith Street

Rochdale OL16 1YH

  rochdale.gov.uk

  01706 647474

  council@rochdale.gov.uk
Page 145



Medium Term Financial 
Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

Page 146



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 1

Document Control
Document Title:

Summary

Publication Date February 2019

Related Legislation / Applicable 
Section of Legislation

Related Policies, Strategies, 
Guideline Documents

Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy, Treasury Management , 
Asset Strategy, Corporate Plan, Place Plan

Replaces September 2018 MTFS

Joint Strategy (Yes/No) No

Name of Partner(s) if joint

Strategy Owner (Name/Position) Victoria Bradshaw, Chief Finance Officer 

Strategy Author (Name/Position) Chris Mills, Senior Corporate Accountant

Applies to

Review of Strategy

Last Review Date February 2019 

Review undertaken by Chris Mills

Next Review Date September 2019

Document Approvals
This document requires the following approvals.

Name Title Date of Issue Version Number

Page 147



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 2

Introduction

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is a five year plan which sets out the Council’s 
commitment to provide services that meet the needs of people locally and that represent good 
value for money within the overall resources available to it. 

The MTFS is what links our Council’s vision and priorities with forecasted resources and 
budgets and shows how our Council’s finances will be structured and managed to ensure that 
this fits with, and supports, the priorities of our Council and its partners. 

The strategy considers: 
 international and national economic influences on our Council 
 the influence of Central Government policy and strategy 
 local factors which influence policy within our Council include the commitment to  regenerate 

the borough and create jobs 
 key Council policy areas 

The strategy brings together the key issues affecting the:
 Revenue Budget
 Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy and Capital Programme, and 
 Treasury Management Strategy. 

A key part of the strategy is to highlight the budget issues that will need to be addressed by our 
Council over the coming financial years, by forecasting the level of available resources from all 
sources and budget pressures relating to both capital and revenue spending. 

Page 148



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 3

CONTENTS

Part 1: Executive Summary - The Financial Challenge for our Council

Page No.
1. Key objectives of the Medium Term Financial Strategy
2. Financial savings generated by our Council since 2010/11
3. Changes to the Council’s Spending Power since 2010
4. Changes to Central Government funding since 2013/14
5. Our demographics
6. Forecast gap between resources and spend 2019/20 to 

2023/24
7. Principles of Rochdale’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 

5
7
8

10
11
14

16

Part 2: The Factors Influencing the MTFS

1. Overall Economic Forecasts &  Influences
2. Regional Influences
3. Resources
4. Budget Pressures and increased costs
5. Budget Position for 2019/20 and 2020/21

18
20
21
39
40

Part 3: How will the Council meet the Financial Challenge

1. Revenue Budget Plan
2. Savings Programme
3. Balances, Reserves and Provisions Strategy

48
51
52

Part 4: Financial Assurance 55

Part 5: Efficiency Plan 58

Part 6: Strategies which the MTFS Supports

1.  Borough’s Place Plan 
2.  Corporate Plan 
3.  Locality Plan

60
61
62

Part 7: Value for Money and Assurance around Financial Management 63

Page 149



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 4

Part 8: Asset Management Strategy 69

Part 9: Treasury Management Strategy 70

Part 10: Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy 74

Part 11: Linked Strategies      75

Part 12: Conclusion 79

Page 150



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 5

Part 1: Executive Summary – The Finance Challenge for Our Council

1. Rochdale is the birthplace of co-operation, and the Council is committed to retaining this 
distinction by working with partners, local people and communities to improve the lives of local 
people. Our vision is to be a Council which builds success and prosperity with our citizens and 
partners, while protecting vulnerable people.

2. Each year there is a legal requirement to prepare an annual budget and set the Council Tax for 
the borough of Rochdale. Alongside the annual budget our Council reviews the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) to take into account the latest financial forecasts for future levels of 
resources for the next 5 years and aligns these to service plans. The strategy sets the financial 
context for how the Council’s resources are received and allocated through the budget setting 
over a rolling five year timeframe, for this Strategy that is from 2019/20 to 2023/24. 

3. The MTFS is aligned to the Borough’s Place Plan and the Council’s Corporate Plan to ensure 
that our resources are directed to delivering the vision and priorities for the Borough. The key 
Corporate Plan priorities which the MTFS supports are shown below

Our vision : to be a  Council which builds 
success and prosperity with our citizens and 
partners, while protecting vulnerable people

Three key drivers of the Corporate Plan over the next 3 years:
                            People       -    Improving education
                            Place         -    Our local environment
                            Prosperity  -    Our local economy

Improving performance is our fourth priority – Focusing on managing our 
resources effectively to achieve our ambitions – supported by the MTFS

4. Key objectives of the Medium Term Financial Strategy

The key objectives of the MTFS are as follows:

 To ensure that effective financial planning and management contributes to the Council 
achieving the priorities in the Corporate Plan;

 To direct resources to the Council's priorities to support the achievement of the Corporate 
Plan;

 To maximise the income from Council Tax and Business Rates revenue to support the 
priorities of the council;

 To maximise income from commercial and regeneration opportunities adding value to the 
economy, with the long-term aim of making the Council self-financing.

 To analyse budget performance to assess the effectiveness of resource allocation.
 To continue to improve value for money - managing people and our money more efficiently, 

streamlining processes and systems, getting better value from commissioning and 
procurement, whilst seeking to minimise the impact of budget savings on priority services. 

Page 151



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 6

 To ensure the Council's financial standing is prudent, robust, stable and sustainable.

5. Local authorities have faced unprecedented reductions in Government funding since the 
Government Spending Review 2010, coupled with rising costs and increased demand for 
services by local residents has meant that our Council has had to make significant budget 
savings. The Council is now working with partners to transform services to enable efficiencies 
and value for money to be achieved by reducing duplication through the integration of 
services, such as health and social care. The Council is also seeking to maximise income from 
commercial and regeneration opportunities adding value to the economy, with the long-term 
aim of making the Council self-financing. 

6. Integration of Health & Social Care

Greater Manchester is moving towards taking full control and responsibility of the £6bn Health 
& Social Care Budget with the creation of its own sustainable Health & Social Care system by 
2021. The Council and local health partners have developed a Locality Plan to support the 
regional delivery of the integration of health and social care, public health and prevention. 
Integration is key to protecting social care and providing services to people in the Community. 
Without investment in social care the financial pressure within health will not be sustainable 
and may lead to a full system failure. It is felt that the pooling of resources across the locality 
will provide more opportunities to explore value for money, economies of scale, reduce 
duplication and streamline processes. 

The Local Authority created a formal pooled budget arrangement from 1st April 2018 for health 
and social care. The MTFS reports on the total budget which includes the Pooled fund this 
includes the Adult Social Care; Public Health; and elements of Children’s Services Strategic 
Commissioning Budgets. General Council Services relate to services not within the Pooled 
Fund including Economy, Neighbourhoods, Resources and Wellbeing.
 
The 2019/20 to 2020/21 savings proposals include a number of savings proposals which are to 
be delivered through the efficiencies of integration. There is a risk that delivery of the planned 
benefits may not arise within the timescale forecasts which could provide a risk to the 
Council’s budget.

7. Financial savings generated by our Council since 2010/11

Over the last ten years our Council has approved £180.1m of ongoing savings to bridge the gap 
between falling resources, rising costs and increasing local demands. This has led to 
transformations and changes within our Council as we look to meet the changing needs of local 
residents within the funds we have available. Table 1 illustrates the savings agreed between 
2010/11 to 2018/19 based on the year they were approved.

Page 152



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 7

Table 1 – Our Council’s Revenue Savings approved 2010/11 to 2019/20

8. The continuing need to make budget savings since 2010 is an increasingly difficult financial 
challenge for our Council. 

9. Changes to the Council’s Spending Power since 2010

Changes in local government funding streams have obscured the true reduction in the funding 
available to councils since 2010. However, using the Government’s own measure of “Core 
Spending Power”1 it can be seen that local government has undergone a sustained and 
significant reduction in total funding. Furthermore the cuts have not been borne evenly across 
the country, with some authorities bearing a much higher burden of cuts than the national 
average.

Table 2 illustrates the cuts in Core Spending Power 2010-11 to 2019-20. 

1 Core Spending Power is the measure used by the Government to demonstrate the maximum funding deemed available to Councils to deliver services 
from Central Government support and locally raised taxes, business rates and council tax.

Page 153



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 8

Table 2 - Cuts in Core Spending Power 2010-11 to 2019-20

Table 3 compares the cumulative percentage cut in Core Spending Power since 2010/11, 
showing that Rochdale’s reduction of 26% is above the reduction in overall funding for England 
of 16%.

Page 154



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 9

Table 3 Core Spending Power – Cumulative percentage cut since 2010/11

10. Changes to Central Government Funding since 2013/142

Core spending power identifies the central government resources allocated to a Local Authority 
plus the local sources of revenue from council tax and business rates that Central Government 
forecast could be raised locally. The Council’s core spending power has reduced mainly due to 
the reduction in central government resources in particularly Revenue Support Grant.

Funding has fallen by 79% in seven years from £80.6m in 2013/14 to £16.9m in 2019/20, a 
reduction of £63.7m, as highlighted at Table 4. Our Medium Term Financial Strategy forecasts 
that this will reduce steadily to nil by 2020/21 as part of the Central Government move to 
allowing local authorities to retain business rates to fund local services and Central 
Government’s pledge to reduce levels of public sector deficit by the end of the Parliament. 

The Queen’s Speech 2017 did not include the changes expected to bring forward legislation to 
move to 100% business rates retention. In the Local Government Finance Settlement 2018/19 
the Government announced that from 2020/21 it is proposed that councils will retain 75% of 
their business rates income, incorporating Revenue Support Grant, Public Health Grant and 
other grants, with suitable transitional arrangements. 

2 Revenue support grant allocations changed significantly from 2013/14, with the introducing of council tax benefits and revised needs formulas. 
Comparisons prior to 2013/14 do not provide a comparable basis.

Page 155



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 10

Rochdale is part of the Greater Manchester 100% business rates retention pilot and there is no 
information on the consequences of this change for pilot authorities. The MFTS reflects 100% 
retention of business rates until further details are provided.

Table 4 shows the reduction in Central Government funding our Council receives, which is 
known as Revenue Support Grant.

Table 4 – Reduction in Revenue Support Grant 2013/14 to 2019/20

11. Resources allocated from Central Government to Rochdale Council and those generated locally 
from council tax and business rates each year will not be enough to meet the current spending 
requirement to deliver local services in the way they are now. Our need is greater than the 
resources that we can generate which is due to a combination of :

 The reduced levels of Central Government funding. 
 The inability to raise funds locally above the level set by Central Government for Council 

Tax above the referendum limits, which are currently 3% for general services (including 
an additional 1% flexibility announced in 2019/20 Local Government Finance Settlement) 
and 6% over three years (2017/18 to 2019/20) for Adult Social Care. 

 The inability to raise additional business rates above the increases set by Central 
Government.

 Rising costs and increases in demand from the changing needs of our Borough and its 
residents. 

12. Our Demographics

Some of the main financial challenges affecting how we balance our budget relate to the 
changing profile of our Council’s residents. These include:

Page 156



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 11

a. Population Projections impacting on Children’s Services

1. Projected population increase for 0-19 year olds from 2018 to 2023 based on the Office 
for National Statistics.

Children Population 2018 2023 % Movement
0 to 9 year old 30,200 29,400 -2.6%
10 to 19 years old 26,600 28,900 8.6%
Total 56,800 58,300 2.5%

Within this the population for 0-9 year olds decreases by 2.5% whilst the 10-19 range 
increases by 8.6%.

2. Implications for Children’s Social Care

Currently Rochdale has 56,800 children of which 1% are looked after by the Local 
Authority. Based on future population growth this would equate to an additional 13 
children being cared for by the Local Authority at the end of the 5 year period. 

However, in line with a national trend, the numbers of Cared for Children and their 
complexities are increasing due to deprivation, troubled families, special education needs 
and families entering the borough e.g. asylum seekers.  The Service are currently 
projecting a budget pressure of around £5.5m, mainly on children’s placements.  Work is 
ongoing to develop a Financial Strategy outlining the potential financial position and 
options for how this can be managed over a 5 year period.  This includes investment in 
both staffing and a number of Innovations to support children remaining with their parents 
or local Foster Carers.

At the heart of the strategy is the development of a number of innovations to both reduce 
the number of children in care and realise savings.  These are:

 Family Services Model – partnership working with other agencies (police, health 
and the voluntary sector) to work more closely together for early intervention of 
children at risk of entering care.  This strategy relies upon external funding from 
other agencies and the Troubled Families Grant.  

 Achieving Change Together – working differently with other agencies to provide 
intensive support to vulnerable teenagers. 

 Strengthening families – intensive pre-birth support with mothers of repeat 
pregnancies whose children are taken into care.

 No Wrong Door – intensive support to teenagers in Placements with complex 
issues to enable them to return to their parents.

 
Should the delivery of these innovations not be successful the budget pressure faced by 
Children’s Services could increase significantly.

Page 157



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 12

3. Implications for Early Help & Schools

As the number of pupils increases over the next 3-4 years there is a requirement to build 
2 new secondary schools in the Borough.  In addition, due to increasing numbers of 
children with special educational needs, especially autism, there is a need for a new 
special school catering for this provision.  A bid has been submitted to the DfE for 
additional funding for 2 new secondary and 1 new special school.  The revenue costs of 
running the schools will be funded by Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).

The increasing numbers of children with special educational needs has led to pressures 
in DSG funding for High Needs pupils.  Work is on-going to mitigate these future 
pressures.

b. Population Projections impacting on Adult Services

Projected population increase for 20 plus from 2018 to 2023 based on the Office for 
National Statistics is as follows:-

The number of people in the 20-64 age range is forecast to reduce in the period above, 
however there is a growing number of service users in the 20 to 64 age bracket who are 
presenting with complex social and health care issues. 

Short and Long Term Service Projections

The forecast number of service users for 2018/19 up to 2020/21 is detailed as follows:

Adult Population 2018 2023 % 
Movement

20 to 64 year old 125,100 124,500 -0.7%
65 to 84 years old 31,700 34,500 8.8%
Over 85 4,400 4,700 6.8%
Total 161,200 163,700 1.55%

Page 158



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 13

 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

No. No. No. £000’s
Physical Support 18 - 64 632 650 670 722
Learning Disability Support 18 - 64 653 655 668 630
Mental Health Support 18 - 64 195 200 205 190
Physical Support 65+ 3,066 3,127 3,189 2,337
Learning Disability Support 65+ 78 79 80 38
Mental Health Support  65+ 136 136 136 0
Total 4,760 4,847 4,948 3,917

Number of Adult Service Users Cost of 
Increased 

Service Users 
by average 
placement

 The total growth requirement over the next 2 financial years is £3.9m for Adults with 
Physical and Mental Disabilities. . The Local Authority has entered into a pooled fund 
with the Clinical Commissioning Group and have been successful in receiving 
transformation funding from Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership 
(more detail is provided in section 2.2.2 page 22. The expectation is that the 
development of Integrated Services will help reduce the average cost of placements, 
reduce duplication and increase preventative work. 

The service is reviewing delivery models over and above the transformation programme, 
the focus being expensive and out of borough placements. The overall aim of the service 
over the next 5 years is to reduce the cost of expensive placements and bring service 
users back into the borough. This will be the focus along with alternative delivery models 
which will be led by the Integrated Commissioning Board responsible for Strategic 
Commissioning for Adults. 

The service work closely with the provider market and there are anticipated future labour 
market issues around the filling of caring roles in both residential and community care 
settings. 

Assistive technology is being rolled out and is planned to reduce the demand on 
traditional models of care. 

The service will continue to work closely with the provider market to manage workforce 
issues going forward, including the impact of increases to the national living wage, the 
potential impact of the current legal challenge around sleep-in payments and the 
changes to holiday pay.

c. Demand for Services

The Council’s Place Plan highlights that residents are living longer but compared to the 
rest of England and Wales we live shorter and less healthy lives. In some parts of our 

Page 159



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 14

borough there is a 10 year3 difference in life expectancy when comparing our most 
deprived areas to our more affluent. A key pressure on services is the increasing 
demands for adult social care and health services for the most vulnerable and deprived 
residents. Improvements in delivery of these services are a priority for the integration of 
social care and health services through the Pooled Fund. It is, however, unclear whether 
resources allocated to our Council will be sufficient to cover additional burdens and 
pressures in future years.

d. Welfare Reform

The Welfare Reform agenda is likely to continue to place additional demands on our 
Council’s services as well as impacting on local authority finances. Deprivation is 
becoming more widespread across our borough with an increased proportion of the 
population living in the most deprived 10% of the country4. This increasing level of 
deprivation affects delivery for a number of services, including housing, benefits, adult 
skills, children’s and adult social care. The Discretionary Crisis Fund budget provides 
funding to support residents in crisis.

13. Forecast gap between resources and service spend

The MTFS forecasts that over the next five years from 2019/20 to 2023/24 there will be a 
shortfall between the resources we can raise from local taxes and government funding 
(resources available)  compared to the amount we need to spend on local services (budget 
requirement). 

The estimated impact is shown in Table 5 and recognises increasing costs for national living 
wage and service pressures for local need. 

It must be noted that the Government is proposing significant changes to the way in which 
resources are allocated to local government from 2020/21. 2019/20 is the last year of the 
current Government Spending Review period and of the four-year funding settlement for local 
government. There are multiple reforms scheduled for 2020/21 that will have a significant 
impact on local authority funding. The MTFS is based on current assumptions and will be 
reviewed and updated as more information is released by the Government regarding the 
reforms to local government funding. 

In the Local Government Finance Settlement 2018/19 the Government announced that from 
2020/21 it is proposed that councils will retain 75% of their business rates income, incorporating 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG), Public Health Grant and other grants, with suitable transitional 
arrangements. The Council has been part of the Greater Manchester pilot for the 100% 
retention of business rates in 2017/18 and 2018/19, and it has been agreed with the 
Government that this will continue in 2019/20. 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy has assumed that the level of reduction in RSG 
experienced during the current spending review period will continue in future years. This is built 
into the assumptions around the future level of Business Rates Top-up grant. The Medium Term 

3 Place Plan (for the Borough) 2016-21
4 Place Plan (for the Borough) 2016-21

Page 160



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 15

Financial Strategy has assumed that there will be no further detriment in funding, other than the 
projected reduction in RSG, as a result of the move to 75% business rates retention until further 
information is made available.

Over the five years the gap in resources and budget rises from a balanced position in 2019/20 to 
£29.4m in 2023/24, as shown at Table 5. This forecast gap will need to be addressed by the 
Council as part of balancing the budget each year. 

Table 5 – Forecast gap in resources allocated compared to projected spend on current 
service delivery  

14. In order to strengthen our financial position and to move to a more self-financing position our 
Council will have to consider other ways to:
 maximise economic growth to bring in more business rate income;
 consider how the strategies around house building can support an increase in  council tax 

income and New Homes Bonus;
 consider investments to increase income through commercialisation and regeneration 

projects;
 explore alternative ways to deliver services which support priorities within the context of 

smaller budgets;

Page 161



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 16

 explore opportunities working with partners and working with other local authorities to deliver 
efficiencies in the way we deliver services including harnessing the potential of the 
Devolution agenda.

The  Council’s Corporate Plan recognises the significant financial challenges and sets out how 
this will be addressed by six key corporate enabling work programmes.

Our Council will ensure that it supports priority services in line with the Corporate and Place 
Plans. 

15. Principles of Rochdale’s Medium Term Financial Strategy

The principles which provide the basis for our Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2019/20 to 
2023/24 include the following:

a. To ensure that our Council’s resources are directed to achieving the priorities in the 
Borough’s Place Plan delivered by the Council through the Corporate Plan for 2016 to 
2019.

b. Medium Term Financial Strategy includes as a central theme the incorporation of the 
remaining year of the four year funding allocation, provided by Central Government as part 
of the 2015 Autumn Statement. This provides greater assurance as to the level of savings 
required to balance the budget over the coming years. The provisional Local Government 
Finance Settlement 2019/20, published on 13th December 2018, confirmed the funding for 
2019/20, the final year of the multi-year settlement.

c. An assumption that Central Government funding will reduce in line with the funding 
allocations published in the Local Government Finance Settlement 2019/20 and that by 
2020/21 our Council will therefore generate the majority of its resources from local taxation 
and income.

d. A move to self-sufficiency, as part of Central Government’s vision for local authorities to 
move away from central government grant resources to funding local services from income 
generated locally.

e. Collecting as much council tax, business rates and other monies rightfully owed to us as 
we can to ensure that we have the resources we need to deliver service priorities.

f. Our Council will continue to improve value for money - managing people and our money 
more efficiently, streamlining processes and systems, getting better value from 
commissioning and procurement, whilst seeking to minimise the impact of budget savings 
on priority services. 

g. Opportunities for working in collaboration and partnership and working differently will be 
identified and developed where this supports the priorities in the Place Plan and Corporate 
Plan and improves service delivery. This may include the development of trading 
opportunities, different service delivery models, outsourcing and securing external funding.

Page 162

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/corporate-plan.aspx


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 17

h. Our Council will maintain general balances at a level to mitigate risks, the level of general 
balances will be reviewed annually as part of setting the revenue budget and council tax in 
February /March. It will also maintain earmarked reserves for specific purposes which are 
consistent with achieving its key priorities. The use and level of earmarked reserves will be 
reviewed at least annually.

i. Our Council will seek in the first instance to balance its revenue budget over the period of 
the MTFS without reliance on the use of general balances and contain overall Council 
spending within original estimates. However, the Council will utilise funds from the 
Equalisation Reserve to smooth the impact of the savings requirement throughout this 
period.

j. The Financial Strategy includes assumptions for cost pressures based on the Autumn 
Budget 2018, The Local Government Finance Settlement 2019/20, known national 
agreements and local demographic and cost pressures. How we set our assumptions is 
detailed at 3.1.

k. During the period of this MTFS consideration will be explored for the use of borrowing to 
support capital investment to deliver on the Place and Corporate Plan outcomes. The 
Financial Strategy will ensure that the full costs of borrowing are taken into account when 
investment decisions are taken.

l. Our Council will aim to develop our economy and promote our Borough leading to 
wellbeing and prosperity for residents, businesses and communities. This will be supported 
by a planned approach to strategic investment managed through our Council’s capital 
programme.

16. In summary the forecast budget position for the Council shows an ongoing challenge, where our 
financial resources are currently not enough to meet the budget requirement to deliver our 
current service provision. The period covered by this financial strategy will continue to present 
our Council with some of the most significant operational and financial challenges ever 
experienced by those leading and managing the delivery of local services.  Managing our money 
well is now more important than it has ever been.

17. In part 2 and 3 of the Medium Term Financial Strategy the forecasts for resources and budget 
pressures over the next five years are outlined in depth, taking into account national, regional 
and local issues which have been reflected in the MTFS. Ways to bridge the budget gap, risks 
and linked strategies are explored which are key components of the MTFS for our Council.  

Page 163



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 18

Part 2: The Factors Influencing the Medium Term Financial Strategy

1. Financial Strategy

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is designed to ensure that the Council’s 
resources are prioritised to meet the needs of our residents; the Council is able to operate as a 
going concern and is able to set a balanced budget each year. The MTFS ensures that:

 The Council maintains a prudent approach in regard to our finances over 5 years of the 
MTFS;

 The savings programme focuses on the achievement of ongoing savings, but recognises 
the value of one off savings to support both the implementation of savings and one off 
investment.

In compiling the MTFS our Council has considered a number of factors which influence the 
resources and expenditure for the Council. These have been reviewed and take into 
consideration international, national, regional and local issues. These have been examined to 
ensure that the MTFS reflects the most up to date financial position for the Council.

2. Factors Influencing the Medium Term Financial Strategy   

Local authority funding is subject to both national and international influences, which can have 
a significant impact on the level of services to be provided and our Council’s ability to provide 
them. A strong economy with growth increases revenues which supports the Government’s 
ability to reduce public sector debt as the gap between finances raised and spend on public 
services is reduced. This section will briefly outline some of the key national and global issues 
affecting our Council’s forecasts over the next few years.

2.1 Overall Economic Forecasts and Influences

The Autumn Budget was presented to Parliament by the Chancellor on 29th October 2018. The 
statement provided an update on the economic and fiscal position based on the latest Office 
for Budget Responsibility (OBR) forecasts.

2.1.1 Key Economic Data

Gross Domestic Product (GDP) – the OBR estimate of the percentage change in gross 
domestic product is less favourable than the forecast in the medium term from the Spring 
Statement.

Percentage change 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Spring Update 2018 1.5% 1.3% 1.3% 1.4% 1.5%
Autumn Budget 2018 1.4% 1.6% 1.4% 1.5% 1.5%

Page 164



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 19

Estimates of GDP underpin policy on Departmental Spending, including that on local 
government.

Inflation – forecasts of Consumer Prices Inflation (CPI) show an increase since the previous 
forecast.

Percentage change 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Spring Update 2018 2.4% 1.8% 1.9% 2.0% 2.0%
Autumn Budget 2018 2.5% 1.9% 2.1% 2.1% 2.1%

Consumer Price Inflation is Governments preferred measure of likely prices rises.

Public Sector Net Borrowing (PSNB) – is forecast to reduce at a steeper rate than the 
previous forecast.

£ Billion 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Spring Update 2018 £36.9bn £33.5bn £29.1bn £26.0bn £21.4bn
Autumn Budget 2018 £25.5bn £31.8bn £26.7bn £23.8bn £20.8bn

One of Governments key objective is to reduce PSNB.

2.1.5   International and National risks to current assumptions

The Chancellor of the Exchequer announced in his Autumn Budget 2018 that ‘the era of 
austerity is finally coming to an end’. However, the Chancellor signalled that a further Budget 
may be required should the departure of the UK from the European Union be made without a 
formal deal.

The Government has not provided departmental resource budgets (known as RDEL) for the 
period of the spending review. Instead it has shown aggregate departmental resource budgets 
split between NHS England and all other Departmental spending. 

From 2019/20 to 2023/24, RDEL spending, including the NHS settlement, will grow at an 
average of 1.2% per year in real terms. This means that after excluding the increases for NHS 
England, resources across the rest of Government Departments will increase in cash terms by 
8.4% over the period 2019/20 to 2023/24, which is roughly in line with inflation forecasts. The 
8.4% would be the average across the departments; with individual departments likely to be 
above or below this average.

The Government has stated that the figures provided do not represent the final envelope for 
the Spending Review 2019, when a five year path for revenue departmental expenditure limits, 
including local government, will be set.

Page 165



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 20

2.2  Regional Influences

2.2.1 Devolution General

The Greater Manchester Devolution Agreement was signed with the Government in November 
20145 which brings both the decision making powers and greater control of financial budgets 
far closer to the people of Greater Manchester. This gives them and their local representatives 
control over decisions which have until now been taken at a national or regional level by 
providing the legal framework for the Greater Manchester Combined Authority to assume 
responsibilities currently performed and delivered by other public bodies.

The elected Mayor has now taken up post and from 2018/19 a GM Combined Authority Budget 
has been operating, including being the precept and levy authority for: GM Police & Crime 
Commissioner, GM Fire & Rescue Authority and levy authorities: GM Waste Disposal Authority 
and GM Passenger Transport Executive. 

From a financial perspective the key change anticipated was the move to 100% Business Rate 
retention. The Local Government Finance Bill, which provided the legislative framework for 
reform, fell due to the general election and was not re-introduced in the Queen’s Speech 2017. 
This means it will not be in the Government's legislative programme for the two years following 
the Queen’s Speech; however Central Government remain committed to localising business 
rates. The Government announced in the Autumn Budget 2017 that it will continue to pilot 
additional business rates retention for councils across England.

Rochdale is part of a Greater Manchester pilot for 100% business rates retention, which 
commenced in 2017/18, and has been confirmed to continue into 2019/20.  The 100% 
business rates retention pilot provides the pathway for the retention of 100% business rates by 
all local authorities. The pilots will be without detriment to the resources that would have been 
available to individual authorities under the current local government finance regime (with any 
“detriment” payments funded from outside the Settlement). This assumption is contained within 
the MTFS throughout the five years.

From 2020/21 it is proposed that councils will retain 75% of their business rates income, 
incorporating Revenue Support Grant, Public Health Grant and other grants, with suitable 
transitional arrangements. There is no information on the consequences of this change. The 
Medium Term Financial Strategy has therefore assumed that there will be no detriment in 
funding as a result of the move to 75% business rates retention, other than the projected 
reduction in RSG until further information is made available.

Alongside the move to localising business rates there is work underway at Government level to 
set a new baseline to determine how relative needs are assessed. This review seeks to 
recognise the current and future needs of each local authority taking into account each local 
authority’s ability to raise income from council tax/business rates and other forms of income 
such as fees and charges and commercial income.

5 Cities and Local Government Devolution Act.

Page 166



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 21

There is a risk that the central government funding projections, business rates income and 
needs based assessment on which the income included in the MTFS will need to be revisited 
if central government funding is reduced or updated as a result of the new methodology for 
quantifying need. 

2.2.2    Health and Social Care Devolution 

The 10 Local Authorities in Greater Manchester, all Greater Manchester Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and NHS England (NHSE) have signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding as part of Greater Manchester moving towards taking full control and 
responsibility of the £6bn Health & Social Care Budget and the creation of its own sustainable 
Health & Social Care system by 2021. To deliver the devolved health and social care initiative, 
a Greater Manchester Strategic Plan has been developed and each local area sets out a 
Locality plan to support this Strategic Plan focussing on the integration of health, social care 
and public health/prevention. 

The integration of services is key to improving the quality of care and outcomes for people 
within the funding available. It is felt that the pooling of resources across the locality will 
provide more opportunities to explore value for money, economies of scale, reduce duplication 
and streamline processes. 

The pooled budget brings together resources from a range of organisations including the 
Clinical Commissioning Group and the Local Authority, Better Care Funds and GM level 
resources to invest in transformation of service delivery, (known as Transformation Funding). 

The Local Authority created a formal pooled budget arrangement from 1st April 2018 for health 
and social care. The MTFS reports on the total budget which includes the Pooled fund this 
includes the Adult Social Care; Public Health; and elements of Children’s Services Strategic 
Commissioning Budgets. General Council Services relate to services not within the Pooled 
Fund including Economy, Neighbourhoods, Resources and Wellbeing.

The 2019/20 – 2021/22 savings proposals include a number of savings proposals which are to 
be delivered through the efficiencies of integration. There is a risk that delivery of the planned 
benefits may not arise within the timescale forecasts which could provide a risk to the 
Council’s budget.

2.3 Resources received by our Council

2.3.1 The anticipated resources to be received by the Council are included in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS). The resource forecasts are based on a number of assumptions, 
which are detailed in the following sections:

The Autumn Budget 2018 announced additional funding of £3.002m for Social Care. 

Page 167



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 22

Table 6 summarises the estimated Government funding for 2019/20, based on current 
assumptions. This will be updated to reflect the final Local Government Finance Settlement, 
expected to be released in early February 2019.

Table 6 Central Government Funding 2019/20

2019/20
£m

Government Grants
Business Rates Top-up Grant 35.597
New Homes Bonus 1.884
Improved Better Care Fund 10.809
Section 31 Grants 10.124
Additional Social Care Funding 3.002

61.416

 
The Local Government Finance Settlement in 2017/18 set out the move to 100% business 
rates for designated regional authorities, including Greater Manchester. In order to account for 
the Council retaining 99% of the business rates it collects the following changes have been 
applied:

 RSG and Public Health Grant removed as sources of funding.
 Any business rates losses resulting from the reduction in rateable value will   be 

offset by increased business rates top up grant.

The GM pilot continued in 2018/19 and has been confirmed as continuing in 2019/20. The 
underlying assumption of the move to 75% business rates from 2020/21 is that it will be fiscally 
neutral and this has been applied for the whole of the 5 year MTFS.

The impact of this change for 2019/20, in terms of loss of grants compared to retaining all 
business rates is shown in Table 7.

Page 168



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 23

Table 7 – Change in resources as part of the 100% Business Rates retention pilot 
2019/20

  

2019/20 
Funding            

50% 
Retention

2019/20 
Funding            

100% 
Retention 

£m £m

Revenue Support Grant 16.946 0

Public Health Grant 16.290 0

Notional Business Rates Income 28.694 57.970

Business Rates Top-up 31.637 35.597

Total 93.567 93.567
 

2.3.2 Local Government Finance Settlement 2019/20 

The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2019/20 was announced by the 
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government on 13th December 
2018. The Provisional Settlement confirms that Core Spending Power is forecast to 
increase nationally from £45.1bn in 2018-19 to £46.4bn in 2019/20, a cash increase of 
2.8%. The increase in Core Spending Power is largely as a result of increases in locally 
generated income, and Central Government grants have continued to be reduced. 

In the Provisional Settlement the Government also announced that:

 The £180m surplus on Business Rates Levy Account will be distributed to all 
councils, according to need. Rochdale’s share of this additional funding is £0.926m. 
It is currently assumed that this funding will be received in 2018/19 and used to 
mitigate the overspend currently being reported.

 Funding of £152.9m will be provided to eliminate Negative Revenue Support Grant 
from the Settlement. Rochdale does not benefit from this funding.

 The Rural Services Delivery Grant will be increased by £16m. Rochdale does not 
benefit from this funding.

Page 169



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 24

2.3.3 Local Government Funding Reforms for 2020/21

2019/20 is the last year of the current Government Spending Review period and of the four-
year funding settlement for local government. There are multiple reforms scheduled for 
2020/21 that will have a significant impact on local authority funding.

Spending Review 2019

The Autumn Budget 2018 will set out the total public spending envelope for years beyond 
2020. This will be followed by a full departmental Spending Review in 2019, which will 
determine the overall local government funding from 2020/21.
 
Fair Funding Review

The Fair Funding Review will re-assess the relative needs and relative resources of local 
authorities. This will determine the methodology for the distribution of the funding allocated for 
local government to individual authorities from 2020/21.

Two further consultations have been launched on Business Rates Retention Reform and the 
new approach to distributing funding through the Review of Relative Needs and Resources.  
The consultations are open until the 21st February 2019

Baseline Reset

The business rates retention system is due to be reset for 2020/21. The reset will establish 
new baseline funding levels, business rates baselines and top-ups/tariffs for each local 
authority.  

Top-ups/tariffs will be reset based on:
 The amount of funding to be distributed following the Spending Review.
 The new needs assessment resulting from the Fair Funding Review.
 Estimates of individual local authority’s business rates income.

Business Rate Retention 

The Government announced in the Autumn Budget 2017 that local authorities will move to a 
system of 75% Business Rates Retention from 2020/21. The Government recently confirmed 
that the Greater Manchester 100% retention pilot will continue in 2019/20. It is unclear whether 
pilot authorities will move to 75% retention in 2020/21, or continue to pilot 100% retention.

Council Tax

The Government’s future strategy for Council Tax increases will also be a key issue. 2019/20 
is the last year of the current Adult Social Care precept. It is unclear whether the Government 
will allow authorities to charge an additional Adult Social Care precept from 2020/21 onwards.

Page 170



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 25

In 2019/20 the Government has allowed authorities to charge additional 1% on top of the 2% 
referendum limit for general purposes. The Government’s policy on referendum limits from 
2020/21 onwards is not yet known. 

Other funding streams in Core Spending Power

The treatment of a number of funding streams currently within the Core Spending Power is 
unclear with the move to 75% Business Rates Retention and the Fair Funding Review: 
Revenue Support Grant (including Local Council Tax Support funding); Public Health Grant; 
Improved Better Care Fund and New Homes Bonus.

2.3.4 Core Spending Power

Core Spending Power is the measure used by the Government to demonstrate the maximum 
funding deemed available to Councils to deliver services from Central Government support 
and locally raised taxes, business rates and council tax. 

The Local Government Finance Settlement 2019/20 updated the funding and spending power 
for local authorities originally set for four years in the 2016/17 Settlement. The core spending 
power analyses what will be provided by the Government and also what the Government 
assumes can be raised locally from council tax powers and business rates. The core spending 
power figures for Rochdale are detailed in Table 8, split between locally generated resources 
and Government Grants.

Table 8:  Core Spending Power Rochdale 

Page 171



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 26

This shows a increase in Rochdale’s Core Spending Power of £2.4m (1.4%) over the 
Spending Review period (2015/16 to 2019/20). 

Although the core spending shows an overall small increase in funding over the spending 
review period, it should be recognised that:

 The amounts to be generated from local sources, i.e. Business Rates and Council Tax 
now form a larger proportion of the revenue raised to meet need. Rising from £97.6m 
(55%) in 2015/16 to £143.9m (80%) by 2019/20, detailed at Table 8.

 Over the period there has been a shift to ring fenced funding which has eroded local 
decision making as to the use of resources. By 2019/20 £20.2m of resources is 
expected to be ring fenced funds for adult social care raised from council tax and other 
social care grants which equates to 11% of the revenue raised compared to zero in 
2015/16, as shown in Table 9.

 Although core spending increased slightly, inflation pressures including the national 
living wage rises have increased the amount of funding that the local authority require, 
which over the years places more pressure on the burden falling on local income 
generation from fees and charges and council tax increases

Table 9 Core Spending Power- Ring-fenced/Non Ring-fenced Funding 

Page 172



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 27

The following paragraphs detail the assumptions used for the resources included within the 
core spending power and the risks affecting these assumptions.

2.3.5   Revenue Support Grant assumptions

The risks to economic growth and the current Central Government pledge to reduce public 
sector net borrowing (deficit) affects the Council as we will receive less Revenue Support 
Grant (RSG), provided by Central Government. Simply put the basis of the RSG is a range of 
data such as free school meals, age of residents, benefits received by our residents, etc. from 
which a calculation is done on what we need to spend on services. The formula looks at what 
we generate locally from council tax to then determine what level of support our Council should 
receive.

As part of the Local Government Finance Settlement 2016/17, Central Government offered 
councils the opportunity to accept a four year funding offer. This would provide a council that 
wishes to take it up, a four-year funding settlement to 2019/20. For our Council this meant that 
we would know for four years how much RSG we would receive. 

RSG is not directly paid to the Council from 2017/18 onwards; the reduced RSG included in 
the four-year settlement has been replaced by the retention of 100% business rates under the 
Business Rates Retention pilot. However the reductions in the funding from Central 
Government have still be received by the Council through the Top-up Grant. 

Table 11 shows what the four-year settlement would provide in RSG funding for our Council 
for 2016/17 to 2019/20. 

Table 11 Revenue Support Grant 

RSG
£m £m %

2017-18 29.8 -9.5 -24.1%
2018-19 23.4 -6.4 -21.5%
2019-20 16.9 -6.5 -27.6%

Decrease

Table 11 highlights the significant reduction in Central Government funding from £29.8m in 
2017/18 to £16.9m in 2019/20, a reduction of £12.9m.  By 2019/20 RSG will have reduced by 
56.8% from the level of grant received in 2016/17. It is expected that by 2020/21 this will 
reduce to zero should the changes proposed to business rates take place. 

Revenue Support Grant is based on a set of formulas to identify the needs of each local 
authority which are complex and out of date. RSG is proposed to be phased out by the end of 
the four year settlement.

It is the Government’s intention for the following grants to be funded through retained business 
rates: Revenue Support Grant, Public Health Grant, Rural Services Delivery Grant (nil for 
Rochdale), and the GLA Transport Grant (nil for Rochdale). 

Page 173



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 28

The Government will implement this increase in business rates retention in 2020/21. Allowing 
local authorities to keep business rates to the value of these grants would represent business 
rates retention across the local government system of at least 75% (based on the value of 
these grants in 2019-20). 

The Government is continuing with a fair funding review of relative needs and resources, in 
collaboration with the Local Government Association and representatives from across local 
government. This review will calculate new baseline funding levels based on an up-to-date 
assessment of the relative needs and resources of local authorities. Business rates will be 
redistributed according to the outcome of the new assessment, alongside the resetting of 
business rates baselines, subject to suitable transitional measures.

The MTFS currently assumes that the changes to the calculation of relative need will have no 
detriment to the Local Authority over those already assumed. This will continually be reviewed 
as the consultation papers are released to update the potential financial risks and assumptions 
for the MTFS.

2.3.6 Income generated locally - Business Rates

Our Business Rates tax base represents the value of Business Rates income we estimate will 
be collected from businesses. Each business rate tax payer account has a rateable valuation 
provided by the Valuation Office which is multiplied by a business rates multiplier, this 
increases each year and is set by the Government.

The Council’s share of Business Rates income equates to £61.2m in 2019/20, after applying 
business rates discounts such as charitable relief, empty property relief and small business 
rates relief.

The Autumn Budget 2018 announced:

 Business Rates bills for small retail premises including shops, cafes and restaurants with 
rateable values of less than £51k is to be cut by one third for the next 2 years.

 Business rates public lavatories relief – the Government will introduce 100% business 
rates relief for all public lavatories.

 Business rates local newspaper discount – the Government will continue the £1,500 
business rates discount for office space occupied by local newspapers in 2019/20.

 Local authorities will be fully compensated for the loss of income as a result of these 
business rates measures.

For Business Rates income, the Council’s MTFS includes a 2% rise for future years, in line 
with CPI forecasts.

Page 174



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 29

Business Rates Pooling

The ten Greater Manchester authorities are part of the GM Business Rates Pool which also 
incorporates Cheshire East and Cheshire West and Chester local authorities.

The  purpose  of  pooling  business rates  across  the individual  Authorities  is  not  intended  
to  alter  individual  Authorities income levels  but to retain any levy that might be payable by 
certain of the Authorities to  Central Government. Any growth retained, after applying the 
agreed allocation to the levy authorities, would be used for investment within Greater 
Manchester (GM) and other non-Greater Manchester Authorities involved in the pool.

Business Rates Appeals

The Government amended the Business Rates Appeals system, with effect from 1st April 
2017, introducing a three-stage approach to Business Rates Appeals: Check, Challenge, 
Appeal. To date there has been little information available on the level of appeals via the new 
system and this remains an area of uncertainty. As a consequence of this new approach the 
Council has seen an increase in the number of changes to its Business Rates Lists. This is 
making it very difficult to identify changes in rateable values of Businesses. 

Business Rate 100% Retention 

Central Government previously announced that Revenue Support Grant will be phased out 
and councils will retain 100% of business rates generated locally. Currently the Council is part 
of the Greater Manchester pilot to retain 100% of business rates which is anticipated to 
continue until 2019/20 at which point localism of business rates was originally planned to take 
place across all local authorities although at a lower percentage. In return Greater Manchester 
has forgone Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and the Public Health Grant in lieu of the retained 
business rates. 

Authorities’ tariffs and top-ups will be adjusted to ensure these changes are cost neutral. The 
pilots are also testing a number of potential elements of the 100% business rates retention 
scheme, including revised safety net arrangements. 

The pilots are “without detriment” to the resources that would have been available to individual 
authorities under the current local government finance regime (with any “detriment” payments 
funded from outside the Settlement). 

As part of the move to 100% Business Rates Retention local government will also take on 
additional responsibilities and the consultation document laid out potential areas of 
responsibility that could be transferred to councils.

The Local Government Finance Bill, which provided the legislative framework for reform, fell 
due to the general election and was not re-introduced in the Queen’s Speech 2017. The 
Government has confirmed that the Greater Manchester 100% business rates retention pilot 
will continue in 2019/20. 

Page 175



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 30

From 2020/21 it is proposed that councils will retain 75% of their business rates income, 
incorporating Revenue Support Grant, Public Health Grant and other grants, with suitable 
transitional arrangements. It is unclear whether the 100% retention pilots will continue in 
2020/21, or whether pilot authorities will move to 75% retention.

Local Government funding by 2020/21 could be significantly different. At this stage it is difficult 
to forecast the longer-term impact on the Council’s funding of the move to 75% business rates 
retention, the following assumptions have been included in the MTFS when forecasting 
business rates for future years:
 

 Level of RSG built into the Top-up grant to continue to reduce in line with reductions 
experienced during the current spending review period.

 Top-up to be adjusted to ensure no detriment as a result of the move to 75% 
retention.

 Business rates top-up grant adjusted to bridge the gap between resources available 
locally and the current needs assessment formulas provided by Central Government. 

 Currently the needs formula contributes to the allocations a number of funding 
streams in the Council’s budget, namely: Business Rates Top-up/Revenue Support 
Grant; Improved Better Care Fund; and the additional funding for adult social care 
announced at budget 2017. The MTFS currently assumes that the changes to the 
calculation of relative need will have no detriment to the Local Authority. This will 
continually be reviewed as the technical consultation papers are released to update 
the potential financial risks and assumptions for the MTFS and Budget.

Table 12 shows the estimates for Business Rates Income and Top-up Grant to be received by 
Rochdale Council. 

Table 12 Estimated Business Rates Income and Top-up Grant 

Page 176



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 31

Business Rates Top-up 

Some local authorities collect and retain a lot more business rates than others, so the business 
rates retention scheme includes a system of top-ups and tariffs. Whether a local authority is a 
tariff or a top-up authority is determined by comparing the amount of funding required by an 
authority via the business rates retention system (its baseline funding level) and the amount it 
can raise in business rates locally (its business rate baseline). 

If an authority’s business rates baseline is less than its baseline funding level, it receives a top-
up grant from the government. If an authority’s business rates baseline is greater than its 
baseline funding level it pays a tariff to the government.

The tariff and top-up amounts were set in 2013/14 and in previous years have been increased 
in line with the business rates multiplier. However, from 2017/18 the tariff and top-up amounts 
have been adjusted to take account of the business rates revaluation 2017, provisionally until 
the revaluation process has had an opportunity to settle down. There is a risk for local 
authorities that the top up will not adequately compensate for appeals after this date, nor will it 
reimburse local authorities where large increases in rateable values are offset by reliefs such 
as in the case of Academy schools.

The increase in the Top-up Grant assumed in the MTFS is 2.2% in 2019/20, 2.0% per annum 
in 2020/21 to 2023/24, based on the forecast of the Consumer Price Index. The actual 
increase used in the calculation of the Top-up Grant is announced in September each year.

The estimated Business Rates income and Top-up grant will be reviewed when further 
information on the impact of the Fair Funding review becomes known.

2.3.7 Income generated locally -   Council Tax

Council Tax is charged by local authorities on residential properties. The Valuation Office 
Agency decides the correct band based on the value of your property at 1 April 1991.Local 
authorities set the charge based on a Band D property each year. 

Our Council has to balance between the needs of service users, who are often some of the 
most vulnerable people in our borough and the burden of the council tax on local council tax 
payers. With the Government placing severe reductions in the level of general grant support, 
the burden of financing increasing service demand falls primarily upon the level of council tax.

For planning purposes only the following assumptions have been made in relation to the 
2019/20 Council Tax:

 An increase of 2.99% for 2019/20 for general purposes. The 2019/20 Local Government 
Finance Settlement allowed an additional 1% referendum limit (3% in total), as in 
2018/19.

Page 177



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 32

 A 1% increase in the Adult Social Care Precept. In 2017/18 councils with responsibility 
for Adult Social Care were given the flexibility to charge a precept on their council tax to 
fund Adult Social Care Services of 6% over 3 years. The Council increased its Adult 
Care Precept by 3% in 2017/18 and 2% in 2018/19, meaning that the maximum 
increase in 2019/20 is 1% in order not to exceed the 6% limit over three years.

 A total increase of 3.99% in the Rochdale BC element of Council Tax has therefore 
been assumed for planning purposes, compared to a 4.99% increase in 2018/19. 

 That that the increase in 2019/20 Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner Precept will 
be the maximum £24.

 That the increase in the 2019/20 Mayoral General Precept (including Fire Services) will 
be £9.

The assumed increases in the Mayoral precepts are subject to approval by the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority on 15th February 2019. 

This would give an overall Council Tax increase of 5.31% for 2019/20, compared to the 
2018/19 overall increase of 5.52%. This equates to an increase of £93.71 for a Band D 
property, as shown in Table 13a.

Table 13a –Council Tax 2019/20, including precepting authorities 

 

Band D Tax Levels 2018/19 2019/20

£ £ £ %

Rochdale BC 1,424.44 1,469.94 45.50 2.99%
Rochdale BC Adult Care 96.99 112.20 15.21 1.00%
Total Rochdale BC 1,521.43 1,582.14 60.71 3.99%
Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner Precept 174.30 198.30 24.00 13.77%
Mayoral General Precept (including Fire Services) 67.95 76.95 9.00 13.25%
TOTAL COUNCIL TAX 1,763.68 1,857.39 93.71 5.31%

Increase 18/19 - 19/20

Table 13b shows the increase by Band.
 

Page 178



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 33

Table 13b - Council Tax bands 2019/20 

  

Band 2018/19 2019/20
£ £ £ %

Band A 1,175.78 1,238.26 62.48 5.31%
Band B 1,371.75 1,444.63 72.88 5.31%
Band C 1,567.70 1,651.01 83.31 5.31%
Band D 1,763.68 1,857.39 93.71 5.31%
Band E 2,155.60 2,270.15 114.55 5.31%
Band F 2,547.54 2,682.89 135.35 5.31%
Band G 2,939.46 3,095.65 156.19 5.31%
Band H 3,527.36 3,714.78 187.42 5.31%

Increase

Council Tax Levels

Adult Social Care Precept

In 2017/18 councils with responsibility for Adult Social Care were given the flexibility to charge 
a precept on their Council Tax to fund Adult Social Care Services of 6% over 3 years. The 
Council charged an Adult Social Care Precept of 3% on Council Tax in 2017/18 and 2% in 
2018/19. This means that the Council can increase the Adult Social Care Precept by 1% in 
2019/20, in order to maintain a 6% precept across the 3 years.

Council Tax Base

The Council Tax base for 2019/20 of 55,176 was approved by Council on 12th December. The 
Council Tax base represents the number of Band D equivalent properties that we collect 
Council Tax from. The increase in the 2019/20 council tax base of 1,639 is a result of: an 
estimated increase in the number of properties; a reduction in the amount of discounts for 
Local Council Tax Support; and an increase in the estimated collection rate from 97.2% to 
97.5%.

The more Band D equivalent properties the Council has allows the local authority to generate 
more income for the council from Council Tax.  Properties valued at Band A generate less 
income for the council as the charge is 70% of the charge for a band D property. 

In the Rochdale 54% of properties are in Band A and 71% are Band A or B. The housing stock 
in the borough has a direct impact on the level of income the Council can raise from Council 
Tax. The average for Local Authorities in England is a housing stock with 24% properties in 
Band A and 44% in Band A or B6.   

6 Council Tax Base Return October 2018

Page 179



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 34

Table 14 Council Tax - % of bands in each category for Rochdale compared to the 
national average

Table 15 shows the estimated Council Tax income our Council is estimated to receive in 
2019/20 as £87.3m (£81.1m General Council Tax and £6.2m Adult Social Care precept) rising 
to £97.6m (£91.2m General Council Tax and £6.4m Adult Social Care precept) in 2023/24. 

Page 180



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 35

Table 15 Estimated Council Tax Income 2019/20 – 2023/24 

 

2.3.8 Other Government Grants

Additional Funding for Social Care

An additional £240m was previously announced for adult care winter pressures in 2018/19, 
and a further £240m for 2019/20 was announced in the Autumn Budget 2018. This is intended 
to make sure people can leave hospital when they are ready into a care setting that best 
meets their needs, helping the NHS to free up the beds it needs over winter. Rochdale’s 
allocation for 2019/20 is £1.108m.  The Government requires this funding to be pooled into the 
Improved Better Care Fund.

A further £410m was announced for 2019/20 for adults and children’s social care. Where 
necessary, local councils should use this funding to ensure that adult social care pressures do 
not create additional demand on the NHS. Local councils can also use it to improve their social 
care offer for older people, people with disabilities and children. Rochdale’s allocation for 
2019/20 is £1.894m.

Improved Better Care Fund

The Better Care Fund (BCF) brings together elements of the Clinical Commissioning Group 
and Local Authority budgets into a pooled arrangement. This is to encompass integrated 
commissioning which will support the transformation and integration of health and social care 
services. 

The Grant is allocated using the 2013 social care relative needs formula and allocates funding 
against resources available. The allocation method takes into consideration the amount that 
can be raised by a local authority from the social care precept. 

Page 181



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 36

Better Care Funding provided by the Government is not increased if an authority does not 
choose to increase its Council Tax by the adult social care precept. In 2017/18 an initial 
allocation was announced for three years as part of the Local Government Finance 
Settlement. The grant allocation was subsequently increased as part of the Spring Budget 
2017.

The Spring Budget 2017 outlined the growing demographic issues affecting adult social care in 
that today we have more than half a million people over 75 years of age and this is projected 
to increase to 2million in the next 10 years as set out in the OBR Fiscal Sustainability report 
2017. An additional £2.011bn was announced to help local authorities provide high quality 
social care to more people and to ease the pressure on the NHS. The £2.011bn is to be paid 
over 3 years, £1bn in 2017/18, £0.674m in 2018/19 and £0.337m in 2019/20 to ensure local 
authorities can take immediate action to fund care packages for more people, support social 
care providers and relieve pressure on the NHS locally. The funds are to build on the Improved 
Better Care Fund approach with local authorities working closely with NHS colleagues to 
consider how the funds can be spent effectively. 

An additional £240m for adult care winter pressures in 2019/20 was announced in the Autumn 
Budget. This is intended to make sure people can leave hospital when they are ready into a 
care setting that best meets their needs, helping the NHS to free up the beds it needs over 
winter. Rochdale’s allocation for 2019/20 is £1.108m.  The Government requires this funding to 
be pooled into the Improved Better Care Fund.

Table 16 shows the indicative Improved Better Care Fund allocations as per 2017/18 
Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement, the additional adult social care funding 
announced in the Spring Budget 2017 and the additional funding for adult care winter 
pressures in 2019/20 announced in the Autumn Budget.  These allocations were confirmed in 
the 2019/20 Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement.

Page 182



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 37

Table 16 Improved Better Care Fund

Public Health Grant

It is anticipated that the level of Public Health Funding will reduce by £442k in 2019/20. The 
reduction in funding has been recognised as a budget pressure for council services. The 
Public Health Grant is one of the funding streams under consideration as part of the move to 
100% retention of business rates. 

New Homes Bonus

The New Homes Bonus (NHB) Scheme is designed to provide incentives and rewards for 
Local Authorities who have a net increase in new homes and empty properties brought back 
into use in their areas. The scheme commenced in April 2011, and was revised in 2017/18:

 NHB is paid for 4 years. 
 The NHB calculation includes a baseline for housing growth, currently set as 0.4% of 

the previous year’s dwelling stock (total stock less long-term empty properties). 
Housing growth below this level in each authority will not receive NHB allocations. 

The 2019/20 NHB will be based on movement in total stock and long-term empty properties 
between October 2017 and October 2018. The 2019/20 Provisional Local Government 

Page 183



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 38

Finance Settlement confirmed that the New Homes Bonus threshold would remain at its  
current level of 0.4%. 

Table 17 shows the estimated NHB for 2019/20.

Table 17 Estimated New Homes Bonus 

Scheme Year
NHB 

2019/20
£'000

2016/17 731
2017/18 527
2018/19 228
2019/20 398
Total 1,884

Education & Schools Funding

A summary of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) allocation is provided in Table 18.

Table 18 Dedicated Schools Grant Allocation

 2018-19   
Final 

 2019-20 

 £m  £m  £m  % 

Schools Block 160.297 164.26 3.963 2.50%

High Needs Block 22.232 23.860 1.628 7.30%

Central Schools Services  1.213 1.202 -0.011 -0.90%

Early Years Block 16.697 16.693 -0.004 0.00%

Total DSG 200.439 206.015 5.576 2.80%

 Variation from 
2018-19 

Schools, High Needs and Central Schools Services Block are final allocations with the Early 
Years Block indicative until July 2020. Both Schools and the High Needs Block allocations for 
2019/20 are based on National Funding Formulae (NFF).  

There is an overall increase in DSG from 2018/19 of £5.576m (2.8%).  However, a significant 
part of this relates to an increase in pupil numbers.  The increase in Schools Block of 
£3.963m is due to an increase in pupils (547) together with the Government providing for a 

Page 184



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 39

1% increase per pupil for all schools over the 2017/18 baseline.  As part of the Settlement the 
Government has recognised the pressures faced by LAs on High Needs pupils and has 
provided an additional £125m nationally for both 2018/19 and 2019/20.  The additional 
funding for Rochdale from this in the High Needs Block is £0.540m, with the remainder of the 
increase due to additional pupil numbers (£0.143m) and changes due to the NFF (£0.945m).  

Whilst Schools Block funding is based on the NFF, funding to schools can still be based on a 
local formula for 2019/20.  Members have previously agreed that the local formula move 
towards to the NFF over a three year period.  Under protections and caps all schools will 
have an increase in their per pupil funding over 2018/19.

2.4 Budget Pressures and costs increasing our spend – 2019/20 to 2023/24 

2.4.1 Regional Budget Pressures

Greater Manchester Transport Levy

The 2019/20 Greater Manchester Waste Transport Levy is subject to approval by the GMCA. 
The Mayoral precept will be used to invest in bus reform, through grants to the districts. 
Rochdale will receive a grant of £0.648m in 2019/20 in order to offset the increase in the 
Transport Levy in respect of bus reform.

Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Levy

The projected 2019/20 Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Levy for Rochdale is £15.871m. 
This is subject to the approval of the 2019/20 levies by GMCA.

2.4.2 Local Budget Pressures

1. Living Wage

The budget reflects the Council’s commitment to pay, based on the Local Living Wage 
Rates for employees. The National Living Wage to increase by 4.9% from £7.83 to 
£8.21 per week from April.  The Rochdale Living Wage for 2019/20 is £9 per week.

The MTFS assumes that this will continue to be maintained throughout the five years for 
planning purposes only.

2. Pay and Price Inflation

The Budget has been updated to reflect the current negotiations in relation to the 
suggested pay rise of 2% for 2019/20, 1% in 2020/21 to 2023/24. The MTFS also 
reflects the impact of the pay increase above 2% for staff below SCP 19.  

Page 185



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 40

The budget assumes 0% inflation across the majority of the Council’s non-pay 
expenditure budgets. Contractual arrangements and other significant inflation issues will 
be considered on a case by case basis. 

3. Discretionary Fees and Charges

Fees and Charges are reviewed on an annual basis within agreed overall budget 
requirements. For this Strategy the budget assumes an increase of 2% each year, 
although some fees and charges may increase above this level as part of the savings 
programme proposals.

4. Superannuation Rates 

The Pension Fund Contribution Rates payable to the Greater Manchester Pension Fund 
(GMPF) have been assumed in the budget for budget planning purposes to remain 
static with no increase in 2019/20. The Pension agreement will be reviewed in 2020/21 
and for planning purposes it has been assumed that there will be an increase of 0.9% 
per annum from 2020/21.

2.5 Budget Position for 2019/20 to 2020/21

2.5.1 Movement in Budget Gap since Budget Council February 2018

In February 2018 the Council set a three year budget for 2018/19 to 2019/20. This 
budget identified a budget gap of £8.2m in 2019/20 and £17.0m in 2020/21.

During the budget process the Budget for 2019/20 to 2021/22 has been continuously 
updated and reported to previous Cabinet meetings from the position reported to Full 
Council in February 2018. The estimated budget gap has been revised to £2.3m in 
2019/20; £11.4m in 2020/21; and £18.9m in 2021/22, based on:

 Current assumptions;
 The Autumn Budget 2018;
 The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2019/20;
 Savings Proposals approved by council 12th December 2018.

Council 12th December 2018 approved savings proposals in relation to General Council 
Services and Aligned Services, as detailed in Table 17.
         

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

Page 186



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 41

Table 17 Savings Proposals 2019/20 to 2023/24

Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Service Savings Proposals
Proposals not requiring consultation -1,209 -200 -1,497 -100 -1,497 0 -1,497 0 -1,497 0
Outside the process -136 0 -436 0 -736 0 -1,036 0 -1,036 0
Service Delivery Proposals -135 0 -229 0 -229 0 -229 0 -229 0

-1,480 -200 -2,162 -100 -2,462 0 -2,762 0 -2,762 0

2022/23 2023/242019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Updated budget assumptions, changes from the local government finance settlement and the 
Autumn Budget, the Savings Programme and a reduction in the contribution to the Pooled Fund 
of £1.815m have reduced the budget gap to £0.156m in 2019/20 for General Council Services 
and Aligned Services. Using a contribution from reserves of £0.156m will allow a balanced 
budget to be set for 2019/20.

Table 18 summarises the changes in assumptions since Budget Council February 2018.

Table 18 – Movement in Budget Gap since Budget Council February 2018

 

Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Overall Position

Budget Gap at Budget Council February 2018 8,158 0 16,950 0 22,059 0 27,115 0 33,402 0

Budget pressures 4,209 0 4,899 0 5,573 0 6,250 0 6,942 0
Corporate savings -1,518 0 -1,518 -953 152 0 152 -783 152 0
Additional resources to the Council -5,948 -1,894 -7,368 0 -8,642 0 -9,560 0 -9,943 0
Local priorities 14 0 498 0 1,008 0 1,287 0 1,566 0

Revised Budget Gap 4,915 -1,894 13,461 -953 20,150 0 25,244 -783 32,119 0

Service Savings Proposals -1,480 -200 -2,162 -100 -2,462 0 -2,762 0 -2,762 0
Reduction in Contribution ton Pooled Fund -1,185
Contribution from Reserves -156
Gap after Savings Proposals 0 0 11,299 -1,053 17,688 0 22,482 -783 29,357 0

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

The financial challenge for our Council over the next five years is to make savings to enable a 
balanced budget to be set. Our Council has an increase year on year on what we need to 
spend (budget requirement) compared to the reduced resources the Council will receive. 
Although the resources we receive will increase over this period the cost of providing current 
levels of service provision is greater.

2.5.2 Resources available 2019/20 to 2023/24   

The Council has approved savings of £180.1m since 2010/11. Over the next five years the 
MTFS includes assumptions reflecting Central Government policy of moving to “self-
sufficiency” for local authorities. Table 19 shows a breakdown of the estimated resources 
available to our Council 2019/20 to 2023/24. The estimated Business Rates Top-up grant is 

Page 187



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 42

based on current projections. The level of business rates top-up and other grants could be 
significantly different from 2020/21 onwards following the Fair Funding Review and reset of the 
business rates baselines.

By 2023/24, 79% of our Council’s resources will come from the income we raise locally from 
council tax and business rates, compared to 72% in 2019/20. The change will increase the 
risks around income collection for our Council as the collection of business rates and council 
tax is volatile. Central Government grants provide certainty as to what you will receive for the 
year unlike council tax and business rates. This can be due to empty properties, discounts and 
reliefs, and changes in valuations of business properties. 

Table 19a - Breakdown of Estimated Resources Available

Page 188



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 43

Table 19b – Breakdown of Estimated Resources Available

  

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24
£m £m £m £m £m

Locally Generated Income
Council  Tax 87.3 89.8 92.3 94.9 97.6
Business Rates 61.2 63.3 65.7 67.4 68.8
Collection Fund Surplus 6.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

154.8 153.1 158.0 162.3 166.3

Government Grants
Revenue Support Grant 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Business Rates Top-up Grant 35.6 30.6 26.9 24.1 21.9
New Homes Bonus 1.9 2.1 2.0 2.2 1.8
Adult Social Care Support Grant 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Improved Better Care Fund 11.9 10.8 10.8 10.8 10.8
Business Rates S31 Grant 9.7 9.9 10.1 10.3 10.5
Other General Grants 0.4 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

61.4 53.4 49.8 47.4 45.1

Total Resources 216.2 206.5 207.8 209.7 211.4

% Resources Locally Generated 72% 74% 76% 77% 79%

2.5.3 Budget required for local services

The MTFS has forecast that the amount our Council will need to spend to maintain the current 
level of service provision will rise to £218.2m by 2023/24.

The Local Authority created a formal pooled budget arrangement from 1st April 2018 for health 
and social care. The MTFS reports on the total budget which includes the Pooled fund this 
includes the Adult Social Care; Public Health; and elements of Children’s Services Strategic 
Commissioning Budgets. General Council Services relate to services not within the Pooled 
Fund including Economy, Neighbourhoods, Resources and Wellbeing. The projected budget 
requirements and resources are shown in Table 20.

The financial information contained in the MTFS is based on current assumptions and 
published updates provided from Government departments at this point.  As further information 
is made available from Central Government the assumptions and forecast will be updated for 
both the resources available and the budget requirements needed to deliver services. During 
the budget setting process regular updates are provided to Cabinet Members. 

Page 189



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 44

Table 20 Projected Budget Requirements and Resources 2019/20 to 2023/24
SERVICE 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1 Adult Care 15,860 14,661 14,663 14,665 14,668

2 Childrens Services 23,032 22,837 22,743 22,925 23,001

3 Economy 15,888 15,777 15,942 15,980 16,091

4 Neighbourhoods 52,380 52,508 53,462 54,390 55,455

5 Resources 6,500 6,433 6,731 6,803 7,050

6 Public Health and Wellbeing 8,249 7,932 7,646 7,393 7,396

7 TOTAL 121,909 120,148 121,187 122,156 123,661

8 Finance Control 15,040 16,474 17,409 16,664 16,950

9 Contingency 4,420 4,959 5,254 6,131 4,463

10 SERVICES SUB TOTAL 141,369 141,581 143,850 144,951 145,074

11 Budget Pressures Fund 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5,000

12 Saving Proposals -136 -136 -136 -136 -136 

13 TOTAL REQUIREMENTS 142,233 143,445 146,714 148,815 149,938

14 Contribution To/(From) Reserves/Balances 8,518 2,621 2,935 3,089 3,149

15 Contribution To/ (From) Unusable Reserves -21,687 -20,485 -19,436 -19,436 -19,435 

16 Contribution To Integrated Pool Fund 87,159 82,502 80,906 81,226 84,504

17 NET EXPENDITURE REQUIREMENTS 216,223 208,083 211,119 213,694 218,156

18 BUDGET REQUIREMENT 216,223 208,083 211,119 213,694 218,156
RESOURCES
Locally Generated Funding

19 Council Tax -87,296 -89,799 -92,291 -94,872 -97,580 

20 Business Rates Retained -61,206 -63,293 -65,660 -67,406 -68,767 

21 Collection Fund Surplus -6,305 0 0 0 0

22 TOTAL LOCALLY GENERATED FUNDING -154,807 -153,092 -157,951 -162,278 -166,347 

Government Grants
23 Revenue Support Grant 0 0 0 0 0
24 General Grants -25,819 -22,825 -22,969 -23,326 -23,132 
25 Business Rates Top-Up Grant -35,597 -30,592 -26,855 -24,064 -21,939 
26 TOTAL GOVERNMENT GRANTS -61,416 -53,417 -49,824 -47,390 -45,071 

27 TOTAL RESOURCES -216,223 -206,509 -207,775 -209,668 -211,418 

28 UNFUNDED ONGOING REQUIREMENT 0 1,574 3,344 4,026 6,738
29 One year only Resources 0 0 0 0 0
30 UNFUNDED ONGOING REQUIREMENT 0 1,574 3,344 4,026 6,738

Note 1
INTEGRATION (Council & CCG) 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Provider Budgets

1 Adult Care 44,882 47,523 50,755 53,755 57,138
2 Childrens Services 38,180 38,444 39,263 39,901 40,729
3 Public Health and Wellbeing 12,983 12,991 13,018 13,029 13,055
4 Contribution to Providers from Integrated Pool -96,045 -98,958 -103,036 -106,685 -110,922 

5 0 0 0 0 0

Page 190



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 45

 2.6 Capital Programme

The Capital Programme for 2019/20 to 2021/22 takes into consideration the priorities of the 
Council and the resources available. The setting of the 2019/20 capital budget has followed 
the steps below: 

 Initial budget as provisionally approved at Budget Council on 28th February 2018.
 Review of 2018/19 and 2019/20 schemes – Finance Service has worked with Directorates 

to review 2018/19 and 2019/20 schemes taking into account spend to date and previous 
re-phasing of budget on the schemes.

 Consideration of new schemes.
 Member Review Session with Leader, Deputy Leader and Assistant Finance Portfolio 

Holder.

The result of the above steps is to recommend a proposed Capital Programme for 2019/20, 
and provisional Capital Programmes for 2020/21 and 2021/22.

When a scheme is approved and the proposed spend is profiled across financial years, the 
scheme funding will be approved across these financial years and will therefore be considered 
as a priority in future years. Any reduction in the funding of these schemes will only be 
considered where contracts have not been entered into.

Schemes totalling £84.730m have been proposed to be included in the 2019/20 Capital 
Programme. Table 21 shows the total proposed Capital expenditure by service for 2019/20 to 
2021/22, and how the expenditure is proposed to be funded. 

The Capital budget has been created in line with the Council’s priorities:

 Place Plan – aligning capital investment to support the borough’s economic growth 
potential and continue to regenerate our town centres.

 Corporate Plan – ensuring the borough maintains its high standard of quality building 
and public space.

 Asset Strategy – aiming to hold fewer but more efficient assets, realising maximum 
value from the estate whilst safeguarding its staff, customers and other building users.

Table 21 – Summary of Capital programme

Page 191



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 46

 2019/20  2020/21  2021/22
£'000 £'000 £'000

Adult Care 2,440 2,440 2,440
Children's Services 12,508 20,526 7,516
Corporate 5,000 0 0
Economy 39,970 18,714 7,970
Neighbourhoods 21,072 12,763 8,504
Public Health 0 676 0
Resources 3,740 1,860 0
Total requirement 84,730 56,979 26,430

Prudential Borrowing 21,915 17,059 13,352
External Grant and contributions 16,915 24,933 11,923
Invest to Save 35,920 14,462 1,000
Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay 6,680 525 155
Capital Receipts 3,300 0 0
Total funding 84,730 56,979 26,430

Directorate

Funding Source

The Capital schemes are categorised as follows:

 Annual Allocation - These schemes receive annual allocations either as a result of 
external funding, or because the capital investment is essential for the Council to 
maintain current service delivery or to meet statutory responsibilities.

 Scheme started in previous years - These schemes are multi-year schemes that 
commenced prior to 2019/20.

 New Scheme - These are new schemes or schemes requiring additional funding for 
the 2019/20 capital programme.

Borrowing of £21.9m is required to fund expenditure relating to specific schemes in 
2019/20. The revenue cost of this is approximately £2m per annum.

Page 192



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 47

Part 3:  How will the Council meet the Financial Challenge?

The Council will meet the financial challenge contained within this MTFS by having a robust Revenue 
Budget Plan and Savings Programme.

3.1 Revenue Budget Plan

3.1.1 Budget Timetable

The Council’s annual budget must be approved by full Council before 11th March each year. 
This is a statutory requirement. The Council is legally obliged to set a balanced budget for the 
following financial year. The Council has in place an embedded budget setting process which 
begins in June with approval being sought for the assumptions and principles on which the 
budget is to be based. These will be used as a part of the determination of the overall budget 
position.

Reports are provided to Cabinet and reviewed by Corporate Overview and Scrutiny, regularly 
throughout the financial year which set out the timetable, assumptions on both funding and 
spending changes, based on realistic projections, for example, about pay and inflation.

These assumptions are then applied to current service budgets and once funding has been 
estimated this gives an understanding of any potential budget gap. From this the savings 
programme is determined and reports are provided to members through Cabinet, Corporate 
Overview & Scrutiny, and Joint Consultative Negotiation Group to provide savings proposals 
for consultation to meet the budget gap.

Feedback following consultation is reported to Cabinet and proposals which affect the public 
will be submitted to full Council as part of the Budget Council in February/March.

Budget updates are reviewed and assumptions updated throughout the year based upon latest 
information available e.g. the Government’s Autumn Budget, new legislation, etc. 

Implications of the capital programme are included in these budgets as are service growth and 
pressures.  

Final recommendations are then made by Cabinet to Budget Council. 

Services are notified of their approved budgets following Budget Council in February/March. 

Table 22 summarises the key timetable dates

Page 193



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 48

Table 22 Key Budget Setting Timetable Dates

Date Meeting/Event Purpose

2018
September Consultation

Budget Cabinet 25th September

1. 10th September consultation ends

1. Discretionary Fees & Charges 2019/20    } for consultation
2. Revenue Budget 2019/20 - 2021/22         } for consultation                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
3. MTFS 2019/20 - 2023/24                         

October Budget Cabinet 30th October 1. Savings Programme 2019/20 - 2020/21 - Post consultation
2. Capital Programme 2019/20 to 2021/22 - Pre consultation

November Budget Cabinet 13th November 1. Revenue Budget 2019/20 - 2021/22                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
2. Council Tax and Business Rates Bases 2019/20

2019
January Budget Cabinet 28th January 1. Revenue Budget Update 2019/20 - 2021/22

2. Capital Programme 2019/20 - 2021/22 post consultation
3. Discretionary Fees & Charges 2019/20 - Post Consultation

February Budget Cabinet 11th Febuary 1. Treasury Management Strategy 2019/20
2. MTFS 2019/20 - 2023/24
3. Local Government Act 2003
4. Revenue Budget and Council Tax 2019/20
5. Capital, Invest and Disposal Strategy

  
3.1.2 Budget Guidelines

Detailed guidelines are provided to all relevant staff to ensure that revenue budgets for 
individual services are prepared consistently. These guidelines contain details of the 
assumptions that are to be made in setting the revenue budget and also set out broad 
principles that are to be adhered to. 

3.1.3  Revenue Budget Assumptions for 2019/20 – 2023/24

The budget setting process is complex and must be undertaken in a planned way. It is equally 
important that assumptions used in the preparation of the budget are agreed, reasonable and 
consistently applied. The budget assumptions are applied corporately to service budgets, with 
individual exceptions on a case by case basis for specific contracts. 

The budget forecast has been based on a number of assumptions, known levels of 
expenditure and anticipated levels of resources, which are summarised in Table 23. 

Page 194



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 49

Table 23a Summary of Key Budget Assumptions

Budget 
assumption for the 
MTFS

Assumption applied

Council Tax  General purposes - maximum level as allowed by the 
referendum limit. 
Adult Social Care precept - 6% over the 3 years 2017/18 to 
2019/20, in line with the maximum referendum limit

Business Rates / 
Top up grant

Increased in line with CPI inflationary increases to the 
business rates multiplier at September each year

Revenue Support 
Grant

In line with four year offer provided in Local Government 
Finance Settlement 2016/17

Pay awards In with the proposed National Pay Settlement Agreement for 
2019/20, generally 2% with higher increases for some staff 
at lower pay scales. The MTFS assumes a 1% increase for 
2020/21 to 2023/24.

Superannuation 
contribution rates

In line with the three year pension re-valuation undertaken 
by the Greater Manchester Pension Fund

Inflation non pay 
(Prices)

MTFS assumes no increase in non-pay budgets in line with 
budget guidelines. Contractual arrangements and other 
significant inflation issues will be considered on a case by 
case basis 

Discretionary Fees 
& Charges

MTFS assumes 2% per year in line with budget guidelines

Waste Disposal 
Levy

The Waste Disposal Levy assumed for in the MTFS is based 
on the latest projections provided by GM Waste Disposal 
Authority (GMWDA).

PTA Levy The levy is based on current information provided by the 
Passenger Transport Authority

Page 195



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 50

Table 23b Key Budget Assumptions 2019/20 to 2023/24
 

Council Tax
General Increase 2.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99%
Adult Care Precept 1.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Total Council Tax Charge 3.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99%

Business Rates
Business Rates Multiplier 2.20% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
Business Rates Top Up Grant 2.20% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Other 
Pay 2.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%
Superannuation - Increase (Decrease) in 
Contribution Rate

0.0% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9%

Contribution Rate 20.5% 21.4% 22.3% 23.2% 24.1%
Prices 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Discretionary Fees & Charges 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
Underlying Waste Disposal Levy 2.9% 1.5% 1.6% 0.0% 0.0%
Underlying Passenger Transport Levy 0.9% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Area of Budget 2019/20 2020/21 

3.2 Savings Programme 2019/20 and 2020/21

The Savings Programme for 2019/20 was designed to bridge the budget gap for 2019/20, to 
enable a legally balanced budget to be set by 11th March 2019, and consider savings which 
can contribute to the 2020/21 gap. 

3.2.1 Savings programme milestones

For 2019/20 and 2020/21 savings proposals have been considered in order to meet the 
budget gap. 

Before considering changes that affect the workforce or front line services we review the whole 
of the budget to:

 Identify alternative financial resources to continue providing the service;
 Realign budgets to reflect operational activity;
 Review Corporate Budgets
 Look for savings through commissioning and procurement activity

Page 196



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 51

Full Council on the 12th December 2018 approved savings proposals in relation to General 
Council Services and Aligned Services, as detailed in Table 25.

Table 24 Savings Programme 2019/20 to 2020/21

Ongoing One-off Ongoing One-off
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Service Savings Proposals
Proposals not requiring consultation -1,209 -200 -1,497 -100
Outside the process -136 0 -436 0
Service Delivery Proposals -135 0 -229 0

-1,480 -200 -2,162 -100

2019/20 2020/21

3.3 Balances and Reserves Strategy 

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief Finance Officer to report to Council for 
consideration immediately prior to setting the Budget and Council Tax. The report aims to 
ensure that Council is aware of the opinion of the Chief Finance Officer regarding the 
robustness of the budget as proposed and the adequacy of general balances and reserves. 
This includes general balances and amounts held as specific reserves and contingencies. 

3.3.1   General Fund Balances 

General fund balances are amounts set aside to cushion the impact of unexpected events and 
emergencies.  In order to assess their adequacy, a systematic approach has been adopted.  
This approach is based on the identification of the key financial risks following which an 
amount of ‘potential’ exposure is calculated based on the impact of the risk and the possibility 
of its occurrence.  It should however be noted that this is not a precise science and that local 
circumstances, the strength of financial reporting arrangements and the Council’s track record 
in financial management will also be a key influence on the actual potential of any individual 
risk materialising.  The net value of the potential exposure is currently estimated at £17m.

The key financial risks leading to the projected requirement of £17m General Fund balances 
are detailed in a report to Cabinet 12th February on the robustness of the budget and the 
adequacy of general balances and reserves, under the requirements of the Local Government 
Act 2003. The level of balances reflects the potential financial risks associated with the timing 
of the delivery of the health and social care integration benefits/efficiencies. On this basis it if 
felt prudent to identify this as a risk at this stage. The risks have been reviewed during the 
Autumn/Winter as part of the Budget process. 

Page 197



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 52

3.3.2 Earmarked Reserves

In addition to general balances, the Council holds a number of earmarked reserves.  These 
are resources that have been set aside to fund specific issues that may arise in the future. It is 
important that the Council makes best uses of all the resources it has and therefore where it is 
clear that a reserve is no longer required then the resources can be released to provide one-
off support to the Revenue Budget. 

The Council’s budget setting process includes an annual review of amounts held in earmarked 
reserves. This ensures that resources continue to be set aside only where there is a clear 
continuing need to do so. 
Some of the key reserves are referred to below:

 Equalisation Reserve - This reserve has been established to assist the Authority in 
managing its budget requirement for future years and smoothing the impact of savings 
requirement through the commitment of one off funds that become available, e.g. from in 
year underspends.  The level of the reserve is reviewed as part of the budget process with 
contributions increased or decreased as necessary. 

 Insurance Reserve - this is required to cover potential liabilities arising from the need to 
finance costs (e.g. claims and premium payments) associated with insurable risk and the 
self-funding of general corporate risks. The level of the reserve is reviewed as part of the 
budget process with contributions increased or decreased as necessary. 

 Schools Reserves – school balances are reviewed on an annual basis.  The current policy 
of the Schools Forum provides for balances above agreed limits to be clawed back and 
redistributed to all schools. This is a ring fenced reserve.

 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Reserves - This reserve is the cumulative amount of 
unapplied funding received to date which will be utilised to finance the schools and street 
lighting PFI schemes over the whole life of the projects. This is a ring fenced reserve.

A detailed analysis of the Council’s balances and reserves is carried out as part of the budget 
setting process and the report provided to Budget Council each February/March under the 
Local Government Act 2003 to provide assurance that the level of reserves and balances are 
appropriate.

3.3.3 Reserves Policy

The Council’s policy on balances and reserves is outlined within the MTFS principles as 
follows:

 Our Council will maintain general balances at a level to mitigate risks to cover any 
major unforeseen expenditure. The approach to be adopted to be based on the 
identification of the key financial risks following which an amount of ‘potential’ 
exposure is calculated based on the impact of the risk and the possibility of its 
occurrence 

Page 198



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 53

 Our Council will maintain earmarked reserves for specific purposes which are 
consistent with achieving key priorities. To ensure the Council makes  best uses of 
all the resources it has if a reserve is no longer required then the resources can be 
released to provide one-off support to the Revenue Budget

 The use and level of general balances and earmarked reserves will be reviewed at 
least annually.

 Our Council will seek to balance its revenue budget over the period of the MTFS 
without reliance on the use of general reserves and contain overall Council spending 
within original estimates. However, the Council will utilise funds from the 
Equalisation Reserve, see 3.3.2 for further details, to smooth the impact of one off 
savings, long term cost pressures and transformational efficiencies agreed as part of 
the Savings Programme proposals.

3.3.4   Provisions

Provisions are amounts set aside by the Council to meet the cost of a future liability, for which 
the timing of the payment is uncertain. The amounts represent the best estimate of that liability 
where an exact cost is not able to be determined. In line with the Code of Practice, the 
provision is charged to service revenue accounts in the year it is established. When the liability 
falls due, the costs are charged directly to the provision. The two material provisions are:

 Insurances – This represents amounts set aside by the Council to meet obligations 
arising in respect of Employers Public Liability and motor vehicle claims. 

 Business Rates Rateable Value – This is for potential backdated liability of 
refunding ratepayers who appeal successfully against the rateable value on the 
Business Rates hereditaments rating list. 

Page 199



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 54

Part 4:  Financial Assurance

Each year as part of the annual accounts process our Council must demonstrate that it is a 
going concern. This means it must show that it is financially sound in this time of austerity and 
changing local authority structures. Our Council is scrutinised by external audit who will review 
and comment on whether we have put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as the Value for Money 
(VFM) conclusion. This can be demonstrated in a number of ways:

a. Through the Medium Term Financial Strategy document

b. Having a balanced Budget and an efficiency programme to deliver a balanced budget 
through savings proposals by Budget Council.

c.     Having a robust Budget Process as outlined at 3.1.

d.   Clear links between Corporate and Directorate plans and the MTFS, as detailed at 
section 4.

e.    Adequate levels of balances and reserves to mitigate financial risks, as outlined at 3.3. 

f.     Consistent and regular monitoring, reported to officers and members.

A Corporate Peer Review undertaken independently by the Local Government Association for 
the Council considered, as part of a range of key questions.” does  the council have a financial 
plan in place to ensure long term viability and is there evidence that it is being implemented 
successfully? “

The findings of the Peer Review, Peer Challenge report confirmed that:

“The council has been prudent with its approach to financial management. There is a clear 
understanding of the scale of financial savings required over the next few years, with senior 
members being well involved in these debates and decisions. The council has managed its 
financial challenges well so far. For a number of years it has taken action on tackling funding 
reductions and delivered substantial savings to ensure it has a balanced budget.”

“There is a well-established and effective approach to financial management with regular 
monitoring and scrutiny of budget reports.”

The external audit review of the Council’s Value for Money arrangements as part of the Annual 
Accounts 2017/18 concluded that:
 

 The Council has proper arrangements in place for working effectively with third parties 
to deliver strategic priorities.  

Page 200

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2015-11-30-Peer-Challenge-Report.pdf


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 55

 The Council has proper arrangement in place for ensuring sustainable resource 
deployment.

Link to Audit report: 
Audit and Governance Committee 26 July 2018

The Medium Term Financial Strategy, the budget setting process and the monitoring of the 
budgets ensure that expenditure and income are managed robustly within the available 
resources ensuring that the Council is a going concern for the foreseeable future. The external 
confirmation from both the Peer Review and the External Audit findings demonstrate that our 
Council is taking positive measures to ensure the Council remains a going concern

Financial Resilience

CIPFA has published a paper: ‘Building financial resilience: managing financial stress in local 
authorities7’ intended to help chief financial officers and their authorities build financial 
resilience into all aspects of their planning and operations. It identifies the warning signs of 
financial stress, and explains the pillars on which financial resilience depends.

CIPFA has outlined the warning signs of financial stress exhibited by local authorities. Table 
25 shows how the Council is performing against these warning signs.

7 CIPFA Insights - Building financial resilience: managing financial stress in local authorities (http://www.cipfa.org/cipfa-thinks/insight)

Page 201

http://r1p-mgv-www01/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=675&MId=4778&Ver=4
http://www.cipfa.org/cipfa-thinks/insight


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 56

Table 25 Financial Stress Warning Signs

CIPFA has identified four key pillars of financial resilience:

 Getting routine financial management right;
 Benchmarking;
 Clear plans for delivering savings;
 Managing reserves.

The Council identifies how it achieves financial resilience via the annual Value for Money 
Assessment and Going Concern letter. These form part of the annual external audit of the 
Council’s accounts.

Warning Sign Council Performance
Running down reserves The Council reviews its balances and reserves on an 

annual basis in accordance with the requirements of 
the Local Government Act 2003. The Reserves 
Policy states that the Council will seek to balance its 
revenue budget over the period of the MTFS without 
reliance on the use of general reserves (see section 
3.3).

A failure to plan and deliver 
savings in service provision to 
ensure the council lives within its 
resources

The Council has undertaken a robust annual savings 
programme designed to bridge the budget gap, to 
enable a legally balanced budget to be set each year 
(see section 3.2).

Shortening medium-term financial 
planning horizons

The Council’s MTFS cover a 5 year period.

Greater ‘still to be found’ gaps in 
saving plans, where authorities 
have only specified how savings 
will be achieved for the next 
financial year and even then there 
may be some with targets rather 
than firm plans

The savings programme identifies specific savings to 
bridge the budget gap for the next financial year, and 
also identifies savings to help meet the budget gap 
in the following year. Savings proposals are all risk 
assessed.

A growing tendency for 
departments to have unplanned 
overspends and/or carrying 
forward undelivered saving into the 
following year

A composite financial report is produced four times 
per year  at scheduled meetings of the Cabinet, 
providing:
 an overall financial update, identifying major 

variations and the required corrective action;  
 a separate report monitoring the performance of 

Savings proposals approved for the year with 
any mitigating actions should delivery of the 
savings proposals have changed.

Page 202



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 57

Part 5: Efficiency Plan

As part of the Local Government Finance Settlement 2016/17, Central Government offered 
councils the opportunity to accept a four year funding offer. This provided councils with a four-
year funding settlement to 2019/20. For our Council this meant that we knew for four years 
how much Revenue Support Grant we would receive. 

However, 2019/20 is the last year of the current Government Spending Review period and of 
the four-year funding settlement for local government. There are multiple reforms scheduled 
for 2020/21 that will have a significant impact on local authority funding. The MTFS is based 
on current assumptions and will be reviewed and updated as more information is released by 
the Government regarding the reforms to local government funding. 

The Council’s Corporate Plan 2016 – 2019 recognises the significant financial challenges 
faced by the Council which will be addressed by working differently. To help to do this our 
Council has identified a number of “key corporate enabling work programmes” which will 
ensure we have the capacity to achieve the outcomes the Council is seeking for its residents 
and local communities.

The work programme includes:

 Capitalising as a Borough on the benefits arising from Devolution to Greater Manchester.

 Integration and Transformation of health and social care – working closely across 
organisational boundaries, and sharing budgets and staff to commission high-quality 
joined up care at the right time and in the right place.

 Behaviour change – encouraging and supporting people and communities to be 
independent and resilient, developing a culture of social responsibility where people help 
themselves and each other.

 Volunteering – building capacity by encouraging and supporting volunteers and voluntary, 
community and faith groups to work alongside us to achieve our vision.

 New service delivery models - looking for ways to save money by exploring opportunities 
to do things differently, for example by sharing some of our services with other councils 
and public sector bodies.

 Improving value for money – managing our people and our money, seeking out best 
practice, making better use of data and intelligence and streamlining decision-making.

Since 2010/11 the Council has made £180.1m of savings. Our Council continues to face 
significant financial challenges due to ongoing reductions in Government funding, more 
demand and increasing costs of services. 

Page 203



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 58

In February 2018 the Council set a three year budget for 2018/19 to 2019/20. This budget 
identified a budget gap of £8.2m in 2019/20 and £17.0m in 2020/21.

During the budget process the Budget for 2019/20 to 2021/22 has been continuously updated 
and reported to previous Cabinet meetings from the position reported to Full Council in 
February 2018. The estimated budget gap has been revised to £1.3m in 2019/20; £10.2m in 
2020/21; and £17.7m in 2021/22, based on:

 Current assumptions;
 The Autumn Budget 2018;
 The Local Government Finance Settlement 2019/20;
 Savings Proposals approved by council 12th December 2018.

A reduction in the contribution to the Pooled Fund and contribution from reserves of £0.156m 
will allow a balanced budget to be set for 2019/20.

The Integrated Health and Social Care Pooled Fund has a budget deficit of £11.2m for 
2019/20. The savings (benefits) will be achieved by pooling the resources of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and the Local Authority (Children’s services, Adult Social Care 
and elements of Public Health) and investing these pooled resources in less costly service 
provision which has greater benefits for the patient/resident receiving the support/care. The 
achievement of these savings proposals will be managed by the Integrated Commissioning 
Board.

Page 204



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 59

6.1 Borough’s Place Plan

The Borough’s Place Plan 2016 -2021 sets out the Borough’s ambitions for the next five years 
which is to be delivered through partnership working. There are three priorities: People, Place 
and Prosperity set out in the Borough’s Place Plan Place Plan for the Borough, and within this 
context, the focus for our Council over the next three years will be on improving education 
(people), our local environment (place) and our local economy (prosperity). 

How we will achieve these outcomes is contained in 5 key partnership plans, namely:
 Borough Master Plan – In development
 Safer Communities Plan Safer Communities Plan 2015 -2018
 Co-operating for Better Health and Well-being Greater Manchester Health & Social Care 

Devolution Taking Charge
 Housing Statement – In development
 Economic Plan Economy Directorate Plan

The Place Plan ambition will be monitored and delivered through partners at a regional level 
as part of the Greater Manchester Devolution, through our Council’s local strategies and 
delivered at an operational level by Service Directorates. The MTFS, Capital Investment and 
Disposal Strategy, Asset Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy support the Place Plan 
and in particularly work with the key drivers outlined in the Council’s Corporate Plan.

Part 6: Strategies which the MTFS supports

Regional Strategies

 Greater Manchester 
Devolution Agreement 
& Work Programme

 GM Spatial Framework
 GM “Stronger 

Together”
 GM Growth & Reform 

Plan
 GM Health & Social 

Care Plan – Taking 
Charge

 GM Strategic Land Use 
& Transport Strategies 
2016

Local Strategies

 Borough Master 
Plan 2016

 Safer Communities 
Plan

 Corporate Plan 
2016 -2019

 Housing Statement 
2016

 Economic Plan 
2016

 Townships Plans
 Locality Health & 

Social Care Plan

Operational

 Directorate Plans
 Performance & Risk
 Asset Management
 Procurement Strategy
 ICT Strategy
 People Strategy
 Equality & Diversity  

Policy“ No matter 
who”

 Capital Strategy
 Treasury Management 

Strategy

Medium Term Financial Strategy

Page 205

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/place-plan.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2015-03-16-Safer-Partnerships-Plan-2015-18.pdf
http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/gmhsc-downloads/
http://www.gmhsc.org.uk/gmhsc-downloads/
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/economy-directorate-plan.aspx


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 60

6.2 Corporate Plan 2016/17 – 2018/19

The Corporate Plan 2016-19 is how the Council plays its part in meeting the ambition outlined 
in the Place Plan , and also includes a fourth priority performance. The MTFS and Corporate 
Plan are aligned to ensure that our resources are aligned to the priorities of the Council. 

The key Corporate Plan priorities which the MTFS supports are shown below

Our vision: to be a  Council which builds 
success and prosperity with our 
citizens and partners, while 
protecting vulnerable people

Three key drivers of the Corporate Plan over the next 3 years:
                            People       -    Improving education
                            Place         -    Our local environment
                            Prosperity  -    Our local economy
Improving performance is our fourth priority – Focusing on managing 

our resources effectively to achieve our ambitions – supported by 
the MTFS

Our vision and priorities as set out in our Corporate Plan 2016-19 can be seen by clicking on 
the following link, Corporate Plan for Rochdale Borough Council

Our values are at the heart of everything we do. We will:
 Value our people.
 Focus on our customers.
 Act with integrity.
 Use time and money wisely.
 Work together.
 Always learn and improve.

In common with other areas, we face significant financial challenges, which we will address by 
working differently. We have identified a number of key corporate principles that will help us to 
do this, ensuring that we have the capacity to achieve the outcomes we are seeking.

 Capitalising as a Borough on the benefits arising from Devolution to Greater Manchester.

 Integration and Transformation of health and social care – working closely across 
organisational boundaries, and sharing budgets and staff to commission high-quality joined 
up care at the right time and in the right place.

 Behaviour change – encouraging and supporting people and communities to be 
independent and resilient, developing a culture of social responsibility where people help 
themselves and each other.

Page 206

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/corporate-plan.aspx


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 61

 Volunteering – building capacity by encouraging and supporting volunteers and voluntary, 
community and faith groups to work alongside us to achieve our vision.

 New service delivery models - looking for ways to save money by exploring opportunities 
to do things differently, for example by sharing some of our services with other councils 
and public sector bodies.

 Improving value for money – managing our people and our money, seeking out best 
practice, making better use of data and intelligence and streamlining decision-making.

The Corporate Plan will be updated in 2019.

6.3 Locality Plan

Our vision for health and social care and wellbeing by 2021 is set out in Rochdale GM 
Devolution Locality Plan ‘Co-operating for better Health and Wellbeing: A plan for 2016-21’.

In order to achieve our vision our Council will prioritise the following:

1. Extending lifestyle and behaviour change programmes – aiming to have an impact at the 
earliest possible time.

2. Strengthening community engagements and ownership of health and wellbeing, building 
more opportunities for community and peer support, developing new solutions and support 
mechanisms alongside public services.

3. Growing early years and early intervention support, targeting children and adults at risk 
before problems take root.

4. Extending local mental health and wellbeing services, with individuals and community 
groups becoming a strong part of the support available.

5. Integrated the commissioning of health, care and wellbeing so that services are put in 
place to meet the needs of the person.

To achieve this transformation resource will be brought together and services jointly 
commissioned across health and social care, concentrating on the needs of the whole person 
in the design of services, using co-production as our default way of working.

The Rochdale Borough Locality Plan sets out where we are now and the case for change 
describing the opportunities to improve quality and reduce costs. The Locality Plan is 
continually updated and monitored by the Integrated Commissioning Board whose 
membership consists of representatives from our Council, Clinical Commissioning Group and 
Public Health, Governing Body members and Cabinet portfolio holders.
Locality Plan Cooperating for Better Health and Wellbeing a plan for 2016-21

Page 207

http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=697&MId=4194&Ver=4


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 62

Part 7: Value for Money and Assurance around Financial Management

7.1 Governance and Internal Controls 

7.1.1 Systems of Internal Control

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 places a requirement on all local authorities to 
ensure that the Authority has a sound system of internal control which facilitates the effective 
exercise of the Authority’s functions and which includes the arrangements for the management 
of risk.  Our system of internal control is based upon an on-going process designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Authority’s policies, aims and objectives.  It is 
followed by evaluation of the likelihood of those risks being realised, their impact should they 
be realised and how to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

7.1.2 The Internal Control Environment

The framework for the system of internal control forms the overall control environment. Its key 
elements are as follows: -

 Establishing and monitoring the achievement of our Council’s objectives;
 Facilitating policy and decision-making;
 Ensure delivery of the savings proposals to achieve a balanced budget;
 Ensuring compliance with established policies, procedures, laws and regulations including 

how risk management is embedded in the activities of Rochdale BC, how leadership is 
given to the risk management process and how staff are trained to manage risk in a way 
appropriate to their authority and duties;

 Ensuring the economic, effective and efficient use of resources, and for securing 
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a 
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness;

 The financial management of Rochdale BC and the reporting of financial management; 
and

 The performance management of Rochdale BC and the reporting of performance 
management.

The description of the system of internal control at Rochdale BC is covered in detail in the 
Annual Governance Statement which is accessible on the Annual Accounts Section of the 
Authority’s website, at the link below:

www.rochdale.gov.uk/annual-accounts

Detailed here are the aspects of the system that are particularly relevant to the achievement of 
the medium term plan and financial strategy. 

Page 208

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/budgets-and-spending/annual-accounts/pages/default.aspx


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 63

7.1.3 The Planning Framework

Establishing Objectives: Our priorities and objectives are informed by the Rochdale Borough 
Sustainable Community Strategy 2011-2021 (SCS). Whilst the vision and priorities contained 
within the SCS are for 20 years, the SCS itself is a four-year delivery plan which has recently 
been refreshed under the leadership of the Transformational Leaders Group. The refresh has 
brought together the SCS and a number of thematic strategic plans that have been 
developed by key strategic partnerships into a single Place Plan for the Borough. From this, 
the Council developed its own vision to build success and prosperity with our citizens and 
partners, whilst protecting our vulnerable people. The key priorities were established as being 
People, Place, Prosperity and Corporate Health. These priorities are directing the Council’s 
work through the enabling work programmes set out in the Corporate Plan, delivered by 
Directorate Plans and underpinned by the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  

Leadership Team Monitoring: Rochdale BC’s Leadership Team (LT) monitors our 
progress in achieving Corporate Plan’s outcomes. In addition, LT take collective 
responsibility for ensuring effective financial management is in place and has a leading 
role in respect of the savings proposals. 

The Budget Plan: The medium term financial strategy is implemented through a 
detailed budget plan which is subject to annual review and update.  The latest forecast 
of income and expenditure are considered alongside any implications for the 
achievement of Corporate and Directorate plan objectives.  Consultation on the budget 
is undertaken with Township Committees, Trade Unions, the Voluntary Sector, staff, the 
public and other key stakeholders.  In February/ March each year, the Budget Council 
makes the decision to formally set the budget, on recommendation from the Cabinet.  
That budget is set on the basis of robust, three-year financial forecasts, with a fully 
detailed budget for the year ahead. When Government settlements are available for 
future years an indicative Council tax is also set.

Directorate Planning:  Directorate plans are developed in the context of the Corporate 
Plan.  Led by Directors in conjunction with their Portfolio Holder, they set out an annual 
plan of service delivery. The plans take account of the Service’s budget, structure, 
details of workforce planning, performance information, assets, and risks. The 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees consider the Plans produced for each of the 
council’s Directorates as they apply to their particular terms of reference. As well as 
informing Members of the work programmes for the various services covered by the 
Directorates, the Plans also set the indicators to be reported to the Committee as part 
of the performance management framework

Page 209



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 64

7.1.4 Budget management & monitoring 

The Budget management framework: Delivery of the budget plan is monitored through the 
budget management framework that seeks to ensure: 

 All managers fully understand their budget and the relationship between activity and 
costs;

 Services maximise the use of the available resources and minimise the risk of 
overspending;

 The Council has assurance that individual service budgets and the overall Council 
budget are being managed effectively; and

 Budget problems and risks are identified at an early stage to enable corrective action to 
be taken.

Budget management meetings: Regular meetings are held between Directors and 
representatives of the Chief Finance Officer. These seek to ensure that Directors fully 
understand their budgets, are aware of areas of risk and have appropriate plans in place to 
manage pressures and savings. Specific focus is given to identified budget risks and the 
implementation of budget savings. Directors sign off their service budgets as part of the 
budget setting process.

Revenue Budget monitoring: Budget monitoring seeks to continuously identify and explain 
actual income and expenditure variations against established budgets.  Budget monitoring is 
the responsibility of budget managers with the support of Finance Services, each budget has 
a named budget manager and responsibilities are clarified.  Financial reports are produced 
on a monthly basis and regular meetings held to discuss the financial forecasts.  A Financial 
Update Report is presented quarterly to the Council’s Cabinet. Significant variations are 
investigated and the Director agrees the corrective action to be taken.  Directors are also 
required to monitor the implementation of approved savings and advise of any slippage or 
variation.  

7.1.5 Performance Management Framework

Performance management:  Directors are responsible for managing the performance of the 
service against the Directorate plan through a structure of team plans and individual staff 
performance and development reviews.  These plans focus clearly on specific tasks and 
performance indicators so that all staff know what they have to achieve, and show how the 
team will contribute towards the targets detailed in the Directorate Plan and the overall aims 
of the Council. Service and Team plan objectives are tied back into the Corporate Plan 
objectives.  

7.1.6 Political Leadership

Portfolio Holders: Each portfolio holder works closely with the appropriate Director to 
develop and sign off the Directorate plan, to consider savings proposals and throughout the 
year they receive regular budget/ service delivery updates on the services within their 

Page 210



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 65

portfolio. The portfolio holder has a Cabinet Assistant identified. The opposition portfolio 
holders are also in place. There is a single portfolio holder role covering all aspects of 
Finance, who provides the lead on finance matters at Cabinet and committees where 
required.

Budget Management – The Cabinet: A composite financial report is produced quarterly at 
scheduled meetings of the Cabinet, providing:

 an overall financial update, identifying major variations and the required corrective 
action.  

 a separate report monitoring the performance of  Savings proposals approved for the 
year with any mitigating actions should delivery of the savings proposals have changed

 an update on the performance of the Collection Fund which accounts for the collection 
of income from council tax and business rates in year.

Adverse variations are accompanied by corrective action with specific recommendations 
made to Cabinet to approve the service delivery implications of that action where appropriate.  

Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee:  Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
plays an effective role in supporting sound budget performance.  Services with in-year 
overspend forecasts above an agreed limit of £250k are required to discuss their planned 
action to bring the budget back into balance. 

Audit & Governance Committee: The terms of reference of this Committee include 
responsibility for overseeing RBC governance arrangements and the approval of the Annual 
Statement of Accounts, Annual Governance Statement, Annual Internal Audit Plan and Risk 
Management Strategy. The Committee also provides Members with the ability to challenge 
senior officers on any areas where weaknesses are identified within the internal control 
framework and risk management arrangements and seek assurances that actions are being 
completed within agreed timescales.

7.2. Risk & Control

7.2.1 What is Risk Management?

Risk management is the structure, processes and culture that contribute to the effective 
management of threats to the Council that may prevent us from achieving our policies, aims, 
and objectives.  It affects all of us in the Council as well as our partners and citizens. 

The challenges that we face and the rate of change puts us under increasing pressure to 
continually improve the quality of our risk management processes. This means that we need to 
make sure that our risk management processes are structured, as well as being instinctive and 
intuitive. If we are to meet these challenges, high quality risk management needs to be at the 
core of our decision making at all levels of the Council. 

Risk management should not be a process that stifles innovation and prevents opportunism but 
rather one in which risks can, and should, be taken, providing they are actively managed and 
justified. The dynamically changing environment for Local Government means that we must 

Page 211



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 66

ensure that we are risk aware rather than risk averse. It is acceptable to have a high risk 
initiative providing it is managed appropriately. The focus should be on the action taken to 
manage the risk and not simply on reducing the risk status.  

The current Risk Management Strategy for the Council, detailing how the Council manages 
risks in achieving our strategies, policies, aims, and objectives, can be found at the link below:

www.rochdale.gov.uk/risk-management-strategy

Code of Corporate Governance: Rochdale BC is responsible for ensuring that its business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently and effectively. In 
discharging this accountability, Members and senior officers are responsible for putting in place 
proper arrangements for the governance of the Authority’s affairs and the stewardship of the 
resources at its disposal.  To this end, the Authority has previously approved and adopted a 
Code of Corporate Governance, which is consistent with the principles and reflects the 
requirements of the CIPFA/ SOLACE Framework setting out best practice in this area.  The 
Code is approved by the Audit and Governance Committee and refreshed annually.  The 
Governance Board is an officer led body chaired by the Monitoring Officer which oversees the 
governance arrangements within the Council and communicates with key managers. 
Membership includes Internal Audit and senior officers across the Council with responsibilities 
for governance and risk.  

Risk Management:  Our approach to risk management plays an important role in supporting 
effective financial and service management practices.  Section four of the strategy provides 
more detail on this area.

Internal Audit: The scope of the Internal Audit team, an independent assurance function, 
includes examining and evaluating the whole system of internal controls established by 
management, which is not confined to the financial control system.  It involves an evaluation of 
the controls against an assessment of the risks facing the Authority to determine their 
adequacy, reliability and effectiveness and how well the responsibilities assigned to managers 
are being carried out in practice.

Training & Awareness: The regular training provided is intended to ensure that staff within 
Finance Services, elected members and non-finance officers are supported in understanding 
their financial responsibilities and have the necessary knowledge and skills to undertake them. 

External Audit: External audit provides independent audit and inspection covering two 
elements: the audit of the financial statements and the assessment of the Council’s 
arrangements for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources (Value for Money).

7.2.2 Significant Internal Control Issues

The ongoing operational changes within all areas of the Council continue to have potential 
implications for the internal control environment. However this is something that is kept under 

Page 212

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/policies-strategies-and-reviews/strategies/corporate/Pages/risk-management-strategy.aspx


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 67

constant review by Internal Audit which provides assurance on the effectiveness of controls in 
all key areas.  Any significant issues which may have an impact on overall governance within 
the Council are summarised within our Annual Governance Statement Annual Governance 
Statement 2017-18 which includes an action plan to address these issues within an agreed 
timeframe, these feed through to the Directorate Plans.  Through implementation of this plan, 
Rochdale BC is confident that these issues will not have a significant negative influence on the 
internal control mechanisms and systems.

7.2.3 Risk Management & Business Continuity 

The Council considers Risk Management to be a key priority in achieving the strategies, 
policies, and objectives of the Borough.

The vision for the Council is to embed the identification and management of risk to support the 
achievement of Rochdale Council’s objectives.

7.2.4 What is a Business Continuity Plan?

Business Continuity Plans set out how the business will operate following a significant incident 
and how it expects to return to “business as usual” as soon as possible. The plan sets out the 
agreed arrangement for bringing events under control; the necessary resources for maintaining 
critical business functions; and the staff required for coordinating actions.

Business Continuity ensures that the Council can still deliver high priority services to the 
residents of Rochdale.

Page 213

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/budgets-and-spending/annual-accounts/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/budgets-and-spending/annual-accounts/Pages/default.aspx


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 68

Part 8:  Asset Management Strategy

Asset Management Strategy

Our assets are resources the Council’s owns.  In financial terms they cost money to run and 
maintain and have a market value that on sale would provide a receipt to fund other assets or 
reduce debt/ the costs of borrowing.  The quality of our assets, their fitness for purpose, location 
and condition has a significant impact on customer access and the customer experience.  Public 
realm and infrastructure assets influence our sense of place and how people feel about the 
Borough.  Assets can also help transform how we work.  

The Council’s Asset Strategy for 2016/19 focuses on the following Strategic Objectives:

 To improve front-line service delivery and to maintain a high profile presence within the 
community.

 To contribute to the borough’s economic growth, and to its social and environmental well-
being.

 To develop a more efficient property portfolio, increasingly fit for purpose.

 To realise asset values through capital receipts and maximising rental income.

 To deliver revenue savings and to reduce property owner’s liability from a programme of 
asset rationalisation.

The Council’s Asset Strategy is available at Council's Asset Strategy 2016 -2019

The Asset Strategy will be updated in 2019.

Page 214

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2016-06-27-asset-strategy-plan.pdf


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 69

Section 9 : Treasury Management Strategy

9.1. Introduction

This section of the financial plan sets out the strategy for treasury management activity.  The 
most recent Treasury Management Strategy will be submitted for  approval by Council on 27th 
February 2019.  An effective approach to treasury management can make a significant 
contribution to the Council’s overall financial position.  

Our treasury management practices are strictly regulated by statutory requirements.  We operate 
within the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management and the Prudential Code and 
adhere to Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) guidance.  

Treasury management can be defined as:
‘The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows , its banking , money 
market and capital transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with these activities 
and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks

9.2. Treasury Management Strategy

The main purpose of the treasury management strategy is to: 

PROACTIVELY MANAGE THE COUNCIL’S DEBT & INVESTMENT PORTFOLIOS AND CASH 
FLOWS TO ACHIEVE BUDGETS AND TARGETS WHILST ENSURING THE AUTHORITY IS 
NOT PLACED AT UNDUE FINANCIAL RISK.

To help us achieve this, we have developed a number of aims, which are:

   The effective management and control of risks being the prime objective of the Council’s 
Treasury Management activities

 Effectively managing the Council’s cash flow requirements 
 Managing the security and liquidity risk of investments whilst taking opportunities to optimise 

returns on investments 
 Undertaking new borrowing at or below budgeted rates
 Seeking opportunities to reduce the cost of servicing existing debt
 Managing exposure to interest rate risk and volatility
 Reviewing our Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy to ensure that future debt 

repayments can be made with costs aligned to the useful life of assets . 
 Reviewing current practices and introducing improvements where possible
 Monitoring economic and market developments and assessing the implications on the debt 

and/or investment portfolio
 Investigating new products and opportunities, understanding their risks and benefits.

Page 215



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 70

 Considering and mitigating any risks created by changes or developments in Accounting 
Standards as they apply to Local Authorities.

 Operating within the agreed Treasury Management Practices
 Ensuring the Council’s approved Treasury Management Strategy is followed and that the 

Council acts within the appropriate legislation

We plan to achieve our aims through the implementation of a number of objectives for how we 
manage our investment activity and how we manage our debt portfolio.  These objectives are:

 INVESTMENT ACTIVITY

OBJECTIVE 1: Ensure maximum security of capital.
OBJECTIVE 2: To achieve the investment budgets and targets set, whilst seeking opportunities 
to outperform them.  

BORROWING ACTIVITY

OBJECTIVE 3: To achieve the debt related budgets and targets set, whilst seeking opportunities 
to outperform them. 
OBJECTIVE 4: Give due consideration to the impact of new borrowing or debt restructuring on 
the Council’s debt maturity profile and the associated implications for interest rate risk and the 
Council’s Balance Sheet.  

ACHIEVING OUR OBJECTIVES & MEASURING SUCCESS

OBJECTIVE 1: We will:
   Ensure that all investment activity is undertaken within the relevant legislation and 

prudential limits. 
 Only use those counterparties which meet the Council’s investment criteria 
 Continually keep under review the investment criteria, duration and limits of these 

investments and give priority to security and liquidity rather than yield.

OBJECTIVE 2: We will 
 Accurately model cash flow, interest rates and economic conditions alongside accessing 

specialist advice.
 Recognise and manage the Council’s surplus cash as two separate portfolios (cash flow 

and core cash).
 Continue to be proactive in the way in which cash is invested, seeking out new products, 

critically analysing relevant economic data and investing at optimum rates.  

OBJECTIVE 3 & 4:  We will:

Page 216



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 71

 Continue to undertake new borrowing activity on the basis of targeted rates and take 
advantage of money market movements to time the raising of new loans from the Public 
Works Loan Board and the wider market.

 Be aware of the balance between our current internally borrowed position and the risk of 
future interest rate increases.

 Give greater emphasis to re-balancing our debt maturity profile.
 Increase the use of direct dealing with counterparties in relation to debt where this 

approach reduces brokerage costs and/or secures lower interest charges. 
 Seek out new products that may become available in the debt market that are suitable for 

Local Authority purposes.
 Seek opportunities to undertake restructuring activity where it creates a financial benefit 

and/or allows for better management of interest rate risk within the debt portfolio.

OUTCOMES AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

OBJECTIVE 1: No loss of capital. 100% of investments made within the agreed criteria.

OBJECTIVE 2: – Investment activity to generate £0.3m income in 2019/20. Average rate of 
interest achieved to be higher than average 7 day LIBID plus two basis points.

OBJECTIVE 3: External interest charges of £10.5m or less in 2019/20 on RBC managed debt 
(net of contributions).

OBJECTIVE 4:  Debt restructuring results in either a net financial benefit or a reduction in interest 
rate risk.

MONITORING AND REPORTING

The Cabinet and Overview & Scrutiny Committee approve and review the strategy annually.  A 
full half yearly update on the Council’s Treasury Management activities to the end of September 
is included in the period 6 Budget Monitoring Report.

Treasury management indicators and limits are set out in Appendix A.

Page 217



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 72

Appendix A

Treasury Management Indicators and Limits 2019/20 to 2023/24

Capital Financing / Borrowing Requirement, Expected Debt and Under-Borrowing Position

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£m £m £m £m £m

Full Capital Financing Requirement - CFR 499.309 509.847 504.679 504.679 499.243
Borrowing Requirement BR = CFR less PFI 403.496 417.710 416.478 415.273 413.257
Expected Debt 270.673 304.630 312.333 321.123 329.573
Gross Under-Borrowing (BR less Expected Debt) 132.823 113.081 104.145 94.151 83.685

Operational Boundary for External Debt

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£m £m £m £m £m

Borrowing 430.240 446.261 446.120 444.922 442.873
Other Long Term Liabilities 102.317 97.954 93.233 88.201 83.970
Total 532.557 544.215 539.353 533.123 526.843

Authorised Limit for External Debt

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£m £m £m £m £m

Borrowing 519.603 546.824 550.799 528.930 531.567
Other Long Term Liabilities 102.317 97.954 93.233 88.201 83.970
Total 621.920 644.778 644.033 617.131 615.537

Debt Portfolio Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate Borrowing

Period Upper limit Lower limit
% %

Under 12 months 60 0
12 months and within 24 months 60 0
24 months and within 5 years 60 0
5 years and within 10 years 70 0
10 years and above 100 25

Page 218



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 73

Part 10: Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy

The Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy forms a key part the Council’s asset management and 
property investment strategies.  It summarises the framework for all aspects of the Council’s capital 
programme, including planning, prioritisation, management and funding, and links our Council’s 
vision and priorities with forecasted capital resources and capital budgets.  Linking into the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, this ensures that all revenue implications have been recognised and 
provided for in the Council’s revenue budgetary forecasts.

The Strategy covers:

 Capital Expenditure - including asset management planning and governance
 Investments and Liabilities - including approach, due diligence and risk appetite
 Treasury Management – covering governance, planning and risks/sensitivities with respect to 

capital investments
 Skills and Knowledge – detailing the skills, knowledge and training available to the Council in 

making investment decisions

The Capital Investment & Disposal Strategy is a high level overview of how the Council’s capital 
expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of 
services.  The Strategy provides an overview of how risks are managed, and what the implications 
are for future financial sustainability.  The purpose of the Strategy is to set out how the Council takes 
capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with service objectives and properly takes 
account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability.

The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations requires the Council to ‘have regard to’ 
the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.  The Act therefore requires the 
Council to ‘have in place a capital strategy that sets out the long-term context in which capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are made and gives due consideration to both risk and reward 
and impact on the achievement of priority outcomes’, which ‘should form a part of the authority’s 
integrated revenue, capital and balance sheet planning’.       

Page 219



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 74

Part 11: Linked Strategies

11.1 Corporate Procurement

In February 2014 Stockport, Trafford and Rochdale Councils established a shared 
procurement service – STAR Procurement. STAR provides an effective procurement function 
which supports commissioning and procurement processes. 

The Procurement Strategy that exists across the three councils sets out the strategic direction 
and priorities for procurement for the participating partners.

The STAR Procurement Strategy can be found at the link: 

http://www.star-procurement.gov.uk/About-us/Docs/STaR-Procurement-Strategy.pdf

11.2  Information Technology – The Connected Council Programme

The Connected Council Programme has also been born out of the Council's significant cost 
challenge, the need to improve the services we offer and how we interact with customers, our 
Public Sector Reform requirements and also to anticipate future channel shift that is desirable 
to both the Council and its Citizens.

This is not only about increasing customer choice by making all services available online, it is 
also about using the information we hold on our Citizens in a much more productive fashion, to 
drive out repeat requests and reduce costs.  This should mean once a resident has made a 
choice about how they want to contact us they can arrive at a Community Hub, phone the 
contact centre or go online and in all cases receive the same efficient service.

In essence this means we are making significant changes and improvements to our 
technology and processes to make things easier and better for customers. At the same time 
we are looking to reduce the amount of administration we require for certain requests, 
including the automation of a number of our internal procedures, in order to drive down costs 
and reduce errors.

There are a number of key aspects to the programme which will underpin future cost 
reduction, increase efficiency and enhance the agility of the Council in the longer term to react 
to change.

 Firstly we are drawing together around 100 separate sets of citizen information from 
throughout the various council departments in order to create one single view and record of 
each resident which will be linked to an accurate record of that citizen’s address and 
personal details. From the customer's perspective they will hold a single account with the 
Council.

Page 220

http://www.star-procurement.gov.uk/About-us/Docs/STaR-Procurement-Strategy.pdf
http://rbcintranet.rochdale.local/PSR/SitePages/Home.aspx


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 75

 Secondly we will use this single view of the customer during our interactions with them, 
regardless of how they choose to contact us. Any requests, amends or additions will 
automatically update all of the relevant council departments; thus reducing effort on the 
part of the customer and reducing duplication, costs and errors on the part of the Council.

 In the background we are mapping, analysing and totally refreshing all of our internal 
processes with a view to automating as many service requests and interactions as 
possible, again reducing repetition, errors and cost. Our primary focus is to update our 
processes in a customer centric fashion whilst making them as efficient as possible.

Work has already started on the various work streams that make up the Connected Council 
Programme but most of these are still in the early stages which mainly involve analysis of the 
current situation.

More information on the Connected Council Programme can be found at the link: Connected 
Council Programme

11.3 Organisational Development Strategy 

The Council is creating a new style organisation that is different and more agile from the one 
that existed before. We are exploring opportunities to do things differently, examining the way 
we work, the way we deliver high quality customer based services and the way we behave 
with a focus on the efficient and flexible use of our resources.  

Success will depend on an organisational culture that rewards talent and success, empowers 
and enables people, and an environment that promotes and provides work-based learning that 
gives people the confidence to take decisions where it is necessary and appropriate to do so. 

The new shape of the Council has been developed following a full assessment of the national 
and local context, financial situation and statutory requirements. This includes additional 
opportunities challenges and responsibilities arising from the Greater Manchester Devolution 
Agreement and the new Greater Manchester Combined Authority. 

Delivering our priorities within significant financial constraints requires us to transform our 
approach to service delivery and the way we work. The Organisational Development Strategy 
provides an overarching framework for the whole organisation and sets out how we will 
develop the Council as a whole to deliver its vision in this context.  

The key aims for this strategy are set out below: 
 To maintain a focus on empowered customers and communities 
 To ensure that services provide value for money 
 To ensure that we have the right people with the right skills in the right place at the right 

time to achieve this  
 To ensure we are seen as an employer of choice  
 To have a workforce that is representative of our local population 

Page 221

http://council.rochdale.local/neighbourhoods/ict/Connected_Council/SitePages/Home.aspx
http://council.rochdale.local/neighbourhoods/ict/Connected_Council/SitePages/Home.aspx


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 76

 To exploit technological developments to improve access to services and to create 
efficiencies   

 To further embed lean delivery and continuous improvement into the way we work 
 To have a highly motivated and productive workforce 

The Council’s Organisational Development Strategy can be found at the link:

Organisational Development Strategy

11.4 Equality and Diversity Policy

Our Equality and Diversity Policy - No Matter Who sets out the Council’s commitment to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Equality Act 2010. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not. 

Our public statements, services and employment practices will reflect this commitment.  We 
will promote this policy and expect respect for it from citizens, users of council services, 
partner agencies, Elected Members, council employees and our contractors. 

Our vision for equality and diversity is: 

 Representing, serving and employing people as equals. 
 Valuing the diversity of their contributions and aspirations. 
 No matter who they are or what their circumstances.  

We believe that tackling inequalities provides a strong foundation for cohesive and confident 
communities. We believe that all citizens have a right to equal access to life opportunities, 
including representation, services and employment by the council. To achieve this we are 
working towards removing barriers to opportunities and to narrowing the gap between the 
most disadvantaged and others. 

We understand that people may suffer from inequality due to discrimination because of their 
age, health, race, ethnic origin, religion, gender, sexuality or because they have a disability, 
they are pregnant or on maternity leave, they have undertaken gender reassignment, they are 
married or they are in civil partnerships.  We also recognise that some people may experience 
more than one type of inequality at the same time due to a combination of more than one 
relevant protected characteristic.   

Page 222

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2015-08-17-OD-Strategy-2015-18-v2.pdf


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 77

In addition, we also recognise that those who have caring responsibilities and Armed Forces 
and Ex-armed Forces personnel may face discrimination, and have made a commitment to 
protect them from discrimination. 

The Council’s Equality and Diversity Policy can be found at the link:

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/equality

Page 223

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/equality


Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 78

Part 12: Conclusion

The review of the MTFS has been undertaken against a background of significant reductions and 
changes in grant funding and increasing costs due to service pressures. These factors could 
jeopardise the Council’s sustainable financial position unless budget savings continue to be delivered 
alongside the delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities. 

The forecast budgets position for the Council shows an ongoing challenge, where our financial 
resources are currently not enough to meet the budget requirement to deliver our current service 
provision. The period covered by this financial strategy will continue to present our Council with some 
of the most significant operational and financial challenges ever experienced by those leading and 
managing the delivery of local services.  Managing our money well is now more important than it has 
ever been.

The Council will continue to keep the MTFS under review given the high degree of uncertainty 
surrounding the potential impact on Central Government policy and Government funding reforms in 
relation to Local Government. 

Page 224



Medium Term Financial Strategy
2019/20 to 2023/24

rochdale.gov.uk 79

 

Rochdale Borough Council

Number One Riverside

Smith Street

Rochdale OL16 1YH

  rochdale.gov.uk

  01706 647474

  council@rochdale.gov.uk
Page 225



Report to Council

Date of Meeting 27th February 2019
Portfolio
Report Author Keith Mackenzie
Public/Private Document

2019/20 Discretionary Business Rate Relief Policy

Executive Summary

1. The Discretionary Business Rate Relief Policy needs to be amended for 
2019/20 due to a change announced in the 2018 budget and to end changes 
introduced in the 2016 and 2017 budgets. Cabinet is also asked to consider 
a proposal to revise the Policy to raise additional business rate income.

A draft 2019/20 Policy document is attached at appendix 2. This currently 
assumes that all the recommendations are adopted, but this document will 
only be finalised after decisions of Council on 27 February 2019.

Recommendation

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Council is asked to approve the ending of Pub Relief from 31 March 2019. 
This was introduced in the 2016 budget for 2017/18 and extended for 2018/19 
in the 2017 budget.

Council is asked to approve the extension of the £1,500 business rate 
discount for local newspapers’ office space for 2019/20. This was announced 
by Government in the 2018 budget.

Council is asked to approve the introduction of Retail Relief from 1 April 2019. 
This was announced by Government in the 2018 budget and will be fully 
funded by them.

Council is asked to approve relief of £600 to qualifying businesses who 
experienced a large increase in their rateable value following the 2017 
revaluation. This scheme was introduced by Government in the 2016 budget 
for a period of 4 years from April 2017. The funding allocated by Government 
for 2019/20 is £52,000.

Page 226



2.5 That Council approve to revise the Authority’s policy to raise additional 
business rates income, noting that the recommendation is to reduce the 
maximum rateable value limit to £19,999, above which relief would not be 
granted and further note that this change will raise additional business rate 
income of approximately £66,000 per annum. 

Reason for Recommendation

3. The powers for granting discretionary rate relief by Councils are provided in 
Sections 44a, 47 and 49 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 which was 
amended by the Localism Act 2011 to incorporate wider powers to grant relief 
under local discretion. The role of local authorities in the business rate system 
in the past has been to administer the system prescribed by Central 
Government.

The changes to the Policy (recommendations 2.1, 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4) have been 
determined by Government and announced in the 2016, 2017 and 2018 
budgets, but must be administered by the Local Authority using discretionary 
powers.

The budget position of the Council requires a reduction in expenditure or an 
increase in income. Further reducing the maximum rateable value in the Policy 
for charitable and not-for-profit businesses will raise approximately £66,000 of 
additional business rate income from the financial year 2020/21 onwards.

If the Policy is changed, businesses who are already receiving relief with a 
rateable value in excess of the proposed limit must receive 12 months’ notice of 
change, so relief will only be withdrawn from 1 April 2020.

New relief claims received after 1 April 2019, will be subject to the revised 
Policy.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1

4.2

A total of 14 businesses (19 different properties) would be affected if the 
rateable value limit was reduced to £19,999.

If the Policy is changed, discretionary relief will still continue to be provided to 
charitable and not-for-profit organisations occupying small business 
properties with a rateable value of £19,999 or less. Currently, this will still 
apply to 83 properties, which is a loss of income to the Council of 
approximately £76,000 per annum.

Alternatives Considered

The changes to the Policy (recommendations 2.1, 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4) have been 
determined by Government and the Council is directed to implement. No 
alternatives have therefore been considered.

Page 227



Several alternatives to reducing the rateable value limit have been 
considered, but discounted due to creating excessive administrative burdens 
and a lack of qualification clarity to potential claimants.

The Policy could remain at present. The outcome being that approximately 
£66,000 of business rate income would continue to be lost.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1

5.2

There are no direct financial implications for the Council arising from this 
report. Newspaper office space discount, Retail Relief and 2017 revaluation 
relief are fully funded by Government by way of grant.

£142,000 is currently lost in business rate income to the Council as a result of 
granting Discretionary Rate Relief. Reducing the rateable value limit will 
reduce this loss by £66,000 to £76,000, but will still continue to provide a 
significant financial benefit to the local business community who provide 
charitable or not-for-profit services and occupy property with a rateable value 
of £19,999 or less.

Risk and Policy Implications

Removal of relief increases the business rate debt that will need to be 
collected therefore the risk of collection increases. Revenues & Benefits will 
continue to proactively collect business rate debt owed to the Council.

If the rateable value limit is reduced, one of the businesses that will be 
affected by this change is a partner organisation of the Council. This may 
require an adjustment to the management fee paid, which will be subject to 
separate discussions.

6.

Consultation

7. Consultation is not required to implement the changes in this report.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8.

For Further Information Contact: Keith Mackenzie, Tel: 01706 926003, 
Keith.Mackenzie@Rochdale.Gov.UK

Page 228



Discretionary Rate Relief 
Policy

Page 229



Document Control
Document Title:  Non- Domestic Rates 

Relief Policy: document incorporating areas of 
local discretion

February 2019

Summary

Publication Date February 2019

Related Legislation / Applicable Section of Legislation Section 44a, Section 47 and Section 49 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 
which has been amended by Section 69 of the Localism Act 2011

Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline Documents

Replaces

Joint Policy (Yes/No) No

Name of Partner(s) if joint

Policy Owner (Name/Position) Rochdale Borough Council

Policy Author (Name/Position) Keith Mackenzie, Head of Revenues and Benefits

Review of Policy
Last Review Date February 2019

Review undertaken by Keith Mackenzie

Next Review Date February 2020

Document Approvals
This document requires the following approvals.
Name Title Date of Issue Version Number

Full Council 27 February 2019

Page 230



rochdale.gov.uk 2

1. Introduction

The Council recognises the importance of supporting local businesses and 
organisations to promote the provision of local facilities, economic growth, 
employment and investment to improve prosperity across the Borough and in 
particular support the most disadvantaged communities.

Councils have the power to grant discretionary rate relief to organisations that 
meet certain criteria. Public funds are not however unlimited, a proportion of 
the costs of relief granted is borne by council tax payers. In making decisions 
the Council must be confident that money invested in this way will be repaid in 
economic and/or community benefit.

The powers for granting  discretionary rate relief by Councils is provided in 
Section 44a, Section 47 and Section 49 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988 which has been amended by Section 69 of the Localism Act 2011 to 
incorporate wider powers to grant relief under local discretion.

This policy document outlines the areas of local discretion and the Council’s 
approach to the various discounts. There is also a summary provided of the 
reliefs which are awarded by Government under national initiatives.

2. Mandatory Rate Relief

The Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the Council to grant 
Mandatory Rate Relief of 80% of the business rates to the following 
categories of business rates payers:

 Registered charities where the property is wholly or mainly used for 
charitable purposes

 Registered Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASCs) for any club 
with the appropriate registration with HMRC.

 Rural shops – (not applicable in Rochdale Borough)

3. Discretionary Rate Relief Scheme

Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the Council to 
maintain a Discretionary Rate Relief Scheme to award up to 100% business 
rates relief to certain organisations which operate within locally specified 
criteria. These organisations being for Rochdale Borough Council:

a) A further award to registered charities up to 100%, known as 
discretionary “top-up” relief, where the property is wholly or mainly 
used for charitable purposes.

b) A further award of 20% on top of mandatory relief to registered 
Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASCs).

c) Other non-profit making organisations and the property is used for 
charitable purpose concerned with education, social welfare, science, 
literature or the fine arts; or is used wholly or mainly for recreation by a 
not-for-profit club or society

Page 231



rochdale.gov.uk 3

In determining applications the Council may
 Grant relief up to a maximum of 100% of the business rates due;
 Grant relief for a sum less than 100% of the business rates due; or
 Refuse any application for additional relief.

Detailed below are the criteria applied.

3.1. Charities

Mandatory rate relief of 80% is granted to charities in the following 
circumstances:

 The ratepayer of a property is a charity or the trustees of a charity, and
  the property is wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes

The Council will consider applications for a discretionary rate relief top up 
from charities based on their own merits, on a case by case basis. 

In determining the application the following matters will be taken in to 
consideration:

 Property rateable value of £19,999 or less.
 ‘Top-Up’ relief of 20% is only awarded to local charities who can clearly 

demonstrate financial hardship. 
 Unless a special case for hardship can be proved, ‘Top-Up’ relief to 

national charities including charity shops or other premises should not 
be granted.

 Local charity to be defined as set up with the sole purpose of assisting 
local residents of Rochdale Borough Council and whose main office is 
situated within the Rochdale Borough.

 Academy, Free, Grant Maintained, Faith and Trust Status schools are 
classified as charities and therefore receive 80% mandatory relief. Top- 
up relief for schools and educational establishments who receive 
central or local government support should not be granted unless a 
special case for hardship can be proved.

3.2 Registered Community Amateur Sports Clubs and other Non Profit 
Making Sports & Leisure Clubs

Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASC's) receive 80% Mandatory Relief for 
any club with the appropriate registration with HM Revenues and Customs. To 
qualify as a CASC the club must be set up with a formal constitution (for 
example its rules or memorandum and articles of association). The club's 
written constitution must require the club to meet certain conditions, and the 
club must also be able to show that it actually meets these conditions in 
practice. The conditions are that:

• the club must be open to the whole community
• the club's main purpose must be to provide facilities for eligible sports, 

and to encourage people to take part in them

Page 232



rochdale.gov.uk 4

• the club must be organised on an amateur basis
• the rateable value of the property being used must be £19,999 or less

The club must also be able to show that:
• it is set up and provides its facilities in an eligible area
• it is managed by fit and proper persons

CASCs which qualify for the mandatory business rates relief can also apply to 
the Council for a top up discretionary rate relief up to a maximum of 20%. 
Other non-profit making sports and leisure clubs who do not qualify for 
mandatory relief can apply for discretionary relief. 

The Council will consider applications for a discretionary rate relief top up 
from CASCs and discretionary relief for non-profit making sports and leisure 
clubs based on their own merits, on a case by case basis. 

The Council will consider applications that can demonstrate;

• The contribution that the organisation makes to the Rochdale Borough 
• Membership: fees should not be considered to be excessive, should be 

open to everybody, and 75% of members must be Rochdale Borough 
residents 

• Every effort should be made by the organisation to encourage open 
membership, from groups such as young people, disabled persons, 
ethnic minorities, armed and ex armed forces personnel and 
unemployed people: In particular;

• membership should consist of at least 25% of people from 
such groups 

• the facilities should be made available to local communities 
other than members 

• differential fee structures to encourage such groups to apply 
• Schemes of education or training for such groups must exist
• For other non-profit making sports and leisure clubs the level of 

discretionary award may depend on bar takings as well as the 
membership requirements above.

The Council will take into account whether the building is accessible to 
disabled people or if reasonable attempts are being made to make it 
accessible.

3.3. Non Profit Making Organisations (other than charities, CASC’s, or other 
sports and leisure clubs) and Community Interest Companies (CIC)

Non Profit Making Organisations who are not classed as registered charities 
or CASC’s, can apply for Discretionary Rate Relief which can be paid at any 
rate up to 100%. Such organisations would include; philanthropic, religious, 
concerned with education or social welfare, science, literature, fine arts, or 
wholly or mainly for recreation by a not-for-profit club or society.

Page 233



rochdale.gov.uk 5

Community Interest Companies (registered with the Office of the Regulator of 
Community Interest Companies) can apply for Discretionary Rate Relief which 
can be paid at any rate up to 100%.

The Council will consider applications for discretionary rate relief from 
organisations based on their own merits, on a case by case basis.
 
The Council will consider applications from organisations that can 
demonstrate;

• The rateable value of the property being used must be £19,999 or less
• The activities of the organisation must support at least one of the 

Council’s priorities.
• The organisation must promote its services for the benefit of Rochdale 

Borough residents.
• Membership of the organisation must be open to all members of the          

community, regardless of ability, subject to the physical capacity of the 
premises.

• Membership rates should not be considered to be excessive so as to       
exclude the general community. Comparisons will be made with similar 
organisations to ensure a level of consistency.

• Organisations must actively encourage membership from groups such 
as young people, older age groups, persons with a disability, ethnic 
minorities, armed and ex-armed forces personnel and unemployed 
people. This should be be demonstrated by either;

a) differential fee structures for such groups; or
b) provision of schemes of training or education for such groups; 

or
c) a membership which consists of at least 25% of people from 

such groups.
• The facilities of the organisation should, where practical, be made 

available to people, bodies, or groups other than members, e.g. from 
schools, casual public sessions, etc…, subject to licensing 
requirements.

• The organisation must be affiliated to a local or national organisation 
where one exists.

• At least 75% of the membership must be made up of Rochdale 
Borough residents                

• The organisation must provide a copy of their constitution and a copy of 
the last 2 years audited annual accounts where available.

3.4. Period of Award

The period of the award will normally be for the financial year that the 
application was made and will be reviewed on an annual basis thereafter.

3.5. Changes in Liability

The organisation must inform the Council of any change in circumstances, 
which might affect eligibility for relief.

Page 234



rochdale.gov.uk 6

4. Part Occupied Relief

The Council has discretion under Section 44a of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 to allow relief to be provided to a business that is partially 
occupying a property for a short period of time (no more than 6 months), 
typically as part of a phased move in or phased move out.

The amount of relief that can be granted will be determined by the Valuation 
Office Agency, who will assign a rateable value to the unoccupied element of 
the property. 

Relief will not be granted if an application is received after the property has 
become fully occupied or fully empty.

5. Hardship Relief

The Council has discretion under Section 49 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988, to give up to 100% relief in exceptional circumstances 
where hardship is being experienced. However, awarding relief can only be 
considered on condition that it would be reasonable to do so having regards 
to the interests of council tax payers in general. 

Hardship may be financial or due to extraordinary external factors causing the 
failure of a business or preventing it from being re-let or reoccupied, but relief 
cannot be awarded purely because a business is failing. The main 
consideration is of the effect a loss of a business will have on local council tax 
payers, e.g. the loss of a major employer or the only provider of an essential 
service in an area.
 
As there is no statutory definition of hardship, the Council decides each case 
on its own merits. When deciding whether to award hardship relief, as well as 
being confident that the organisation is experiencing hardship, the principle 
consideration will be that any relief is in the best interests of the council 
taxpayers, as the Council must bear the cost of any relief granted.

The period for the award to be determined on a case by case basis.

6. Local Business Rate Discount – Government funded temporary reliefs

In the Chancellor’s Budget Statements of 2016, 2017 and 2018 the 
Government has determined that local authorities can use their discretionary 
powers under Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 to 
provide reliefs to support national initiatives. The reliefs granted will be 
reimbursed in full by Government by way of specific grants to local authorities.

6.1.     Local Newspapers 

£1,500 discount for office space occupied by local newspapers, up to a 
maximum of one discount per local newspaper title and per hereditament, and 
up to state aid limits, for 3 years from 1 April 2017.

Page 235



rochdale.gov.uk 7

6.2 Retail Relief

Properties that have a rateable value below £51,000, are occupied and wholly 
or mainly being used as shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking 
establishments will be eligible to receive a one third discount off their bill. 
Further details and the full eligibility criteria are available in Appendix 1. The 
discount is available for 2 years from 1 April 2019.

6.3 Supporting Small Businesses

This is a scheme for ratepayers who are losing some or all of their small 
business rate relief as a result of a large rateable value increase following the 
2017 revaluation. The scheme is available for 5 years from 1 April 2017.

The Supporting Small Businesses relief will ensure that the increase per year 
in the bills of these ratepayers is limited to the greater of: 

a) An annual percentage increase 5%, 7.5%, 10%, 15% and 15% in the 
financial years 2017/18 to 2021/22, all plus inflation. Unlike the 
transitional relief scheme, for the first year of the scheme the 
percentage increase is taken against the bill for 31 March 2017 after 
small business rate relief, or

b) a cash value of £600 per year (£50 per month). This cash minimum 
increase ensures that those ratepayers paying nothing or very small 
amounts in 2016/17 after small business rate relief are brought into 
paying something. 

In the first year of the scheme (2017/18), this means all ratepayers losing 
some or all of their small business rate relief or rural rate relief will see the 
increase in their bill capped at £600. The cash minimum increase is £600 per 
year thereafter. This means that ratepayers who are currently paying nothing 
under small business rate relief and are losing all of their entitlement to relief 
(i.e. moving from £6,000 rateable value or less to more than £15,000) would 
under this scheme be paying £3,000 in year 5. 

6.4 Discretionary Relief Scheme

The Government has established a £300m discretionary fund over 4 years 
from 2017/18 to support businesses who have experienced a large increase 
in their rateable value following the 2017 revaluation and were most affected 
by the change. The £300m will cover 4 years from April 2017, as follows: 

National Allocation (£300m)
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£175m £85m £35m £5m

Rochdale Allocation (£444k)
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Page 236



rochdale.gov.uk 8

£259k £126k £52k £7k

Government based it’s local allocations on the following:

a) the rateable property has a rateable value for 2017/18 that is less than 
£200,000, and

b) the increase in the rateable property’s 2017/18 bill is more than 12.5% 
compared to its 2016/17 bill (before reliefs).

To qualify for relief, the following conditions must all apply:

 the rateable property has a 2017 rateable value less than £200,000; 
 the rateable property must have been on the Valuation Office Agency 

rating list on 1 April 2016 and 1 April 2017;
 the ratepayer must have been in continual occupation before 1 April 

2017; and
 after all other reliefs have been applied, the increase in the billing 

amount is more than 5% of 2016/17. 

The following are not eligible for relief under this scheme:

 businesses who will benefit from the Supporting Small Businesses 
relief scheme;

 businesses whose increase in the amount they are paying in 2017/18 
compared to 2016/17 is less than £50 per month (£600 per annum), to 
mirror the maximum protection for small businesses in the Supporting 
Small Businesses relief scheme;

 pubs who will benefit from the Support for Pubs relief scheme;
 if the ratepayer does not have employees based in the hereditament on 

which relief is being sought;
 ratepayers operating an intermittent business rate mitigation/avoidance 

scheme;
 ratepayers with an outstanding rateable value appeal with the 

Valuation Office Agency (as the Council will be unable to determine the 
financial impact on the business until the appeal is concluded);

 national companies, national charities and public bodies;
 property owners and/or occupiers with more than one property in the 

Borough, will only be able get this relief on one property; and
 hereditaments wholly or mainly being used as betting shops, payday 

loan shops, pawnbrokers or shisha bars.

Eligible businesses will receive a fixed relief award of £600 in 2019/20.  The 
relief awards for 2020/21 will be subject to future determination.

Page 237



rochdale.gov.uk 9

7.     Local Business Rate Discount – Council determined schemes
     

7.1.  On 15 December 2014 the Council’s Cabinet decided to introduce a local 
discount scheme with the aim of bringing back into use empty properties in 
Rochdale Town Centre to support and sustain the vitality and diversity of 
Yorkshire Street, the western end of Baillie Street, The Walk and South 
Parade. Under the scheme the 23 properties identified would receive a Local 
Business Rates Discount on the remaining liability (after the award of any 
Government reliefs) of 80% in 2015/16 and 50% in 2016/17. At the end of the 
2 year period the discount will stop. Determination and award of any discount 
will be in accordance with the eligibility criteria determined by the Council’s 
Cabinet.

7.2. In March 2016, the Chief Executive used delegated powers to revise the 
Rochdale Town Centre scheme and create discount schemes for Heywood 
and Middleton Town Centres.

7.3. Rochdale Town Centre:
 Existing scheme is to be extended for a third year. Discount to be 80% in 

year 1, 50% in year 2 and 30% in year 3.
 The 3 year period is to run from the date of occupation and not April to 

March each financial year.

7.4. Heywood Town Centre 
 To support and sustain the vitality and diversity of the town centre area 

including Market Street, Market Place, Bridge Street and York Street within 
the defined town centre boundary (excluding units within the shopping 
centre).

 Discount on the remaining liability (after the award of any Government 
reliefs) to be 80% in year 1, 50% in year 2 and 30% in year 3.

 The 3 year period is to run from the date of occupation and not April to 
March each financial year.

7.5. Middleton Town Centre
 To support and sustain the vitality and diversity of Long Street, Wood 

Street, Market Place and Middleton Gardens within the defined town 
centre boundary (excluding units within the shopping centre).

 Discount on the remaining liability (after the award of any Government 
reliefs) to be 80% in year 1, 50% in year 2 and 30% in year 3.

 The 3 year period is to run from the date of occupation and not April to 
March each financial year.

7.6.  On 12 February 2015 the Council’s Cabinet decided to give delegated powers 
to the Chief Executive, in consultation with The Leader of the Council, to grant 
a local business rate discount in appropriate cases. Any decision will consider 
the interest of the council tax payers in relation to any cost and benefit to the 
Council and the decision will support the strategic objectives of the Council. 

Page 238



rochdale.gov.uk 10

Particular consideration will be given to how the granting of relief can support 
the creation and/or safeguarding of jobs in the borough.

8.     Application and Appeals Process

All applications for discretionary non domestic rate relief should be made in 
writing, where possible using the Council’s application forms. It is the 
responsibility of the organisation applying for relief to provide sufficient 
information and documentary evidence to support applications.

If an applicant is dissatisfied with the outcome of their application they can ask 
for a review of that decision by the Chief Finance Officer.

9.      European Union State Aid

State Aid law is the means by which the European Union (EU) regulates state 
funded support to businesses. Financial support from public bodies to 
businesses could have the potential to be anti-competitive and affect trade 
between member states of the EU. 

EU State Aid rules generally prohibit government subsidies to businesses. 
Providing discretionary rate relief to ratepayers can in some cases be deemed 
to be State Aid. 

There is, however, a general exception to the state aid rule where the aid is 
below a “de minimis” level. The De Minimis Regulations allow an undertaking 
to currently receive up to €200,000 of De Minimis aid in a three year period 
(consisting of the current financial year and the two previous financial years). 
The De Minimis Regulation and limit is subject to update and changes in 
legislation.

To administer De Minimis it is necessary for the Council to establish that the 
award of aid will not result in the undertaking having received more than 
€200,000 of De Minimis aid. The Council will ensure compliance with the legal 
requirements and any permitted exemptions. Each case will be considered 
based on the organisation’s individual circumstances in full consideration of 
the EU State Aid rules.

Business ratepayers who apply for or receive any discretionary rate relief 
(Section 44a, Section 47 or Section 49) will be required to make a declaration 
if they have or are receiving EU State Aid. This is particularly likely to affect 
large retail chains where the cumulative discretionary rate relief may cause 
them to exceed the €200,000 de minimus limit. A sample letter and 
declaration form is provided at Appendix 2.

10.      Policy Review

This policy will be reviewed periodically, taking into account Council policies 
and priorities and any changes in Government legislation and proposals.

Page 239



rochdale.gov.uk 11

11.  Other National Business Rate Reliefs 

11.1.   Small Business Rates Relief (SBRR)

This relief is intended to help small businesses, as defined by the size of the 
rateable value (RV) of the property occupied. A business is eligible if only one 
property is occupied and the rateable value is below £15,000.

Eligible businesses will receive relief at 100% on properties up to and 
including £12,000 RV and a tapered level of relief from 100% to 0% for 
properties from £12,001 RV up to £14,999 RV.

However, if a property is occupied with a RV of £15,000 but below £50,999, 
another form of SBRR is payable, which entitles the occupier to have their bill 
calculated using the small business multiplier, and this is regardless of the 
number of properties occupied.

11.2. Empty Property Rate Relief (EPRR)

There is an exemption from paying business rates on empty commercial or 
retail property for three months after the property becomes vacant.

However, there are exceptions to this;
 Industrial premises, such as warehouses, are exempt for a further three 

months, making six months in total 
 Listed buildings are exempt until they become occupied again 
 Buildings with a RV under £2,900 are exempt until they become 

occupied again 
 Properties owned by charities are exempt if the property's next use is 

likely to be wholly or mainly for charitable purposes 
 Community amateur sports club buildings are exempt if their next use is 

likely to be wholly or mainly for a sports club 

After the exemption period ends, liability for the full business rate bill 
recommences and another period of empty rate exemption cannot be granted 
unless the property has been occupied for at least six weeks.

11.3. Transitional Relief (TR)

Transitional relief is designed to reduce the impact of any significant changes 
in the RV of a property, either up or down, following a national revaluation of 
properties. 

It is a complicated scheme, but basically, the arrangements help to phase in 
the effects of these changes by limiting the increases in bills. To help pay for 
the limits on increases in bills, there also has to be limits on those properties 
where revaluation leads to reduced bills. The increase or decrease is phased 
in until the correct value is reached.

Page 240



rochdale.gov.uk 12

APPENDIX 1
Retail Relief – Eligibility Criteria

Properties that will benefit from the relief will be occupied hereditaments with a 
rateable value of less than £51,000, that are wholly or mainly being used as shops, 
restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments. 

Shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments are considered to mean: 

i. Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting members 
of the public: 

 Shops (such as: florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, jewellers, 
stationers, off licences, chemists, newsagents, hardware stores, 
supermarkets, etc) 

 Charity shops 
 Opticians 
 Post offices 
 Furnishing shops/ display rooms (such as: carpet shops, double glazing, 

garage doors) 
 Car/ caravan show rooms 
 Second hand car lots 
 Markets 
 Petrol stations
 Garden centres 
 Art galleries (where art is for sale/hire) 

ii. Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following 
services to visiting members of the public: 

 Hair and beauty services (such as: hair dressers, nail bars, beauty salons, 
tanning shops, etc)

 Shoe repairs/ key cutting 
 Travel agents 
 Ticket offices e.g. for theatre 
 Dry cleaners 
 Launderettes 
 PC/ TV/ domestic appliance repair 
 Funeral directors 
 Photo processing 
 Tool hire 
 Car hire 

iii. Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and/or drink to 
visiting members of the public: 

 Restaurants 
 Takeaways 
 Sandwich shops 
 Coffee shops 

Page 241



rochdale.gov.uk 13

 Pubs 
 Bars 

To qualify for the relief the hereditament should be wholly or mainly being used as a 
shop, restaurant, cafe or drinking establishment. In a similar way to other reliefs 
(such as charity relief), this is a test on use rather than occupation. Therefore, 
hereditaments which are occupied but not wholly or mainly used for the qualifying 
purpose will not qualify for the relief. 

The lists set out above are not intended to be exhaustive as it would be impossible to 
list the many and varied retail uses that exist. There will also be mixed uses. 
However, it is intended to be a guide as to the types of uses that Government 
considers for this purpose to be retail. Conversely, properties that are not broadly 
similar in nature to those listed above should not be eligible for the relief. 

The lists below set out the types of uses that the Government does not consider to 
be retail use for the purpose of this relief. 

i. Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following services 
to visiting members of the public: 

 Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, bureaux de 
change, payday lenders, betting shops, pawn brokers) 

 Other services (e.g. estate agents, letting agents, employment agencies) 
 Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors) 
 Professional services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance agents/ financial 

advisers, tutors) 
 Post office sorting offices 

ii. Hereditaments that are not reasonably accessible to visiting members of the 
public 
Generally speaking, the Government also does not consider other assembly or 
leisure uses beyond those listed above to be retail uses for the purpose of the 
discount. For example, cinemas, theatres and museums are outside the scope of the 
scheme, as are nightclubs and music venues which are not similar in nature to the 
hereditaments described above. Hereditaments used for sport or physical recreation 
(e.g. gyms) are also outside the scope of the discount. Where there is doubt, 
discretion should be exercised with reference to the above and knowledge of the 
local tax base. 

How much relief will be available? 
The total amount of government-funded relief available for each property for 2019-20 
and 2020/21 under this scheme is one third of the bill, after mandatory reliefs and 
other discretionary reliefs funded by Government grants have been applied, 
excluding those where local authorities have used their discretionary relief powers 
introduced by the Localism Act which are not funded by Government grants. There is 
no relief available under this scheme for properties with a rateable value of £51,000 
or more.

The eligibility for the relief and the relief itself will be assessed and calculated on a 
daily basis.

Page 242



rochdale.gov.uk 14

Ratepayers that occupy more than one property will be entitled to relief for each of 
their eligible properties, subject to State Aid De Minimis limits. 

Page 243



rochdale.gov.uk 15

APPENDIX 2

Dear Sir or Madam,

European Union State Aid

Discretionary rate relief awards are required to comply with the European Union law 
on State Aid. In this case, this involves returning the attached declaration to this 
authority if you have received any other De Minimis State Aid, including any other 
discretionary rate relief you are being granted for premises other than the one to 
which this letter relates, and confirming that the award of discretionary rate relief 
does not exceed the €200,000 an undertaking can receive under the De Minimis 
Regulations EC 1407/2013.

In terms of declaring previous De Minimis aid, we are only interested in public 
support which is De Minimis aid (State Aid received under other exemptions or public 
support which is not State Aid does not need to be declared).
 
If you have not received any other De Minimis State Aid, including any other 
discretionary rate relief you are being granted for premises other than the one 
to which this letter relates, you do not need to complete or return the 
declaration.
 
If you wish to refuse to receive discretionary rate relief granted in relation to the 
premises to which this letter relates, please complete the attached form and return it 
to the address above. You do not need to complete the De Minimus declaration. This 
may be particularly relevant to those premises that are part of a large retail chain, 
where the cumulative total of discretionary rate relief received could exceed 
€200,000.
 
Under European Commission rules, you must retain this letter for 3 years and 
produce it on any request by the United Kingdom public authorities or the European 
Commission. (You may need to keep this letter longer than 3 years for other 
purposes). Furthermore, information on this aid must be supplied to any other public 
authority or agency asking for information on ‘De Minimis’ aid for the next three 
years.

Page 244



rochdale.gov.uk 16

‘DE MINIMIS’ DECLARATION 
 
BUSINESS RATES ACCOUNT NUMBER: ________________________________

The value of the business rates retail relief to be provided to: 

___________________________________________________ (name of business) 

by Rochdale Borough Council is:

£_____________________    Euros €_________________     (amount of rate relief)

This award shall comply with EU law on State Aid on the basis that, including this 
award, shall not receive more than €200,000 in total of De Minimis aid within the 
current financial year or the previous two financial years. The De Minimis 
Regulations 1407/2013 (as published in the Official Journal of the European Union 
L352 24.12.2013) are available at http://eur-
ex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF. 

Please list all previously received De Minimis aid below, including the total amount of 
this and any other discretionary rate relief you are being granted.

Amount of De 
Minimis aid

Date of aid Organisation 
providing aid 

Nature of aid 

€

€

€

I confirm that I am authorised to sign on behalf of:

___________________________________________________ (name of business); 

and shall not exceed its De Minimis threshold by accepting Relief. 

SIGNATURE: ____________________________________ DATE: _____________

NAME: ______________________________________________

POSITION: ___________________________________________

ADDRESS: _________________________________________________________
 

REFUSAL OF DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF FORM

Page 245



rochdale.gov.uk 17

Name and address of 
premises 

Business rates account 
number 

Amount of Relief 

I confirm that I wish to refuse discretionary rate relief in relation to the above 
premises. 

I confirm that I am authorised to sign on behalf of:

______________________________________________________ (name of business)

SIGNATURE: ____________________________________ DATE: _____________

NAME: ______________________________________________

POSITION: ___________________________________________

ADDRESS: 
___________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________

Page 246



Report to Council

Date of Meeting 27 February 2019
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Report Author Monitoring Officer
Public/Private Document Public

Appointment of Acting Chief Finance/S151 Officer

Executive Summary

1. The current Chief Finance/Section 151 Officer will be leaving the Council in 
March 2019 to take up a new appointment with another Local Authority. The 
Council is required to appoint a Council Officer to discharge the statutory 
function until permanent arrangements are made.

Recommendation

2. That Neil Thornton, Director of Resources, be appointed as the Council’s 
Acting Chief Finance/Section 151 Officer with effect from 28 February 2019 
until further resolution of the Council.

Reason for Recommendation

3. The Council must act in a timely manner and take appropriate steps to 
designate a Chief Finance Officer in compliance with Section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

Key Points for Consideration

4.       

5. 

Victoria Bradshaw, the current Chief Finance/Section 151 Officer, will be 
leaving the Council in March 2019 to take up a new appointment with another 
Local Authority. 

Under the Local Government Act 1972, there is a requirement for the Council 
to make arrangements for “the proper administration of (its) financial affairs” 
and to “secure that one of their officers has responsibility for the administration 
of those affairs”.  The officer designated as the Chief Finance/Section 151 
Officer, is required to be a suitably qualified individual with a professional 
accountancy qualification.  The duties of the role are set out in the Council’s 
Constitution. 

Page 247

Agenda Item 4



Neil Thornton, Director of Resources, has been identified as an appropriately 
qualified person to discharge this function on an interim basis, until permanent 
arrangements can be made.

Costs and Budget Summary

6.         Any costs will be managed within existing approved budgets.

Risk and Policy Implications

The appointment of a Section 151 Officer is a statutory requirement.7. 

Consultation

8. Chief Executive and Party Leaders.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

9. None

For Further Information Contact: David Wilcock, 
David.Wilcock@Rochdale.Gov.UK

Page 248



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 27th January 2019

Portfolio Cabinet Member for 
Health & Wellbeing - 
Councillor Sara 
Rowbotham

Report Author Nicola Rogers

Public Document

Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

Executive Summary

1. 1.1 To enable the Council to meet its statutory obligations to adopt and publish 
a Gambling Licensing Policy, in accordance with Section 349 of the Gambling 
Act.

1.2 To report on the results of consultation on the Council’s draft Gambling 
Licensing Policy Statement and seek agreement from members on 
amendments where necessary and to recommend adoption of the Gambling 
Licensing Policy to full Council.

Recommendation

2. That the Gambling Licensing Policy statement 2019-2022 be approved 
Council.

Reason for Recommendation

3. Councils have a statutory duty to prepare and publish a statement of principles 
that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under the Gambling 
Act. This is valid for a three year period and therefore the Council is required 
to review its policy statement every three years to meet its statutory 
requirements and adopt and publish a Gambling Licensing Policy. The first 
statement was effective from 31 January 2007.

Key Points for Consideration

4. 4.1 The existing statement of Gambling Licensing Policy has been reviewed 
and updated.

Page 249

Agenda Item 5



4.2 In order to comply with statutory requirements, the Council has consulted 
with the Responsible Authorities under the Act, national bodies, 
representatives of licensees, residents and with representatives of 
businesses. A list of consultees forms part of the draft Gambling Licensing 
Policy.

4.3 The consultation period was from 23 July 2018 and ended on 16 
September 2018.

4.4 A total of 6 responses were received, the contents of which have been 
duly considered. The responses have been responded to accordingly and the 
draft policy has been amended.

4.5 The amended draft Gambling Licensing Policy statement is detailed in 
Appendix 1.

4.6 The detail of the consultation responses and the response to such is 
detailed in Appendix 2.

Alternatives Considered

4.7 None, the Gambling Act 2005 places a statutory duty on local authorities 
to prepare and publish a Gambling Licensing Policy Statement. The Council 
would be in breach of its statutory duty if it was to take any other action.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. There are no financial implications.

Risk and Policy Implications

6. 6.1 The statement of Gambling Licensing Policy sets out the approach that 
will be taken when dealing with permissions it grants and enforces thereafter.

6.2 The Policy also identifies how the Authority seeks to promote the three 
licensing objectives under the Act, namely:-

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime and disorder or being used to support crime.

 Ensuring gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.

 Protecting children and other vulnerable people from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling.

6.3 There are no legal implications other than the statutory duty already 
identified in the report.

6.4 There are no personnel implications.

Page 250



Consultation

7. As stated in paragraphs 4.2 to 4.6.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None

For Further Information Contact: Nicola Rogers

Tel: 01706 924124 
nicola.rogers@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 251



Gambling Licensing 
Policy Statement 
2019-2022
Gambling Act 2005

Page 252



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 1

Document Control
Document Title: Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-
2022 – Gambling Act 2005

Summary

Publication Date January 2019

Related Legislation / Applicable Section 
of Legislation Gambling Act 2005

Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline 
Documents Statement of Gambling Policy

Replaces Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2016-2019

Joint Policy (Yes/No) No

Name of Partner(s) if joint

Policy Owner (Name/Position) Nicola Rogers (Head of Public Protection) 

Policy Author (Name/Position) Jahangir Alom (Licensing Operational Manager)

Applies to Gambling Act 2005

Review of Strategy

Last Review Date January 2019

Review undertaken by Jahangir Alom 

Next Review Date 31 January 2022

Document Approvals
This document requires the following approvals.

Name Title Date of Issue Version Number

Page 253



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 2

POLICY STATEMENT
Under Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005

Contents
Item Page
Introduction 3

Part A - Policy Statement 
1. The licensing objectives 4
2. Introduction 4
3. Declaration 6
4. Responsible Authorities 6
5. Interested parties 6
6. Exchange of information 7
7. Enforcement 8
8. Licensing authority functions 9

Part B - Premises Licences
9. General Principles 10
10. Adult Gaming Centres 17
11. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 18
12. Casinos 18
13. Bingo 19
14. Betting premises 19
15. Tracks 20
16. Travelling Fairs 22
17. Provisional Statements 22
18. Reviews 23

Part C - Permits / Temporary and Occasional Use Notices
19. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine
permits

25

20. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits 26
21. Prize Gaming Permits 27
22. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 27
23. Temporary Use Notices 29
24. Occasional Use Notices 29
25. Small Society Lotteries 29

Part D – Licence Conditions & Codes of Practice (LCCP)
26. Risk Assessments 30
27. Local Area Profile 32

Appendix A - Consultees 33
Appendix B - Responsible Authorities 35

Page 254



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 3

Introduction

This statement of Policy in relation to the Gambling functions that this Authority regulates sets out 
the approach that will be taken when dealing with permissions it grants and enforces thereafter.

This Policy also identifies how the Authority will seek to promote the licensing objectives under the 
Act, namely:-

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime and disorder or being used to support crime.

 Ensuring gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.

 Protecting children and other vulnerable people from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling.

Partnerships are important to us and with this in mind we will be working closely with the Gambling 
Commission, the Police and the other responsible authorities named within the Act. We will also 
provide guidance and support, where possible, to the trade, residents and businesses.

All decisions that are made in relation to gambling will be made having taken into account the 
three objectives and each application will be dealt with on its merits.

This policy will come into effect on the 31st January 2019 and will be reviewed no later than the 
31st January 2022.

In carrying out its gambling functions this Authority will have regard to its Policy and the Guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission.  

An equalities impact assessment has been conducted in relation to this Policy and is available 
upon request.

Page 255



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 4

Policy Statement

PART A

1.0  The Licensing Objectives

1.1 In exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005, licensing authorities 
must have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in section 1 of the Act.  The licensing 
objectives are:
 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 

crime or disorder or being used to support crime
 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way
 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 

gambling

1.2 It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated: “The requirement in relation 
to children is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or exploited by gambling”.  

1.3 This licensing authority is aware that, as per Section 153, in making decisions about 
premises licences and temporary use notices it should aim to permit the use of premises for 
gambling in so far as it thinks it’s:

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and
 in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy

2.0      Introduction

2.1 Licensing authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a statement of the 
principles which they propose to apply when exercising their functions.  This statement must 
be published at least every three years.  The statement must also be reviewed from “time to 
time” and any amended parts re-consulted upon.  The statement must be then re-published.

2.2 The Authority consulted widely upon this statement before finalising and publishing. A list of 
those persons consulted is provided in Appendix A. 

2.3      The Gambling Act requires that the following parties are consulted by Licensing  Authorities:
                  

 The Chief Officer of Police;
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons 

carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area;

Page 256



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 5

 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons 
who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions under the 
Gambling Act 2005.

 
Our consultation took place between 23rd July 2018 and 16th September 2018 and referred 
to the HM Government code of Practice on Consultation.

The full list of comments made and the consideration by the Council of those comments is 
available by request to: Jahangir Alom, Rochdale Borough Council Licensing Service, Floor 
3, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU or via the Council’s website.

The policy was approved by Rochdale Borough Council and is published on our website. A 
copy is available for viewing upon request at the Council Offices.

2.4 It should be noted that this statement of licensing principles will not override the right of any 
person to make an application, make representations about an application, or apply for a 
review of a licence, as each will be considered on its own merits and according to the 
statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005.  

2.5 The Authority is one of the 10 Metropolitan Districts of Greater Manchester. 

2.6 With a population of 211,699 (Source: UK Census 2011), it occupies an area of 16,100 
hectares and is based on the townships of Rochdale, Middleton, Heywood and Pennines.

2.7 The types and number of the premises within the Borough are as follows

TYPE OF PREMISES NUMBER OF 
PREMISES

BINGO HALLS 3
BETTING PREMISES 32
ADULT GAMING CENTRES 10
FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT CENTRES 1

TOTAL 46

Page 257



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 6

The total number of these premises are located in the following Townships that make up the 
Borough of Rochdale:

TOWNSHIPS  NUMBER OF 
PREMISES

ROCHDALE 19
MIDDLETON 12
HEYWOOD 11
LITTLEBOROUGH / PENNINES 4

TOTAL 46

3.0 Declaration

3.1 In producing the final statement, this licensing authority declares that it has had regard to 
the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
issued by the Gambling Commission, and any responses from those consulted on the 
statement.

4.0 Responsible Authorities

4.1 The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in 
exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in writing, a body which 
is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children from harm.  The 
principles are:
 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the licensing 

authority’s area; and
 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, rather than 

any particular vested interest group.

4.2 In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities, this authority designates the Local Safeguarding Children Board for this 
purpose.

4.3 The contact details of all the Responsible Authorities under the Gambling Act 2005 are 
available at Appendix B.

5.0  Interested parties

5.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a 
review of an existing licence.  These parties are defined in the Gambling Act 2005 as 
follows:

Page 258



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 7

“For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation to an application for 
or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the licensing authority which issues 
the licence or to which the applications is made, the person-

     a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 
activities,
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)”

5.2 The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in 
exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a person is an 
interested party.  The principles are:

5.2.1 Each case will be decided upon its merits. This authority will not apply a rigid rule to its 
decision making.  It will consider the examples of considerations provided in the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Local Authorities at 8.11 and 8.18. It will also consider the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance that "has business interests" should be given the widest 
possible interpretation and include partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical 
practices. If in the particular circumstances of the application the licensing authority departs 
from the guidance it will explain its reason for doing so.  

5.2.2  Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as councillors and 
MP’s.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an interested person will be 
required as long as the councillor / MP represents the ward likely to be affected.  Likewise, 
parish councils likely to be affected will be considered to be interested parties.  Other than 
these however, this authority will generally require written evidence that a person/body (e.g. 
an advocate / relative) ‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close to the 
premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities and/or has business 
interests that might be affected by the authorised activities.  A letter from one of these 
persons, requesting the representation, is sufficient.

5.2.3 If individuals wish to approach councillors to ask them to represent their views then care 
should be taken that the councillors are not part of the Licensing Committee dealing with the 
licence application.  If there are any doubts then please contact the licensing section.  

6.0    Exchange of Information

6.1 Licensing authorities are required to include in their statements the principles to be applied 
by the authority in exercising the functions under sections 29 and 30 of the Act with respect 
to the exchange of information between it and the Gambling Commission, and the functions 
under section 350 of the Act with the respect to the exchange of information between it and 
the other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act.

6.2 The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it will act in accordance with the 
provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information which includes the 
provision that the Data Protection Act 1998 will not be contravened.  The licensing authority 
will also have regard to any Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission on this matter, 

Page 259



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 8

as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers 
provided in the Gambling Act 2005.  

6.3 Should any protocols be established as regards information exchange with other bodies 
then they will be made available.  

7.0  Enforcement 

7.1 Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 to state the 
principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under Part 15 of the Act 
with respect to the inspection of premises; and the powers under section 346 of the Act to 
institute criminal proceedings in respect of the offences specified.

7.2 This licensing authority’s principles are that: 

It will be guided by the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities and will 
endeavour to be:

 Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary:  remedies should be 
appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised;

 Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to public 
scrutiny;

 Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly;
 Transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user friendly;  

and
 Targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side effects. 

7.3 As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Licensing Authorities this licensing 
authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as 
possible.  

7.4 This authority inspects all premises annually and, where necessary, revisit premises as 
appropriate. This authority has also adopted a risk based inspection program based on:  

 The Licensing objectives
 Relevant codes of practice 
 Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
 Any enforcement policy; intelligence and complaints 
 The principles as set out in this statement of licensing policy 

Regard has been had to the Regulator’s Code in the preparation of this Policy. 

7.5 The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in terms of the 
Gambling Act 2005 is to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other 
permissions which it authorises.  The Gambling Commission is the enforcement body for 
the operating and personal licences. It is also worth noting that concerns about 

Page 260



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 9

manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt with by the licensing 
authority but should be notified to the Gambling Commission.  

7.6 This licensing authority will also keep itself informed of developments as regards the work of 
the Better Regulation Executive in its consideration of the regulatory functions of local 
authorities.

7.7 Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, this licensing authority’s 
enforcement/compliance protocols/written agreements will be available upon request to the 
licensing section. Our risk methodology will also be available upon request.

7.8 The Council will take account of the Gambling Commission’s guidance document issued in 
February 2015 (and any subsequent amendments) ‘Approach to Test Purchasing’ when 
considering making test purchases at gambling premises. The Council will also follow its 
own policies and procedures regarding the use of underage test purchasers.

7.9 Where there is a Primary Authority scheme in place, the Council will seek guidance from the 
Primary Authority before taking any enforcement action. Further information, including an 
index of all Primary Authority arrangements can be found at:  
https://primaryauthorityregister.info/par/index.php/home

7.10 Reference shall also be made to the Council’s Enforcement Policy when considering 
enforcement action. The Council will take into account any published Enforcement 
Concordat issued by the Gambling Commission.

8.0 Licensing Authority functions

8.1 Licensing Authorities are required under the Act to:
 Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to take place 

by issuing Premises Licences 
 Issue Provisional Statements 
 Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to undertake certain 

gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine Permits 
 Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs 
 Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at unlicensed Family 

Entertainment Centres 
 Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) for 

the use of two or fewer gaming machines 
 Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to sell/supply 

alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, where 
there are more than two machines 

 Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds 
 Issue Prize Gaming Permits 
 Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices 
 Receive Occasional Use Notices 
 Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences issued 

(see section above on ‘information exchange)

Page 261

https://primaryauthorityregister.info/par/index.php/home


Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 10

 Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these functions

8.2 It should be noted that licensing authorities will not be involved in licensing remote gambling 
at all, which is regulated by the Gambling Commission via operating licences.

PART B
PREMISES LICENCES: CONSIDERATION OF APPLICATIONS

9.0 General Principles 

9.1 Premises licences are subject to the requirements set-out in the Gambling Act 2005 and 
regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions which are detailed in 
regulations issued by the Secretary of State. Licensing authorities are able to exclude 
default conditions and also attach others, where it is believed to be appropriate. The 
conditions in addition to the mandatory and default conditions will only be imposed where 
there is evidence of a risk to the licensing objectives in the circumstances of a particular 
case.

9.2 Decision – Making
This licensing authority is aware that in making decisions about premises licences it should 
aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it:
 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission;
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission ;
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and
 in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy.

9.3 It is appreciated that as per the Gambling Commission's Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
"moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for premises 
licences" (except as regards any ‘no casino resolution’ – see section on casinos) and also 
that unmet demand is not criterion for a licensing authority. Further it is a under duty not to 
take other irrelevant matters into consideration, e.g. the likelihood of an applicant obtaining 
Planning permission.

9.4 The Licence Conditions and Code of Practice (LCCP) issued by the Gambling Commission 
places further onus on premises to complete a risk assessment based on code 8, the social 
responsibility code which came into force on 6 April 2016.
The council will have regard to this code when considering applications. This is covered in 
detail in Part D of this statement.

9.5 Definition of “premises” – in the Act,” Premises” is defined as including “any place”.  
Section 152 therefore prevents more than one premises licence applying to any place. But a 
single building could be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for 
different parts of the building and the different parts of the building can be reasonably 
regarded as being different premises. This approach has been taken to allow large multiple 
unit premises such as a pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain discrete 

Page 262



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 11

premises licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place. However, licensing 
authorities should pay particular attention if there are issues about sub-divisions of a single 
building or plot and should ensure that mandatory conditions relating to access between 
premises are observed.

9.6 The Gambling Commission states in the fourth edition of its Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities that “In most cases the expectation is that a single building / plot will be the 
subject of an application for a licence, for example, 32 High Street. But, that does not mean 
32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate premises licences for the basement and 
ground floor, if they are configured acceptably. Whether different parts of a building can 
properly be regarded as being separate premises will depend on the circumstances. The 
location of the premises will clearly be an important consideration and the suitability of the 
division is likely to be a matter for discussion between the operator and the licensing officer. 
However, the commission does not consider that the areas of a building that are artificially 
or temporarily separated, for example by ropes or moveable partitions, can properly be 
regarded as different premises”.

9.7 This licensing authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities which states that: licensing authorities should take particular care in 
considering applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a discrete 
part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes. In particular they should be 
aware of the following:

    The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by gambling. 
In practice that means not only preventing them from taking part in gambling, but also 
preventing them from being in close proximity to gambling. Therefore premises should be 
configured so that children are not invited to participate in, have accidental access to or 
closely observe gambling where they are prohibited from participating. 

    Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more premises 
licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different premises is 
not compromised and people do not “drift” into a gambling area. In this context it should 
normally be possible to access the premises without going through another licensed 
premises or premises with a permit.

    Customers should be able to participate in the activity names on the premises licence.   

The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the licensing authority should be aware of, 
which may include:

 Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates
 Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or someone else?
 Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public passageway?
 Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling premises?

This authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its decision, 
depending on all the circumstances of the case. 

Page 263



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 12

The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each premises type are 
reproduced below: 

Casinos

 The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street (as defined at 7.26 
of the Guidance)

 No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or mainly by 
children and/or young persons 

 No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other premises which 
holds a gambling premises licence

Adult Gaming Centre

 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other licensed 
gambling premises

Betting Shops

 Access must be from a street (as per para 7.26 Guidance to Licensing Authorities) or 
from another premises with a betting premises licence

 No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the retail sale of 
merchandise or services. In effect there cannot be an entrance to a betting shop from a 
shop of any kind and you could not have a betting shop at the back of a café – the whole 
area would have to be licensed. 

Tracks

 No customer should be able to access the premises directly from:
- a casino
- an adult gaming centre

Bingo Premises

 No customer must be able to access the premise directly from:
- a casino
- an adult gaming centre
- a betting premises, other than a track

Family Entertainment Centre

 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:
                    - a casino
              - an adult gaming centre
                    - a betting premises, other than a track

Page 264



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 13

Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities contains further 
guidance on this issue, which this authority will also take into account in its decision-making.

9.8 Premises “ready for gambling”
The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only be issued in 
relation to premises that the licensing authority can be satisfied are going to be ready to be 
used for gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale of building or 
alterations required before the premises are brought into use. 

If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or if the 
applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a provisional 
statement should be made instead. However, an applicant can still apply for a Premises 
Licence (without the need of a Provisional Statement) even though the premises were not 
fully constructed.  

In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are outstanding 
construction or alteration works at a premises, this authority will determine applications on 
their merits, applying a two stage consideration process:-

 First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling 
 Second, in order that if the premises were to be used for gambling the premises would 

be fit.

Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is appropriate to grant a 
licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant such a licence. 

More detailed examples of the circumstances in which such a licence may be granted can 
be found at paragraphs 7.59-7.66 of the Guidance. 

9.9 Location - This licensing authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with 
regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing objectives 
are relevant to its decision-making. As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, this authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children 
and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of 
crime and disorder. Should any specific policy be decided upon as regards areas where 
gambling premises should not be located, this statement will be updated.  It should be noted 
that any such policy does not preclude any application being made and each application will 
be decided on its merits.

9.10 Planning: The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities states: 7.60 – In 
determining applications the licensing authority has a duty to take into consideration all 
relevant matters and not to take into consideration any irrelevant matters, i.e. those not 
related to gambling and the licensing objectives. One example of an irrelevant matter would 
be the likelihood of the applicant obtaining planning permission or building regulations 
approval for their proposal. 

Page 265



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 14

This authority will not take into account irrelevant matters as per the above guidance. In 
addition this authority notes the following excerpt from the Guidance: 
7.67 - When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the licensing 
authority should not take into account whether those buildings have or comply with the 
necessary planning or building consents.  Those matters should be dealt with under 
relevant planning control and building regulation powers, and not form part of the 
consideration for the premises licence.  Section 210 of the 2005 Act prevents licensing 
authorities taking into account the likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining 
planning or building consent when considering a premises licence application.  Equally the 
grant of a gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that may be 
appropriate under the law relating to planning or building.

An applicant can still apply for a Premises Licence (without the need of a Provisional 
Statement) even though the premises were not fully constructed. 

9.11 Duplication with other regulatory regimes - This licensing authority seeks to avoid any 
duplication with other statutory / regulatory systems where possible, including planning.  
This authority will not consider whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning 
permission or building regulations approval, in its consideration of it.  It will though listen to, 
and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which are not able to be met by 
licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a situation arise.

When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, this authority will 
not take into account whether those buildings have to comply with the necessary planning 
or buildings consents. Fire or health and safety risks will not be taken into account, as these 
matters are dealt with under relevant planning control, buildings’ and other regulations and 
must not form part of the consideration for the premises licence. 

9.12 Licensing objectives - Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the 
licensing objectives.  With regard to these objectives, this licensing authority has considered 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities and some comments are 
made below.

9.13 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support crime - This licensing authority is aware that 
the Gambling Commission takes a leading role in preventing gambling from being a source 
of crime.  The Gambling Commission's Guidance does however envisage that licensing 
authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling premises in terms of 
this licensing objective.  Thus, where an area has known high levels of organised crime this 
authority will consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable to be located there 
and whether conditions may be suitable such as the provision of door supervisors.  This 
licensing authority is aware of the distinction between disorder and nuisance and will 
consider factors (for example whether police assistance was required and how threatening 
the behaviour was to those who could see it), so as to make that distinction. Issues of 
nuisance cannot be addressed via the Gambling Act 2005.

Page 266



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 15

9.14 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way - This licensing authority 
has noted that the Gambling Commission states that it  generally does  not expect licensing 
authorities to be concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
as this will be addressed via operating and personal licences.  There is however, more of a 
role with regard to tracks which is explained in more detail in the 'tracks' section. 

9.15 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling - This licensing authority has noted the Gambling Commission's Guidance that 
this objective means preventing children from taking part in gambling (as well as restriction 
of advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at or are, particularly attractive to 
children).  The licensing authority will therefore consider, as suggested in the Gambling 
Commission's Guidance, whether specific measures are required at particular premises, 
with regard to this licensing objective.  Appropriate measures may include supervision of 
entrances / machines, segregation of areas etc. 

Children are only permitted to be involved in limited types of gaming (Category D 
Machines). 

9.16 This licensing authority is also aware of the Gambling Commission Codes of Practice as 
regards this licensing objective, in relation to specific premises. 

9.17 Section 7 of the Gambling Commission Guidance to Local Authorities sets out 
considerations that an operator must make in order to protect children and young people 
from accessing gambling premises.
The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) issued in 2015 prescribe how 
operators must prevent children from using age restricted gaming or gambling activities, 
particularly where gaming machines are licensed.
In particular operators must ensure that;

 all staff are trained,
 that all customers are supervised when on gambling premises
 must have procedures for identifying customers who are at risk of gambling related 

harm.

9.18 The Council will expect all operators to have policies and procedures in place as required 
by the LCCP codes on social responsibility to cover all aspects of the code, in particular 
staff training records and self-exclusion records.

9.19 Further provisions with regard to self-exclusion and marketing are included in the social 
responsibility code. The council will take all conditions and codes into account when 
considering applications or performing enforcement activities. See Part D of this policy 
statement for further details and on the Council’s requirements in relation to the LCCP. 

9.20 As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that the Gambling Commission does 
not seek to offer a definition but states that “it will for regulatory purposes assume that this 
group includes people who gamble more than they want to; people who gambling beyond 
their means; and people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions 

Page 267



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 16

about gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs”. This licensing authority will 
consider this licensing objective on a case by case basis.  

If there are concerns about an individual who appears to have care and support needs, the 
premises should encourage the individual to contact Rochdale Borough Council Adult Care 
Services for support and guidance on 03000 303 8886. 

9.21 Conditions - Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be:
 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility;
 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for;
 fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and
 reasonable in all other respects.
 Consistent with those attached to Operator’s Licences. 

The conditions in addition to the mandatory and default conditions will only be imposed 
where there is evidence of a risk to the licensing objectives in the circumstances of a 
particular case.

9.22 Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although there 
will be a number of measures this licensing authority will consider utilising to meet licensing 
objectives, such as the use of supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc. 
Additional conditions will only be imposed where there is a clear evidence of a risk to the 
licensing objectives that requires the mandatory and default conditions to be supplemented. 
There are specific comments made in this regard under some of the licence types below.  
This licensing authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own 
suggestions as to the way in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively.

9.23 This licensing authority will also consider specific measures which may be required for 
buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such measures may include the 
supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by 
children; and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises 
in order to pursue the licensing objectives.  These matters are in accordance with the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance.

9.24 This authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are on offer in 
premises to which children are admitted:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access 
other than through a designated entrance; 

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located;
 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by the 

staff or the licence holder; and
 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed notices 

indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.

Page 268



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 17

 Physical barriers to segregate areas should not impede the escape routes from that or 
other areas. 

9.25 These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple premises 
licences are applicable.

9.26 This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  As per the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance, this licensing authority will consider the impact upon the 
third licensing objective and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are 
distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to 
enter.

9.27 It is noted that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot attach to premises 
licences which are:
 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with an 

operating licence condition; 
 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation;
 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the Gambling 

Act  2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs 
and this provision prevents it being reinstated; and

 conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes.

All premises licences shall by virtue of section 183 of the Act be subject to the condition that 
premises shall not be used to provide facilities for gambling on Christmas Day.

9.28 Door Supervisors - The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities that if a licensing authority is concerned that a premises may attract disorder or 
be subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for example by children and young persons) 
then it may require that the entrances to the premises are controlled by a door supervisor, 
and is entitled to impose a premises licence to this effect.

9.25 Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for particular 
cases, a consideration of whether these need to be SIA licensed or not will be necessary. It 
will not be automatically assumed that they need to be licensed, as the statutory 
requirements for different types of premises vary (as per the Guidance, Part 33).

10.0  Adult Gaming Centres

10.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant 
to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to, for example, ensure that 
under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises. 

10.2 Where gambling facilities are provided at premises as a supplementary activity to the main 
purpose of the premises; e.g. motorway service areas and shopping malls. The council will 

Page 269



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 18

expect the gambling area to be clearly defined to ensure that customers are fully aware that 
they are making a choice to enter into the gambling premises and that the premises is 
adequately supervised at all times. 

10.3 This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such as:

 Proof of age schemes
 CCTV
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices / signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self-exclusion schemes
 Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures.

11.0  (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres

11.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant 
to satisfy the authority, for example, that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that 
under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machine areas.  

11.2 This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such as:

 CCTV
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices / signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self-exclusion schemes 
 Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.
 Measures / training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children on the 

premises

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures.

11.3 This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance, refer to the 
Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to operating licences covering the 
way in which the area containing the category C machines should be delineated.  This 
licensing authority will also make itself aware of any mandatory or default conditions on 
these premises licences, when they have been published.  

Page 270



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 19

12.0 Casinos

12.1 No Casinos resolution - This licensing authority has not passed a ‘no casino’ resolution 
under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it has the power to do so.   
Should this licensing authority decide in the future to pass such a resolution, it will update 
this policy statement with details of that resolution.  Any such decision will be made by the 
Full Council.  

12.2 Local Authorities only: Casinos and competitive bidding – small / large casinos – This 
licensing authority has been granted the power to issue one premises licence for a 
(small)/(large) casino, and is aware that there are likely to be a number of  operators who 
will want to run the casino.  In such situations the local authority will run a ‘competition’ 
under Schedule 9 of the Gambling Act 2005.  This licensing authority will run such a 
competition in line with the Gambling (inviting Competing Applications for large and small 
casino premises licenses) Regulations 2008, as well as following the procedure set out in 
Part 17 of the Guidance.

12.3 Licence considerations / conditions – This licensing authority will attach conditions to 
casino premises licences according to the principles set out in the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance at paragraph 9, bearing in mind the mandatory conditions listed in paragraph 17 
of the guidance, and the Licensing Conditions and Codes of Practice published by the 
Gambling commission.

13.0  Bingo premises

13.1 This licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance states:

“[18.4] Licensing authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played in any 
bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence. This will be a relevant 
consideration where the operator of an existing bingo premises applies to vary their licence 
to exclude an area of the existing premises from its ambit and then applies for a new 
premises licence, or multiple licences, for that or those excluded areas. 

This authority also notes the Guidance at paragraph 18.8 regarding the holder of a bingo 
premises licence may make available for use a number of category B gaming machines not 
exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming machines on the premises.

[18.6] Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however they are not 
permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C machines are made available for 
use these must be separated from areas where children and young people are allowed”. 

This licensing authority may consider similar measures to those outlined at 10.3 (Adult 
Gaming Centres) and 11.2 (Licensed – Family Entertainment Centres) to meet the licensing 
objectives. These measures are not exhaustive and are merely indicative of example 
measures. 

Page 271



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 20

14.0 Betting premises

14.1 Betting machines – This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions 
available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the 
machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by 
vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines 
an operator wants to offer. It is noted that children are not able to go into premises with the 
benefit of a Betting Premises Licence. 

14.2 The authority has discretion as to the number, nature and circumstances of use of betting 
machines, there is no evidence that such machines give rise to regulatory concerns.  This 
authority will consider limiting the number of machines only where there is clear evidence 
that such machines have been or are likely to be used in breach of the licensing objectives.  
Where there is such evidence, this authority may consider, when reviewing the licence, the 
ability of staff to monitor the use of such machines from the counter

14.3 There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices has required door supervisors for 
the protection of the public.  The authority will make a door supervision requirement only if 
there is clear evidence from the history of trading at the premises that the premises cannot 
be adequately supervised from the counter and that door supervision is both necessary and 
proportionate.

14.4 This authority recognises that certain bookmakers have a number of premises within its 
area.  In order to ensure that any compliance issues are recognised and resolved at the 
earliest stage, operators are requested to give the authority a single named point of contact, 
who should be a senior individual, and whom the authority will contact first should any 
compliance queries or issues arise.

This licensing authority may consider similar measures to those outlined at 10.3 (Adult 
Gaming Centres) and 11.2 (Licensed – Family Entertainment Centres) to meet the licensing 
objectives. These measures are not exhaustive and are merely indicative of example 
measures. 

15.0 Tracks

15.1 This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track. As per the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance, this licensing authority will especially consider the 
impact upon the third licensing objective (i.e. the protection of children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling) and the need to ensure that 
entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children are excluded from 
gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter.

15.2 This authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to demonstrate suitable 
measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult only gaming facilities.  It is 
noted that children and young persons will be permitted to enter track areas where facilities 

Page 272



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 21

for betting are provided on days when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place, but that 
they are still prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category D 
machines) are provided.

15.3 This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such as:

 Proof of age schemes
 CCTV
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices / signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self-exclusion schemes
 Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures.

15.4 Gaming machines - Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going 
to use the entitlement to four gaming machines, machines (other than category D 
machines) should be located in areas from which children are excluded. 

15.5 Betting machines - This licensing authority will, as per Part 6 of the Gambling 
Commission's Guidance, take into account the size of the premises and the ability of staff to 
monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those 
under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering the number / nature / 
circumstances of betting machines an operator proposes to offer.

15.6 Applications and plans - The Gambling Act (s51) requires applicants to submit plans of 
the premises with their application, in order to ensure that the licensing authority has the 
necessary information to make an informed judgement about whether the premises are fit 
for gambling. The plan will also be used for the licensing authority to plan future premises 
inspection activity. (See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, para 20.28).

15.7 Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale, but should be drawn to scale and 
should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by regulations. (See 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities, para 20.29).

15.8 Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not defined by 
virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks. In such instances, where 
an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders may erect temporary structures to 
restrict access to premises (See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, para 20.31).

15.9 In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that the track in 
question will not be specifically designed for the frequent holding of sporting events or 
races. In such cases betting facilities may be better provided through occasional use 

Page 273



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 22

notices where the boundary premises do not need to be defined. (See Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, para 20.32).

15.10 This authority appreciates that it is sometimes difficult to define the precise location of 
betting areas on tracks. The precise location of where betting facilities are provided is not 
required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact that betting is permitted 
anywhere on the premises and because of the difficulties associated with pinpointing exact 
locations for some types of track. Applicants should provide sufficient information that this 
authority can satisfy itself that the plan indicates the main areas where betting might take 
place. For racecourses in particular, any betting areas subject to the “five times rule” 
(commonly known as betting rings) must be indicated on the plan. (See Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, para 20.33).

16.0 Travelling Fairs

16.1 This licensing authority is responsible for deciding whether, where category D machines 
and / or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available for use at 
travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling amount to no more 
than an ancillary amusement at the fair is met.

The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory 
definition of a travelling fair.

16.2 It is noted that the 27 day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair, applies on a 
per calendar year basis, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are held, 
regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying the land.  This 
licensing authority will work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which 
crosses our boundaries is monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded. In any 
event neighbouring authorities will be consulted to ensure best practice and consistency is 
applied.

17.0 Provisional Statements

17.1 Developers may wish to apply to this authority for provisional statements before entering 
into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a development is worth 
taking forward in light of the need to obtain a premises licence. There is no need for the 
applicant to hold an operating licence in order to apply for a provisional statement.

17.2 S.204 of the Gambling Act provides for a person to make an application to the licensing 
authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or she: 

- expects to be constructed;
- expects to be altered; or
- expects to acquire a right to occupy.

17.3 The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the same as that 
for a premises licence application The applicant is obliged to give notice of the application in 

Page 274



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 23

the same way as applying for the premises licence. Responsible authorities and interested 
parties may make representations and there are rights of appeal.

17.4 In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to hold or have 
applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission (except in the case of a 
track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy the premises in respect of which their 
provisional application is made.

17.5 The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence once the 
premises are constructed, altered or acquired. The licensing authority will be constrained in 
the matters it can consider when determining the premises licence application, and in terms 
of representations about premises licence applications that follow the grant of a provisional 
statement, no further representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can be 
taken into account unless:

 they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional 
statement stage, or 

 they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.  

An applicant can still apply for a Premises Licence (without the need of a Provisional 
Statement) even though the premises were not fully constructed

17.6 In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms different to 
those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to matters:

 which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional licence stage; or
 which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s circumstances; or
 where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan submitted 

with the application. This must be a substantial change to plan and this licensing 
authority notes that it can discuss any concerns it has with the applicant before 
making a decision.

18.0 Reviews

18.1 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties or 
responsible authorities; however, it is for the licensing authority to decide whether the 
review is to be carried-out. This will be on the basis of whether the request for the review is 
relevant to the matters listed below.

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission;
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission;
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and
 in accordance with the authority’s statement of principles.

18.2 The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by the authority as to 
whether the request is frivolous, vexatious or whether it will certainly not cause this authority 
to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, review.

Page 275



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 24

18.3 The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a particular premises licence, or a 
particular class of premises licence on the basis of any reason which it thinks is appropriate.

18.4 Once a valid application for a review has been received by the licensing authority, 
representations can be made by responsible authorities and interested parties during a 28 
day period. This period begins 7 days after the application was received by the licensing 
authority, who will publish notice of the application within 7 days of receipt.

18.5 The licensing authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28 day 
period for making representations has passed.

18.6 The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the licensing authority should take 
any action in relation to the licence. If action is justified, the options open to the licensing 
authority are:-

(a) add, remove or amend a licence condition  imposed by the licensing authority;
(b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of state or Scottish Ministers (e.g. 
opening hours) or remove or amend such an exclusion;
(c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months; and 
(d) revoke the premises licence.

18.7 In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the licensing 
authority must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of the Act, as well as any 
relevant representations.

18.8 In particular, the licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises licence on the 
grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling at the 
premises. This is to prevent people from applying for licences in a speculative manner 
without intending to use them.

18.9 Once the review has been completed, the licensing authority must, as soon as possible, 
notify its decision to: 

 the licence holder
 the applicant for review (if any)
 the Commission
 any person who made representations
 the Chief Officer of police or Chief constable; and
 Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs


PART C

PERMITS / TEMPORARY AND OCCASIONAL USE NOTICES

19.0 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits (Statement of 
Principles on Permits - Schedule 10 paragraph 7)

Page 276



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 25

19.1 Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide gaming 
machines, it may apply to the licensing authority for this permit. It should be noted that the 
applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for making gaming 
machines available for use (Section 238).

19.2 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may prepare a statement of 
principles that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for a 
permit and in preparing this statement, and/or considering applications, it need not (but 
may) have regard to the licensing objectives and shall have regard to any relevant guidance 
issued by the Commission under section 25.  The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities also states: “In their three year licensing policy statement, licensing 
authorities may include a statement of principles that they propose to apply when exercising 
their functions in considering applications for permits, licensing authorities will want to give 
weight to child protection issues." (24.6)

19.3 Guidance also states that “….An application for a permit may be granted only if the 
licensing authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC, and if 
the chief officer of police has been consulted on the application….. Licensing authorities 
might wish to consider asking applications to demonstrate:
 A full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 

permissible in unlicensed FEC’s;
 That the applicant has no relevant convictions(those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the 

Act; and 
 That staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes. 

(24.7)

It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this type of permit.

19.4 Statement of Principles - This licensing authority will expect the applicant to show that 
there are policies and procedures in place to protect children from harm. Harm in this 
context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection 
considerations. The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on 
their merits, however, they may include appropriate measures/training for staff as regards 
suspected truant school children on the premises, measures/training covering how staff 
would deal with unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or children 
causing perceived problems on / around the premises. This licensing authority will also 
expect, as per Gambling Commission Guidance, that applicants demonstrate a full 
understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in 
unlicensed FECs; that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 
Schedule 7 of the Act); and that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the 
maximum stakes and prizes.

20.0 (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits - (Schedule 13 paragraph 4(1))

20.1 There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the 
premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of categories C and/or D.  The 
premises merely need to notify the licensing authority and pay the prescribed fee.

Page 277



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 26

20.2 The licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any particular 
premises if:
 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the licensing 

objectives;
 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 282 of the 

Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the licensing authority, that a 
fee has been provided and that any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission about the location and operation of the machine has been complied with); 

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or
 an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises.

20.3 Permit: 3 or more machines - If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it 
needs to apply for a permit and the licensing authority must consider that application based 
upon the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued 
under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005,  and “such matters as they think relevant.”  

20.4 This licensing authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case by case 
basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy 
the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not 
have access to the adult only gaming machines.  Measures which will satisfy the authority 
that there will be no access may include the adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in 
the sight of staff who will monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18.  
Notices and signage may also help.  As regards the protection of vulnerable persons 
applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare. Where premises are applying for additional machines 
these would normally be granted where the premises comply with the Gambling 
Commission’s Code of Practice. An application for a permit for up to four machines would 
normally be considered by Officers without the need for a hearing. 

20.5 It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises licence for 
their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most likely need to be applied 
for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence.

20.6 It should be noted that the licensing authority can decide to grant the application with a 
smaller number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied for.  
Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached.

20.7 It should  be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued 
by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the machine.

20.8 It should be noted that the Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
explains that low level gaming is lawful in alcohol licensed premises within defined limits.

Page 278



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 27

21.0 Prize Gaming Permits 

21.1 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a statement of 
principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Schedule” which 
“may in particular, specify matters that the licensing authority proposes to consider in 
determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit”.  

21.2 This licensing authority has prepared a Statement of Principles which is that the applicant 
should set out the types of gaming that he or she is intending to offer and that the applicant 
should be able to demonstrate: 
   that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in Regulations; 
   and that the gaming offered is within the law.
   Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from harm.

21.3 In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing authority does not need 
to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard to any Gambling 
Commission guidance.  

21.4 It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 by which the permit 
holder must comply, but that the licensing authority cannot attach conditions.  The 
conditions in the Act are:
 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with;
 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on which the 

gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played and completed on the 
day the chances are allocated; and the result of the game must be made public in the 
premises on the day that it is played; 

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in regulations 
(if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); and

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other gambling. 

22.0 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

22.1 Members Clubs and Miners’ welfare institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) may apply for a 
Club Gaming Permit. The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of chance 
as set-out in forthcoming regulations. 

22.2 Members Clubs and Miners Welfare institutes - and also Commercial Clubs – may apply for 
a Club Machine Permit. A Club Machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D). NB Commercial Clubs may not site 
category B3A gaming machines offering lottery games in their club.

22.3 This licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commissions guidance states:

[25.46] The licensing authority has to satisfy itself that the club meets the requirements of 
the Act to obtain a club gaming permit. In doing so it will take account a number of matters 

Page 279



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 28

as outlined in sections 25.47-25.49 of the gambling Commissions Guidance. These include 
the constitution of the club, the frequency of gaming and ensuring that there are more than 
25 members. 

The club must be conducted ‘wholly or mainly’ for purposes other than gaming, unless the 
gaming is permitted by separate regulations. The Secretary of State has made regulations 
and these cover bridge and whist clubs.     

22.4 The Commission Guidance also notes that "licensing authorities may only refuse an 
application on the grounds that:

(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club or 
miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for 
which it has applied;

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young persons;
(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the applicant 

while providing gaming facilities;
(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.

22.5 There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises which hold a Club 
Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 (Schedule 12 paragraph 10). 
Commercial clubs cannot hold Club premises certificates under the Licensing Act 2003 and 
so cannot use the fast-track procedure. As the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local 
authorities states: "Under the fast-track procedure there is no opportunity for objections to 
be made by the Commission or the police, and the ground upon which an authority can 
refuse a permit are reduced" and "The grounds on which an application under the process 
may be refused are:

(a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed under 
schedule 12;
(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other 
gaming; or
(c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the last ten 
years has been cancelled."

22.6 There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a category B or C 
machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant provision of a code 
of practice about the location and operation of gaming machines.

23.0 Temporary Use Notices

23.1 Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is no premises 
licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises temporarily for providing 
facilities for gambling. Premises that might be suitable for a Temporary Use Notice, 
according to the Gambling Commission, would include hotels, conference centres and 
sporting venues.

Page 280



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 29

23.2 The licensing authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or company 
holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino operating licence. 

23.3 The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can be 
authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this Statement the relevant 
regulations (SI no 3157: The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 
2007) state that Temporary Use Notices can only be used to permit the provision of facilities 
or equal chance gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single winner, which in 
practice means poker tournaments.

23.4 There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices. The meaning of 
"premises" in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the Gambling Commission Guidance 
to Licensing Authorities. As with "premises", the definition of "a set of premises" will be a 
question of fact in the particular circumstances of each notice that is given.  In the Act 
"premises" is defined as including "any place". In considering whether a place falls within 
the definition of "a set of premises", the licensing authority needs to look at, amongst other 
things, the ownership/occupation and control of the premises.

23.5 This licensing authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their effect would 
be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as one set of premises, as 
recommended in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities. 

24.0 Occasional Use Notices

24.1 The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from 
ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded. This licensing 
authority will though consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is 
permitted to avail him/herself of the notice. This licensing authority will also ensure that no 
more than 8 OUNs are issued in one calendar year in respect of any venue.

25.0 Small Society Lotteries

25.1 This licensing authority will adopt a risk based approach towards its enforcement 
responsibilities for small society lotteries. This authority considers that the following list, 
although not exclusive, could affect the risk status of the operator:

 Submission of late returns (returns must be submitted no later than three months 
after the date on which the lottery draw was held

 Submission of incomplete or incorrect returns
 Breaches of the limits for small society lotteries

25.2 Non-commercial gaming is permitted if it takes place at a non-commercial event, either as 
an incidental or principal activity at the event. Events are non-commercial if no part of the 
proceeds is for private profit or gain. The proceeds of such events may benefit one or more 
individuals if the activity is organised:

Page 281



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 30

 By, on behalf of, a charity or for charitable purposes
 To enable participation in, or support of, sporting, athletic or cultural activities.

Charities and community groups should contact this licensing authority at the address and 
contact details on the front of this policy.
 

PART D
LICENCE CONDITIONS & CODES OF PRACTICE (LCCP)

26.0 LCCP and Risk Assessments

26.1 The Gambling Commission released an LCCP in February 2015 with a commencement 
date of May 2015. The code strengthened the social responsibility code (SR) requirements. 
Details regarding the LCCP and SR code can be accessed via the Gambling Commission 
website at www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk

The code requires operators:

 To supervise customers effectively on gambling premises and identify customers who 
are at risk of gambling related harm.

 With effect from April 2016 to have in place schemes to allow customers to self-exclude 
themselves from all operators of a similar type in the area where they live and work.

 To have a range of measures with regard to marketing to ensure social responsibility 
that are transparent and not misleading.

 With effect from April 2016 to produce a risk assessment on individual premises, and 
have policies and procedures and control measures in place to mitigate local risks to the 
licensing objectives.

26.2 Risk Assessments - Such risk assessments are required from new applicants, and from 
existing premises licensees seeking to vary a licence and are to be presented to the 
licensing authority upon application. The code requires all operators of; Casino’s, AGC’s, 
Bingo Premises, FEC’s, Betting shops and remote betting intermediaries to assess local 
risks to the licensing objectives, and to have policies, procedures and control measures in 
place to mitigate those risks.

26.3 Operators are required by the SR code to make the risk assessment available to licensing 
authorities when an application is submitted either for new premises licence or variation of a 
premises licence, or otherwise on request, and this will form part of the council’s inspection 
regime and may be requested when officers are investigating complaints and therefore 
there is an expectation that Local Risk Assessments will be retained on the premises. 

Page 282



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 31

26.4 The code requires the Council to set out matters they expect the operator to take account of 
in the risk assessment in its statement of policy and this council expects the following 
matters to be considered by operators when making their risk assessment:

 Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of underage 
gambling.

 Arrangements for localised exchange of information regarding self-exclusions in line with 
the current industry scheme. 

 Urban setting such as proximity to schools, commercial environment, factors affecting 
footfall.

 Range of facilities in proximity to the licensed premises such as other gambling outlets, 
banks, post offices, refreshment and entertainment type facilities.

 Assessing staffing levels at key points in the day, for example, when a local college 
closes and the students begin to vacate the grounds, etc. 

 Consider whether any promotional material may encourage the use of the premises by 
children, especially if the premises is in close proximity to a school, etc. 

26.5 The council expects the following matters to be considered by operators when making their 
risk assessment.

Matters relating to children and young persons, including:

 Institutions, places or areas where presence of children and young persons should be 
expected such as schools, youth clubs, parks, playgrounds and entertainment venues 
such as bowling allies, cinemas etc.

 Any premises where children congregate including bus stops, café’s, shops, and any 
other place where children are attracted.

 Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in anti-social behaviour, including 
such activities as graffiti/tagging, underage drinking, etc.

 Recorded incidents of attempted underage gambling.

Matters relating to vulnerable adults, including:

 Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of underage 
gambling.

 Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days or benefit 
payments.

 Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self-exclusions and gaming 
trends.

 Proximity of premises which may be frequented by vulnerable people such as hospitals, 
residential care homes, medical facilities, doctor’s surgeries, council housing offices, 
addiction clinics or help centres, places where alcohol or drug dependant people may 
congregate, etc.

Page 283



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 32

27.0 Local Area Profile

27.1 The Council has considered the local area profile and feels the main issues will be covered 
by the risk assessments required under the LCCP.

Page 284



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 33

APPENDIX A

CONSULTEES

British Beer & Pub Association
HM Customs & Excise
Gamblers Anonymous
Gamcare
Greater Manchester Fire & Rescue Service
Greater Manchester Police
The Lotteries Council
The Bingo Association
Association of British Bookmakers
Casino Operators Association of the UK 
Business in Sport and Leisure
BACTA
British Casino Association (BCA)
Security Industry Authority
Remote Gambling Association
Responsibility in Gambling Trust
Gambling Commission
TOTE
Ladbrokes Plc
William Hill
Paul Deans Bookmakers Ltd
Betfred
British Holiday and Home Parks Association
Club and Institute Union
Society of Independent Brewers
Nobles Amusements
The Rank Group Plc
Leisure Link
Gamestec Leisure Ltd
Gala Coral Group Ltd
George Bet Centres Ltd
Punch Taverns
Rochdale MBC Environmental Health Service
Rochdale MBC Development Control Service
Rochdale MBC Local Safeguarding Children Unit
Rochdale MBC Adult Care / Adult Safeguarding Service
J W Lees (Brewers) Ltd
Rochdale Law Association
Greater Manchester Chamber
Rochdale Federation of Tenants and Residents Associations
Rochdale, Heywood, Littleborough Pub Watch Groups
Rochdale MBC Councillors
Buckingham Bingo Ltd.

Page 285



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 34

Holders of existing betting shop licences.
Residents via Libraries and Council Website.
Rochdale Council Public Health & Wellbeing Service

Page 286



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 35

APPENDIX B

RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES

Any application must be sent to Rochdale Borough Council who has been defined as a Responsible 
Authority itself: 

Rochdale Borough Council Licensing Service
Floor 3 
Number One Riverside
Smith Street
Rochdale 
OL16 1XU

Copies of the application must also be sent to all of the following Responsible Authorities below:

Fire Safety Team Leader
GM Fire and Rescue Authority 
Rochdale Central HQ 
Rochdale Fire Station 
Halifax Road 
Rochdale, OL12 9BD

HM Customs & Revenue
National Registration Unit
21 India Street
Glasgow, G2 4PZ

Rochdale Borough Council
Safeguarding Children Board
Floor 3 
Number One Riverside
Smith Street
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Rochdale Borough Council
Planning Service
Floor 3 
Number One Riverside
Smith Street
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Chief Officer of Police
Greater Manchester Police
Divisional HQ 
The Holme 
The Esplanade 
Rochdale, OL16 1AG

Rochdale Borough Council
Environmental Health 
Floor 3 
Number One Riverside
Smith Street
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Gambling Commission
Victoria Square House
Victoria Square
Birmingham, B2 4BP

Page 287



Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

rochdale.gov.uk 36

 

Rochdale Borough Council

Number One Riverside

Smith Street

Rochdale OL16 1YH

  rochdale.gov.uk

  01706 647474

  council@rochdale.gov.uk Page 288



Schedule of Responses to draft Gambling Policy 2019-2022

Reference Respondent Comments Action Taken / Comments

Email received 
24 July 2018

Rochdale 
Borough 
Council 
Environmental 
Health Services

‘Recommend that consideration be given to the following:

 Include the attached document ‘Safety and 
Security – National Standards for Bookmakers’ in 
the appendix 

 Include Environmental Health/ Health & Safety 
inspections with particular focus on safety and 
security and provision of advice and guidance and 
that we will provide post incident advice following 
reports of violence  – include in section 7.4

 Site specific health and safety risk assessments 
must be carried out by all duty holders responsible 
for gambling premises.  The risk assessments must 
also consider the risk to staff and members of 
public arising from violence and robbery and 
suitable control measures should be implemented 
to protect people, so far is reasonably practicable.  
Further guidance is provided in the Safety and 
Security – National Standards for Bookmakers and 
would also assist with health and safety risk 
assessments in other gambling premises’.

Due regard has been given to the comments. 
The Licensing Authority seeks to avoid any 
duplication with other statutory/regulatory 
systems. It is already a legal obligation to 
have Health & Safety risk assessments under 
existing legislation; therefore the policy 
should not be amended.  

P
age 289



Email received
26 July 2018

Rochdale 
Borough 
Council 
Children’s 
Services

‘highlighted a couple of areas which I think need reviewing 
in respect of typos or grammar’. 

Policy can be amended to correct the 4 x 
typos/grammatical errors that have been 
kindly identified. 

Email received 
1 August 2018

GamCare ‘While we do not have the resources available to allow us 
to personally respond to each Local Authority which 
contacts us regarding their refreshed Statement of 
Principles, we have compiled a list of the issues or factors 
which we think it would be helpful to consider below…

 A helpful first step is to develop a risk map of your 
local area so that you are aware of both potential 
and actual risks around gambling venues. A useful 
explanation of area-based risk-mapping has been 
developed with Westminster and Manchester City 
Councils, which gives some guidance on those who 
may be most vulnerable or at-risk of gambling-
related harm. 

 Consider that proposals for new gambling premises 
which are near hostels or other accommodation or 
centres catering for vulnerable people, including 
those with learning difficulties, and those with 
gambling / alcohol / drug abuse problems, as likely 

Due regard has been given to this particular 
comment. It is a not a legal requirement to 
have an area-based risk mapping. The revised 
policy does, however, set out some principles 
that are expected to be taken into 
consideration by operators, when completing 
their Local Risk Assessments.  

The policy already contains this suggestion. 

P
age 290



to adversely affect the licensing objectives set out 
by the Gambling Commission. This is also relevant 
regarding the proximity to schools, colleges and 
universities.

 A detailed local risk assessment at each gambling 
venue – pertinent to the environment immediately 
surrounding the premises as well as the wider local 
area – is a good way to gauge whether the 
operator and staff teams are fully aware of the 
challenges present in the local area and can help 
reassure the Local Licensing Authority that 
appropriate mitigations are in place.

 Does the operator have a specific training 
programme for staff to ensure that they are able to 
identify children and other vulnerable people, and 
take appropriate action to ensure they are not able 
to access the premises or are supported 
appropriately?

Does the operator ensure that there is an 
adequate number of staff and managers are on the 
premises at key points throughout the day? This 
may be particularly relevant for premises situated 
nearby schools / colleges / universities, and/or 
pubs, bars and clubs.

Consider whether the layout, lighting and fitting 
out of the premises have been designed so as not 

The policy already sets out some principles 
that are expected to be taken into 
consideration by operators, when completing 
their Local Risk Assessments including the 
environment in which the premise is located.  

Due regard has been given to the comments. 
The policy already contains some of the 
suggestions, for example, staff training with 
regards to children and vulnerable adults. 

However, the policy can be amended to 
include the following at the end of the bullet 
points on Para 26.4:

‘Assessing staffing levels at key points in the 
day, for example, when a local
college closes and the students begin to
vacate the grounds, etc. 

Promotional material which may encourage 
the use of the premises by children, especially 

P
age 291



to attract children and other vulnerable persons 
who might be harmed or exploited by gambling. 

Consider whether any promotional material 
associated with the premises could encourage the 
use of the premises by children or young people if 
they are not legally allowed to do so.

if the premises is in close proximity to a 
school, etc. ‘ 

Email received 
3 August 2018

Rochdale 
Borough 
Council Adult 
Care Services

‘My only comment is whether this policy does enough in 
respect of corporate responsibility to support those that 
have been harmed by gambling. Corporately, do we help 
gambling companies know how to refer adults with care 
and support needs for support, should there be an 
expectation that gambling premises refer customers for 
support services   who are at risk of gambling related harm 
, rather than just identifying them’ 

Amend Policy to include a new Para 9.21 to 
state:

‘9.21 If there are concerns about an individual 
who appears to have care and support needs, 
the premises should try to encourage the 
individual to contact Rochdale Borough 
Council Adult Care Services for support and 
guidance on 03000 303 8886’. 

Email received 
7 August 2018

Gambling 
Commission 

‘Within Section 26, I wonder if the Council would be 
minded to include an Operator expectation that Local Risk 
Assessments will be retained on premises?’

Policy can be amended to include at the end 
of Para 26.3: 

‘.. and therefore there is an expectation that 
Local Risk Assessments will be retained on 
the premises’. 

Email received 
13 August 
2018

Novomatic UK 
on behalf of 
Talarius Limited

‘On behalf of Talarius Limited, I make the following points 
in relation to the consultation draft (the “Draft”):-

 As the Authority will appreciate, in matters of 

Due regard has been given to this particular 
comment. The policy already contains 
information as to why and when the Licensing 
Service will undertake compliance visits and 

P
age 292



regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 (the 
“Act”) it is subject to the Regulators’ Code.  That 
code imposes a number of obligations on the 
Authority, including one that it should carry out its 
activities in a way that it supports those it 
regulates to comply and grow.  Additionally under 
the Code, when designing and reviewing policies, 
the Authority must among other things understand 
and minimise the negative economic impact of its 
regulatory activities and regulate and minimise the 
costs of compliance of those it regulates.  Further, 
the Authority should take an evidence-based 
approach in determining priority risks and 
recognise the compliance record of those it 
regulates.  We suggest that reference is made in 
the Draft to the Code’s application to the 
Authority’s activities under the Act.

 Para 9.8: It is perfectly legitimate for an application 
to be made for a premises licence even though the 
premises are not finished or complete. We refer to 
the 2008 case of R (on the application of Betting 
Shop Services Limited) –V–  Southend on Sea 
Borough Council, in which it was held that an 
applicant could apply for a premises licence 
(without the need for a provisional statement) 
even though the premises were not fully 
constructed – the applicant is not restricted to 
making an application for a provisional statement.  
It was held by the court that the then current 

ensuring that regulation is not burdensome. 
The policy already contains information that 
we have adopted a risk-based approach in 
determining which premises to attend. The 
Regulator’s Code, to which the Respondent is 
referring to, supports risk-based pro-active 
inspections.  

However, we can include in the Policy at Para 
7.4 that, 

‘Regard has been had to the Regulator’s Code 
in the preparation of this Policy’.

Policy can be amended at Para 9.8 to include 
following the paragraph about provisional 
statement, ‘However, an applicant can still 
apply for a Premises Licence (without the 
need of a Provisional Statement) even though 
the premises were not fully constructed’.  

Policy can be amended to include at the end 
of Para 9.10 and 17.5:

‘An applicant can still apply for a Premises 
Licence (without the need of a Provisional 

P
age 293



Guidance issued by the Commission was wrong. 
The Guidance was subsequently amended. As such, 
we suggest that the wording be amended to make 
it clear that applications for premises licences can 
be made regardless of whether the building in 
question is complete or finished. An applicant may 
apply for a provisional statement if the building is 
not complete, but it does not have to do so and 
can instead apply for licence.  We would also ask 
that paras 9.10 and 17.5 be revisited  to make this 
point clear.

 Para 9.15: As the Authority appreciates, children 
are permitted to be involved in limited types of 
gambling (Category D machines) and we suggest 
that this paragraph is amended to reflect that.

 Paras 13 and 14: We note that the list of possible 
measures noted at paragraphs 10 and 11 for AGCs 
and FECs respectively, are for some reason not 
repeated for licensed Bingo or Betting premises, 
even though the amount that can be staked and 
won is at least as high in these premises and 
indeed, in some cases significantly higher.  We 
submit therefore that the Draft is inconsistent in 
this regard and suggest it is amended.

Statement) even though the premises were 
not fully constructed’
 

Policy can be amended to include at the end 
of Para 9.15:

Children are only permitted to be involved in 
limited types of gaming (Category D 
Machines)

Policy can be amended to include at the end 
of both Para 13 and 14:

‘This licensing authority may consider similar 
measures to those outlined at 10.3 (Adult 
Gaming Centres) and 11.2 (Licensed – Family 
Entertainment Centres) to meet the licensing 
objectives. These measures are not 
exhaustive and are merely indicative of 
example measures’.

P
age 294



 Pare 26.3: With respect it is not actually a 
requirement of the SR Code of the LCCP that the 
local risk assessment is provided on request. 
Rather it is an Ordinary Code provision which is not 
a cast iron requirement.

 Para 26.4: The wording of the second bullet point 
seems to us to be vague. It is already a 
requirement of the LCCP that local self-exclusion 
schemes are in place. Any further requirement to 
share information “regarding self-exclusions” 
would run the risk of breaching GDPR. Additionally, 
the suggestion that licensees share information on 
“gaming trends” is vague – we are not sure what 
“trends” are being referred to in a Social 
Responsibility context. We suggest that this bullet 
point is removed.

 Appendix B: The Licensing Authority is of course a 
RA itself, but the Appendix does not make this 
clear. While the application must be submitted to 
the Authority, so too must the RA notice.

Due regard has been given to the comment. 
Although, it may not be a ‘cast iron’ 
requirement, it is still nevertheless something 
which a good operator is expected/to some 
extent required, to provide on request. 
Therefore the policy will not be changed.

Policy can be amended at Para 26.4 to state:
 
‘Arrangements for localised exchange of 
information regarding self-exclusions in line 
with the current industry scheme’.  

Due regard has been given to this comment. 
It is accepted that it should be made clearer 
that the Licensing Authority is a Responsible 
Authority itself. 

P
age 295



Report to Council

Date of Meeting 27th February 2019
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Resources
Report Author Ian Corbridge
Public/Private Document Public

Recruitment of Independent Members to the Audit and Governance 
Committee

Executive Summary

1.1 The primary considerations in relation to audit committee membership should 
be maximising the committee’s knowledge base and skills as a collective 
body, being able to demonstrate objectivity and independence, and having a 
membership that will work together. Elected members of local authorities bring 
knowledge of the organisation, its objectives and policies to the audit 
committee. Members who are also involved in scrutiny or standards offer 
additional knowledge of activity, risks and challenges affecting those areas.

1.2 However, good practice shows that co-option of independent members is 
beneficial to an audit committee. Authorities that have chosen to recruit 
independent members have done so for a number of reasons:

 To bring additional knowledge, experience and expertise to the 
committee, particularly in areas such as governance, finance, risk 
management and/or audit;

 To reinforce the political neutrality and independence of the committee; 
and

 To maintain continuity of committee membership where membership is 
affected by the electoral cycle.

1.3 As a consequence, the Audit and Governance Committee has resolved to 
recruit up to two independent members with the requirement for relevant 
knowledge or expertise being clearly determined, including areas such as 
governance, finance, risk management and/ or audit.

Recommendation

2. That the Audit and Governance Committee’s terms of reference and 
membership be amended to include up to two independent members as part 
of the Committee (distinct from the independent persons recruited in 
accordance with the Localism Act 2011), and recruitment of up to two 
independent members of the Audit and Governance Committee be progressed 

Page 296

Agenda Item 6



with immediate effect with a view to appointment at Annual Council on 22 May 
2019. 

That the term in office of the independent members be agreed at a period of 4 
years, extendable by invitation and subsequent approval of Council

Reason for Recommendation

3. Best practice set out within guidance issued by CIPFA endorses the approach 
of mandating the inclusion of lay or independent members to audit 
committees. In response to this, on 17 December 2019 the Audit and 
Governance Committee resolved to recommend to Council that the 
membership of the Audit and Governance Committee should be extended to 
include one or more independent members.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1

4.2

4.3

In 2018 CIPFA issued guidance entitled Audit Committees: Practical Guidance 
for Local Authorities and Police which draws on best practice from both local 
government and the wider public sector. This updates previous guidance 
issued in 2013. This Guidance highlights that the composition of an audit 
committee is a key factor in achieving the characteristics of a good audit 
committee. 

CIPFA endorses the approach of mandating the inclusion of a lay or 
independent member and recommends that those authorities, for whom it is 
not a requirement, actively explore the appointment of an independent 
member to the committee. Whilst it is recognised that there are two 
independent persons who are members of the Committee, they were originally 
recruited in accordance with the Localism Act 2011 to support the old 
Standards Committee (which has since been merged into the Audit and 
Governance Committee) and not necessarily with the skill sets, role or remit 
associated with an audit committee member. Therefore the Council currently 
does not align with recommended best practice in terms of having an 
independent member for audit committee purposes. The benefits of such an 
appointment are set out in paragraphs 1.1 and 1.2 above.

Other key points about such a role include:
 Voting rights would apply where the Committee is acting in an advisory 

capacity but would not apply to matters delegated from council;
 Vacancies will be publicly advertised with the requirement for 

appropriate knowledge or expertise; 
 Recruitment would be delegated to a sub-group of Members and 

officers in consultation with the chair of the Audit and Governance 
Committee; and

 Appointments would be for a fixed term of up to 4 years which could be 
extended beyond 4 years with the approval of Council.

Page 297



Alternatives Considered

The alternative is to leave membership of the Audit and Governance 
committee as it is currently and not benefit from the advantages set out within 
paragraph 1.2.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. The cost of this proposal will include recompense for reasonable travel 
expenses incurred by an independent member. Any further payment would be 
a matter for the Independent Remuneration Panel to consider.

Risk and Policy Implications

This proposal seeks to address the risk that the effectiveness of the Audit 
and Governance Committee may not be optimised through bringing in 
additional skills, knowledge and expertise that add value to the experience 
and knowledge already provided by existing members of the Committee.

6.

Consultation

7. Consultation has taken has taken place with the Director of Resources, 
Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce)/ Monitoring Officer, 
Chief Finance Officer, Head of Internal Audit and Head of Governance. The 
proposal was formally discussed and supported by Audit and Governance 
Committee on 17 December.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. CIPFA: Audit Committees: 
Practical Guidance for Local 
Authorities and Police 2018.

Number One Riverside

For Further Information Contact: Ian Corbridge, Tel: 01706925452, 
ian.corbridge@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 298


	Agenda
	2 Budget 2019/20 - 2021/22 - Local Government Act 2003 Requirements
	3 Budget Report 2019/20
	Append. 1 for Budget Report 2019/20
	Append. 2 for Budget Report 2019/20
	Append. 3 for Budget Report 2019/20
	Append. 4 for Budget Report 2019/20
	Appendix 5 -201920DiscretionaryBusinessRateReliefPolicyReport
	Appendix 5b - DiscretionaryRateReliefPolicy201920

	4 Appointment of Acting Chief Finance/S151 Officer
	5 Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022
	Append. 1 for Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022
	Append. 2 for Gambling Licensing Policy Statement 2019-2022

	6 Recruitment of Independent Members to the Audit and Governance Committee

